
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Thursday 25 April 2019 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Monday 15 April 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525;  
Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, Head of Communications; Telephone: 020 7983 4228; 
Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Thursday 25 April 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 58) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 14 March 2019 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 

record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 58 are attached for Members and officers 

only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 59 - 412) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee, and additional correspondence. 
 

 The appendices to the report set out on pages 67 to 412 are attached for Members and 
officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA's website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
 

5 Commissioner of Transport for London (Pages 413 - 414) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Grace Pollard, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000  

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to putting 

questions to the Commissioner of Transport and note the subsequent discussion. 
 
 

6 Responses to Broken Rails Report (Pages 415 - 430) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: David Pealing, david.pealing@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5525 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the responses to its report, Broken Rails: A 

rail service fit for passengers, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2 to the report. 
 
 

7 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 431 - 434) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk, 020 7084 2850 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as 

set out in the report; and 

 

(b) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair and 

party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the 

Committee’s first investigation of the 2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram 

safety. 
 
 

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk
mailto:Daniella.DavilaAquije@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday 15 May 2019 at 10.00am in 

Committee Room 5, subject to confirmation at the London Assembly’s Annual Meeting on 

2 May 2019. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 25 April 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Thursday 14 March 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Navin Shah AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 14 March 2019 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Transport Committee held on 

5 February 2019 be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

That the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority be noted. 

 
 
6   Elizabeth Line (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on the Elizabeth line to the following invited guests: 

 Rupert Walker, Network Rail Strategy and Planning Director (South); 

 Meliha Duymaz, Network Rail Route Managing Director (Anglia); 

 Howard Smith, Crossrail Operations Director; 

 Simon Wright, former Crossrail CEO; and 

 Andrew Wolstenholme, former Crossrail CEO. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.3 During the course of the discussion, the Network Rail Strategy and Planning Director (South) 

committed to provide the Committee with copies of the reports prepared by Network Rail and 

presented monthly to Crossrail Ltd on progress on ‘on-network’ works since the start of 2018. 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Thursday 14 March 2019 

 

 
 

6.4 Resolved: 

 
(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 
(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail. 

 
 
7   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
7.2  Resolved: 
 

(a) That a meeting be held on 25 April 2019, for a question and answer session 

with the Commissioner of Transport for London; and 

 
(b) That the Committee’s work programme for the remainder of the 

2018/19 Assembly year be agreed. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Thursday, 25 April 2019 at 10.00am, in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 
9.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 
10.1 The meeting ended at 1.15pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5525; 

Email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



  
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Transport Committee – 14 March 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 6 – Elizabeth Line 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to our main item today, which is the Elizabeth line, as it 

will be known, or Crossrail, as it is still known to many of us.  This is our final hearing out of a series we have 

had looking at what has happened with Crossrail and also looking forward. 

 

I would like to welcome our guests this morning.  We have Andrew Wolstenholme, former Crossrail Chief 

Executive Officer (CEO) who left last March [2018]; Simon Wright, who then took over and was the Chief 

Executive of Crossrail later last year; Howard Smith, Crossrail Operations Director; and then from Network Rail - 

because we have been focusing on the tunnel section but Crossrail goes out east and west on Network Rail 

lines - we have Rupert Walker, Network Rail Strategy and Planning Director (South), and Meliha Duymaz, who 

is the Network Rail Route Managing Director for Anglia.  Thank you all very much indeed for coming along this 

morning. 

 

We have a lot to get through and a lot of detail we want to try to clarify.  I realise that some sections are not 

going to be relevant for Network Rail and so we are not expecting you to answer those, but there are a few 

areas we might like your comment on from your organisation. 

 

If I can start off, when did it become apparent to you that the opening date of December 2018 would not be 

met?  Maybe I could start with Andrew. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Caroline, thank you.  Can I just say, Chair, thank you 

for inviting me here today?  It is hugely important that we understand the context of these questions and that 

we take lessons away and so I am pleased to be here. 

 

Of course, I have been in this Chamber a number of times because, having been Chief Executive from 2011, we 

came most years to this Committee. 

 

On the question about when we became aware, I left in March 2018, which is a year ago now.  The plan that 

we had in place in March 2018 still identified a route through to a December 2018 opening date, but it was 

quite clear in March 2018 and indeed in the first quarter of 2018 that that came with risks and those risks were 

very well translated and those risks were very well socialised.  I can go into detail about when some of those 

risks became apparent.  When you manage a programme of this size and complexity - and I suppose in my 

career over 30 years as an engineer - one has to get used to meeting huge challenges that appear on the way 

and one has to be able to deal with those huge challenges. 

 

However, in answer to your question, in the latter stages of 2017, of course we were dealing with huge 

complexity and major challenges throughout the programme, but the programme still identified a route 

through to December 2018, as I said, with a number of major risks, and those risks were very well socialised 

within our Board, within the sponsor boards and with the stakeholders. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK, and so really from late 2017 and certainly the first quarter of 2018 

before you left, there were clearly some very strong risks, and you say they were identified?  You thought you 

could deliver it, but they were big risks? 

 

Page 9



  
 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes.  Our job as an executive is to find ways through 

the major challenges.  I can take you back into every single year at Crossrail.  To deliver 42 kilometres of 

tunnels and 10 kilometres of sprayed concrete and 10 deep stations, one has to understand the nature of these 

programmes and the sorts of risks that you find.  I can take you to any one of those years and summarise some 

of the risks that we had to deal with. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  We will get into some more detail on some of the risks 

later on.  Simon? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  As I took this Committee through previously, there was a 

series of events as we moved forward. 

 

In April 2018, we set out with sponsors a series of checkpoints.  Sponsors had asked us to set out a number of 

gateways, if you like, or checkpoints.  We did that and we agreed with them in April that there would be these 

three checkpoints, one in June, one in July and one in October [2018].  That was in order to take a pulse 

check, if you like, on progress and risks and confidence.  That was set out and we were working our way 

through what was by then the start of dynamic testing.  If you remember, the dynamic testing was delayed 

and, if you remember, we had the failure of the voltage transformer at Pudding Hill Lane back in late 2017 and 

so we did not start dynamic testing until February 2018. 

 

We were working away through dynamic testing, but, as I said before, progress was not what it would have 

been or could have been for various reasons.  For a variety of reasons, infrastructure was not as well installed or 

as mature as we wanted.  The train was not as mature as we would have liked.  Therefore, progress during the 

spring and early summer of 2018 was less than we would have expected and wanted.  However, we remained 

confident that there was a way through that to the opening in December 2018. 

 

As you can imagine, there has always been and remained throughout that period a huge political drive towards 

meeting that date.  Everybody wanted that to happen.  We wanted it to happen.  The sponsors wanted it to 

happen.  Therefore, there was a massive amount of focus on delivering against that date. 

 

As we went through into June 2018, we had had a number of conversations with our signalling supplier, 

Siemens.  The challenge that was being faced was that there was forecast to be insufficient time to complete 

all the tests that were needed.  There are many hundreds of tests that are needed.  They all have to pass 

successfully for you to get your licence to operate.  Of course, we could never sanction opening unless the 

railway was safe and reliable, and so we had to have those two things. 

 

We went to Germany on 6 June 2018 to hold discussions with Siemens.  We went to Germany a lot.  This was 

not a one-off occasion.  We often went to see Siemens in Germany.  We went on 6 June to hold discussions on 

whether or not there was an alternative route to a successful opening, which was to reduce the functionality of 

the signalling system where it was possible and safe to do.  Of course, you cannot take out safety-critical 

elements, but there are some functions on a very sophisticated digital signalling system and you could open 

the railway without them being there.  They are there for operational reasons or for efficient maintenance.  

Howard [Smith] could explain a bit more about that later if you wanted.  We had that meeting in Germany and 

there was a positive atmosphere about there being an opportunity to reduce the functionality and to reduce 

the amount of testing time such that we could still open in December 2018.  We came away from there with a 

series of actions for them and us and the train operator and Bombardier, and there would be a plan drawn up 

as to how those tests could be reconstrued so that we would then still have time to do the testing and to open 

the railway on the due date.  For all this time, we were of course keeping sponsors well aware of what was 

going on. 

 

Page 10



  
 

When we had concluded that exercise, it became apparent that there was not much signalling functionality 

that could be omitted safely and, of course, the challenge remained, if we were to go down that route, we 

would subsequently have to introduce that signalling functionality.  Therefore, whilst we might have been able 

to have done that, we would then have had the issue about when and how to introduce that functionality later 

on.  There is a balance of opportunity and then future risk. 

 

In a wide discussion within Crossrail and with the sponsors, we decided that it was unlikely to be a  

value-for-money, safe, operable and beneficial option to take.  We put to Siemens, therefore, that we wanted 

them to work up two options in detail and produce a schedule, one with full functionality remaining and one 

with this partial functionality, although we were sceptical as to whether that would be efficient and deliverable 

or not.  By the time we got to June [2018], it was becoming clear that the plan B, as it was then called, was 

unlikely to be as efficient and effective as we would have originally expected or hoped. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  By June [2018], for you, it was apparent that it was unlikely you were 

going to open in December [2018]? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The risk was rising to a very significant extent and we were 

informing sponsors of that.  We were being asked to go away and look at other alternatives, which included a 

partial opening of the railway.  Could we open some of it?  Could we open half of it?  Could we open a  

less-frequent service?  We were investigating all of these options. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Deep down, in June [2018], you were thinking, “It is unlikely we can 

open”? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The risks were certainly rising.  We had our checkpoint agenda 

to work to.  In July [2018] we had got to checkpoint two and it became clear to us that the alternatives were 

not likely to be value-for-money, safe, operable, efficient and so on.  In late June, we came to the conclusion 

that that was not likely to be something we could recommend to the Board.  We then had to go through a 

series of internal governance and, at the end of August, we got approval from our Board and we issued the 

notice to the sponsors at the end of August. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much.  We are going to explore some of the stuff you 

were talking about in more detail.  Howard, for you, when did it become apparent that this was not going to 

open in December? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I am not sure I have a huge amount to add to what 

Simon [Wright] has just said.  Having been around railway projects for more than 20 years and some quite big 

ones, I am always aware that the risks are rising.  Indeed, the reports that were coming out in 2017 and early 

2018 highlighted increasing risks and challenges.  Simon has described very well some of those. 

 

I do not - to cut to the chase - believe there is a single moment on something as big and as complex as 

Crossrail when the lightbulb comes on across a whole series of people who were saying, “This is really 

challenging but there are these ways around”, moving to, “This cannot happen”.  It does not work like that. 

 

The only thing I would add to what Simon said is, absolutely, signalling system; trains part of it as well.  There 

were also other aspects of the construction work where similar considerations applied.  Again, if you looked at 

them in isolation, you could say, “Perhaps there is a way through this.  Perhaps we could pick this up later”, 

but if you actually look at the totality of what that leaves, it is unmanageable and is not doable in terms of 

opening an operable, safe railway.  Also, it leaves you way too much to do in the future when the railway has 

opened in terms of bringing it all out together. 

Page 11



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Given you were leading on the signalling and the trains -- 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No, I -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  No?  What were you leading on, Howard? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I am basically timetable and operational readiness.  

The TfL train contract is managed by a part of my team.  I am not a signalling or systems integration specialist. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Given the area you were working on and given that there were clearly 

challenges in doing the testing and so on, did you at some point - maybe in June, as Simon was saying - think, 

“This is unlikely to open this year”? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I can only really repeat what I have said already: that 

the risks were rising.  Simon has described very well how you go through a series of reviews to make sure that 

you are not just drifting on, but there is not a single moment when you realise that it is all unmanageable.  

There are multiple paths.  It is the complexity of Crossrail, the stations and the routeway and the connections 

at either end, and it is the totality of those features that is the challenge. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Coming back to you, Andrew, when you left in March 2018, did 

you honestly believe that the central section would open in December [2018]? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  As I said, Chair, we were very well aware of the 

complexity of Crossrail.  If you go right the way back to the beginning, there are three principal risks.  One is to 

be able to build the infrastructure and the 42 kilometres of tunnels and the 10 stations.  The other of course 

was Network Rail’s £2.4 billion pack of work on what is called the on-surface network works.  The third was to 

introduce 65 Class 345 trains that could travel across the complex signal interfaces. 

 

This is a fantastic programme and, as you know, this is going to, when it opens, deliver huge economic value to 

London.  There are many examples of fantastic and great work bringing the whole sector together. Let us not 

forget about the great work that has been done. 

 

Let me take you back to 2015 and the Moorgate shaft.  Typically, these stations have two central shafts in 

them.  You have to get the vertical structure down before you put the horizontal tunnels in.  There was a year’s 

delay on the Moorgate shaft.  I know that Mark Wild [CEO, Crossrail] in the recent Public Accounts Committee 

(PAC) meeting said, “Should this team not have realised in 2016 that there were delays occurring on this?”  

This was typical of the challenge that we had to deal with: suddenly faced up with an engineering solution that 

no one could have predicted.  What we found on the ground was completely different to what was there on 

the surface. 

 

These were the sorts of issues that as the CEO and as a world-class engineering team we had to deal with.  No 

one was expecting us in 2016 to say, “Look, we have hit a slight problem.  Can we open a year later?”  We had 

the culture to find ways through these programmes.  When Mark [Wild] was saying, “Look, there is beginning 

to be a slip”, as early as 2016, he was right.  We were using up programme contingency to deal with major 

engineering challenges, but these were great successes.  We found ways through these things. 

 

I remember the Sponsor Board in January, in February and in March being very clear about how there was still 

a range of outcomes on Crossrail in that first quarter of 2018.  Whichever camp you sit in, you hoped that it 

was going to be a December opening date.  As an engineer and as someone who has dealt with huge 

Page 12



  
 

complexity, there is always going to be a range of outcomes.  Having left now for more than a year and looking 

back, there was always a range of outcomes.  The hope was that this was going to open in December 2018.  

That range of outcomes still had to deal with a huge amount of complexity.  Some of that complexity lay, 

clearly, in the stations.  Some of that complexity lay in finishing off what is called the trace, which is the 

complex railway systems.  We know a lot of the complexity lay in the rolling stock and the integration between 

that rolling stock. 

 

We were very clear to sponsors, I believe, in January, in February and in March [2018] that there needed to be 

a decision to be made sometime through that year, in the middle of summer, when it had to be called as to 

whether there was enough maturity in the train and enough maturity in the stations to be able to confirm the 

December [2018] date.  Whilst we were working with a series of risks, other people were working with direct 

dates.  There was always going to be a decision to be made sometime in the summer about whether the 

maturity of the rolling stock and the stations was to support a December opening. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let me paraphrase you.  When you left in March [2018], with your 

heart you were hoping this was going to open because everyone was committed to delivering this - and we 

have never questioned that - but with your head you were thinking, “There are an awful lot of risks and this 

summer we are going to have to decide whether we pull the plug on that opening date or not?” 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  That was the nature of the challenge ahead.  One 

had to be able to deal with a number of risks and there was no certainty that those risks would all be delivered. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Then, Andrew, I have to ask you this.  You said that there was no 

certainty that it could open because of the risks.  Clearly, you left in March and a publicly available National 

Audit Office (NAO) report confirmed you received a significant payment for compensation for loss of 

employment.  You also had received significant performance-related pay in the previous year. 

 

Given where Crossrail is now, do you think it was appropriate that you received those payments? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Look, I know this is a sensitive issue and people 

would say that any bonus is not appropriate.  For a 10-year programme, you have to be able to divide this 

programme up into chunks that people can recognise. 

 

The system that was put in place was to look at the targets and the key outcomes that needed to happen in 

each and every year.  The process around my own milestones and outcomes was decided by the Board a year in 

advance and then were looked at independently by the Crossrail Remuneration Committee the year later.  If 

there was a bonus to be paid, then the outcome of that was a consultation with Transport for London’s (TfL) 

own Remuneration Committee.  That was the process that was put in place. 

 

The milestones were set by the Board a year in advance and they were reviewed by the Remuneration 

Committee of Crossrail.  That was a -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You felt that you had met all the milestones you had been set before 

you left? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  These were all milestones that were retrospectively 

hit and these were recommended by the Remuneration Committee of Crossrail. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Finally, before I bring others in, I just wanted to ask Network Rail 

when you knew that the timeline for the opening of stage four was at risk.  When did you first know? 

Page 13



  
 

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  In terms of delivering the 

on-network works, in Anglia my focus was on hitting the May 2019 date and having my infrastructure ready 

for May 2019, but obviously stage three in December 2018 was an important milestone to hit. 

 

As far as the summer of 2018, June, July and August, we facilitated quite a lot of the interface testing our 

colleagues at Crossrail had to do so that they could hit the December 2018 date.  We were working on the 

assumption during the summer that stage three would still open in December and we accommodated lots of 

infrastructure access to interface between my infrastructure and the essential operating section. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  When did you first become aware that the central section would not 

open? 

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  That was in August [2018].  The 

day before the public announcement, we were shared the draft announcement by the colleagues. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  A quick question to Andrew.  I do not know if you remember, but you met a few of 

us on 6 March [2018], just a matter of days before you left, and you briefed us on Crossrail.  I have to say that 

from my memory it was all positive.  There was no indication that there was any risk or anything that was going 

to stand in the way of a December opening date.  Was that actually what you felt at the time?  Some of us, 

looking back, do feel as if we were misled a little bit. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We were always positive.  You have to remain 

positive on a programme of this size and scale.  If you wake up in the morning with all the engineering 

challenges that you face and you become negative, nothing will get done.  I have no problem at all about 

remaining positive and having positive visits.  I know many people were hosted down the tunnels.  You all saw 

the size, the scale and the enormity.  We were always very clear about measuring and balancing the positivity 

and how we intended to find solutions to these versus what risks we carried.  I am quite sure that the message I 

also gave was that there are assumptions in how we complete these stations, there are assumptions around 

how we complete the railway integrations and certainly there are assumptions around whether the maturity of 

the train was there.  Yes, we remained positive, but very realistic about the risks at the same time. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Given that you were meeting Transport Committee Members and given that we had 

been in this forum before questioning you on this, a bit more realism would have been appreciated on our 

behalf because we have now come to having to have this investigation in part because we were not told of the 

risks. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Forgive me.  I do not remember the meeting.  Was 

the meeting in here or was the meeting a site visit? 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  It was 6 March [2018] and it was downstairs in one of the committee rooms. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We always tried to give a balanced view as to where 

we are and I would think it very unlikely that we did not give that balanced risk around where the rolling stock 

was, where the stations were and where the completion of the systems integration was.  That should have been 

communicated in March because, certainly when I went into the Sponsor Boards in January, in February and in 

March, we were very clear about the risks that we were holding and the tasks we had in order to disperse those 

risks. 

Page 14



  
 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Well, thank you, but my memory is certainly different because, if we had been 

aware of those risks, we would have raised them sooner.  Thank you. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am speaking to Andrew here.  You say you were remunerated on prearranged targets and 

that all those targets were hit.  Are you suggesting all of the slippage is after that point? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  If you look at the targets that were set and the 

outcomes that one was required to hit year by year, then one was only recognised for the targets that one hit.  

You have to set up a project that understands how the 10-year period can be identified in one-year divisions.  

The whole of Crossrail was set a series of key performance indicators (KPIs) and a series of targets.  As I said to 

the Chair here, those targets a predetermined for myself by the Board and they are separately reviewed by the 

Remuneration Committee after the event looking back as to whether those targets had been hit or not. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is where my confusion lies.  Those targets were either unrealistic or everything went 

completely wrong after that point because, as we all know, we are very far away from the delivery date that 

was suggested.  Were the targets unrealistic or was the slippage all in that last period? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I do not believe the targets were unrealistic.  They 

were difficult, tough targets to hit.  You base those targets on the plan that you have at the time and you base 

those targets around the framework that that plan defines.  If you look back in hindsight, then of course you 

may have come up with a different view, but the Board was very realistic about the programme that lay ahead 

and set tough targets for the whole of Crossrail.  The Board set my own targets and the Remuneration 

Committee a year later looked and analysed and reviewed as to whether those targets had been hit. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just clarify, Andrew?  You have mentioned that the Remuneration 

Committee of Crossrail sent recommendations to TfL’s Remuneration Committee.  Am I right in thinking that 

TfL’s Committee did not agree with the level of performance-related pay that was being given? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The process was that the Chair of Crossrail had to 

consult with TfL’s own Remuneration Committee.  That was the process. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Are you aware?  I had heard that TfL’s Committee wrote back saying 

that they did not support the levels that were being paid out. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I have absolutely no knowledge of that at all. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us move on to transparency,  

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Good morning, everyone.  One of the issues that has led to us and 

a number of people looking into this are the concerns around what was happening and who was being told 

what.  The three of you this morning have between you collectively over, if I am right, 80 years’ experience in 

terms of transport projects and engineering, which is fantastic.  If we look at this project, it started off at 

£14.8 billion, which was a mixture of central Government funding, TfL funding, London businesses and 

residents funding.  On 10 December 2018 that budget had increased to £17.6 billion.  There has to be a level 

of transparency in terms of how that public money is being spent. 

 

In terms of that transparency and the information that you as Crossrail were feeding back to TfL and the 

Mayor, do you feel that you had sufficient opportunities to communicate the number of the risks to the Mayor 

and the sponsors? 

Page 15



  
 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Thank you for the question.  It is interesting.  If you 

go back to the sponsors’ agreement, it was cost and not the programme that was the major concern.  That has 

always been the priority on this programme.  The programme had a £17.5 billion tag on it.  A year before I 

arrived it was a £15.9 billion programme.  When I signed up as CEO it was a £14.8 billion programme.  If you 

look through the history - and this is perhaps an observation for sponsors to take note of - how do you find 

the right envelope and the right framework within which these massive programmes are delivered?  This does 

not just concern Crossrail. 

 

Of course, I signed up as CEO in 2011 and there was a £14.8 billion funding envelope and within that there 

were different intervention points (IPs).  My observation on those IPs is that they were far too narrow.  When 

you are trying to land a £14.8 billion programme of this complexity on a very small postage stamp, people just 

have to sit back and work out from a sponsorship point of view whether that is the right target to set.  As the 

CEO I signed up in 2011 with £14.8 billion. 

 

Let me tell you where we were in March 2018 because I am not aware of the history beyond that.  Clearly, 

towards the back end of 2017 there were cost pressures.  We were very open and honest about those cost 

pressures.  They were being reported up to the Crossrail Board and to the sponsors.  I made it my business that 

before I left we were totally open and totally transparent about where those costs were going.  At the time 

there was pressure on the Network Rail element to the tune of around £300 million and there was pressure on 

the Crossrail programme in order to support the programme to deliver in December 2018.  That pressure was 

called the ‘bookends’.  This was a piece of work that was independently assured by the project representative 

(P-Rep) who reported into the sponsors and they took an independent view from even the P-Rep and so this 

was signed up.  Those bookends on the Crossrail elements were between, if I remember, £300 million and 

£400 million.  If you add the £400 million to the £300 million, we were going back to the Department for 

Transport (DfT) and TfL to a request beyond the £14.8 billion between £600 million and £700 million. 

 

We were very transparent about that.  We were very transparent about how that sat against the risks of the 

programme.  As I left, the programme had still identified the December 2018 opening date and the extra 

money that went through it and the transparency we gave that I believe was held at a professional level and 

independently assured. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just on that transparency, you felt that from the Crossrail end, you 

were very transparent with your sponsors.  In a sense, would you then say that the sponsors maybe did not 

appreciate the risks that you were highlighting? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  This was independently reviewed by the sponsors’ 

own project consultants. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, the Jacobs reports and the KPMG reports. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  That is good practice.  By having it independently 

reviewed by the project consultants, it was completely open and completely transparent. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  In terms of the governance arrangements then, would you 

feel that they were open and transparent? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes, I would.  The Crossrail Board served this project 

extremely well for a very long time.  I have to say it was well chaired.  It was well supported by the  

Page 16



  
 

non-executive directors.  There were very difficult situations that we had to deal with and by and large they 

were dealt with extremely professionally and very well. 

 

I also as the CEO not only had to report to the Crossrail Board but had to report to the Sponsor Board.  This 

adds a level of complexity for a team, but we always reported on time, submitted our papers on time and 

supported that to the Crossrail Board and to the Sponsor Board. I have absolutely no concerns at all about the 

transparency of the information that we were providing. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Do you think - again, bearing in mind the nature of this project, 

being a very public project - maybe those Board meetings should have been more open in terms of due 

diligence and scrutiny, as opposed to us as an Assembly requesting and essentially summonsing some of the 

information from Board meetings? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I have no problem about the openness that we had.  

All of the documents are discoverable documents and people requested information.  I had no knowledge at all 

about any information being withheld that should have been put in the public domain. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Is there anything you want to add on that, Simon? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is an important question around boards and openness and 

whether they are public or not.  The Crossrail Board was not originally set up to have an open and a private 

session.  It was not done in that way.  Some boards are and some are not and ours was not.  There were not 

two halves to the meeting.  There was just one meeting. 

 

There are confidential issues that boards discuss and everybody would accept that some matters of commercial 

confidentiality are, in the public interest, to be retained as confidential because they are commercially sensitive 

with the supply chain.  We would not have wanted information in those areas being available in real time to our 

suppliers because we are in dispute on some occasions. 

 

One has to just take those things in two halves.  There are certain things that certainly I would not have any 

problem with being made public immediately and there are certain things that should remain confidential in 

the interests of the projects and in the interests of the public sector that is funding it.  One just has to think 

about it sensibly in those two ways. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is correct, but we had examples when there were 

communications in private prior to the Crossrail Board meetings and following the TfL Board meetings.  For 

example, there was meeting in October 2017 after the Pudding Mill Lane incident and some of the documents 

that we summonsed show that there were discussions prior and afterwards. 

 

Again, just coming back to the nature of this project, I totally agree that there will be confidential issues that 

cannot be published or issues that may be redacted, but there are some wider issues around the way this 

sudden news then broke in August [2018]. 

 

Going back to some of the comments you have all stated around the issue of hope and the issue of political 

will around all of this opening in December [2018], that is fantastic.  All of us wanted this to open in 

December, but as experts in the field who were working day-to-day on this project, that risk would have been 

apparent to you all before anyone else, before the sponsors, before the Mayor. 

 

Page 17



  
 

In terms of the communication that you were sending, which was going to the Mayor via the joint weekly 

briefings to the Mayor and TfL Board updates, do you feel that there could have been more openness and 

transparency in that communication? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  There are two points there, if I may, in reply. 

 

One is that we are accountable to brief the sponsors and we did and we set out to them through the Sponsor 

Board meetings, through the P-Rep reports and through very regular dialogue, as I said to you, the rising risks 

through the summer of 2018.  We were very clear about that to the sponsors.  It is not our role to brief the 

Mayor.  The sponsors briefed the Mayor, not us.  Whatever briefings were going further were up to the 

sponsors to organise and to agree.  Our job was to brief the sponsors and our Board and that is what we did 

very thoroughly.  We continued to do that regularly through a lot of very carefully orchestrated mechanisms 

and I am very clear on the fact that we were flagging the rising risks. 

 

We had the milestone agreed process with the sponsors, as I said to you, in June, July and then finally October 

[2018], and in July when we hit the second milestone, we determined that the risk had exceeded anything we 

could agree would be deliverable by December and that is when we called that and in August we got the 

authority to announce it.  We were clear on the rising risks.  We were clear on our need and the fact that we 

did communicate those to the sponsors.  As we got to the point where we were no longer able to recommend 

that the project was deliverable, despite all the efforts of a huge number of people working 24/7 to achieve 

the December date, we called that in July and finally, with authority from our Board, made it public and issued 

the notice in August [2018]. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Again, thank you for that clarification.  Just to be clear, we are 

clear that it is TfL’s role to update the Mayor, just to clarify that. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Thanks. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just to Network Rail in terms of that chain of communication, 

again, we have seen that there were various different routes via different sponsor boards, project boards, 

readiness boards and joint meetings. 

 

In terms of the communication, how were you communicated to about the delay from all the different 

channels? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  First of all, thank you very 

much for the opportunity for us to come and talk with you here today.  Network Rail has always been strongly 

supportive of Crossrail and the benefits that it will bring to Londoners and commuters in the southeast. 

 

Our role in Crossrail was effectively as a contractor to Crossrail Ltd, delivering the changes and improvements 

to the surface network between Paddington and Reading and Liverpool Street and Shenfield and out towards 

Abbey Wood that were required in order for the new train service to run.  We had an agreement in place that 

set out how we would do that from very early on.  The agreement also included the processes by which we 

would report to Crossrail as our client. 

 

In terms of the way in which that would happen, each period or each month a report would be prepared 

identifying the progress that was being achieved with the Network Rail works, known as the ‘on-network’ 

works, and any issues that we had identified, risks to safety, adherence to budget, anything that you would 

expect in a regular report.  Those reports were presented to our client, Crossrail Ltd, through a monthly 

meeting, the Programme Delivery Board, attended by people from Network Rail, Crossrail Ltd and the DfT.  

Page 18



  
 

Therefore, it was through that governance process that progress with our own works was passed up through 

the organisations. 

 

As Meliha [Duymaz] has already said, our awareness of the delays in the central section came quite late on in 

August when the draft press release was sent to us the day before it was published. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Essentially, there was a system in place from Network Rail that 

could identify any risk that you held in this form and so you had an opportunity to flag any risks straight to 

Crossrail and you had a communication channel to feed back to Crossrail? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We had - and still have - a 

good collaborative working relationship with Crossrail with the processes that are needed to be able to escalate 

issues as and when they are identified and agree an approach for resolving the issues that get identified. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Coming back to August [2018], you mentioned that you were told 

the day before.  The issue was shared with you before it then went public.  However, in terms of the risks that 

we know Network Rail was identifying to the various different boards - the Project Board, the Sponsor Board - 

would you feel that you were involved or updated at any stage, on stages one to three, given the knock-on 

effect it would have had on stages four and five, or, again, was it just that sudden announcement? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We were kept informed of the 

progress at a very high level by being a participant in the meeting that the Delivery Board reported into and, as 

others on the panel have already said to you, Crossrail is a very complex programme with many issues, similar 

to those that we experienced elsewhere.  Therefore, our teams were regularly working together and discussing 

the issues that were being faced and the potential impact of delays in either direction and how they could be 

managed. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are just checking whether we have received them.  I am wondering, 

Rupert, whether we might be able to receive a copy of those monthly reports that you sent to Crossrail, maybe 

from the start of 2018. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We can certainly get hold of 

those and let you have them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  That would be really helpful.  We will follow that up.  Let 

us now move on to the communication of risk in briefings to the Mayor.  Assembly Member Bailey is going to 

open this one. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am just going to, as the Chair said, talk about communication of risk.  I will probably start 

with Simon.  What is your account of the 26 July [2018] meeting and the message that was delivered to the 

Mayor?  How strongly was the risk flagged at this meeting? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I think I am right in saying that the deck of slides that was 

used has now been made public.  I do not recall but I believe it has. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  That deck of slides we took to a briefing with the Mayor at 

the request of TfL.  TfL came with us.  There were about four or five of us there.  I took the attendees of the 

Page 19



  
 

meeting through the deck of slides and, in short, what they said was as follows.  This was the July meeting on 

26 July.  I think that is what you said, is it not? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Yes. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I just wanted to be sure.  What I said was that the stage three 

opening date in December 2018 was at high risk and that we were reviewing our delivery plans and the options 

that were still available.  We showed three critical path schedules or timelines, one with a 10% probability of 

finishing in May 2019, one with a 50% probability of finishing in June 2019 and one with an 85% probability 

of finishing in August 2019.  They were the three critical path schedules we showed.  All of those three were 

after the end of December 2018 and so all three forecast predictions were into 2019. 

 

We went on to say that there were two options for a partial opening.  You will remember I said that we had 

been asked to look at a partial opening.  We said that there were two options that had been investigated or 

were under investigation but close to the end of being concluded, and that the analysis at that time was that 

they were judged to be not feasible. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are suggesting that December 2018 was completely off the table in that meeting as 

you presented? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The conclusion we had from the three options and the 

opportunity for a partial opening was that there was not a solution that could be opened in December 2018. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  How hard was this pressed?  We have had differing recollections of the meeting.  Are you 

aware of Sir Terry Morgan’s CBE [former Chairman, Crossrail] answers to this Committee? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Some of them.  There have been quite a lot of transcripts!  I 

have not read every word, it is fair to say. 

 

Can I just finish my description of that meeting?  There was an important final segment of the slides.  We went 

through those options and those conclusions.  We also were clear on the next steps.  There was a final slide.  I 

remember it very well.  It was on decisions and next steps.  We said that we were going to brief the sponsors on 

that same day, 26 July [2018] - I think there was a Sponsor Board on that day - and that we would complete 

the options analysis for stages four and five, which were equally critical, in early August and that we would 

report to our Board in August for a formal decision and that was when we would be making the formal 

decision.  Those were the conclusions to the meeting. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Is it general practice to wait so long for a formal conclusion considering you are quite -- 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It was not particularly long.  It was about three and a half 

weeks.  Board meetings would take place.  We were asked -- and that was the timeline that we had set out.  

You will remember the checkpoints that I mentioned that sponsors had agreed to so we had checkpoint two in 

July, which is when this conclusion was reached, and then we had to go through formal governance to get 

approval from our Board before we were able to make a public announcement. 

 

Of course, in making a public announcement, it is important - I am sure you will agree - that we would not 

simply say, “We are very disappointed to have to say that December 2018 is no longer going to happen”.  We 

also need to be able to say what would happen and so we had to have that conclusion as well.  It took us to 

the end of August to be able to make that firm conclusion and to get authority from the Board. 

 

Page 20



  
 

Shaun Bailey AM:  What was the firm conclusion about when it would be delivered? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We said autumn 2019. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That was very clear.  Thank you. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  That was the announcement I made at the end of 

August 2018 in public. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  We have had different opinions from different people. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  That is what I said at the end of August 2018 and I think that 

is on record. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I am happy to hear your very firm opinion. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes, on that.  You say that it was August that you decided that you could not meet the 

date.  Did you not feel the need to share that information with your very close partner, Network Rail?  

According to all the evidence we have just received, they found out the day before via the draft press release.  

I bet they were a bit shocked.  Of course, there must have been financial damage to them as well as a result of 

that because they were planning to do stuff.  Why would you not have shared that in confidence with your 

colleagues at Network Rail? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  There was this difficulty about sharing information and formal 

notice.  The formal notice was issued at the end of August and there is a mechanism for that and we had to go 

through the process to be able to have authority to issue this adverse event notice.  That was shared with 

Network Rail and other stakeholders formally just before it went out. 

 

Informally - and I am not seeking to contradict Rupert [Walker] - we had had lots of discussions with Network 

Rail and the team around the risks, the issues and the opportunities and flagging up situations, and so of 

course we had had those discussions, but they were not in a position to act formally until the formal notice was 

issued. 

 

That is where the difference comes.  They were aware of the stresses and strains and they were aware, 

because, as Meliha [Duymaz] said, we had been asking for possessions to do transition testing across the 

fringes.  It is fair to say that people were aware but the formal notice was at the end of August. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I hit you again with that question, then, Rupert?  When were you really aware that the 

deadline of December 2018 was not going to be hit?  Not when were you formally notified, which was via a 

draft press release, according to your earlier evidence, but when were you aware that it was really quite unlikely 

that you were going to hit the December 2018 deadline? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  As Simon [Wright] has quite 

correctly said, the teams would have been engaged and were engaged in discussions around the risks and the 

issues that were faced by the whole programme continually throughout the life of the programme.  Certainly, I 

am quite sure that in the weeks prior to the formal notification there would have been lots of discussions about 

the options that might be available to the programme and the choices that could be made. 

 

Page 21



  
 

Also, as Simon quite rightly said, as a contractor to Crossrail Ltd, the way in which we could act and do things 

was limited to receiving a formal notification of a change.  Our teams were engaged and working with 

Crossrail Ltd on delivering what we needed to in preparation for the December opening up until the point at 

which we received that formal notification.  As any good contractor would do, we could not change our 

approach until we had been formally advised of the changes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I appreciate that but, clearly, you would have had internal discussions and there must have 

been a point at which you would have drawn the conclusion that - as we say in Romford - “It ain’t gonna 

happen”! 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  One might form an opinion, 

just as any Londoner could, based on the visual appearances of the station and based on, as Meliha [Duymaz] 

said earlier, the information we had about the testing that was ongoing.  Our teams were engaged with the 

Crossrail teams, working closely together, trying to resolve the issues and still achieve the December opening 

as hard and fast as we could.  It is very difficult to make a judgement about what individual people may think.  

There is a formal process of notification and management between the organisations so that we know where 

we are. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  Let us ask it in another way, then.  When did you have a pretty good idea that it was 

not going to happen in December? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  At the same time as anybody 

else could draw those opinions.  We knew, as Simon [Wright] has said, during July and August [2018] that 

there were issues and we were in discussion with Crossrail Ltd about the options for resolving those issues. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  The point here is that nobody is saying that Network Rail contributed in any way to the 

delay.  It seems as though what you were doing was pretty much on target, but I just find it very difficult to 

understand why such a key player would be kept in the dark, like the Mayor was, allegedly. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Our responsibility and 

accountability was delivering the changes to the surface network to make the train service run and we split 

that broadly into two parts: the changes to the railway itself so that the trains could run and then the changes 

to the stations in order to deliver the passenger experience.  Indeed, we delivered Abbey Wood Station in 

2017.  Therefore, our locus and understanding of what was happening in the central section was really quite 

limited.  We had the interface points and clearly, we needed to manage across those interface points, but 

essentially our focus and our determination was to deliver the works that we had been contracted to on time. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  What you are saying is that you really only started to get a sniff of this in July [2018].  

Is that what you are saying? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Correct. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Before I bring our next Member in, can we welcome pupils 

from St Helen’s Catholic Primary School from Newham.  Welcome to City Hall.  This is the London Assembly’s 

Transport Committee and we have guests before us today answering questions on the new Crossrail line, which 

will be called the Elizabeth line, a new Tube and railway line from east London across to west London -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Straight through Newham. 

Page 22



  
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Does it go through Newham? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It certainly does; Stratford is in Newham! 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  There we go; through Newham, testing my borough knowledge.  It will 

be a fantastic line when it opens, but it was due to open in part last year and it is delayed.  We are trying to 

find out why it was delayed and when we hope it will open in the future.  You are very welcome. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I want to move on to the question of these weekly briefings that were prepared and sent to 

the Mayor by TfL.  If I could start with you, Andrew, what was your involvement in drafting the weekly reports 

and how well did these reports reflect the situation on the ground? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  As Simon [Wright] has previously said, the 

relationship between Crossrail and the Mayor came through TfL, not through Crossrail.  My tenure on this 

programme spans two Mayors and the frequency with which I met the Mayors changed over that time and that 

is perfectly understandable.  If I recall, when Sadiq Khan came to become Mayor, there was a timetable set 

between those meetings and I cannot remember whether they were quarterly or every two months, but that 

was the sort of timetable within the 2017 parameter.  Towards the end of 2017 and 2018, there were more 

frequent meetings.  In my time up to the end of 2018, quarter one, those meetings were not weekly; those 

meetings were monthly or two-monthly. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I am talked about these written briefings that were prepared by Crossrail, went to TfL and 

then went on to City Hall.  That is what I am talking about.  Were you involved in preparing the information 

that went into these briefings? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I am perfectly well aware that we produced a lot of 

information for a lot of different stakeholders - we had the Board, the two joint sponsors - and different report 

lines in different directions.  We were frequently preparing reports based on the information that came in real 

time up from our supply chains, up from our delivery groups, through our own programme management office.  

I am perfectly well aware that we were delivering balanced information in real time that was issued to our 

sponsors, in this case TfL, who would then process that and issue it on to the Mayor. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Simon, could you talk about your involvement in this?  What is your recollection of these 

written briefings? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes, certainly.  We were asked to contribute and so we wrote 

a briefing note and that note went to TfL.  From that, they prepared their own briefing for the Mayor and 

thereafter it was their process and not ours.  We provided an initial briefing note and that was done through 

our Chief of Staff. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  Howard, if I can come to you now, we have some emails that we have seen 

from you regarding the content of some of these weekly briefings, which you might be aware of from the 

summons documents.  As we learned from Sir Terry [Morgan CBE], TfL took certain bits out and edited the 

documents before they were sent on to City Hall.  In our papers here, there is a particular briefing where there 

was a section that said there was insufficient testing time.  That was taken out, I think by the Commissioner [of 

TfL] himself.  You were quite adamant in an email on 19 June [2018] that this paragraph should be included 

and that the Mayor should be aware of this whole issue about insufficient testing time. 

 

Page 23



  
 

Can you remember why you were so adamant that this was not taken out of the briefing that went to City 

Hall? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I will preface that by saying what my role was in it.  I 

should say to start with that I am a TfL employee.  I have been working within the Crossrail project since 

February 2013.  My role in these was generally to see the Crossrail part of the reports prepared by the Chief of 

Staff coming across and the particular bit that I added, generally, was the rolling stock element. 

 

I am aware that a number of emails have been disclosed.  If I am honest, I cannot remember every word of 

every one of them.  What I would say is that you will know from the volume of them that there was a huge 

amount of traffic backwards and forwards, generally, dare I say it, quite late on a Friday.  If you time some of 

those, you will see that they are in a, “Have a good weekend.  Blimey, we’re all still here”, kind of context.   

 

Yes, one of them says that we ought to be saying there is insufficient time.  Somebody came back and said, 

“No, I do not think we made that clear at a meeting yesterday”, and I said, basically, “Fine”.  These were 

weekly reports and so it was not a huge issue.  This was not polishing something that, as I say, was going to 

stand for three months as an item of record.  It was what went in this week’s report, next week’s report, etc.  

That is the context, if that helps.  Do you want to point me to what I said? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, sorry. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I thought you might. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, I should say we have an email here.  This is the one of 19 June [2018].  You say: 

 

“Removing the statement re insufficient testing time is wrong. If it’s Andy [Brown, Head of Corporate 

Affairs, TfL] or Steph [Doyne, Corporate Affairs Manager, TfL] who’ve done so I think you need to 

explain that we (I) see it is a critical issue that we need to note.  I’d remin[d] them that we have been 

taken to task (on Stage 2) for not highlighting risks. If it’s Mike [Brown, Commissioner, TfL] I don’t 

think it changes my view but he is the boss!” 

 

You were quite adamant there.  It sounds from that that you were quite adamant that this needed to be 

included in that briefing.  I am wondering why you think that it was taken out by, as it transpired, Mike Brown. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  As I say - I am trying to get the words right - it needs 

to be seen in context.  As I say, these were weekly reports.  One of the things that KPMG had picked up, for 

instance, on Crossrail is that you can work all off data and that potentially leads you into having so much 

information that you cannot draw conclusions or you can try to choose simple words, if you like that, 

sometimes are not fully reflective of all the data that is around but try to interpret what is going on in a weekly 

report.  Obviously, that week I thought it was important that we flagged in the context of stage two.  That is 

what I remember.  Stage two is testing for Heathrow and if somebody had said, “You did not flag that testing 

on Heathrow was not being given sufficient weight”, that was in my mind at that point on the Friday night.  I 

am assuming it was a Friday night.  At that point I was thinking it should go in.  Somebody said no.  There was 

a large number of people who were involved in editing these reports and smoothing them out.  It was not 

something I felt to be hugely significant.  That is the response. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  The way the email is written it sounds like, basically, the only reason you would acquiesce 

to it not going in is because Mike [Brown] had said no and “he is the boss” and you cannot overrule the 

Commissioner. 

 

Page 24



  
 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Perhaps if I was having my time again, I would have 

written “editor in chief”.  Somebody has to smooth the thing and nuance what goes in and what does not go 

in.  I was not being told, “No, you absolutely cannot say this”, but, as I say, there were a large number of 

people involved in putting these reports together.  Ultimately somebody has to say, “This sits together as a 

coherent whole.  This fits with last week.  This leads on to the future”. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We have another email.  This is from Andy Brown and he talks about Mike Brown not being 

happy to include the paragraph.  He says, “He feels strongly we cannot spring things like this on him [the 

Mayor] in a weekly note when there is ample opportunity to trail it in person”.  Do you know when that would 

have been trailed with the Mayor in person? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No.  To be honest, I do not have a chronology.  As 

you say, there were a number of meetings, weekly TfL meetings, reports on Crossrail, and so I could not, 

obviously, be sure what meeting that would have referred to. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think there was a general culture with this project of people lower down not 

wanting to send the information further up because of a fear of what the reaction might be?  This it is 

something that has been talked about in general with the project: stuff coming from lower down, getting up to 

Board level and then beyond that going up to the Commissioner and then to the Mayor.  Do you think it was a 

risk that stuff was getting so polished on the way up that people higher up were simply not being made aware 

of all the risks? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  More widely, probably, yes.  It is a risk in every 

complex project or large organisation that as information filters up it gets smoothed at every turn.  That is a 

risk.  When we go back over Crossrail history, we will find that there have been occasions of that happening.  

Do I think that email in itself is a specific example of direct suppression of something that was vitally 

important?  No. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Can I just pick up there?  I am sorry.  I read this email chain, which 

clearly shows someone actually saying: 

 

“Mike also does not want us to reference train availability and reliability issues as one of the causes of 

any problems with the last big testing window -- This was also not mentioned at all in the update to the 

Mayor last week.” 

 

Obviously, the trains were the responsibility of TfL.  You awarded the contract.  It just feels to us - or it feels to 

me and I hopefully speak for the Committee - that, given the evidence we had last time from 

Sir Terry Morgan CBE that information Crossrail had put in had been removed by the time the briefing went to 

the Mayor, TfL is trying to water down the risk.  Is that not the case? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  In general, no.  What was in my mind certainly when I 

participated in the weekly reports was giving a general overall view that, as I say, needed a degree of 

consistency and flow to it.  You can report individual snippets but KPMG, as we have said, made a point of 

saying that individual data on its own taken in isolation - “This worked” this week and then “This did not work” 

next week - does not give you any sense of how the project is progressing.  Editing a weekly report in itself, as 

I say, is not suppression of something, as you almost seem to be suggesting. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Howard, you were flagging that there was insufficient testing time.  

You were in charge of this bit of the project.  You were overseeing it.  You were feeding back.  You felt there 

was insufficient testing time and, in the end, you say: 

Page 25



  
 

 

“Not saying for a minute that’s [sic] Mike’s wrong but my recollection varies a bit - either way he’s in 

charge so I’ll drop it.” 

 

Basically, you are saying, “I am flagging these concerns” - you were covered; you were doing your job - but 

Mike has taken the decision to take out these concerns and not to flag them to the Mayor of London, the 

Chair of TfL.  Is that not serious? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  In a weekly report, no.  Apologies to Simon [Wright] 

in advance.  Simon and I would have had similar discussions about the wording when we were deciding what to 

put to the Crossrail Board.  I would write something and somebody would say, “No, that does not quite make 

sense with that”.  That is not censorship.  That is just trying to make the report fit together. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Surely it is also about managing what messages, for example, the 

Mayor of London receives and maybe he was not being fully briefed on every risk that there was, which 

actually, when you put it together, leads to bigger concerns that he may have had about this project. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  To answer that question, you would have to look 

much more widely than a couple of emails from me.  I genuinely think you would have to look at the weekly 

reports, the monthly reports, the Crossrail Board, the P-Rep reports. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We have been. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We have those, yes. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes.  What I mean is you have to see the whole story 

and the whole picture and ask, “Was the information that was being passed up insufficient or misleading in any 

way?”  A couple of emails relating to editing of a weekly report in themselves do not lead you to particularly 

strong conclusions on that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You are not accepting that the Commissioner of TfL effectively watered 

down, with his comms team, the messages you wanted to brief the Mayor on? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Not in a meaningful way, no. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Not in a meaningful way, but in a way? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  If you read that, something was taken out that I had 

put in and had said I would prefer to put in.  That is absolutely straightforward.  Was that a meaningful change 

in the whole context of it?  No, I do not believe it was. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just going back to briefings in terms of, again, all your experience 

on major projects and your background in engineering, at what stage would be normal to have weekly briefings 

on a project if there were no risks?  Is it normal practice? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Typically speaking, we work in four-weekly slots.  We call 

them ‘periods’.  Typically, the reporting mechanisms were every four weeks.  That was our Board cycle.  That 

was the Sponsor Board cycle.  Most other events happened about that.  However, then, if you go down into 

the next level of detail, there were weekly meetings.  Sometimes there were daily meetings.  We had a  

Page 26



  
 

critical-issues phone call practically daily, as far as I can remember.  It depends on the strategic level at which 

you are operating, but most of the higher-level governance did happen every four weeks for most of the 

programme. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  TfL has stated that the weekly briefings were something over and 

above what they were doing.  Again, just to clarify, there was not a formal contractual agreement, but 

somewhere along the line, because of all the risks you all identified that were being picked up from as early as 

January 2018, someone felt that there had to be weekly briefings going to the Mayor, who is the Chair of TfL, 

which is the main co-sponsor of this project; yet we are seeing that some of the information being passed on 

to the Mayor - not from Crossrail but from TfL - seems to have been watered down and effectively changed.  

Would you then say there was an issue around transparency in that discussion and communication in your 

view? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I cannot add anything, I am afraid.  We made the data 

available as far as we possibly could and anything beyond that is not for us to comment on. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Sorry, Howard.  Can I just pick up the point that the Chair was making 

around how you feel about this? 

 

In the email that was sent on 20 June [2018], there was this person called “Sylvia”.  Who is Sylvia? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Sylvia [Mannah] worked in the Managing Director’s 

office at London Underground. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  All right.  Would you say that she was Mike Brown’s personal assistant (PA) or something 

like that? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Not Mike Brown, no.  Actually, at that time she was 

within Mark Wild’s [current CEO, Crossrail] office in his old job at London Underground. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  You said, “I am not saying for a minute that Mike is wrong, but my recollection varies 

a bit”, but in this email from Sylvia she says in relation to the issues around the train availability and reliability, 

“This was not mentioned at all in the update to the Mayor last week”.  Would it not give you concern that the 

Mayor is being kept in the dark? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Again, forgive me, but I see the issues in the context 

of almost constant briefings of one sort or another.  As I have said before, there were weekly meetings, there 

were periodic meetings, there were meeting with sponsors.  What went into any specific weekly paragraph, if 

you like, was not a huge issue.  If I felt the story was being completely changed and some part was being 

completely hidden, my view would be much stronger.  However, in terms of what went into one particular 

report, I saw that as something that went in this week, went in next week, went in a Crossrail Board report. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You see, the issue here is that there are two sections and I am afraid I do not have enough 

information at this moment to work out what exactly what they are, but there is something called 2.4 and 

something called 2.1. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  They are probably software releases. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK.  It is clear that the Mayor is not being told about the software.  He is not being told 

about the availability and reliability issues.  They are two aspects.  From reading what this says, it strikes me 

Page 27



  
 

that Mike either is deliberately not telling the Mayor this information or is too afraid to tell the Mayor this 

information.  Whichever way you read it, clearly, you have a professional responsibility to get this information 

across.  By agreeing, “Either way, Mike is in charge and so I will drop it”, do you not think you are actually 

abdicating your responsibility? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I will repeat what I said: 2.1 and 2.4, if that is what 

we are talking about, are individual software releases.  Just to put it in context, we are up to 3.0.96 and so 

goodness knows how many hundreds of releases onwards. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  These refer to paragraphs. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  All right.  In that case -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You sent paragraph 2.1 that raised an issue, which looks to me like it is around train 

availability and reliability.  Then there is paragraph 2.4 but there is no reference to what paragraph 2.4 referred 

to.  It is two parts of the briefing that have been redacted for the purposes of sending it to the Mayor. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  All right.  In that case, I cannot help you on exactly 

what the paragraphs meant -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  No, I am not expecting you to. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  -- but the general point stands that this was a 

process of editing not for the purpose of hiding bad news in -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It was.  Let me make this very clear to you, Howard.  It says here: “If these points in 2.1 

and 2.4 are correct” -- and I do not think you would have any doubt that they were –“and need to be reported 

to the Mayor, we will need to have a conversation (with Mike, at some stage) about how we can best do that.” 

 

Now, that to me suggests very strongly that the Mayor is being kept in the dark and either Mike is purposely 

keeping the Mayor in the dark or he is too afraid to tell the Mayor. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Again, you have the benefit of the document in front 

of you, but I just put it back again in the context of an overall story.  This was about you did not -- there were 

times when I, from my perspective --  

 

Keith Prince AM:  What you are saying is that because Mike is the boss, you were prepared to drop the 

matter.  Do you not feel that you should have pressed the matter?  I do not want to use the obvious example, 

but there are examples where people have abdicated their responsibility by saying, “I was just acting under 

orders”.  I do not want to use the obvious example of that, but it looks to me as though you are almost in that 

position.  It is good that you are flagging up the issue, but it is not good that you did not press home the -- 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No.  Can I just give you my final answer on that?  

Again, if I thought every week or in a series of reports I was being told, “Do not say this, do not mention that”, 

that would be a very serious issue for me and I would understand what you were getting at.  If it is about 

specific paragraphs of particular weekly reports when reports were going on a nearly daily or weekly basis at 

that stage, that to me, I would bring you back to the idea that is not suppression, that is people working -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Let us just put the ball back into your court because I am conscious of time and I want to 

bring this to an end, because I could go on for hours, as they know.  What you are saying is that this was 

Page 28



  
 

probably just a one-off situation, but if this was to happen on every weekly report, you would be more 

concerned? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  If, when we trail back through these reports, we find a number of examples of this, would 

you have to change your position then? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  If you were finding a systemic sort of process of my 

comments being taken out, yes, absolutely. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  We will have a look. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes, please.  I am happy to. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Let us move on to governance.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  The first question is to start with Andrew [Wolstenholme], if that is all right.  Did you have 

concerns with Crossrail’s governance during your time as the CEO?   

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  None at all?  Right. 

 

I will ask the same question to Simon.  Did you have concerns with Crossrail’s governance during your time? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It worked well.  Indeed, a number of external audits did 

comment on that as well.  It was effective.  I have worked on many major programmes.  I worked on the [2012 

London] Olympics and I worked on the Greenwich Peninsula for English Partnerships and there were similar 

models there.  We have gradually learnt lessons and built what was an effective governance programme. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  There has been some doubt expressed - again, I might as well stay with you, Simon, for the 

moment - whether you agree that the sponsors felt they had very limited opportunity or power to intervene 

and influence and question Crossrail. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Is that from the KPMG report?  Yes.  I am surprised by that: 

(a) because we met them very regularly; and (b) because we did put in a report to them very regularly.  Clearly, 

they had constant access to me and my teams as and when they required.  They had a sponsor; they had a 

group called the Joint Sponsor Team (JST).  I cannot remember how many people that contained, but it was 

about six or eight or something like that, so that JST met with my colleagues, my team, on a very regular basis 

to have much more detailed granular discussions around what was going on.  They had a P-Rep, whom we 

have talked about often, and who provided them with completely independent views about what was 

happening.  The P-Rep, if you may remember, sat in our office throughout and attended almost every meeting 

we held, including the Programme Delivery Board in detail.  I would be surprised to hear that that was what 

they felt because for me there were very significant, regular, consistent opportunities for them to question us, 

quiz us, come and talk to us, look at what we were doing in great detail. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Did you not read the KPMG report then? 

Page 29



  
 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I have read most of it.  There are many -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You cannot be surprised then, can you, because you know, because it is in their report? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I have lots of bits of KPMG.  I am afraid -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am pulling your leg a bit, actually, Simon. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I am surprised that that is what they concluded.  My view is I 

am surprised the sponsors feel like that.  I am not doubting it was written. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Can I add one more thing? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I just make one more point?  Then I would love you to come in, Andrew, actually.  It is 

something that Mike Brown [Commissioner of TfL], who has been mentioned a few times earlier, said.  It is in 

his wonderful language: 

 

“I think this light-of-touch sponsor role – the explicit exclusion of, as it turns out, the owning entity, TfL, 

of the subsidiary company – was extraordinarily excluded” 

 

I am not quite if you quite understand what I mean. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Again, each sponsor had a board, a non-exec board member, 

throughout and that was increased more recently to two, so two non-executive directors (NEDs) sat on our 

Board.  Howard has already said he works for TfL.  He is in our office 24/7, almost literally, so we have had an 

enormous engagement with TfL throughout.  Again, I am puzzled as to why that was felt to be the case.  I do 

not doubt that he sincerely felt it, but I am puzzled as to what the evidence is, that that is supported by the 

facts, because there was an immense amount of discussion. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  We are going to come to you in a second, Andrew, if you can just keep a note of what I am 

saying here.  It seemed to be they were upset about their ability - or it says “power” actually - to intervene and 

influence. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  OK.  That comes to the Project Development Agreement 

(PDA).  The PDA was written and signed by both parties way back when - I do not remember the date - and 

the IP process was written into that agreement and signed up to by all parties, so everybody willingly entered 

into it at a point in time at the start of the programme.  The IPs did give them some leverage, but -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You are saying it is the fault of the ‘bloke wot wrote it’ then, is it? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is not a question of fault.  I know you are jesting slightly, 

Keith, but I do not think so.  It is an agreement.  People write agreements with goodwill.  People base them on 

experience of other programmes and they were done with good intention and it worked extremely well for the 

project as a whole. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I should probably come to you, Andrew, at this point now.  Would you like me to repeat 

those questions? 

 

Page 30



  
 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No.  Look, I was asked to keep my responses brief, 

but my one-word answer of “no” is perhaps too brief.  If you go back to the NAO’s report in 2014, which 

looked at the first half of this programme or certainly the first few years of setting this whole programme up, 

there was a huge debate within public sector bodies and across the industry as to what is the best way to 

govern programmes that sit outside of the normal portfolio.  When I was at Heathrow Airport Ltd, Terminal 5 

sat outside of the project capability office, if you like, in the same way here that Crossrail sat outside TfL’s 

portfolio management of a huge number of complex programmes. 

 

The big question is how you should govern these.  Should these be completely independent?  Should they be a 

special purpose vehicle?  If you look at the Government spending departments, this is being discussed and 

talked about.  I would recommend that you go back to the NAO report of 2014, because it did say, “Against a 

broad range of these programmes, it appears that this programme has been well set up”.  Now, well set up 

does not mean to say that nothing can go wrong. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is not with hindsight though, with due respect, is it?  If they made that report in 2014 

and they looked at it now, they might make a slightly different report. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  These programmes are dynamic, but what Simon 

says, it was not an independent Board, it was a semi-independent Board.  TfL and the DfT had a NED sitting 

on that Board since the formation.  The JST was there specifically so that I reported into the Crossrail Board 

and into the JST.  There was plenty of access through all of those meetings, and as Simon says, the P-Rep, 

who were contracted into the sponsors, were 24/7 in our office.  I do not recognise the fact that the sponsors 

did not have either access or opportunity to influence, to have their say and to put their mark on Crossrail.  It 

was not designed that way and I do not recognise that that was the outcome. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I just hit you with one more question then?  With the benefit of hindsight, which we 

all could do with benefit from and do not have the benefit of when we need it, before, would you put into 

place any other governance arrangement?  If the Government was coming to you today and saying, “Look, we 

want to set up a Crossrail 2 Board”, is there anything you would change or nuance or any recommendations 

you would make as to how you could do it better, without being critical of what we have already? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is always simpler to have one sponsor and not 

two.  Can I be that bold? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Yes. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Network Rail was an industry partner.  We did not 

have a contract with Network Rail and so how perfect can you make these?  The perfect governance is to have 

one sponsor and one person accountable for the end-to-end process, but there are many different 

accountabilities and one just has to find that balance between what is right for that particular programme and 

what is right for that risk.  Of course, there are lessons to be learnt and there are calibrations to be made.  

Governance is not about what is written down on a piece of paper.  Governance is actually about the style and 

the culture.  We have talked about openness.  We had an adage going around Crossrail, “Bad news must travel 

fast”. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Except for when it got to TfL. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  It did not; it was suppressed. 

 

Page 31



  
 

Keith Prince AM:  That is not Crossrail’s fault.  One sponsor is a good point; that is a very good point.  Is 

there anything else you would say then? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  These are very high-level strategic type discussions.  

It worked well.  The tensions at time between DfT and TfL were positive.  There were just a few issues for 

which this positive tension was good for the programme.  None of these tensions, I have to say, were overtly 

spilled into the programme, and the whole purpose of having an independent Crossrail Board is so that they 

could get on with the business of Crossrail and not be encumbered by the day-to-day issues that the sponsors 

have.  Now, was that the perfect balance?  It worked pretty well.  If I were in a position to choose this model 

again in the future, you would take it on and of course you would learn the lessons as to what could have been 

effectively -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  It is not because I am trying to find any blame or any fault with anybody.  There is a 

possibility, less now than there was a few months ago, we will have a Crossrail 2 and I assume there will be a 

similar form of governance.  I am just literally trying to, for free, get information from you as to how we might 

do it better next time. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I hope very much there is a Crossrail 2.  Actually, if it 

had been timed, I would probably be working on Crossrail 2 right now, but the gaps that these programmes 

appear from a sponsorship point of view are huge issues that sponsors have to deal with.  I would have no 

doubt in recommending a similar governance model.  Other members and stakeholders will have a view as to 

how that can be recalibrated.  I am not saying that it was perfect, but it served actually for the majority of time 

the Crossrail programme very well. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  OK, that is helpful.  Thank you.  Simon, do you want to add anything in relation to 

governance? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, it is more in the detail, I suppose, as was said earlier.  The 

range between the IPs and the sponsor’s ability to intervene, as the word would imply, at those points is very 

narrow, so the sums of money between IP1 and IP2 are actually very slender.  There is a detail there about 

having a more rational risk-based sum that is calculated rather than simply assumed and gives the sponsors 

opportunities between the IPs and more time in order to take action that they would have chosen to have 

done, whereas the IP bands are very narrow in Crossrail. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is interesting.  Howard, do you want to add anything at all? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No, I do not believe so, other than to say that as the 

sort of operations person and the person who is still with Crossrail at the moment and moving forward, I am 

sure there will be more lessons to be learnt, if you like, at the end of the project.  That is my strongest feeling, 

that when we get to the end, when we get it open, there will be another chapter to be written. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Rupert, do you want to say anything? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Just briefly, first of all, 

Crossrail 2 is essential to relieve congested stations like Clapham Junction and Waterloo, so we are closely 

involved in Crossrail 2, applying as many of the nuts and bolts learnings as we can, not just from Crossrail, but 

from Thameslink and other projects on to the development of that programme. 

 

The three things that I take from Crossrail itself are the benefit of having aligned objectives, the benefit of 

Network Rail being involved really early in the programme and the benefit of this collaborative working and 

Page 32



  
 

having a process by which we can escalate issues.  In fact, back to Crossrail, that has been further strengthened 

by involving us, Network Rail, and in fact Howard on the Joint Sponsor Board (JSB) from now on, something 

that was not in place previously.  We now have a zippered approach right the way through the Crossrail 

organisation and so we really truly are able to escalate issues with the things that we are involved with at the 

highest level.  Those are the points that I would take to Crossrail 2. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Meliha, did you want to add anything?   

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  On the point Rupert made, 

Mark Langman [Managing Director (Western), Network Rail] on the western side and I will be the people who 

will be operating the railway once it is open.  The fact that only last month we were asked to take part in the 

JSB going forward is one of the learnings from this programme, because as we now start worrying more about 

operating the railway, rather than building it, obviously we need to ensure that we are building a railway that 

can be delivered, day in, day out, to millions of passengers.  Our involvement going forward will be really key. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is very helpful, thank you.  Let us move on.  Andrew - and Simon, actually - if can you 

give relatively short, quick answers to these, if you choose to do so, though “yes” or “no”, it would be 

preferred if you did not do that.  Do you think that the Crossrail Board fulfilled their role during your tenure? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I do.  You have to get the balance in the Board, of 

participants around the Board.  How did it feel?  I felt that we were pretty heavily scrutinised month in, month 

out.  Terry [Morgan CBE] did a good job in chairing it.  Clearly the Board needs to understand the risk phase 

that it is in, and if I look at my own team, we had four different organisational phases of the programme - we 

may come on to that - and by and large the Board was informed, transparent information, it gave support 

where support was required and gave us pushback where pushback was required.  How you get that balance 

right is always the style of a board, but by and large the Board was effective. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  On scrutiny, do you think there was sufficient scrutiny?  How do you view the importance 

of independent reviewers and whether there should have been maybe more scrutiny? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  If you look at some of the sub-groups that reported 

in to the Board, there was a highly effective and very valued independent group who looked at the engineering 

and the civil engineering in particular, and that was chaired by Robert Mair, an eminent civil engineer.  Any 

complexity within the tunnelling, this is potentially a dangerous part of the engineering and one has to be very 

clear that the safety and the application and the methodology was right.  We continually use those 

independent boards.  There was another board for procurement.  We had to get procurement right, being a 

public sector organisation, with the European Union procurement rules.  We had an independent body that 

looked at how we were managing that procurement and whether the processes that we were delivering - not 

the decision about who won, but the process that we followed - was that the right process.  At the same time, 

we had an independent group around the operations.  Those were effective pieces of due diligence, of further 

external assurance. 

 

If you combine that with our own internal audit programme, with TfL’s audit programme, with the NAO audit 

programme, with Tony Meggs’ Infrastructure and Projects Authority (IPA), on two occasions they came and did 

an audit.  What we needed to do was not to be audited out, but for the right balance.  Overall the balance of 

the governance of the leadership of the Sponsor Board, of the audit, of course one could look back in 

hindsight and say, “You could have done something different or something extra” but the structure and the 

mechanism was a good one. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Do you want to add anything to that, Simon, at all? 

Page 33



  
 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Not a great deal.  I support what Andrew has said.  One of the 

tests for me of the effectiveness of a board is how well one prepares for the board meeting, because the 

scrutiny was intense.  We spent a lot of time making sure we were very well-briefed ourselves on all the issues 

and were expecting a very detailed discussion to take place, which then happened.  The Board was also very 

supportive, so while it was intense in its review of what was going on, it was also supportive and encouraged us 

to be innovative and creative about resolving issues.  They got the balance about right.  There is this need for 

appropriate skills at the appropriate time, so as we moved through from civil engineering to more focus on  

fit-out and railways systems, there is the need to bring fresh skills of that type along in the later stages.  I 

suppose if there was one observation, we probably could have had one or two people with more railways 

systems experience earlier in that phase, but that would be my only observation. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  That is good, thank you.  All right, I am just going to keep moving on.  This question is to 

Rupert and Meliha [Duymaz].  Do you agree with KPMG that the governance structure did not sufficiently 

allow for Network Rail’s engagement with Crossrail? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  On the Crossrail works, we had 

a good collaborative level of engagement with transparent working from the start.  I was involved in the very 

beginnings of Crossrail ten years ago and since then there was an open and honest engagement on the 

relationship and on the things that needed to be done.  Yes, it had its tensions throughout that period, but 

there was an open and honest engagement.  Our reporting through to the Crossrail team was consistent with 

reporting that we would do on other projects in explaining where we were at and the teams worked together 

closely to try to identify issues early and try to resolve them.  In our opinion, the relationship and the 

engagement and the openness was appropriate for this massively important programme. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  There was a recommendation that you should be invited to sit on the Board.  Are you 

sitting on the Board now? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  The Sponsor Board? 

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  Yes, that is the point I made earlier.  

Last month DfT wrote to us and invited us to take part. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Great. 

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  Mark Langman [Managing Director 

(Western), Network Rail], going forward, will be contributing to the Board from Network Rail. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Fantastic, thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just very quickly, it was sparked really by the exchange, Andrew, you had with 

Assembly Member McCartney earlier about what we were being told.  We would go on these visits and I went 

on many visits with you and with Sir Terry [Morgan CBE] and we would always get a very positive spin on it, 

including from Sir Terry, saying that they had booked the Queen. 

 

I am just wondering, in a future project like Crossrail 2, because Crossrail 1 was not accountable to us - TfL is 

accountable, but Crossrail is an independent body - we can get documents only if we want to summons them 

circuitously via TfL.  I am wondering whether you think that in any future project that there should be some 

sort of direct line of accountability between the arm’s length organisation and us that is set in legislation? 

 

Page 34



  
 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  As I said, you have to get the balance right between 

allowing a delivery organisation to get on and do it and to report transparently and giving access and giving 

the correct reporting access to those bodies who are ultimately accountable.  As Simon says, the PDA was set 

up over the course of two years and really the point at which you have an opportunity to make sure that that 

structure is right, and from hearing here, it appears that you felt that there was not the information that you 

needed.  It would be perfectly right and valid for the Crossrail 2 PDA to make adjustments for that.  We were 

always - I will not use the word ‘generous’ - very willing to show people down into the spaces.  You came down 

to the spaces.  Tom, you were a great supporter of the programme. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  We value that. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The best way of understanding where things are is 

to come and have a look.  When the tunnelling was complete, it was completed; when the track was down, it 

was down.  If the track was not down, then of course you could not get to look at what was there.  We valued 

the interest from this body. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  But of course we do still need to be told and there are things that we cannot see.  We can 

see the tracks there.  I remember going to Bond Street once a couple of years ago and it was looking very 

advanced, but then we discover actually that Bond Street is the furthest behind and there is all this stuff that 

we cannot see unless we are told about it. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Look, if you felt out of the loop on some of these 

things, for the PDA for Crossrail 2, it is important that you get that balance right.  My recommendation is that 

these are calibrations as opposed to doing it differently.  The balance of the Board, with two sponsored NEDs 

from DfT and TfL, was the route through which discussion at Board level could be passed back.  It always 

requires another part of the organisation to organise visits and we were very grateful for those visits, but one 

just has to get the priority right as to where that information comes from.  If the governance works well, then 

there will be less need for people, other than it is fantastic to see this school group here.  Crossrail is a very 

difficult site to visit because it is all underground. 

 

Actually, the Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA) did it very well because it could have bus trips around the park 

that was on the surface.  It was much easier to gain access.  The access to the tunnels, for a very large time 

they were restricted zones, you had to have half an hour’s training before you went down, then you had to 

have breathing equipment.  It was very much more difficult.  The balance between people being interested, 

between getting the formal report, between getting the informal reports, if there needs to be an adjustment, 

then that should be through the -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us look at leadership now.  Assembly Member McCartney. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can I start with Andrew?  Can I just say that we are really supportive of the Crossrail 

project and are really looking forward to this opening.  I was struck by what you said very early on.  I quoted 

you here.  I wrote down what you said, “There is a huge drive to meeting that date in December”.  You gave a 

couple of examples about where you had had major challenges but they had always been solved.  You gave the 

example in 2015 of the Moorgate shaft, which had a year’s delay, but it was a great success and you found a 

way through that.  I asked Mike Brown [Commissioner, TfL] and Simon last time you were in front of us about 

this mentality, about people that are delivering these big projects, that because it is so important that you 

deliver, particularly in the run-up to the opening date, that optimism, that you have actually overcome those 

challenges before can perhaps make you think that the achievable is achievable, even though all those red 

flags are actually being raised.  Is that a fair assumption for me to make? 

 

Page 35



  
 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Look, in any programme which spans 10 years and 

involves thousands of people, you have to create a culture and you have to produce an environment within 

which people can get things can done, can think out of the box, can be innovative and can be rewarded for 

success.  It is right that my own style of leadership is to create that environment and to be able to support 

people when things go wrong and to be able to recognise and reward people when things go well.  But, look, I 

recognise what you are saying, because as the programme gets closer towards the end, there are less 

opportunities to find routes around this.  I explained that throughout this whole programme we had taken on 

the technical challenges, for which there was no book on the shelf to tell you what the answer was and so you 

needed people to come together.  I have no problem at all in creating a positive collaborative work 

environment. 

 

Simon said I had been in this business for 18 years.  Well, 18 years with Simon.  For 30 years I have tried to 

create environments within which people can get exceptional results.  I hear what you say, that there is always 

a danger when you come towards the end of the programme, and there could well be an element of optimism 

that obscured some of the balance between it being an absolute date and it being a range within that.  We 

were always asked to manage programmes on what was called a P50.  This is what the PDA said.  That means, 

in our world, there is a range of opportunity, but the leadership staff have to keep people working 

collaboratively.  We did not have a contract with Network Rail.  You have quoted the fact that TfL had the 

contract with the rolling stock.  You have to create an environment where you can all work these together. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  When we put this to Mark Wild [CEO, Crossrail], he explained that he thought that 

optimism and the delays in raising some of the risks with the programme came from a place of the leadership 

not knowing.  I am going to quote what he said: 

 

“The management team did not understand the risk profile they were carrying ... they clearly did not 

understand the massive risk that they had ratcheted up.” 

 

Is that a fair comment for him to make? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  This whole question of understanding of the risk, I 

can point to lots of different parts of this programme.  I said earlier on that as an engineer, having worked on 

these big programmes, you have to be prepared to take away lessons.  One of the lessons towards the back 

end of the programme is that the station scope was too complicated.  Did we fully understand that scope?  

Could it have been de-risked earlier on?  That is one of the lessons we take out.  When I look at the rolling 

stock, by and large TfL has done a very good job in managing a very complex set of interfaces.  The complexity 

of building up the modular software was not probably fully understood in the early stages.  That has been a 

huge task.  If anyone had managed that task, it would not have been any simpler, you know, understanding 

some of the complexity in some of the detail. 

 

I do not believe that we misled.  I do not believe that the optimism was in any way incorrect.  With the benefit 

of hindsight, I would learn one of those lessons: keep the scope as simple as you possibly can.  The aspiration 

of the sponsors that we took on around making this what was known in those days - and is known today - a 

digital railway, that it is fully monitored from the Romford control centre.  If there is a lesson to take away as 

Crossrail, it is to make sure that is as simple as possible.  Mike [Brown, Commissioner, TfL] would interpret that 

as misunderstanding.  I would agree with him that we could have made it simpler.  If we had made that simpler, 

then coming into that final phase would have meant that those interfaces were simpler and the issues that 

have happened right now would have been simpler too. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  What struck me - and you did mention the station fit-outs and whatever - was that 

when Mark Wild came and told us about what was still unfinished, it was not those big issues about Pudding 

Page 36



  
 

Mill Lane or the testing phase, it was also about the station fitout and so they would not even be ready to 

open safely in December, even if the other major issues had been sorted.  Did that knowledge come as a 

surprise to you that those issues were so far behind? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail C E O):  Having spent seven years on this programme and 

dealt with many of these programmes, of course it was personally disappointing to learn that the plan that we 

had developed had not been fully thought through.  When I left, there was a known risk around three stations. 

 

Of course, there was pressure on Bond Street that comes out, there was pressure on Liverpool Street and there 

was pressure on Whitechapel, so those were known risks.  Would I have been surprised if actually the tension 

on this programme had centred around the rolling stock and the complexity of winning maturity on this?  No.  

Was I surprised about actually some of the complexity that emerged late in the day around the stations?  I was, 

and I have been honest about some of the lesson there is to make sure that the technology in those stations is 

much simpler on day one.  If that had been the case, then of course this would have been a much easier 

programme to finish off. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You said earlier - and I thought it was a very good phrase - that your ethos was that 

bad news must travel fast.  Looking back, what processes perhaps would you put in that would have been 

different to allow that news to travel up to where it needed to get to? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I am not sure that we would have changed anything.  

As Simon says, the heartbeat of this programme was periodic on four weeks.  As you get into the granularity 

and you get into different layers of the supply chain, there were weekly reports and where necessary there 

were daily reports and daily KPIs.  What we were always working on was the latest real-time information to be 

able to look at all the dashboards.  On a programme this size and scale, you have many, many different dials, 

whether it is the earned value of the programme or the cost side, as Howard said, huge numbers of datasets 

and all these datasets have to come together in providing the information.  It is easy to look back in retrospect 

and to say that maybe those dials were not calibrated in the right way.  Of course we can take lessons away 

from that and there will be lessons here, but we were flying on a number of instruments.  We were getting a 

very comprehensive dashboard. 

 

The same consultants that have observations in retrospect were looking at this as best practice for many, many 

years through this programme, so it is easy to look back into the rear-view mirror.  A lot of what we did is best 

practice.  The innovation programme that came out of Crossrail has now been landed and launched as an 

industry Sector Deal.  That is unbelievable for this sector, to pick up all the good practice of what we have 

used.  I do not want to go through a list of all the things that happened, the sustainability areas, the 

apprenticeship areas, the programme management areas, some of the project control areas, they have all been 

lifted as best practice.  Could they have been improved and better?  Yes, there are lessons to take away, I am 

sure. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you.  Howard, given that you are Chief Operations Officer at Crossrail, are 

there any new systems in place to allow any concerns to be flagged earlier than perhaps they had been 

previously or is the programme of stopping the clock and rebasing everything sorting that out? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  There are a number of changes to the way that the 

company is working, but the bigger thing I would point out is there is a reinvigoration in terms of particularly 

focus on systems integration, so specialists coming in to manage some of those really complex stages of the 

latter part of bringing a railway together.  It is about identifying the risks as much as passing them up so you 

can manage them, look ahead at where the next problem will come up and be ready for it.  That is probably the 

biggest change that has happened in recent months. 

Page 37



  
 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  OK, thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to looking at assessment of risk.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Moving on, a bit more detail about risk.  There are some later questions about 

particular topics, but I would like to talk about something that has been referred to quite often, the P-Rep, the 

project representative team of engineers and project management specialists that are appointed and 

contracted by the sponsors who report to the Sponsorship Board.  The first question - this is to Andrew, Simon 

and Howard, Crossrail - is did you all have access to these progress project reports?  Andrew. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes, we did. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Jolly good.  You had access to them, because Jacobs were the firm involved, experts - 

at great cost, no doubt, to the taxpayer - and they reported to the Sponsor Board, which is populated by 

Crossrail Board members.  We have heard all this earlier.  Their reports were quite critical.  We have some 

examples here.  January, “There remains a significant risk to firm handover”. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Sorry, January of which year? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  January 2018.   

 

In March 2018, and I paraphrase slightly, “There is therefore a high risk that the start dates for trial 

running/trial ops will not be achieved”.  That is the March report from the P-Reps.  May [2018]: again I 

paraphrase the conclusion, “There remains a high risk that stage 3 opening will not be achieved”.  Jacobs were 

hired particularly by the Sponsor Board, experts to report to that Board populated by yourselves.  When you 

said, Andrew, that you were sighted on these reports, what were your reactions to those reports?  How did you 

feel about those expert reports? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  My responsibility in the Crossrail Board meeting was 

to report on what the P-Rep were reporting.  The aim of that, the purpose of that, was to see where our own 

reports and the P-Rep reports were diverging.  Remember the P-Reps are reporting directly into the sponsors. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  The Sponsor Board, agreed, yes. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  This is a report that is written for the sponsors and it 

is also issued to Crossrail.  We got the report a month after, so these all came four weeks after we had issued 

our own report, so I was reporting observations at the Board one month after they had reported their own 

thing.  Where there was a big deviation of a view, of opinion - these papers went to the Crossrail Board too - 

then we would talk about that at a Crossrail Board.  There was access.  Simon has mentioned this before: the 

P-Rep had 24/7 access to every meeting to pick up the datasets, the same information and they would put 

their own interpretation on it. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I will come back to you on that, Andrew.  Simon and Howard, do you concur with 

Andrew’s analysis of this? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Just for clarification, so we do not sit on the Sponsor Board, 

we attend and report to the Sponsor Board, so that is just one clarification.  The sponsors had two meetings, a 

part A and a part B, and in part A the P-Rep would attend and give their report without us, and in part B we 

would attend and give our report with the P-Rep present, so they were held in that way.  We, as Andrew said, 

Page 38



  
 

received the P-Rep report.  Do not forget that their information came from us because they sat in all our 

meetings getting all our data, getting all our analysis, so there was generally nothing of any surprise in their 

report. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  So you knew about all these problems that early on? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Jolly good, carry on. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We had reported them similarly to the sponsors.  They put 

their own interpretation, it is their words, but the facts and the risks and the issues were very similar to those 

that were reporting ourselves to sponsors.  Sorry, Howard, did you want to add to that or you are content with 

that response? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No, there is nothing to add. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Jacobs are hired by the Sponsor Board you sit on.  You do not sit, you attend -- 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, we do not sit on the Sponsor Board. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  All right, OK.  You are [being] pedantic to Londoners, but you are there for part of the 

meeting. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We attend to report, as Crossrail, to the sponsors.  

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It would just seem rather odd, again to Londoners and to non-engineers like myself, 

that a firm are hired by the Sponsor Board - who are not here to comment on that - at great cost and are 

flagging up problems.  We have only got three examples.  There may well be more predating these, indeed. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  There are a lot. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Indeed, Andrew, you get them a month behind, but I do not really buy that 

particularly.  There is flagged up examples of problems and you are saying, “It is not us, guv, it is the other 

board who have it.  We do not sit on it, so –“ 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, of course not.  We are not saying that at all, quite to the 

contrary.  What I am saying is that the information upon which they were reporting to sponsors independently 

had come from sitting in our meetings in our offices, gathering data independently and putting their 

interpretation on it.  We were aware of the issues and we were addressing these ourselves with risk mitigation, 

dealing with this continuing tsunami of issues that occur on major programmes.  As you said yourself, this is 

two or three.  Every day there is a tsunami of issues that occurs on these major programmes, all of which come 

to the senior leadership to deal with, to delegate, to take action against.  We were actioning these in real time 

as they occurred, probably before the P-Rep themselves had even heard about them.  This reporting was going 

on, sponsors were taking note of it, as they were taking note of our own reports to them, which was separate 

from and in addition to those they got from the P-Rep. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Just lastly, Chair, clearly the conclusion is that there was expert recommendations early 

in the year - in fact, possibly predating - shared by yourselves, because you say were you not the authors, but 

were privy to that information at an early stage of quite considerably high significant risk, significant risk, high 

Page 39



  
 

risk and another high risk, and they were flagged at that very early stage through both Boards and so the 

Crossrail Board itself was sighted and the Sponsor Board also was sighted on these at that early stage? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Correct. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I just flag from that though that basically the January [2018] report 

said, “There is a significant risk to stage 3 opening in December”.  That was January, a year before they were 

flagging there was a significant risk you would not open in December and you are saying you absolutely agreed 

with this, which would suggest you knew even earlier that it was unlikely to open in December. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  There were rising risks.  It is not a question of knowing.  You 

do not know that they cannot be overcome.  That was the P-Rep’s opinion about the risks.  We had a plan, 

despite there being rising risks, which we were reporting, to deliver the opening in December.  In January of 

2018, we had a plan, a firm plan, to deliver the opening in December, despite there being rising risks.  There 

are always risks on big programmes.  Sometimes they go up, sometimes they go down, and of course we are 

concerned about all of them and were taking action to mitigate them.  The P-Rep is in the position of simply 

reporting against risks.  We were taking the action to mitigate them and to develop a plan to deal with them 

and still to open the railway in December.  Yes, we acknowledged there were rising risks and we had reports on 

those, but we also had a plan to deal with them to open on time in December. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I go back the question I asked Howard earlier on.  Where was the mechanism to 

understand these risks?  We have seen a number of examples that risks were flagged as early as January, but 

nobody responded to them, very late.  It is confusing, as a Londoner, because we are not close to having this 

delivered, we are miles away.  Why was there no mechanism to pick that up? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  There was a mechanism to pick that up.  We had a very 

thorough, comprehensive risk management system.  We had risk review meetings on a very regular basis.  They 

were mentioned, flagged up and discussed and plans put in place to mitigate them at the Programme Delivery 

Board, and at almost every Board meeting we attended, we were dealing with risk.  That is what projects are all 

about.  In every meeting, every day, every hour, we are dealing with managing those risks.  There were plans, 

very thorough plans, put in place and discussed extensively very late into every evening to address these issues 

and to come up with ways of mitigating and dealing with them. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Why did none of those plans work and why did it take so long to pick them up? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Many of them did work. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Clearly they did not, because we do not have Crossrail and we are nowhere near having 

Crossrail. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Sorry, but there are thousands of risks.  We have mitigated 

many, many such risks in the past.  You do not hear about those, because they were dealt with. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I congratulate you for mitigating those risks, but still the point is we do not have Crossrail, 

so you did not mitigate enough of those risks.  The question I am asking - and I am going to add to it - is 

where is that mechanism and is that a failure of the culture?  Because we heard of a culture of positivity and 

you were very proud of that culture.  I am stunned by that, because it seems like it has delivered us a disaster.  

You are telling me that you answered these problems, but clearly you did not, because we do not have 

Crossrail.  How do we know this will not happen again if you cannot identify for us where there was a lack of a 

Page 40



  
 

mechanism to pick up what were huge risks?  Huge.  We are not even close to Crossrail.  We are miles away.  If 

you cannot identify those gaping holes, how do we know it will not happen again? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  The risk mitigation plans were thorough and in place.  Yes, of 

course ultimately in some areas they have not been as successful as they needed to be to deliver Crossrail.  I 

fully accept that, but the processes and the methodology and the people to unearth, to deal with and to put in 

place the mitigation measures were there.  Where things have not worked as well as we would all have liked is 

in the system integration world, which Howard has mentioned, that steps have been put in place to adjust, and 

in the understanding of the time it will to take to integrate the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition and 

the radio testing systems within the stations.  There are very specific systems integration challenges which are 

going to take longer than we had all understood early last year, so I completely accept that.  That was an issue 

of technical comprehension of the time needed and the advice we were getting from the specialists as to how 

long it would take to deliver the testing and systems integration activities. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are suggesting that the executive team did not understand the level of risk or the 

type of risk or the nature of the risk - or however you want to frame it - that they were managing?  Mark Wild 

[CEO, Crossrail], when he sat before us, made that suggestion. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  We understood the risk.  Where we did not have sufficient 

forecasts was in the time it would need to deal with the mitigation. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That would still suggest you did not quite understand what you were dealing with. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  If there is a failure, clearly I have to accept, as the person who 

was in the chair at the time, that we did not get it right.  I completely accept that it was not successfully 

delivered, that is clear.  We did understand the risk, but all the advice from the specialists, all the analysis that 

was carried out at that time forecast a period of time that was going to be required to carry out that 

integration.  That has taken, in practice, longer than those forecasts that were given. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Significantly longer. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us get into the specifics of the risk.  We have now got -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Can I just ask one to Andrew?  Andrew, you talked about this culture of positivity and 

how great that was, but do you think that culture needs adjusting?  Is that part of how we skated by these 

problems, because people were afraid to go against that culture? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, there was no fear in the culture.  You have to 

have a positive culture in all good organisations and deliver.  What Simon just said - and this is one of the big 

lessons - is that this sector has huge strengths and it has areas of potential weakness.  It does not come 

against the complexity of these sort of programmes at this scale so often.  Mark Wild [CEO, Crossrail] 

mentioned that in a calendar year TfL may open one or two new stations and they do not build many new 

stations.  This needed to build ten in one year.  That means the supply chains needed to provide the right 

resources, competing against all the other great things that happen in London.  One of the lessons is - and 

Simon is absolutely right - we were supported by the expertise of the supply chain in these areas.  We were 

responding to the information and data that came from them and we were not making up the fact that we 

thought we could do these in a certain programme, but there are clearly lessons here. 

 

You are inferring what we should do differently for Crossrail 2.  This is an area where the whole sector needs to 

be understood, much more caution about, as I said to the Chair here, minimise the scope to the absolute 

Page 41



  
 

minimum.  If you look at the capacity of the supply chain to deliver this sort of scope in this volume, was there 

perhaps a further staged opening that minimised the extent to which one relied on a very small part of our 

supply chain?  There are lessons here and we should recognise that.  This is one of the areas where those 

lessons should be focused on. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to get into some specific areas of risk here.  Let us move 

on to looking at the Pudding Mill Lane incident and dynamic testing.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Can I just ask, Andrew, you said what you were doing when you got the P-Rep risk 

assessments, you would compare those with your own risk assessments, is that right?  Was there often then a 

divergence between what was in the P-Rep risk assessment for a particular risk and what was in the Crossrail 

risk register or risk assessment? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  There were a few divergences.  The P-Rep job is to 

put their own interpretation on it.  If you have two sets of eyes looking at these things then you are going to 

get a different interpretation and that is absolutely right, that is good practice.  If you look at the other big 

major programmes around the United Kingdom (UK) right now, then they all have P-Rep.  It is not a 

particularly easy role to perform, but my job is that where there were divergences - and yes, the P-Rep report 

took a month to produce, so it was four weeks out of date from our own real-time information - and if there 

was a major divergence, then we should bring it up in the Board.  That was the point that I made. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It says in the 1 March P-Rep assessment: 

 

“There is therefore a high risk that the start dates for trial running and trial operations of stage 3 

opening will not be achieved.” 

 

Do you recall, did that chime exactly with what your internal risk assessment was saying? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  This was my last Board.  I go back to the point that I 

made to the Chair, that there was a plan, there was a route through in March to the December opening, but it 

carried a lot of risk and the P-Rep was agreeing that it carried a lot of risk. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  But, of course, it could be a plan with a 5% chance of success or a plan with a 95% chance 

of success. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, that was submitted in July.  That was the plan 

that was then submitted in July. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I guess my point is just because you have a plan and you hope it works of course does not 

mean that there is a high likelihood that it will succeed. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No.  I have explained that on a number of occasions.  

In these sorts of programmes, the nature of the risk, as you get closer to the opening day, one needs to 

manage people’s aspirations around this.  There was always, as far as we were concerned, a range. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is particularly one thing that was not managed, quite clearly, particularly during the 

last sort of year and a half.  We talked a lot about hope and it seems quite clear that it looks like people were 

getting carried away with hope and aspiration rather than the reality of what was happening. 

 

Page 42



  
 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Tony Meggs [Chairman, Crossrail], for whom I have 

great respect, and so to do I, incidentally, of Mark Wild [CEO, Crossrail] and all of the team, the effort and the 

energy now should go into supporting them, but the lessons that are learnt are very important.  When you sign 

up to be CEO of a programme of this size and scale, we talked about these cost IPs, where you have a 2% 

range on a £14.8 billion programme 10 years before you are actually doing it.  Acting as a set of sponsors, the 

advice I would give you is that range is too narrow.  Equally, when you are given an end date ten years before, 

I would suggest that that is not the right approach in future.  That is the point that Tony Meggs was making, 

in the same way that right now, do not force Mark Wild or Howard or others to give that precise -- 

 

Tom Copley AM:  To give a date. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  These systems do not mature on a single day.  

These systems mature over a period of time.  If you even look at the Class 345 train, which is a very good train, 

it will still be ironing out issues as we speak, not safety-related issues, but issues around the reliability.  There 

needs to be a greater awareness.  I talk to different Government spending departments about the risks of 

taking on these major programmes.  A greater awareness around the sort of band of possible outcomes and 

how these risks mature and the absolute result versus the ability and the opportunity to manage these in the 

range, these are some big lessons, Tom. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  I want to come on specifically now to the Pudding Mill Lane incident and will continue with 

you, Andrew.  How significant was it in terms of the delay to the Central section opening?  Because we have 

heard it was pretty critical. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Now, look, I have left this programme a year ago, so 

I am going to have to very quickly get that. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes, of course. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  As far as I can remember, we were aiming to get 

power on and look at systems integration.  Actually, a huge amount of thought went into the systems 

integration and the opportunities we had.  When I arrived on this programme, there was a three-month window 

to do what was called dynamic testing.  That is when you get a mature train inside a mature tunnel and you 

work out whether or not the dynamics of that train in a single mode operation, a multi-mode operation, does 

what it says on the can.  In order to start that process, there is a stage 1 train that actually started in 

May 2017.  There was a stage 2 train that started in May 2018 and of course we have heard that that was 

delayed. 

 

The complexity of the stage 2 train, which is very similar to the stage 3 train, means that it has to operate three 

different signalling systems, not just one.  In order to manage the system integration we had a number of 

different steps to put in place and those steps were very well-recognised, they were very well-defined.  We 

were due to get the first train into the tunnels in November 2017 and one of those events went from a product 

that was off the shelf.  It happened in Pudding Mill Lane.  It was potentially a very dangerous event and this 

was an uncontrolled explosion of a transformer.  That delayed, if I am right in saying - and Simon can step in 

here - power on in the eastern section of the tunnels from November 2017 to the middle of February 2018. 

 

Significant, because that was the start date of dynamic testing.  I am sure one will say, if one peels the onion 

back, yes, but the train was not quite mature enough to give a length of time for testing and that the 

infrastructure still was not signed off and tested.  It was significant.  It was a huge setback.  It was something 

that was not planned, it was unexpected and the sort of incident that one then had to deal with and the huge 

amount of energy that went into the suppliers who were responsible for that.  That component was made in 

Page 43



  
 

the south of France, the huge number of trips we made down there to try to find out why it happened.  We 

could not put on another transformer until we absolutely proved and were certain that the transformer would 

not be the same and put the public at risk. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Simon, can I ask you to comment? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Andrew has outlined the issue.  It was very significant.  We 

were very angry about it because these things clearly you do not expect from a major international supplier 

who have given you lots of guarantees and warranties about all their equipment.  When it goes pop like that, it 

is very serious because no one could understand why it had happened.  It turned out to be a contractor design 

fault.  It took a long time to understand what had gone wrong and then these very complicated cabinets - I am 

not an electrical engineer; I am a civil engineer - needed to be very radically redesigned and rewired and that 

did take a long time.  The most important factor was understanding the cause.  Whenever you get a failure like 

that, the job is significantly constrained because we did not want to proceed with any other element of a 

similar nature - there is another big transformer in the west - because unless we understood the cause we were 

very worried that there would be repetition elsewhere.  We could not allow that because of the risk.  Therefore, 

we had to stop work in various areas and it did hold us up. 

 

At the end of the day, clearly in terms of dynamic testing, there were other factors that were in parallel going 

to be on the critical path.  It was not the only factor that was going to determine the success of dynamic 

testing but it was a very serious event that took a long time to understand and many, many thousands of hours 

of engineering time, by the suppliers, not at our expense, to sort it out. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Presumably it hit morale as well? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes, because it is a big moment.  You can imagine people 

have been working nine and half or whatever years to build up to this moment where you put the power on 

and you can start testing, and it was a very serious issue.  Yes, you had to pick people up again. 

 

Can I touch on this issue of positivity, because it is a dilemma?  You can imagine I spent many thousands of 

hours since I left, pondering around all of these issues and wandering around what we should do differently 

and what I could have done differently.  This issue about undue optimism and having end dates and having 

positive intent, when you have 10,000 people all working together you need a very well-flagged common 

ambition in order to drive people towards delivering.  On the millennium exhibition site in Greenwich we had an 

opening date that was set many years ahead - obviously – and the same on the Olympics.  We had an opening 

date that was set many years ahead and it was obvious.  These are positive factors in many ways because 

everybody in Britain, everybody on the project on London 2012 knew that we were going to open on 

27 July 2012, not a minute later.  That had a very positive impact on suppliers, contractors, engineers, 

deliverers, everybody. 

 

I entirely understand your point about undue optimism, but you need an element of it.  If a programme is sort 

of, “Well, it will happen when it happens” - I know it is not like that - you could imagine that the motivation 

and the people issues, the human motivation, is completely is completely gone.  “I turn up, I will do a few 

things and I will go home.”  Whereas if you are driving towards success and that flag is firmly planted, it does 

really improve performance and productivity.  However, I agree with you that there has to be a limitation on 

that.  I would not just chuck that out entirely, and I know you are not suggesting that, but you need to have a 

good proportion of that sort of attitude to succeed.  We would have been much less well forward that we are 

today if we had not had that drive to the finish line.  I know we did not succeed ultimately.   

 

Page 44



  
 

Tom Copley AM:  I do appreciate that and I completely get it, although I would say there is a saying, “Never 

believe your own propaganda”, especially in politics.  I do understand.  It is about having those honest 

conversations.  Without wanting to go back to the previous conversation, when you have someone like the 

Mayor of London and the question of what they are seeing, it is important.  Yes, I completely take on board 

what you say. 

 

Howard, do you have anything to add on the Pudding Mill Lane incident and its impact on the overall delivery 

of the project? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Simon has said it.  It delayed dynamic testing and 

there were many other issues around at the same time. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Andrew, coming back to you, given this seems like a serious incident, why was an adverse 

event notice not issued? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is a good point.  We did not issue many adverse 

event notices, certainly in my tenure.  Understanding the precise implication of what has happened and 

whether or not one should have put an adverse event notice in -- perhaps we did not put in quite enough of 

these, perhaps we did not put the flag up the pole quite enough.  We thought that it was fairly seismic when 

we put them in.  You are right; you can analyse the detail of whether it made a difference to the opening date 

or not.  It was a big event.  It diverted management time.  It was potentially a very serious event in terms of 

public safety.  That is why, as Simon says, there were thousands of hours being deflected on to an issue that 

should not have happened, that should have gone into tuning the finer detail and the interface within the 

timeline.  If we had put an adverse event notice in, I am not entirely sure it would have changed the course of 

the programme.  Of course, it would have changed the course but it would have made people more aware and 

that is a good point and perhaps lessons learnt. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It is interesting because from what we have heard it was -- I am not sure if brushed under 

the carpet is quite the word but when it came to the TfL Board and Sir Terry [Morgan CBE] reported it in 

January 2018, the Board went into private session and it was recorded in quite bland language in the minutes 

of the Board meeting.  Some people raised the question that given this was quite a seismic event, might that 

have been the point to step back.  I know this would not have been just your decision.  You have the DfT, TfL 

and the Mayor step back, take stock and say, “Maybe we do need now to think about” - I do not know if 

re-phasing is the word - “re-phasing the programme perhaps and perhaps acknowledging that the December 

opening date was simply not realistic”. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  I am saying it is a good observation and we cannot 

now turn the clock back and put one in. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Of course. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Had we put one in, would that have just -- in the 

pause that Mark Wild was talking about? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Did you change the way that risks were flagged and how incidents were responded to 

following the Pudding Mill Lane incident? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  No, I do not think we did.  Simon has described the 

risk-management process.  It was robust.  You hope that your risk-management process picks up every risk 

that is out there; it does not.  There are some risks that you do not pick up and there are some risks like the 

Page 45



  
 

Pudding Mill Lane that are the unknown unknown.  We did not have, on our risk register, Pudding Mill Lane 

transformer blowing up.  I know we can be critical and take the lessons learnt from that last phase, but by and 

large the risk management of the huge task of creating the infrastructure of Crossrail went well.  We have 

spoken about it and we focused on it in the last evidence and there are lessons to take away from that. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  If I could just point out, Tom, the failure was a contractor 

design failure.  Contractors under the New Engineering Contract (NEC) form of contract run their own 

self-certification quality management system.  That is the way the contract is construed.  We do not check 

everything; we do not have the manpower to check everything.  The very complicated wiring in these multiple 

cabinets are their own quality assurance.  We check their assurance process is robust, and their assurance 

process was in good shape, but they failed to spot this design fault until too late. 

 

It is a feature and again it is again another lesson learnt.  In the old days - and I sound like an old git going 

back to the good old days - we would have checked these things as clients with a significant team of technical 

specialists ourselves, as we used to call inspectors and clerks of works and all that sort of thing.  That is not 

really the style any more.  Under the NEC it is self-certification by contractors. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  This is a wider issue that we are seeing? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is a wider industry issue, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Grenfell, the building industry, everything.  Absolutely.  I acknowledge that. 

 

Can I come finally on to the issue about dynamic testing?  Maybe I could come to Howard on this one.  Why 

did you make the decision to start dynamic testing in conditions where the signalling installation and the 

infrastructure were incomplete?  Mark Wild has said that in hindsight they would not have done that. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  No.  That is a judgment to be made as to what point, 

if you do not -- there are clearly two schools of thought, and reports that have been commissioned since.  I 

vividly remember there was John Boss’s report [Independent Crossrail Schedule Assurance Review, 

November 2018], which is one of the reports that has been done.  It is very strong on the logic of starting 

testing as early as possible, because as early as possible you find the issues with the complex systems and the 

longer amount of time you have to sort them later.  That is one school of thought. 

 

The other is self-evidently that it is much more efficient to wait until virtually everything is in place and then 

continue.  At the time when we started dynamic testing - I think it was back in February - we were keeping 

open the possibility of December.  We were holding to being able to complete dynamic testing in a way that 

would have supported December.  Clearly, in retrospect, we would have done things differently and waited a 

bit longer. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes, I agree with that.  There are two schools of thought.  We 

were supported in moving forward with earlier dynamic testing by all of our panel, our expert panel.  

Chris Greene, who chairs our systems expert panel was a very strong supporter of earlier dynamic testing, and I 

know Mark has said differently.  You can have a number of different views on this and it is a judgment call. 

 

We felt, on balance, that going earlier did give us results that we were able then to deal with issues that would 

be found, with as much time as possible to solve them.  The thing about software is that you find a bug and 

you need time to fix it.  The earlier you find the bug, the longer you have to fix it.  Obviously, if you do not 

test, you will not find the bugs.  Therefore, the later you test, you have, by definition, less time to fix them.  

Page 46



  
 

On balance, we felt, therefore, it was worthwhile going earlier, even though we had immaturity in both train 

and in the systems in the infrastructure as well. 

 

On balance, we took that decision.  I still support it because we did not lose much or anything by doing it, 

because we only tested in windows, short windows, often two days, and those two days would not have been 

used for anything else in terms of work in the trace in the tunnels because you cannot have people work 24/7 

seven days a week.  European legislation says people need a break, a rest, and those two days, the rest days 

for the construction crews, were when we did the testing.  Therefore, I do not think much or anything was lost 

by that and I am a supporter of it. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Andrew, do you have anything to add? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  In my own view and my own principle, it would be 

good to start the testing as early as you possibly could.  If you go back into the programme, Bombardier in 

Derby has what it calls Train Zero, which is to test the software.  Siemens has two labs.  The early testing at the 

Melton test track.  All of these are taking forward the risk to make sure that when you arrive finally for your 

dynamic testing you have as little risk as possible. 

 

One of the biggest regrets was the interface test laboratory that Crossrail setup.  In the same way the stage 2 

trains were suffering from lack of issuing of the software version, so too was that test lab.  That was an 

opportunity missed, it is a lesson learnt but it only follows the principle of bringing that dynamic testing 

forward, whether it is live testing at the time or testing in the laboratory, as early as you possibly can. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Let us move on to look at the issue of rolling stock.  I am going to 

mostly aim my questions at Howard.  Can I just be clear, Howard, on the TfL website it is very clear the 

contract for the provision of the rolling stock and depot for the Crossrail project has been awarded by TfL to 

Bombardier.  It was a TfL contract, is that correct? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes, for rolling stock a simple division.  It is a TfL 

contract for the reason that TfL bought the trains for cash.  There was a private finance initiative (PFI) 

discussion at the beginning of it, you will recall, because the contract for the trains includes maintenance and 

continues for more than 30 years.  For that reason, you would never place the contract for the trains through 

the project company, through Crossrail.  Crossrail has the responsibility for running the procurement exercise 

for those trains, and Crossrail’s project responsibility is to integrate all the elements of the project: trains and 

systems and the like. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  The contract was awarded by TfL.  You are saying the procurement was 

carried out by Crossrail? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes, the procurement exercise under the PDA is a 

Crossrail responsibility.  I was involved in it but it went to the Crossrail Board to recommend -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  TfL was involved in it? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes, because TfL was the counterparty to the 

contract. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Perfect, OK. 

Page 47



  
 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  As I say, that is because the contract goes on way 

beyond the point where the Crossrail project ends. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is clear now, thank you.  There were concerns about the rolling 

stock.  Sir Terry Morgan CBE says it was one of the big causes of the delay.  Crossrail issued an adverse event 

notice on 27 July due to the delays with the delivery of the rolling stock.  Siemens wrote to Mike Brown saying 

that the trains were 18 months behind schedule in February 2018.  Can you give me an outline of what was 

really going on with the rolling stock, how delayed it was and the impact that has had on the project, please? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  The train, as we said, is a very complex train and 

works in different ways on different bits of track.  Base 1 is to say that the train is out there and has been, 

since June 2017, running between Shenfield and Liverpool Street.  On Meliha’s railway at the moment, 

Class 345 trains are out every day and they work very well.  You can always improve railways but that is now 

one of the highest performing sections of railway that we have in the country. 

 

Other parts of the software are used in conjunction with the communications-based train control (CBTC), the 

metro-style signalling system in the central section.  There the trains currently are being used for dynamic 

testing.  At the moment the trains are running up and down.  I have been on one and I took a picture that is on 

the TfL website, which is the train running at 60 miles an hour up and down through the central tunnels.  We 

also have trains running out between Paddington and Hayes & Harlington and we are continuing to test the 

version of the train that goes to Heathrow, because that has the third signalling system on it, European Train 

Control System (ETCS).  That is what is being tested pretty well every Friday at the moment. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is not my question.  My question is not what is out there now, it is 

how much of a delay to the project was this delay in the rolling stock becoming available. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  In practice I would say very little because, as we have 

talked about, at the point where we could start dynamic testing there were a number of issues.  Was the train 

perfect at that stage?  Absolutely not.  Was the signalling system installed fully in the central system?  No.  

Were the radio systems and the platform doors in at that section?  No.  Ditto with perhaps the most tricky bit, 

which is the transition testing, where the train moves between the different systems at the portals.  Again, the 

physical infrastructure for that was not finally in place until quite recently. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Basically you are saying that because nothing else was ready, the 

delays to the trains - and they were delayed - has not had an impact? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  It had some impact in how the project has 

undertaken particular bits.  Is it the dominant reason for delay on Crossrail?  No. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  In terms of Bombardier, it is delivering these trains.  It is also supposed 

to be delivering the Gospel Oak to Barking Line trains and it failed on that and was late in this.  What issues are 

you taking up with it in terms of managing the contract with it to ensure that any issues are ironed out with 

this rolling stock? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  We managed the contract very closely.  The contract 

is very different to the contracts used for construction.  It is a fixed-price contract.  In the present situation not 

only have we paid no more for the trains for the delay, we have had money back by way of damages, as you 

would expect under a rolling-stock contract.  We manage it very closely.  We have daily, weekly meetings and 

phone calls with Bombardier senior hierarchy, who were in London yesterday.  I personally was out at the 

Page 48



  
 

Bombardier signalling section at Stockholm on Monday.  Therefore, we are managing the contract very closely 

in contractual terms and also in technical terms. 

 

The new bit that again is significant is we are now at the stage where the train needs to work very, very closely 

indeed with the systems.  The parts of the signalling system for the central section are on board the train.  The 

train also makes use of the radio systems in the tunnel.  It has to work with the platform spring doors.  That is 

where we have a new team in in recent months, system integration specialists, who are looking forward, if you 

like, in terms of where the issues are not just with the train but in how it works with all the other complex 

systems on Crossrail, where those issues might be and address them in advance. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to move to a colleague to deal with all the signalling 

issues.  Do you think there is an issue here for Bombardier’s reputation in terms of delays to this rolling stock?  

We are benefiting financially because it has not delivered its contract on time.  The Gospel Oak to Barking line.  

Do you think there are issues with Bombardier as a company? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Absolutely there is a reputational issue for 

Bombardier and it is acutely aware of it.  That is what I would say, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Is it aware? 

 

Let us move on to Network Rail signalling systems and stations.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you, good afternoon.  My questions are to you in Network Rail, particularly to do 

with the signalling systems and the stations that you are meant to be delivering, I believe, as part of your 

responsibility.  In our September Committee meeting we had Sir Terry Morgan CBE before us.  He said you 

have a fixed-price contract for a scope of work but this had not been delivered as much as in the expectations 

of Crossrail.  What are your comments on that and what have you not delivered and what could have been 

done better. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Shall I start off with some 

general comments and Meliha [Duymaz] will jump in with the Anglia, north-eastern-related parts?  The first 

point to make is that that of all of the things that we were required to deliver as part of our contract -- Andrew 

said it was not contract.  There is an agreement that looks and feels like a contract, even though in technical 

terminology it was called a protocol.  We had to deliver a number of changes to the surface railway lines in 

order to support the running of the Crossrail trains.  These involve changes to the infrastructure: extending 

platforms to accommodate the trains and signalling equipment as well as passenger experience things like 

step-free access and improvements to the station concourses and the ticket halls.  Our work is currently 90% 

complete.  From all of the items of scope that we were required to deliver, we have delivered 90% of them and 

they have been delivered on time.  Had we been required to run the Crossrail train service in stage 4 in May of 

this year, we would have been ready to run those trains. 

 

We have had some issues at some of the stations, particularly around the timings of the delivery of the work 

that is needed to deliver the passenger experience.  We split the work into two parts, first the signalling and 

the platform extensions and everything that will be needed to enable a Crossrail train to safely stop at the 

station.  We delivered that work on time.  Some of the work for step-free access, for improvements to the 

experience that passengers will receive as they pass through the station, has taken longer than we had hoped 

originally but that work will be complete by the end of December next year, December 2020.  Timing that 

delay has been agreed progressively with Crossrail through the processes that we have spoken about. 

 

Page 49



  
 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  The point that Rupert made, the 

infrastructure on Anglia is ready to welcome the Crossrail trains.  In terms of the upgrades to our tracks, 

signalling, stations, the railway -- you mentioned it earlier.  We already run Crossrail services between Shenfield 

and Liverpool Street with 97.8% reliability.  There is nothing stopping, from the infrastructure perspective, 

from making the Elizabeth Line happen.  However, as Rupert mentioned, there are still some ongoing works at 

stations across my patch in various stations and various stages.  Most of them are complete.  The two that are 

still outstanding are Ilford and Romford where we still have some significant works to complete. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you.  You mentioned stage 4 and the Anglia section but there is also stage 5 and 

the western section.  One of the problems, as I understand, is the implementation of the new signalling system.  

Originally, as I understand, you were going to put ETCS, this brand-new signalling section, all the way from 

Paddington to Heathrow.  Somewhere along the line someone made a decision not to do that and only to put 

ETCS in the Heathrow tunnel.  That has now led to problems in the systems integration.  Who made that 

decision and what is going to be done about it? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Let me pick that up, and 

Meliha can jump in.  The decisions around the type of signalling systems that will be used on Crossrail were 

taken relatively early on and were complex in their nature.  That is because these systems, at the time when the 

decisions were taken, were relatively new in their stage of development and deployment.  In fact, at the time 

when Crossrail was getting going, there was no ETCS system that could deliver the level of performance and 

the level of frequency of trains in the tunnel section, which is why the decision was taken to use the CBTC 

system in the central tunnel section that was taken. 

 

Network Rail has been progressively utilising the ETCS technology in order to deliver a better train service for 

passengers and use the railway capacity that we have as effectively as we can do.  You are absolutely right that 

we had previously committed to provide this technology right into Paddington from Heathrow.  When it 

became clear that, first, the technology itself was not maturing in the way that we need it to and, secondly, the 

infrastructure itself, the changes to the infrastructure, were complex.  We were talking all the time, we agreed 

with Crossrail that we would continue to utilise the existing signalling technology on that stretch of railway 

between Paddington and the junction with the main line that leads into Heathrow.  The ETCS technology 

would be built into and deployed on that section of track between Airport Junction and Heathrow Airport to 

enable the Crossrail trains to utilise ETCS on that part of the railway and that the ETCS technology would be 

applied to the rest of the railway, from Paddington to Airport Junction and beyond, as soon as we could 

practically do it.  

 

That does not mean that there is any lower level of safety.  The existing system is operating today and provides 

as resilient a system as we possibly can.  In fact, the Crossrail trains would have to use a similar system on the 

leg from Liverpool Street to Shenfield in any case.  It is colour-light signalling with train protection.  Therefore, 

we agreed with Crossrail Ltd that we would postpone the deployment of ETCS into Paddington, recognising 

that although it added an extra interface, the same interface as on the other side, it was something that could 

be accommodated by the operational aspect of the trains. 

 

David Kurten AM:  It seems you are saying that the old legacy system, you have that on the branch up to 

Shenfield and you have found a way of integrating the CBTC on the central section with the old legacy system.  

That is no problem and there is no problem at Paddington but there is a problem where the tunnel goes in, is 

that right?  There are still issues with getting the trains to work on the Heathrow spur.  Is that still the situation 

now? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I will perhaps let Howard pick 

that up in a second.  It is worth saying that, yes, the different signalling systems require the train to speak to 

Page 50



  
 

them in different ways but they are set out in clear standards that are well known about and have been well 

rehearsed. 

 

David Kurten AM:  What I am trying to work out is when these problems were known about and when are 

they all going to be solved? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Sorry? 

 

David Kurten AM:  The ETCS.  Is this now a problem because you do not have ETCS going all the way to 

Paddington and that was supposed to be something that was delivered.  Is that still a problem for the trains 

operating or not, and do you have a plan to put ETCS all the way to Paddington?  Do you have a date for that 

and a plan for that? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Yes, we have a plan for it.  I 

will let Howard speak in a moment about whether or not it is problem, because Howard needs to speak for the 

train and the drivers who use it.  I must stress that the signalling system that is operational there at the 

moment, the Crossrail trains can use that signalling system.  It is colour light signals with the proper safety 

protections that exist at the moment.  It is not causing any issue or problem or delay to deployment of the 

Crossrail service. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes, the absence of the ETCS from the portal to 

Airport Junction, so-called, is an irritant, if you like, rather than a major problem.  It just means that when we 

run a train once at the portal at Westbourne Park and then do another transition a few miles down when we 

would only otherwise do one.  It is an irritant but not a major problem. 

 

The bit that is not finished yet is testing the trains with the remaining ETCS system that is fitted between 

Airport Junction and into Heathrow itself.  That is at the stage where trains are testing every week.  They now 

need to make sure that it is sufficiently reliable.  Again, we will catch this in the wider Crossrail context.  It is 

not so much at this stage about making the train and the system work once or even, dare I say, 99 times out of 

100.  You need to prove to yourself that it works 999 times out of 1,000.  We are at that stage where trains are 

running quite successfully every Friday night, when other trains are not running, but we are not at the stage 

where we think it is sufficiently reliable and stable enough to extend the new trains to the tunnel.  Therefore, 

at the present time we are using the existing trains.  TfL Rail service is using the existing trains, that are already 

fitted with another signalling system, I am afraid to say, that is already in the tunnel. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  You wanted to come in? 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  Yes.  Can I refer this back to the point you made 

around the adverse event notice, because the adverse event notice is used in circumstances where there is a 

risk on the opening or a staged opening.  In this case it was clear to us, and Howard and Mike Brown and 

Bombardier did a good job in diverting attention from the stage 2 train that required it to go into the 

Heathrow tunnel on ETCS, to the stage 3 train.  However, the adverse event notice was put in place because in 

May 2017 trains from Paddington should be running into Heathrow.  That service is provided by not by a class 

345 train.  The class 345, is running a shuttle service up to Hayes & Harlington and the existing Heathrow 

connection.  I do happen to know about this because I built Heathrow Express and I also built Terminal 5 at the 

end of it.  I understand the capacity that exists within those tunnels. 

 

The wider point - and again this is about lessons learnt for Crossrail 2 - is if you look at what was happening at 

the time when we were signing the contracts with Network Rail, between Paddington and Reading were four 

big programmes going on: introduction of electrification, introduction of new Intercity Express Programme 

Page 51



  
 

(IEP) trains, introduction of ETCS and introduction of Crossrail.  When sponsors look at these big programmes 

and work out the conflicts and the congestion of putting all these things in one pot, you have to be very, very 

careful.  One, into Crossrail 2, understand the components of the national network and how they will influence 

it. 

 

It was true - and it may be the case that we have thrown technology at it - that ETCS was meant to come into 

Paddington.  In the early days, ETCS was meant to go from Reading right the way through the central area.  

That would have been a very simple programme to do.  As Rupert rightly said, there was not the ETCS level 3 

technology to allow operations of metro services in tunnels and so the Crossrail Board and the sponsors 

together said, “We will do that to CBTC.”  It is extra technology, more interfaces. 

 

The second thing is ETCS is not coming into Paddington.  Extra technology, more interfaces.  These things 

happen in the course of these programmes and you cannot put fault on it.  It is just something that the 

sponsors should be aware of.  As we are in the heat of the battle in delivering these things and these unknown 

unknowns come across, they are significant.  I would like to offer that to the Chair to say there are things that 

the sponsors can do and there are things that the sponsors should be aware of.  It was a hugely complicated 

programme in the west of London.  We were aware of it and arguably in CP5, which is the control point that 

Network Rail dealt with, there was too much going on at the time.  That is probably why ETCS was not 

involved. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you for all your answers so far.  I want to pick up on something you said and put it 

together with something you said before.  The original plan was to have ETCS all the way through the whole of 

Crossrail, is that right?  However, now you have CBTC. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It was a very early plan. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Early planning.  Now you mentioned ETCS level 3.  Is that something that did not exist 

before that exists now that you could put in the central tunnel now if you wanted to? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Shall I answer this, having been involved in the 

decision way back?  As you say, ETCS basically does not work in a metro environment with up to 30 trains an 

hour, platform screen doors.  There the decision very early on people were hoping you could find one system 

that did the whole lot.  In 2010 or so it was realised that there was no prospect of having a system like that 

that covered the whole thing.  That was when the decision was made to segment it up.  Even today, if you had 

to make that same decision today, you still would not have a proven system that would operate the central 

section that is also applicable.  We hope we are closer to it.  The railway industry, I am speaking on behalf of 

now, hope that it is closer to it, but ETCS level 3, so-called, still does not exist in any workable form. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Another question has come to mind.  The CBTC seems to be a more advanced system 

with the moving block signalling. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Would it have been better to put that in the Heathrow tunnel rather than ETCS? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  I will answer that one very briefly.  No, essentially 

that is the proprietary system that works on things like the Victoria line and the Jubilee line.  They come from 

different manufacturers.  They are optimised for metro systems, the so-called moving block.  The biggest, most 

fundamental thing is they do not work with more than one type of train.  Effectively you need to then put a bit 

of signalling kit on each train that is ever going to use it, and quite a complicated bit on every train.  Where 

Page 52



  
 

you have National Rail tracks, they work to a completely different technology and philosophy.  Therefore, it 

was not really an option, unfortunately. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you, that explains it.   

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I want to pick up on the problem with the completion of the outer stations.  I 

understand that these are the responsibility of Network Rail and that the delays seem to have been partly due 

to budgetary constraints, which was what Mark Wild reported to us in November 2018.  To start off with 

Rupert and Meliha, are you able to say how were the delays and problems with the outer stations 

communicated to Crossrail? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  If I kick off.  First of al,l I 

would like to make the point that we are fully funded to complete the works that need to be completed by 

Network Rail to open the Crossrail service.  We have no funding issues or budgetary issues at the moment, and 

we have delivered 95% of our works. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  We are going to be going into a bit more detail on the funding in the next bit of 

questioning.  Right now, I am wanting to focus on how you were communicating the delay to Crossrail. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  As I said earlier on in the 

session, having a contractor-client relationship with Crossrail each period we provided a report to our Crossrail 

colleagues that would have identified the issues early on and, as Simon suggested, the teams work closely 

together and talk with each other and agree the approaches that we can take in order to mitigate the impact of 

any delay, for whatever reason, that is identified.  In the case of the stations, we agreed that we would deliver 

the work that was needed to run the trains - the operational aspects, the platform lengthening and the 

signalling associated with that - so that the trains could run and then follow on and deliver the new ticket halls 

and the step-free access that is required to provide the very best experience for the passengers. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The thing is that the step-free access and the new ticket halls are all things that make 

a big difference to Londoners.  What it seems is that those elements are being delayed because of all the other 

complicated issues, and those things could have been in place by now.  More Londoners would have more 

step-free interchanges.  We had an email to the Committee from someone from Ealing Broadway, and we 

visited Ealing Broadway as a Committee and saw the very desperate need for the upgrade both around the 

station in terms of how people access the station - the hostile street environment - and also the conditions at 

the station itself, where we have been told there is no lift.  There is a single door as an entrance, there is no 

fire escape.  The platform at one point has only 1 metre between a wall and the yellow line, with passengers 

trying to get past.  These are not great conditions for the travelling public and it seems worrying that these 

upgrades to the station have been shunted back. 

 

You say that you have been in dialogue with Crossrail, that you agreed with them that step-free access was 

going to be delayed, pushed back, until December 2020.  Was there any interrogation of that decision to delay 

the step-free access?  That makes a big, big difference to some of the Londoners who find it hardest to get 

around.  Were their interests brought into that thinking or was it entirely the big picture? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Let me address your point, 

because it is a really good one and is a really important one and is broader than just Crossrail.  The first point to 

make is that Network Rail and our train operator colleagues always make sure that we are operating a safe 

system and a safe railway and that stations are as safe as they can be.  Some stations are overcrowded.  We all 

experience that.  Londoners experience it every day; we all do.  In Network Rail we have a clear process of 

identifying what stations are most overcrowded and where we need to try to improve access at those stations.  

Page 53



  
 

I have had separate discussions with some of the other Members about the priority stations that we are trying 

to address, and we really appreciate the help that we are getting to prioritise and accelerate funding for the 

works at these stations. 

 

Ealing Broadway is a good example of a station that is crowded now, even overcrowded at times now, and 

needs to be addressed.  You are right the Crossrail improvements will provide relief for the Londoners who use 

Ealing Broadway.  Those improvements, though, are being delivered to support the Crossrail programme and 

therefore they are needed for when the Crossrail trains start running.  The work that we have done closely with 

our colleagues in Crossrail to identify and prioritise what is needed and when, what type of work is required 

and when, resulted in the decision that we would allow the step-free access and other changes at the stations 

themselves - in the concourses and ticket halls - to be delivered later, and progressively through this year and 

through next year.  This was thought about very carefully. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Are they delivered by the same work teams?  Is it that you have a limited number of 

people working on the project and you have prioritised the platform extensions, or are they different people 

who would be working on the step-free access and the other station improvements? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  In order to deliver the eventual 

benefits as quickly as possible, we separated the work out into separate contracts for delivery of the works to 

the platforms and the signalling, for delivery of the enabling works - the foundations for the step-free access 

and the complex civil engineering - and then the slightly more cosmetic changes.  We divided these contracts 

up and we have enough resource to deliver them to the schedule that we have agreed with Crossrail.  There is 

not a resource constraint in that sense.  It is different teams doing the work. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  If it is different teams doing the work and there is not a resource constraint, and 

particularly looking forward to Crossrail 2, is there anything to stop a lesson out of this project should be that 

those benefits that could benefit Londoners, like the step-free access, the things that are not part of the 

critical path in terms of getting your signalling right, could have been delivered sooner?  I would be interested 

if Crossrail people have anything to say on this in terms of lessons for future projects.  Can we not make sure 

that those benefits like the step-free access that could be benefiting people right now could not be prioritised, 

particularly if that is not going to hold up any of the mission-critical stuff? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  You are right and I will let the 

Crossrail team expand on it in a minute.  It is worth noting that, for example, we delivered Abbey Wood Station 

in 2017 and Londoners have been benefiting from that.  Clearly, if programme constraints allow benefits to be 

delivered early, it would be a good thing to do that.  That should be a lesson that is taken forward to 

Crossrail 2. 

 

Please do not forget, though, that the works that Network Rail has had to be delivering are on some of the 

most highly used parts of the railway in the country, with millions of Londoners every day travelling in and out 

of these terminus stations.  Therefore, the ability to get on with things is not as simple as saying, “Let us go in 

tomorrow and do the work”.  It needs to be planned in advance and managed around the operation of the 

existing train service to enable London to keep moving while we deliver the work. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Of course, I completely understand that point, but when you were talking at the 

beginning you said you had agreed with Crossrail to delay the step-free access.  It is important that when these 

big engineering projects are happening, the most vulnerable Londoners, the ones who need the most help to 

travel, their needs are not pushed to the bottom of the priority list, particularly when it does not -- 

 

Page 54



  
 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  That is a very good point, 

thank you. 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  To add, if I may, the original plan was to do it a lot earlier.  

There was no deliberate intent to have it delayed.  There are various circumstances that have led to these 

delays that we have had to absorb. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  When you say various circumstances? 

 

Simon Wright OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  For instance, originally on the western stations designs were 

put forward that would not have met the planning requirements, and therefore there was a need to go back 

and redesign a lot of stations.  This is going back years and years now, even before my time.  There are various 

difficulties and challenges around getting these stations.  It is very complicated.  Rupert spells it out very 

clearly.  There are massive difficulties around dealing with what seemingly are simple issues but are not 

straightforward.  It has taken quite a long time to get back into a place where we then have planning 

permission, Network Rail then has to go out to tender, then there were issues around the value for money of 

the tenders that came back, and having to go back and renegotiate and so on and so on.  Therefore, there 

have been some issues.  Of course, we would all have loved to have done it earlier.  I absolutely agree with you 

that there is no question of deliberately delaying this.  It was a question of doing it as fast as was possible but 

there were challenges along the way. 

 

Andrew Wolstenholme OBE (Former Crossrail CEO):  It is a really good point that you made and a lesson 

for Crossrail 2 and in every major programme is that the PDA originally, the scope originally, did not include full 

accessibility along the whole line.  You probably remember discussions in this room around why was that the 

case.  It was a fantastic win to be able to get every station to be fully accessible.  I know that it was a 

combination between Network Rail putting in some money, the DfT putting in some money, Crossrail doing 

the vast majority of the job, Access for All putting in some money, but I absolutely understand the importance 

and the sensitivity of this issue and the community of Londoners who require a modern railway, a new railway, 

to have from day one full accessibility.  It is an absolute requirement in the PDA of Crossrail 2. 

 

This will be difficult politically because these will go through stations, some of which have very low ridership, 

some of which are Victorian in their very nature.  Putting in full access is something that has to be done on 

today’s modern railways but it requires resources and those resources must be allocated to that work.  

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Just to add I absolutely agree.  We have been closely 

involved.  It was TfL and the DfT that funded jointly the last seven stations that were not due to be made step 

free.  The good news is that in the east in the last two weeks, you may know, Maryland, Manor Park, Seven 

Kings and Forest Gate station have all had lifts gone into service in the last couple of weeks.  It is not job done 

by any means but the point is absolutely taken. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Shall we move on to the next stage?  The east side clearly seems to be 

delivering really well.  The west side - let us just be clear, West Ealing, Ealing Broadway and Acton Main Line – 

we were told they were being repriced with bidders.  When will we have a clear plan for those stations?  

Because the communities around those stations want to know when are works going to be done. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  As I have said, we expect and 

are planning to complete those stations by December of next year, as agreed with Crossrail.  If it is possible to 

Page 55



  
 

complete them sooner, we will do that.  Simon has quite rightly said that there was not any decision to actively 

delay anything.  We are dealing with the circumstances as they come up. 

 

We have a plan and a programme to complete the stations.  As I said shortly before, we divided the work into 

several different contracts to get the delivery done as quickly as it possibly can be and we can engage 

individually with those boroughs if there are particular issues associated with any of these stations. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The final section of our questions is looking at the overall delivery of Crossrail.  We 

know that the revised date for the opening of the central section was stated in August to be Autumn 2019 but 

Crossrail has not committed to an opening date.  Mike Brown MVO [Commissioner of TfL] told the Committee 

on 21 December he hoped Crossrail would be able to provide clear information on the possible opening date by 

the end of March 2019, but reports at the end of February suggested Crossrail would be able to provide a 

timeline for opening by April 2019.  The monthly update to the Committee from Crossrail in February 

highlighted various elements that are behind schedule: the static testing; too early to determine whether 

testing for the main dynamic testing would be complete.  The tier-one suppliers’ substantial demobilisation is 

being achieved according to plan.  That is workforce being let go, presumably to help to keep costs down.  Do 

you have concerns, given all of this context, with your ability to deliver on the works and how are these 

concerns being addressed and particularly communicated to stakeholders?  Howard, do you want to start? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  By a process of elimination I get that one!  Forgive 

me if it has not found its way around yet but Mark Wild wrote to Caroline [Pidgeon MBE AM] yesterday with 

the latest update. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  This has gone around to Members, yes. 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  That explains that what is happening at the moment 

-- you will not be surprised to hear, that nobody at Crossrail is up for announcing dates, windows or anything 

like that that we do not believe in.  There is a huge amount of work going on at the moment into the 

forward-looking programme and that has taken a bit longer than was originally anticipated.  What Mark said in 

his letter yesterday was that I believe in April the work will come to a conclusion and we will be able to talk 

about opening the central section.  In what terms I do not think we yet know.  From that obviously follows the 

other sections, because you need the central section open in order to connect the surface sections, although 

the surface sections themselves will probably be running slightly more trains on those in the meantime. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  What about the communication with stakeholders?  Is there a plan?  Londoners are 

interested in what is going on.  We have heard, obviously, and absolutely taken on board the impossibility of 

fixed timings because things depend on each other happening.  Is there a strategy for letting people know 

what is happening, even given the constraints of constructing a very complicated project? 

 

Howard Smith (Crossrail Chief Operations Officer):  Yes.  One of the strands of work that is going on at 

the moment, due to conclude in the next few weeks as we have said, does include how we will both 

communicate that and update what it means for each of the sections of the railway.  At the moment the key 

point is that until we are clear on the programme going forward, we risk confusing people yet again.  

Therefore, clarity on the central section in the next few weeks and then from that a communication strategy 

talking about how we will keep people up to date afterwards. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Does anyone else want to come in on that?  Rupert, you started to touch on this, this 

is about the funding.  Mike Brown clarified to this Committee on 21 December [2018] that any funding 

Page 56



  
 

required by Network Rail to complete your sections of the scheme is outside of the new funding package for 

Crossrail.  In the update to the Committee, Crossrail indicated that Network Rail’s funding proposal had been 

agreed by the Secretary of State on 29 January [2019].  Can you tell us what has been agreed with the DfT 

with regards to funding and whether you are comfortable that you have the funding that you need? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  The first thing I will say is yes, 

we are comfortable that we have the funding that we need.  In a little bit more detail, as we have heard, there 

was an agreement with Crossrail Ltd to deliver a scope of works for £2.3 billion.  Due to cost pressures that we 

have spoken a little bit about, we recognised that further funding would be needed and that has been provided 

- and we are pleased that it has - through an agreement with the DfT for a further £290 million to complete 

the rest of the works.  Any money that is required beyond that to get the works completed on time, as we have 

already said, will come from within Network Rail’s internal budgets and we will manage them within our usual 

process of managing contingency. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.  Further to that, and we have heard a bit about planning permissions at 

outer stations already, do you think that the funding package that you have provides sufficiently for you to 

complete all the outer stations?  Also, do you have all the planning permissions you need to do your outer 

stations and do you have a timeline for that final work? 

 

Meliha Duymaz (Route Managing Director (Anglia), Network Rail):  If I mention where we are with the 

Anglia ones, the two outstanding stations are Ilford and Romford.  Tomorrow I have a meeting with Redbridge 

Council at Ilford Station because we are going to talk them through our plans.  In terms of do I have the money 

I need to deliver the two remaining stations, absolutely.  That is included in the latest funding package.  Early 

contractor engagement has started already.  We are working with Walkers and its designer Atkins.  We already 

have the sign designed by the council, so the planning permission has been given.  We are basically in the 

delivery phase, which has started already in December last year. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  OK, and what about the west? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  On the western stations, as I 

have said, the contract for the enabling works - the foundations for the step-free access and some other things 

- was let and that work has largely been completed.  We were able to do much of that work over the Christmas 

closure of the railway, which, although it clearly affected passengers very severely, enabled us to get on and do 

the work. 

 

The contract for the remaining six ticket halls between the Acton Main Line and West Drayton has been split 

into two different packages.  A contractor for the construction at West Drayton, Hayes & Harlington and 

Southall has been selected and we have announced who that is.  We are in the process of reviewing the 

contracts for the work for the Acton Main Line, West Ealing and Ealing Broadway, and will be awarding that 

contract very shortly.  That is on time in the context of what we said we will achieve by the end of next year, 

and as you would expect. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  You are comfortable? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We are funded for that work 

and we have agreed with the boroughs the necessary planning permission to get on and do it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much indeed.  That comes to the end of our meeting.  I 

am sorry we have overrun but we had a lot of issues to get through. 

 

Page 57



  
 

Thank you very much indeed, Andrew, Simon, Howard, Rupert and Meliha, for coming.  If there is anything 

that you wanted to mention that you did not come up with today, please do write to us.  Rupert, we would 

like, as soon as possible those Network Rail monthly reports.  They would be helpful in our work. 

Page 58



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 25 April 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee, and additional correspondence. 

 

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 14 March 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. Freight in London 

The Network Rail Strategy and Planning Director 

(South) committed to provide the Committee with 

copies of the reports prepared by Network Rail and 

presented monthly to Crossrail Ltd on progress on ‘on-

network’ works since the start of 2018. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any output from the Committee’s work on Crossrail. 

 

 

Complete.  Copies of 

the reports are 

attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

In progress. 

 

Strategy and 

Planning 

Director 

(South), 

Network Rail 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 February 2019 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. Freight in London 

During the course of the discussion, the Committee 

requested the following further information in writing: 

 Images of the extra visibility had from a five-star 

vehicle compared to a zero-star vehicle; 

 Data on the difference in the involvement of the 

extra-long lorries in collisions with pedestrians and 

cyclists, or whether all the data for HGVs is 

amalgamated; 

 How much money will be raised out of the ULEZ 

from the freight industry for central and inner 

London; 

 An update on any progress made with the 

Department for Transport and Network Rail on 

upgrading lines outside of London in order to allow 

freight to be moved around rather than through 

London; 

 An update on removing spoil by rail from HS2; 

 A timeline/date for when TfL will be conducting a 

staff survey to understand where staff get personal 

deliveries sent to;  

 Clarification on why the commitment for all of 

London to be within a 30-minute drive of a 

construction consolidation centre was removed as a 

specific proposal in the final Transport Strategy; and 

 An update from the Director of Innovation on TfL’s 

ability to respond to new technology (e.g. dockless 

bikes, drone and droids) within the current 

regulatory framework. 

 

 

Complete.  A letter 

setting out Transport 

for London’s (TfL) 

response is attached at 

Appendix 2. 

 

Director of City 

Planning, TfL 

 

Page 60



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 21 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

3. 

 

 

Crossrail – Questions to the Mayor of London and 

Commissioner of Transport for London 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any follow up actions from the meeting. 

 

 

 

Unused 

 

 

 

Not applicable. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 5 December 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

The Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach 

The Committee requested the following information in 

writing: 

 A copy of the report produced by TfL on the 

floating bus stops trial;  

 Information on the Healthy Streets Portfolio 

Board, including copies of meeting notes, terms 

of reference and ways of working; 

 Detail setting out the scope and arrangements 

for the grant scheme TfL intend to launch in 

2019 for community projects supporting cycling 

and walking; and 

 A copy of the report that will sit alongside the 

online strategic walking tool being made 

available to London Boroughs once it has been 

prepared in early 2019. 

 

That Authority be delegated to the Chair to, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the final output for the investigation into the Mayor’s 

Healthy Streets Approach. 

 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on 

13 December 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Complete.  The 

Committee sent a 

letter to the Mayor of 

London on 

12 March 2019, and a 

copy is attached at 

Appendix 3.  

 

 

Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

Page 61



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 November 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

James Farrar, United Private Hire Drivers (UPHD), 

agreed to provide the following information: 

 A copy of the contract that Daimler provides to 

private hire vehicle drivers using ViaVan; 

 A copy of the letter from the Metropolitan Police 

Service (MPS) stating that Transport for London 

(TfL) had asked the MPS not to engage with the 

UPHD on safeguarding issues; 

 The number of members of the UPHD; and 

 A paper from the Licensed Private Hire Car 

Association from 2002 in which they stated that 

they did not support the need for driver training. 

 

Gareth Powell, Managing Director of Surface Transport, 

Transport for London (TfL); and Helen Chapman, 

Director of Licensing, Regulation and Charging, TfL, 

undertook to: 

 Share proposals to improve the working conditions 

of drivers working in the taxi and private hire 

services industry, which were outside of the 

regulatory framework; 

 Consider the suggestion to require operators of 

private hire services apps to make the app blank 

when the vehicle was moving, as part of the 

operating licences; 

 Provide details of the pass rate for the English test 

for private hire vehicle drivers, together with the 

pass rate for the four modules that comprised the 

test; 

 Provide an update on whether, as part of the review 

of the English test, it would be possible for a driver 

who had passed some modules but not all could be 

exempt from having to re-sit the modules which he 

or she had already passed; 

 Confirmation on when the proposals arising from 

TfL’s consultation on whether the congestion charge 

exemption for private hire vehicles should be 

removed would be available; 

 Details of the pricing model for the new black taxi 

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests 

29 November 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In progress. 

 

James Farrar, 

UPHD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gareth Powell, 

Managing 

Director of 

Surface 

Transport, 

Transport for 

London (TfL); 

and 

Helen Chapman, 

Director of 

Licensing, 

Regulation and 

Charging, TfL. 

 

Page 62



        

being manufactured by the alternative provider; 

 Confirmation of the number of taxi drivers using the 

delicensing scheme; 

 Provide information on the requirement to give fair 

estimates of the cost of journeys; 

 Details about the number of Compliance Officers 

who had received training in the additional powers 

to stop and direct traffic, together the with the 

number of drivers they had taken off the road; 

 Details about the number of drivers TfL compliance 

officers had stopped but had not had to enforce 

against because the driver was licenced by another 

licencing authority; 

 Share TfL’s evidence to the Westminster Magistrates 

Court regarding Uber; 

 Provide the figure for the backlog of licence renewal 

applications 

 Provide a link to the published minutes of meetings 

between TfL and the taxi and private hire vehicle 

trade organisations; and 

 Confirm the number of the times the Transport 

Commissioner had met with the taxi and private hire 

vehicle trade organisations. 

 

Page 63



        

   

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 9 October 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

Taxis and Private Hire Services 

The Chair invited guests to provide the Committee with 

their responses to Transport for London’s consultation 

on proposed changes to the congestion charge.  

 

In progress. The Chair 

wrote to guests on    

16 October 2018. 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch (LTW) 

agreed to provide the Committee with further details of 

the timeline agreed with TfL for implementing LTW’s 

recommendations on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

 

 

In progress. Officers 

requested an update 

on 

25 September 2018. 

 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

 
 
3. Additional Correspondence 
  
3.1 Crossrail Ltd has committed to send to the Chair of the Committee monthly updates on their 

programme. The most recent three update letters are attached at Appendix 4 for the Committee to 

note. 

 

3.2 On 22 March 2019, the Chair of the Committee, under delegated authority and in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, wrote to the Commissioner, TfL, requesting copies of the full agenda 

packs considered at meetings of the Elizabeth Line Readiness Board.  That letter, and the 

Commissioner’s response, are attached at Appendices 5(a) and (b). 

 
 
4. Legal Implications  
 
4.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 

Page 64



        

5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – Letter from Network Rail re actions from 14 March 2019 Committee meeting 

Appendix 2 – Letter from TfL re actions from 5 February 2019 Committee meeting 

Appendix 3 – Healthy Streets letter to Mayor Sadiq Khan 

Appendix 4 – Letters from Crossrail Ltd to Chair between February and April 2019 

Appendices 5(a) and (b) – Exchange between the Chair and Mike Brown MVO 

 

 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5525 

E-mail:   david.pealing@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 65

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair of the Transport Committee 
London Assembly  
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London   SE1 2AA 

29 March 2019 

Dear Caroline, 

Crossrail committee meeting 

We would like to thank you for the opportunity to update the Transport Committee on 
Network Rail’s work on Crossrail. 

Following the meeting, we would like to provide in writing the milestones for the completion of 
the stations Network Rail is upgrading and for the signalling systems. 

Stations 

As discussed at the committee, the work required to allow trains to run is largely complete 
and the main outstanding work is on station building upgrades. 

All of the stations have been open throughout our works and serve thousands of passengers 
every day. However, there are some elements, including the delivery of some of the 
enhanced ticket halls and access improvements, that will be delivered later than had been 
anticipated in the original planning applications. 

In the west, the upgrade of six ticket halls between Acton Main Line and West Drayton are 
expected to be complete by December 2020. 

Enabling works are complete and a contractor for main construction at West Drayton, Hayes 
& Harlington and Southall has been announced (Hochtief). An announcement is expected 
next month for main construction at Acton Main Line, West Ealing and Ealing Broadway.  

In the east, the main outstanding work is at Ilford and Romford. Our contractor for enabling 
works, VolkerFitzpatrick, started on site in December, and the full works contract is due to be 
awarded in August 2019. All passenger benefits should be delivered by December 2020.  

Appendix 1

Page 67



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
At Forest Gate, the ticket hall and lifts are now open; at Goodmayes, the ticket office is 
complete and step-free works will be finished in April; the Gidea Park ticket office opened in 
early January, and the lifts will become operational very soon; and at Harold Wood, work 
should be complete by the end of summer. 
 
Signalling systems 
 
Network Rail has delivered European Train Control System (ETCS) signalling in the 
Heathrow Tunnels to support the new Elizabeth Line trains. 
 
The commissioning of ETCS between Paddington and Airport Junction was postponed, in 
agreement with Crossrail Ltd, due to the technology not maturing quick enough. ETCS is 
expected to be commissioned by December 2020. 
 
Project Delivery Board reports 
 
As requested, we also attach Network Rail’s monthly reports since 2018 to the Project 
Delivery Board overseeing our Crossrail work. 
 
We have not included the appendices that are mentioned in the reports, this is mainly due to 
data held within the reports that may have a detrimental impact on our commercial 
negotiations with a number of our suppliers. The sections we have redacted in the main 
reports are also due to ongoing commercial negotiations. 
 
I would like to draw your attention to 2 key points within section 3a: 

• Reports P11 2018 to P04 2018 have the comment “the £154m unfunded variations 
are included within the Spot”. This should read “The £154m variations funded by 
grant payments are included within the Spot”. This is rectified in report P05 2018. 

• The AFC commentary within the reports and the addition of the £84m grant funding 
mentioned are consistent with the £290m additional funding that we highlighted at the 
committee. 

 
We do hope this information is useful for the committee’s investigation. Please let us know if 
we can be of any further help. 
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
 

       
 
 
Rupert Walker       Meliha Duymaz  
    
Strategy and Planning Director (South)   Anglia Route Managing Director
   

Page 68



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
Attached: Network Rail’s 2018 monthly reports to the 
Project Delivery Board. 
 
 

Page 69



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 11     7th January to 3rd February 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 70



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 4
 a) Commercial 4

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 5

 e) Community Investment 5

 f) Advanced Information 5

 g) Escalation Summary 5

4)  Procurement 5
 a) Procurement status 5

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  6

vi. Kent   6

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

viii. Line of Route (LoR)/Telecoms 6

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A15
 West enhanced stations forecast dates A15
 Trend Register A16
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A17
 Key Dates A19
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A20
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A25

C Financial Data A26
 Change commentary A26
 Spend by year A28
 Graph; Spend curve A29
 Cost Variance Analysis A30
 Opportunities and Recoveries A31

D Variation tracker A32
E Regulated change dashboards A33
F Unplanned Disruption A35
G Top ten Crossrail risks A36
H Safety performance A39
I Consents dashboard A40
J Commitments dashboard A43
K Environment performance A44
L Engineering dashboards A45
M Community Investment dashboard A47
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Tamping at Westbourne Park
Appendices Front: OLE works at Gidea Park

INDEX Main Report Contents

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 71



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Network Rail safely and successfully achieved the next series of major Programme 
milestones; Key Date 20 (Signalling updated and selective door opening commissioned on 
the GE route to support Stage 4 EMC testing), Key Date 21 (Update of GE Control Centre at 
Liverpool Street complete to support Stage 4 Dynamic Testing) and Key Date 29B (Network 
Rail track and civil engineering infrastructure complete (including turnouts between the 
Electric lines and the Crossrail Central Tunnel Section) ready to receive signalling systems 
overlay installation by Crossrail on the NE Spur). The delivery of Key Date 29B included the 
first Crossrail train to pass through the transition portal at Pudding Mill Lane.

Elsewhere on Crossrail Anglia, the 10 week Gidea Park Sidings possession was successfully 
completed.

On Crossrail Kent, the interim station training room has been dismantled and removed from 
site, the link footbridge has been removed and works continue towards completion and 
formal station opening.

On Crossrail West, Schedule 7 approval was obtained from the London Borough of Ealing for 
the final two west enhanced stations at Ealing Broadway and Southall. All west enhanced 
stations now benefit from having Schedule 7 consent. 

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 Contractor staff hours have decreased post-Christmas to 380,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased from the previous period to 50,000 hours.

l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has 
increased slightly to 0.2284. This is due to recording a lost time injury during the period.

l	 Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the Programme. 
The number of close calls has slightly decreased in line with the reduced quantum of 
work being undertaken. 545 Close Calls were recorded in Period 11; equating to 147 per 
100,000 hours worked, demonstrating great engagement by the operatives on site.

b) Achievements/Progress

l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate has dropped once again and is currently 0.91 
injuries per 100,000 hours worked. 

l	 During Periods 11 and 12, Network Rail key safety topic is having a “healthy heart”. A 
number of cascades have and will take place across the Programme to educate and 
encourage colleagues to maintain and improve the hearty’s health. 

 

c)	 Significant	events
 Accidents

l	 On 23 January 2018 at Slough, an operative slipped into a trial hole and twisted their left 
leg while undertaking surveys of the holes. The operative was later taken to hospital (as 
a precaution) where an x-ray confirmed no fracture. The operative was unable to return to 
work the following day due to discomfort and swelling. (Lost Time Injury)

l	 On 25 January 2018 at Paddington, an operative tripped on a concrete lip and fell on 
to their right side causing pain to their ribs. The operative refused First Aid and hospital 
attention. (No Lost Time).

l	 On 25 January 2018 at Abbey Wood, an operative slipped whilst dismantling scaffold (fall 
arrest equipment was in place) sustaining a minor graze to their right hand. First aid was 
administered on-site and the operative attended hospital as a precautionary measure 
where they were diagnosed with bruised coccyx / inflamed muscle and prescribed pain 
relief. (No Lost Time). 

l	 On 28 January 2018 at Pudding Mill Lane, an operator fell from a road / rail vehicle 
(RRV) whilst refuelling and suffered minor bruising to their ribs and back. The operative 
was taken to hospital (as a precaution). Fall arrest was in place on the machine but the 
slip happened whilst accessing the machine. (No Lost Time).

l	 On 31 January 2018 at Gidea Park, an operative was removing bolts from a fishplate 
using an impact wrench. The operative was holding the bolt with their left hand to prevent 
it spinning whilst applying the impact wrench with their right hand. This resulted in their 
left hand twisting, trapping their index finger and causing a laceration through the nail 
(correct gloves were being worn). The operative was given first aid and attended hospital 
where the injury was cleaned and dressed enabling the operative to return to work and 
finish their shift. (No Lost Time).

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 Three other safety incidents and significant close calls were reported in Period 11 

including an allegation of a possession irregularity which is undergoing a Level 2 
investigation, a minor road traffic collision on site in which no one was hurt and a minor 
altercation between two operatives on site. 

e) Environment Incidents
l	 No major environment incidents were recorded for Period 11. Five minor environment 

incidents were recorded (three on Crossrail West and two on Crossrail East).

l	 There were 18 environmental complaints in Period 11 relating to noise, vibration and 
light (12), water resources (3) and management and recycling (3). This is a decrease of 
two complaints (from the 20 complaints) received in Period 10. 

l	 The WOTI CEEQUAL assessment received an “Excellent” rating during Period 11. The WOE 
and Crossrail Kent assessments are expected to also gain an “Excellent” rating during 
Period 12.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 72



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3)  Programme overview
a) Commercial 

l	 The AFC is £2,384.2m. 

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period. 

l	 Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l	 The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the 
Recoveries. 

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West):-Significant progress made with Vinci in relation to 
final account settlement however costs associated with frustrated access are likely to be 
significant and are under detailed review. 

l	

 

l	 Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Significant progress continues to be made on the final 
account negotiations although significant works are still to be completed.

l	 Cancellation of Delivery Incentives (£22m): Incentive agreement has now been 
cancelled and Crossrail invoiced for the total £22m sum. This is due to be received in 
full during Period 12.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84m): Agreement is now out for signature and is hoped to 
be finalise by the end of Period 12. 

b)  Schedule 
l	 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l	 KO4: Complete

l	 KO5B and KD24: In order to avoid programme delay, funding for the West stations is 
required. A contracting strategy for West Outer Stations GRI P5-6 works is under review 
post the Carillion liquidation.

l	 KD12: Complete.

l	 KD9: Complete. 

l	 KD33: Westbourne Park commissioning works associated with KD33: Traction power 
infrastructure, including SCADA control complete from Kensal Green auto transformer 
feeder station to Westbourne Park ATS were completed during Christmas 2017. 
However, following a request from Crossrail, the cables will be connected, tested 
and energised at the end of April 2018. Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work 
together to manage this Key Date.

l	 KD22 - Concentrator Renewals Project: This project is impacting the Fixed Telecoms 
Network (FTN) design required for Week 45 Gidea Park and Pudding Mill Lane 
commissioning and telecoms immunisation for the auto transformer. Network Rail’s 
Crossrail Programme and Infrastructure Projects Southern continue working together to 
minimise any impact and are proposing to provide the signal post telephone and point 
zone telephone circuits at Pudding Mill Lane and Gidea Park sidings over existing legacy 
fibre and copper cables.

l	 KD29B: Complete.

c) Town Planning 
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained. 

l	 82% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l	 Eleven town planning approvals were obtained in Periods 10 and 11. Ten further 
approvals are scheduled for Period 12.

l	 Three non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period 
07. There were two recoveries, two new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliance identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard in 
the appendices for further details of potential and actual non-compliances.

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,475.3

b Risk (P50) 0.0

c Recoveries -40.1

d Efficiencies -3.0

e Opportunities 0.0 

f Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -7.7

g Network Rail Recovery (£29.72m WOE) -48.0

h AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d+e+f+g) 2,384.0 

i Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

j Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-h) -84.2 

k Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 73



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

 Period 11:
l	 (Potential non-compliance 9) Crossrail Kent, Abbey Wood Station and surface works: The 

Contractor is due to finish at the end of March 2018. However, there are still a number 
of planning consents to be obtained, including restoration works at Gayton Road and 
Felixstowe Rd, station car park layout, bollards, fencing and lighting, station metal deck 
walkway to the north, alterations to stair 3 and 4, alterations to front façade, CCTV 
support structures, service yard and cladding to the Church Manorway footbridge.

l	 (Potential non-compliance 10) Crossrail Anglia, worksites restoration: Issuing of 
restoration schemes for temporary worksites from the contractor are delayed. The risk 
is that sites will be vacated and handed back prior to restoration schemes being agreed 
by the Councils and, therefore, breach the Crossrail Act. Network Rail continues to raise 
the issue with the contractor and further meetings are planned to review all worksites 
and a programme to provide the necessary materials and documents for the Schedule 7 
submissions.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 13 of the 185 pieces of evidence expected for Period 11 were uploaded onto the 

Commitments Delivery Tracker (CDT). Evidence was uploaded for OOCPA and West 
Stations.

l	 All nine work packages that planned to upload evidence in Period 11 have overdue 
evidence. Evidence includes D25 assessments, land handback certificates and other 
documents. 

e) Community Investment
l	 During Period 11, two science club sessions were held for students from Hallfield Primary 

School, a speed networking session was held for 90 students at Wilson’s School, a 
science morning was held for 30 pupils from Our Lady of Delours Primary School and two 
work experience placements were commenced at Paddington and in Romford.

f) Advanced information
l	 There is no change to the procurement strategy in this period from that previously 

reported. 

l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, subject to 
funding resolution and receipt of a Variation Instruction from Crossrail, Network Rail will 
commence implementation of a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations 
(GRIP 6-8) build contract works. The value of these contracts is likely to be over £25m.

g) Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period. 

4)  Procurement 
a) Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington, and 
West Drayton) – Following delays with Form B deign issue the tender return date has 
been amended to 09 March 2018. Contract award is scheduled for 07 June 2018.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and 
West Ealing) – Following delays with Form B design issue the tender return date has 
been amended to 16 April 2018. Contract award is scheduled for 11 July 2018.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical 
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington) 
- First phase of advanced works to Wk52 awarded via competitive Variation to Carillion. 
‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible owing to 
Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced Stations Work 
Package 2 Contractor.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) - GRIP 5 Design - Atkins has 
returned the tender submission which is currently under evaluation. Contract award is 
scheduled by mid-March 2018. 

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 – Development of a 
procurement strategy and associated tender documentation is to be undertaken.

l	 Crossrail ETCS Safety Assurance Management Services - PQQ review to be finalised by 
31 January 2018 and ITT to be issued by 09 February 2018. 

l	 Crossrail ETCS Stage B/C 0-12miles - Contract executed on 31 January 2018. 

l	 Crossrail ETCS GSM-R GRIP 5-8 – PQQ issued and responses due by 09 February 2018. 

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 Snagging works are being undertaken.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 Schedule 7 consents have been obtained from the London Borough of Ealing for the 

works at Ealing and Southall stations.

 Signalling
l	 Key Date 20 (Signalling updated and selective door opening commissioned on the GE 

route to support Stage 4 EMC testing) and Key Date 21 (Update of GE Control Centre 
at Liverpool Street complete to support Stage 4 Dynamic Testing) achieved ahead of 
schedule.

 ETCS
l	 Stage A: RBC training course commenced. Balise/LEU training facility 

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 74



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

installed and course on target to be completed by May 2018. Alstom Safety Justification 
Report (SJR) not accepted by Network Rail due to outstanding comments on the V&V 
process. NoBo reviewing final evidence and compliance arguments from the Supplier, 
plan to complete Technical File submission in March 2018, to maintain an APIS date in 
April 2018.

l	 Stage B/C: Investment Authority granted for GRIP 5-8. Contract awarded to Alstom in 
January 2018, to deliver the ETCS solution. Warranted infrastructure data given to the 
supplier for Stage B area. 

 Anglia
l	 The Gidea Park Sidings 10 week blockade was successfully completed. 

l	 Key Date 29B (Network Rail track and civil engineering infrastructure complete 
(including turnouts between the Electric lines and the Crossrail Central Tunnel Section) 
ready to receive signalling systems overlay installation by Crossrail on the NE Spur) was 
successfully achieved.

l	 The first Crossrail train passed through the transition portal at Pudding Mill Lane. 

 Kent
l	 The station forecourt is complete, the interim station training room has been dismantled 

and removed from site, the link footbridge has been removed and the car park and 
central interchange footbridge works are progressing. 

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Site mobilisation commenced at Gidea Park for the substation works.

 Line of Route (LoR) Telecoms
l	 Seven station SMS designs complete and forwarded to Crossrail to be included in the 

Siemens RailCom Manager design. 

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

5 Works 6 Stages

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 75



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS West

 

OOCPA: Wire run at night

 

OOCPA: Visit by the Foreign Secretary, Boris Johnson

 

 

OOCPA: Site inspection with Neil Thompson

 

 

OOCPA: Visit by the Foreign Secretary, Boris Johnson

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 76



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

PUDDING MILL LANE: Installing temporary track bonds in West and East bound Crossrail tunnels

 

GIDEA PARK: OLE works in progress

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000348 A01

P
age 77



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 12     4th February to 3rd March 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 1 of 10

P
age 78



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 4
 a) Commercial 4

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 5

 e) Community Investment 5

 f) Advanced Information 5

 g) Escalation Summary 5

4)  Procurement 5
 a) Procurement status 5

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   5

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

viii. Line of Route (LoR)/Telecoms 6

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A15
 West enhanced stations forecast dates A15
 Trend Register A16
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A17
 Key Dates A19
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A20
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A21

C Financial Data A22
 Change commentary A22
 Spend by year A24
 Graph; Spend curve A25
 Cost Variance Analysis A26
 Opportunities and Recoveries A27

D Variation Notice tracker A28
E Regulated change dashboards A29
F Unplanned Disruption A31
G Top ten Crossrail risks A32
H Safety performance A35
I Consents dashboard A36
J Commitments dashboard A39
K Environment performance A40
L Engineering dashboards A41
M Community Investment dashboard A43
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Snow causes disruption at Paddington and across the network
Appendices Front: Clearing platforms of snow at Paddington

INDEX Main Report Contents
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 2 of 10

P
age 79



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Following achievement of Key Dates 20, 21 and 29B and completion of the Gidea Park 
Sidings works in Period 11, Network Rail’s focus in Period 12 continued towards the 
safe and successful delivery of the upcoming Key Date 33 (Traction Power infrastructure, 
including SCADA control, complete from Kensal Green Auto Transformer Feeder Substation 
(ATFS) to Westbourne Park ATFS) and Key Outputs 2, 5A and 5B later in 2018.  

During Period 12, on Crossrail East works commenced at the Gidea Park auto transformer 
site and on Crossrail West, the signalling commissioning was successfully completed at 
Westbourne Park.

The Network Rail team’s successes were recognised at the recent London Transport Awards 
where Hannah Lane (Communications Manager) was shortlisted in the “Young Transport 
Professional” category and the Carillion-led Crossrail West OOCPA team were shortlisted 
for “Transport Team of the Year” following their successful delivery of the significant 
challenging Christmas 2016 works.

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 Contractor staff hours have decreased post-Christmas to 350,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours increased this period due to the inclusion of 196,000 previously 
unaccounted hours for the last year.  Therefore, Network Rail staff hours for Period 12 
are 263,000 hours.

l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has 
decreased slightly to 0.1794. This is due to no LTIs during Period 12.

l	 Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the Programme. 
The number of close calls has slightly decreased in line with the reduced quantum of 
work being undertaken. 568 Close Calls were recorded in Period 12; equating to 170 per 
100,000 hours worked, demonstrating great engagement by the operatives on site.

b) Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate has dropped once again and is currently 0.83 

injuries per 100,000 hours worked. 

l	 During Periods 11 and 12, Network Rail’s key safety topic is having a “healthy heart”.  A 
number of cascades have taken place across the Programme to educate and encourage 
colleagues to maintain and improve their heart’s health. 

 

c)	 Significant	events
 Accidents

l	 On 15 February 2018 at Hayes, an operative was punched on the nose by a small group 
of youths who had pushed through a door into the worksite. Although BTP attended site, 
the youths returned later and the shift was terminated to protect the operatives.  The 
operatives were briefed on vigilance and BTP engagement obtained. (Minor Injury)

l	 On 18 February 2018 at Pudding Mill Lane, an operative slipped during slippery, icy, 
conditions leading to contusion and swelling of their ankle. The operative was escorted to 
hospital, as a precaution, where no further injury was identified. (Minor Injury).

l	 On 19 February 2018 at Forest Gate, a sheet of metal, which had been stood against the 
worksite hoarding, was blown over by the turbulence from a passing train and struck an 
operative on their leg leading to a contusion. First Aid was administered, the operative 
rested and was later fit to resume normal duties. (Minor Injury). 

l	 On 21 February 2018 at Kensal Green, an operator received a graze to their leg whilst 
bending down to recover a troughing lid which had fallen into the troughing route.  After 
receiving First Aid, the operative felt able to continue with their normal duties. (Minor 
Injury).

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 Ten other safety incidents and significant close calls were reported in Period 12 including 

three disturbances of services and a Mobile Electrical Working Platform (MEWP) 
exceeding the site speed limit. 

e) Environment Incidents
l	 No major environment incidents were recorded for Period 12.  Only one minor 

environment incidents was recorded on Crossrail East.

l	 There were eight environmental complaints in Period 12 relating to noise, vibration and 
light (6), excavated materials and waste (1) and management and recycling (1).  This 
represents a significant decrease in the number of complaints (18 No.) received by 
Crossrail in Period 11.  

l	 During Period 12, WOE and Crossrail Kent achieved their “Excellent” CEEQUAL ratings. Of 
the remaining Crossrail “On Network Works” projects, five of the eight have undertaken 
their CEEQUAL assessments and achieved an “Excellent” rating.  The remaining three 
projects (Crossrail Anglia, OOCPA and Crossrail West stations) are expected to complete 
their CEEQUAL assessments in the coming months.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 3 of 10

P
age 80



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3)  Programme overview
a) Commercial 

l	 The AFC is £2,376.0m. 

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period. 

l	 Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l	 The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the 
Recoveries. 

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Significant progress made with Vinci in relation to final 
account settlement however costs associated with frustrated access will be significant 
and are under detailed review. 

l	  
 

 

l	 Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Significant progress continues to be made on 
the final account negotiations although significant works are still to be completed.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84m): Agreement is out for signature and is hoped to be 
finalised shortly. 

b)  Schedule 
l	 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l	 KO5B and KD24: A contracting strategy for West Outer Stations GRIP 5-6 works 
remains under review post the Carillion liquidation, completion of KD24 is under 
threat.  Traction Power Supply construction of the Traction Switching Station at 
Paddington can only be achieved during the Christmas 2018 works.  Network Rail 
is investigating options but KO5b remains at risk.

l	 KD33: Westbourne Park commissioning works associated with KD33: Traction 
power infrastructure, including SCADA control complete from Kensal Green 
auto transformer feeder station to Westbourne Park ATS were completed during 
Christmas 2017. However, following a request from Crossrail, the cables will be 
connected, tested and energised at the end of April 2018.  Crossrail and Network 
Rail have agreed a revised date for KD33 of 30 March 2018, while an energisation 
date is still to be confirmed. Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work together 
to manage this Key Date.

l	 KO5A and KD22 - K05A is at risk due to Liverpool Street concentrator renewal 
on Line of Route Telecoms immunisation works. A revised programme has been 
requested from the concentrator renewal team to reflect re-staging works. An 
Employers Representative Instruction (ERI) has also been issued following the 
ELSA report (Electrification System Simulation Analysis) with the potential to 
improve the auto transformer programme by six to eight months. Integration 
workshops between Network Rail and the auto transformer works contractors are 
being held to mitigate delays to the programme.

c) Town Planning 
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained. 

l	 80% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l	 Three town planning approvals were obtained in Period 12. Nine further approvals are 
scheduled for Period 13.

l	 Three non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period 
07. There were two recoveries, no new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard 
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 12:
l	 No new non-compliances and/or new potential non compliances in  

Period 12.

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,613.6

b Risk (P50) 0.0

c Recoveries -129.5

d Efficiencies -24.3

e Opportunities 0.0 

f Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -18.7

g Network Rail Recovery (£29.72m WOE) -65.0

h AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d+e+f+g) 2,376.0 

i Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

j Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-h) -76.0 

k Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 4 of 10

P
age 81



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 During Period 12 a significant success was achieved through the removal of Essex County 
Council’s objection to the proposed drainage scheme associated with the traction power 
supply works at Shenfield.  This will allow Brentwood Borough Council to progress to 
approve the application by 09 March 2018, and allow the project to progress the works to 
programme.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period 

12. 

e) Community Investment
l	 During Period 12, activities were undertaken to plan for events that will be held in  

Period 13.

f) Advanced information
l	 There is no change to the procurement strategy in this period from that previously 

reported. 

l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, subject to 
funding resolution and receipt of a Variation Instruction from Crossrail, Network Rail will 
commence implementation of a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations 
(GRIP 6-8) build contract works. The value of these contracts is likely to be over £25m.

g) Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period. 

4)  Procurement 
a) Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington, and 
West Drayton) – Tender return date has been amended to 23 March 2018.  Contract 
award is scheduled for 20 June 2018.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and 
West Ealing) – Following delays with Form B design issue the tender return date has been 
amended to 16 April 2018. Contract award is scheduled for 11 July 2018.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical 
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington) 
- First phase of advanced works to Wk52 awarded via competitive Variation to Carillion. 
‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible owing to 
Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced Stations Work 
Package 2 Contractor.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) - GRIP 5 Design - Tender evaluation 

is nearing conclusion, Gateway 4 papers to be issued for approval during Period 13.  
Contract award is scheduled for the beginning of April 2018.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 – Development of a 
procurement strategy and associated tender documentation is to be undertaken.

l	 Crossrail ETCS Safety Assurance Management Services - ITT issued and returns due back 
on 08 March 2018, with contract award anticipated 11 May 2018.

l	 Crossrail ETCS GSM-R GRIP 5-8 – ITT returns due back on 23 March 2018, with contract 
award anticipated 21 May 2018.

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 Snagging works continue to be undertaken.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 Works continue to meet the upcoming Key Dates and Key Outputs.

l	 Vegetation removal works undertaken.

 Signalling
l	 Westbourne Park Signalling commissioning completed.

 ETCS
l	 Stage A: Alstom’s Safety Justification Report has been accepted with comments that will 

be closed out in Network Rail’s Safety Justification Report. Presentations will be made 
to the Safety Review Panel in April 2018, to achieve a May 2018 Approval for Passenger 
Entry into Service (APIS). Extension request to HIA4 – Dynamic Testing has been received 
from Crossrail and is being reviewed by Network Rail.  Bombardier Trains arrived in 
Charleroi without the required equipment to undertake laboratory integration testing.  
Consequently, it is now not possible to fulfil HIA5 within the contracted timescales and 
without impacting the Stage B/C programme. 

l	 Stage B/C: The contract kick off meeting was held on 28 February 2018.  A Clause 14 
programme has been received from Alstom and is being reviewed by Network Rail.  

 Anglia
l	 Auto transformer, Line of Route and stations works are ongoing across the route.

 Kent
l	 Abbey Wood station north public lifts are operational.

l	 Western and central footbridges, northern ticket hall and car park works 
progressing.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 5 of 10

P
age 82



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 Platform mechanical, electrical and plant, station information systems and DOO works 
progressing.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Essex County Council has withdrawn its objections to the drainage solution at Shenfield.  

This will allow the planning application to progress.

l	 Works commenced at the Gidea Park Auto Transformer Feeder Substation (demolition 
works and site clearance completed).

l	 The Western Route commissioning plan and strategy has been finalised to align with 
auto transformer feeding in November 2018. The testing strategy has been finalised 
for the ADP scheme to be implemented on the Western Route for Full auto transformer 
operation.

 Line of Route (LoR) Telecoms
l	 Procurement of IP WAN equipment for sites on the Anglia Route has been completed.

l	 SMS station designs are ongoing.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

5 Works 6 Stages
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 6 of 10

P
age 83



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS West

 

PADDINGTON: Snow causes disruption

 

PADDINGTON: Snow causes disruption

 

 

PADDINGTON: The control room during the snow

 

PADDINGTON: Snow causes disruption

 

PADDINGTON: Snow causes disruption

 

PADDINGTON: Snow causes disruption

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 7 of 10

P
age 84



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

GIDEA PARK: OLE works in progress

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

 

STRATFORD: DDO installation

 

STRATFORD: DDO installation

 

STRATFORD: DDO installation

PUDDING MILL LANE: Troughing, tamping  

and installation of closer rails

PUDDING MILL LANE: Troughing, tamping  

and installation of closer rails

PUDDING MILL LANE: Troughing, tamping  

and installation of closer rails

 

MARYLAND: SISS base

 

MANOR PARK: ATF chamber

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 8 of 10

P
age 85



9CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

GIDEA PARK: OLE works in progress

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

 

ILFORD: Installation of CMS and supplementary bond

ILFORD: Installation of CMS and 

supplementary bond

 

GOODMAYES: Oil tank pour for new lift

 

GOODMAYES: Pile installation

GOODMAYES: VVB remedial and cable 

termination

GIDEA PARK: Testing and commissioning  

of CCTV

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 9 of 10

P
age 86



10CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

GIDEA PARK: OLE works in progress

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

 

HAROLD WOOD: OLE boom preparation and installation

 

HAROLD WOOD: OLE boom preparation and installation

 

BRENTWOOD:  Installation of comms and CCTV in waiting room

BRENTWOOD:  Installation of comms and 

CCTV in waiting room

 

SHENFIELD: ATF 43m if route installation

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000349 A01 Page 10 of 10

P
age 87



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 13     4th March to 31st March 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 88



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 4
 a) Commercial 4

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 5

 e) Community Investment 5

 f) Advanced Information 5

 g) Escalation Summary 5

4)  Procurement 5
 a) Procurement status 5

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  6

v. Anglia  6

vi. Kent   6

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

viii. Line of Route (LoR)/Telecoms 6

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A14
 Trend Register A14
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A15
 Key Dates A17
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A18
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A19

C Financial Data A20
 Change commentary A20
 Spend by year A22
 Graph; Spend curve A23
 Cost Variance Analysis A24
 Opportunities and Recoveries A25

D Variation Notice tracker A26
E Regulated change dashboards A27
F Unplanned Disruption A29
G Top ten Crossrail risks A30
H Safety performance A33
I Consents dashboard A34
J Environment performance A35
K Engineering dashboard A36
L Community Investment dashboard A37
M Programme Close Out:  A38 
 Assured Deliverable Status 
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Hayes Bay TPWS grids installed
Appendices Front: Ealing Broadway prep works for the new passenger flow 
system and start of foundation works on Platform 2/3

INDEX Main Report Contents
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 89



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Network Rail’s focus in Period 13 continued towards the safe and successful delivery of the 
upcoming Key Dates and Key Outputs later in 2018.  

During Period 12, on Crossrail East all under track crossings (UTXs) were completed and 
successfully handed back to the Network Rail Route.  Additionally, Brentwood Borough 
Council approved the town planning application for the auto transformer site at Shenfield, 
enabling works to commence. 

On Crossrail Kent, works to the six station lifts were completed and all are now in service.

On Crossrail West, tenders for the Enhanced Stations main works package (at Southall, 
Hayes and Harlington and West Drayton) were returned and are being evaluated by Network 
Rail.  Additionally, the Paddington platform gauging works were completed for Platforms 1 
and 2.

The Programme’s quality was further recognised during Period 13, when Wiehag’s 
outstanding work in designing, manufacturing and installing the ‘free form’ timber roof over 
the new Abbey Wood station earned the company the prestigious Project of the Year Award 
at the Construction News Awards 2018.  

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to 
300,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased this period to 40,000 hours.

l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) increased 
to 0.1869. This is due to recording a RIDDOR reportable injury event at Pudding Mill 
Lane.

l	 Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the 
Programme. The number of Close Calls is decreasing in line with the reduced quantum 
of work being undertaken. However, following a period where the number of Close Calls 
declined following the Christmas possession works, the number recorded by Network Rail 
increased in Period 13 to 798.  This equates to 229 per 100,000 hours worked.

b) Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate continues its downward trend and is currently 

0.80 injuries per 100,000 hours worked. 

l	 During Period 13, and following recent driving related events, Network Rail’s key safety 
topic was “driving”, with a focus on how adherence to Network Rail’s Life Saving Rules 
will lower the risk of being involved in a road traffic incident.   A number of cascades have 

taken place across the Programme to educate colleagues on driving safety. 

c)	 Significant	events
 Accidents

l	 On 9 March 2018, at Dawley Road, a member of the Network Rail team turned their 
ankle in the car park on a dip in the ground.  No First Aid was required and the member 
of staff was able to complete their shift. (Minor Injury). 

l	 On 19 March 2018, at Hayes, an operative was struck in the face by the handle of a 
whacker machine whilst it was being manoeuvred.  This resulted in swelling to their head 
and a nose bleed.  The operative received first aid on site and was then taken to hospital, 
as a precaution.  On release from hospital the operator was driven home and was able to 
return to work the next day.  (Minor Injury).

l	 On 24 March 2018, at Pudding Mill Lane, an operative suffered a punctured lung and 
fractured ribs when two colleagues dropped an auto transformer cable that all three had 
been lifting. This resulted in the operative falling under the weight of the cable and on to 
an empty pallet.  No first aid was required at site as the operative believed they were only 
winded. However, the following morning the operative attended a walk in centre where 
they were advised they had suffered fractured ribs and a tear to a lung which would 
require treatment.  The operative was subsequently admitted to hospital for surgery. 
(RIDDOR Specified Injury)

l	 On 31 March 2018, at Manor Park, an operative struck their hand against a wall whilst 
picking up a cable. The First Aider attended and no injury was found.  The operative was 
able to return to work immediately. (Minor Injury).

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 Six other safety incidents and significant close calls were reported in Period 13 including 

three incidents of trespass, vandalism and theft.  

e) Environment Incidents
l	 No major environment incidents were recorded for Period 13. Six minor environment 

incidents were recorded (four on Crossrail West and two on Crossrail East).

l	 There were five environmental complaints in Period 13 relating to noise, vibration 
and light (3), excavated material waste (1) and management and recycling (1). This is 
a decrease of three complaints received by Crossrail from the previous period (eight 
Crossrail Environmental complaints received in P12).

l	 The CEEQUAL assessment for Crossrail West stations is due to complete verification at 
the end of Period 1.  CEEQUAL assessments for OOCPA and Crossrail Anglia continue to 
progress. All projects are on track to achieve an “Excellent” rating.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 90



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3)  Programme overview
a) Commercial 

l	 The AFC is £2,376.0m. 

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period. 

l	 Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l	 The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the 
Recoveries. 

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. However, 
recently tabled additional costs are under detailed review together with the significant 
frustrated access costs. 

l	

 
 

l	 Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Significant progress continues to be made on 
the final account negotiations although significant works are still to be completed.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84m): The Agreement has been signed and Network Rail 
has received the first tranche of £6 million from the Department for Transport.  The 
second tranche of funds (£31.5 million) is due to be received by Network Rail by the 
end of April 2018. 

b)  Schedule 
l	 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l	 KO5B and KD24: A contracting strategy for West Outer Stations GRIP 5-6 works 
remains under review post the Carillion liquidation, completion of KD24 is a high 
risk.  Traction Power Supply construction of the Traction Switching Station at 
Paddington can only be achieved during the Christmas 2018 works.  Network Rail is 
investigating options but KO5b remains as a high risk.

l	 KD33: Westbourne Park commissioning works associated with KD33: Traction 
power infrastructure, including SCADA control complete from Kensal Green 
auto transformer feeder station to Westbourne Park ATS were completed during 
Christmas 2017. However, following a request from Crossrail, the cables will be 
connected, tested and energised at the end of April 2018.  Crossrail and Network 
Rail have agreed a revised date for KD33 of 21 May 2018, while an energisation 
date is still to be confirmed. Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work together to 
manage this Key Date.

l	 KO5A and KD22 - K05A is at risk due to Liverpool Street concentrator renewal 
on Line of Route Telecoms immunisation works. A revised programme has been 
requested from the concentrator renewal team to reflect re-staging works. An 
Employers Representative Instruction (ERI) has also been issued following the ELSA 
report (Electrification System Simulation Analysis) with the potential to improve the 
auto transformer programme by six to eight months. Integration workshops between 
Network Rail and the auto transformer works contractors are being held to mitigate 
delays to the programme.

c) Town Planning 
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained. 

l	 79% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l	 Five town planning approvals were obtained in Period 13. Nine further approvals are 
scheduled for Period 1.

l	 Three non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period 
07. There were no recoveries, one new potential non-compliance and one new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard 
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-
compliances.

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,619.9

b Risk (P50) 0.0

c Recoveries -123.1

d Efficiencies -26.8

e Opportunities 0.0 

f Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -37.8

g Network Rail Recovery (£29.72m WOE) -56.1

h AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d+e+f+g) 2,376.0 

i Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

j Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-h) -76.0 

k Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 91



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

 Period 13:
l	 (Non-compliance 11) Crossrail Anglia, Officers Meadow restoration - breach of conditions: 

The restoration of the worksite has not been completed in accordance with conditions 3, 
4, 9 and 10 (as attached to the planning permission) which requires certain restoration 
works to be completed by 31 March 2018.   While most of the restoration has been 
completed, Great Crested Newt (GCN) surveys are still required and to be followed by the 
application of any mitigation, if GCNs are found.  A Section 73 application to amend the 
conditions and extend the timeframe has been submitted to Brentwood Borough Council 
and has been recommended for approval with a formal decision due by 13 April 2018, 
subject to Council Member review. 

l	 (Potential non-compliance 11) Crossrail Anglia, Shenfield Sidings – Lighting: Complaints 
have been received regarding light spill from the sidings to the rear of properties on 
Hunter Avenue.  The lighting has been installed as per the Schedule 7 approval, but as-
built tests confirm lux levels are not in accordance with lighting assessments contained 
within the Schedule 7 application.  Network Rail has instructed the contractor to review 
this matter and propose appropriate mitigation.  Light shields have been installed 
temporarily and further lux tests indicate reduced levels at some locations.  Further 
testing is required to reduce lux levels at all locations and a further Schedule 7 approval 
will be required to authorise the permanent change to the design.  This submission is 
planned for Period 1.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period 13. 

l	 Evidence has been uploaded for the WOTI, Stockley Main Civils and OOCPA projects. 

l	 Network Rail is progressing reports required under Information Papers D25 and D26 
(Noise and Vibration Assessments) that will close the commitment on the majority of 
West projects.

e) Community Investment
l	 During Period 13, Network Rail attended the apprentice careers event at Newvic College 

and five volunteers supported a science week activity at Hallfield School.

f) Advanced information
l	 There is no change to the procurement strategy in this period from that previously 

reported. 

l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, subject to 
funding resolution and receipt of a Variation Instruction from Crossrail, Network Rail will 
commence implementation of a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations 
(GRIP 6-8) build contract works. The value of these contracts is likely to be over £25m.

g) Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period. 

4)  Procurement 
a) Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) – Tender return date of 23 March 2018, was achieved. Network Rail is 
currently evaluating the tender returns.  

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) – Tender return date is 16 April 2018. Contract award is scheduled for 11 
July 2018.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical 
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington) 
- First phase of advanced works to Wk52 awarded via competitive Variation to Carillion. 
‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible owing to 
Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced Stations Work 
Package 2 Contractor.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) - GRIP 5 Design – The Gateway 4 
paper has been approved by Network Rail’s Regional Change Panel, with comments.  
Contract award is scheduled for April 2018.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 – Development of a 
procurement strategy and associated tender documentation is to be undertaken.

l	 Crossrail ETCS Safety Assurance Management Services - ITT issued and returns received.  
Contract award is anticipated to be 11 May 2018.  

l	 Crossrail ETCS GSM-R GRIP 5-8 – ITT returns due back on 06 April 2018.  Contract 
award anticipated to be 21 May 2018.

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 Paddington platform gauging works completed for Platforms 1 and 2 and significant 
progress has been made in addressing snagging and handback (AMP 15) items.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 Works continue to meet the upcoming Key Dates and Key Outputs.

l	 Snagging works continue being undertaken.

 Signalling
l	 All impedance bonding works have been completed.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works
PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 92



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

 ETCS
l	 Stage A: Network Rail’s draft Safety Justification Report is to be presented to the Safety 

Review Panel on 12 April 2018.  The Project continues to seek achieving a May 2018 
“Approval for Passenger Entry into Service (APIS)”, but notes that this is at risk following 
the receipt of an unsupportive Safety Assessment Report from the AsBo. 

l	 Stage B/C: Stage C asset data surveys are underway. The delay to HIA5 (integrated 
laboratory testing) is now having a direct impact on the Stage B/C programme, delaying 
the start of Stage B laboratory works from the 19 March to the 23 April 2018. Network 
Rail has written to Crossrail on this matter and identified risk ownership.     

l	 30% of infrastructures surveys have been completed.

l	 Run 1 data is ready for testing at the Charleroi laboratory.

 Anglia
l	 Fibre cable laying between Romford, the TUCA and the Route Control Centre is ongoing.

l	 All under track crossings (UTXs) have been completed and accepted by Network Rail 
Route Maintenance.

l	 Ilford signalling snagging completed following a walkout.

l	 The traction power / auto transformer integration workshops continue in order to mitigate 
delays to the programme.

 Kent
l	 All six lifts at Abbey Wood station are operational and in service.

l	 Station forecourt and external stair works are complete and awaiting handover.

l	 The car park, western and central interchange footbridges, mechanical and electrical fit 
out, SISS and DOO, Elizabeth line ticket hall and platform works are ongoing.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Brentwood Borough Council has approved the town planning application for the auto 

transformer site at Shenfield.  Works will commence shortly.

l	 Build of the ADP test rig is complete and the acceptance testing plan has been approved 
to support the commencement of testing on 02 April 2018.

 Line of Route (LoR) Telecoms
l	 Old Oak Common: GSM-R Dicora terminal installed and tested to enable trains to move in 

and out of the depot.

l	 11 of 27 Station Management Systems designs have been completed.

5 Works 6 Stages

l	 MTR has continued to withhold access permits on Crossrail Anglia for telecoms works to 
proceed.  MTR states that this is due to operational safety reasons.  However, the works 
being undertaken have previously been permitted to be carried out.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 93



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS West

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Hayes Bay cable bedded

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Piling cap works

 

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Piling cap works

 

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Piling cap works

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Piling cap works

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 94



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

STRATFORD: Concrete and DOO work on Platform 10

 

STRATFORD: Concrete and DOO work on Platform 10

ILFORD: ATF 5m buried route and CMS and  

Bracketry installation

ILFORD: ATF 5m buried route and CMS and  

Bracketry installation

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 95



9CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 13 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

 

 

GIDEA PARK: Completion lighting to driver hop ups

GOODMAYES: CMS installation and lift 

installation to all London end platforms

 

GOODMAYES: CMS installation and lift installation to all London end platforms

GOODMAYES: CMS installation and lift 

installation to all London end platforms

 

BRENTWOOD: ATF works

ROMFORD: Installation of power cables and 

structure for platform lights

 

SHENFIELD: ATF trough base installation

 

GIDEA PARK: Removing worksite cabins

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000350 A01

P
age 96



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 01     1st April to 28th April 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 97



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 4
 a) Commercial 4

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 5

 e) Community Investment 5

 f) Advanced Information 5

 g) Escalation Summary 5

4)  Procurement 5
 a) Procurement status 5

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   6

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

viii. Line of Route (LoR)/Telecoms 6

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A14
 Trend Register A14
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A15
 Key Dates A17
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A18
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A19

C Financial Data A20
 Change commentary A20
 Spend by year A22
 Graph; Spend curve A23
 Cost Variance Analysis A24
 Opportunities and Recoveries A25

D Variation Notice tracker A26
E Regulated change dashboards A27
F Unplanned Disruption A29
G Top ten Crossrail risks A30
H Safety performance A32
I Consents dashboard A33
J Environment performance A34
K Engineering performance A35
L Programme Close Out Status A36
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Shenfield platforms in operation
Appendices Front: Platform extensions at Southall station

INDEX Main Report Contents

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 98



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Network Rail’s continued focus in Period 01 was towards the safe and successful delivery 
of the upcoming Key Dates and Key Outputs later in 2018, and in particular the works 
scheduled for Week 6 (early May bank holiday).

On Crossrail West, the Kensal Green North compound was handed back to Ballymore, the 
Royal Oak OHLE Entry into Service (EiS) was successfully achieved, the West Enhanced 
Stations Package 3 tender submissions were returned to Network Rail and the signalling 
works associated with the Hayes bayline platform were successfully completed.

On Crossrail East, the platform 2 extension at Romford was handed over to Rail for London.  
At Abbey Wood, the station’s car park, western and central interchange footbridges, 
mechanical and electrical fit out, Elizabeth line ticket hall and platform works are 
progressing for completion in June. Additionally, construction has commenced at the 
Shenfield Auto transformer site following receipt of planning permission from Brentwood 
Borough Council.

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to 
202,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased this period to 32,000 hours.

l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) decreased 
to 0.1792.  Network Rail had no Lost Time Injuries in the period but two minor injuries did 
occur.

l	 Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the 
Programme. However, following a period where the number of Close Calls declined earlier 
this year, the number recorded by Network Rail increased in Period 1 to 740. This equates 
to 348 per 100,000 hours worked.

b)  Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate continues its downward trend and is currently 

0.71 injuries per 100,000 hours worked.

l	 As the programme continues towards close–out, Network Rail is focused on maintaining 
a strong and healthy team.  Safety, health and wellbeing cascades continue to be held 
across the Programme to educate colleagues.  During Periods 1 and 2, Network Rail will 
be supporting “Walking Month” by encouraging colleagues to take a break to recover 
during the working day.  To assist staff, a series of walking maps around its offices have 
been produced.

c)  Significant events
 Accidents

l	 On 09 April 2018, at Gidea Park a member of the public fell whilst descending the 
temporary footbridge steps.  MTR later reported to Network Rail that the person had 
suffered a broken ankle and fractures to their leg.  Network Rail investigated the incident 
and currently awaits the conclusions detailing the causal factors.

l	 On 17 April 2018, at Hutton Depot (Shenfield), whilst passing a box containing a drill to 
the installation manager, an operative felt a sudden pain in their right hand which led to 
them dropping the box to the floor.  The muscle spasm is believed to be attributed to a 
previous soft tissue issue. (Not an accident)

l	 On 22 April 2018, at Hayes, a member of the public physically assaulted a Security 
Guard.  It is believed that the member of the public was under the influence of alcohol 
at the time.  British Transport Police (BTP) attended and the member of the public was 
restrained. Daily briefings are being delivered at the start of each shift confirming actions 
to be carried out in case of a repeat.  No lone working to be carried out. (No physical 
injury).

l	 On 26 April 2018, at Gidea Park, an operative acting as Safe Work Leader chose to assist 
in a cable pulling operation. The operative placed their hands into a troughing T-Piece to 
pull the cable.   However, when the cable was pulled, it pinched their hand against the 
T-Piece.  Upon removal of their Cat 5 cut resistant glove, the operative discovered a small 
cut to their hand. (Minor Injury)

l	 On 26 April 2018, at Chadwell Heath, an operative was working as part of a two-person 
team terminating a cable into a junction box for the perimeter fence lighting when they 
slipped on the muddy banking falling into the perimeter fence.  This resulted in a minor 
contusion. (Minor Injury).

d)  Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 Six other safety incidents were reported in Period 1, including two of infrastructure 

damage, a theft, and an isolation irregularity.

e)  Environment Incidents
l	 No major environment incidents were recorded for Period 1. Two minor environment 

incidents were recorded (both on Crossrail West).

l	 There was one environmental complaint in Period 1, relating to noise, vibration and light. 

l	 Upon further review of the Period 13 complaints, it was discovered that one of the 
complaints was not due to Crossrail related works.  Consequently, the number of 
complaints in Period 13 reduced to four. 

l	 The Crossrail Stations West CEEQUAL assessment is currently awaiting confirmation from 
the CEEQUAL verifier before submission for ratification. The Crossrail Anglia CEEQUAL 
verification meeting has been scheduled for early June 2018.  All projects are on track to 
achieve the “Excellent” rating.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 99



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3)  Programme overview
a)  Commercial

l	 The AFC is £2,376.0m.

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period.

l	 Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l	 The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the 
Recoveries.

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. However, recently 
tabled additional costs are under detailed review and a full contract audit of costs is 
underway.

l	 Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the 
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain 
are ongoing in relation to cost, scope to go and programme

l	 Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final 
account negotiations although potential additional costs have recently been tabled. 
Significant works are still to be completed.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network 
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the 
Department for Transport.  The third tranche of funds (£31.5 million) is due to be 
received by Network Rail by the end of July 2018.

b)  Schedule
l	 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l	 KO5B and KD24: A contracting strategy for West Outer Stations GRIP 5-6 works 
remains under review post the Carillion liquidation, completion of KD24 is a 
high risk. Traction Power Supply construction of the Traction Switching Station at 
Paddington can only be achieved during the Christmas 2018 works. Network Rail is 
investigating options but KO5b remains as a high risk.

l	 KD33 - Westbourne Park commissioning works associated with KD33: Traction 
power infrastructure works, including SCADA control from the Kensal Green auto 
transformer feeder station to the Westbourne Park ATS, were completed during 
Christmas 2017. However, following a request from Crossrail, the cables will be 
connected, tested and energised prior to the revised date for KD33 of 21 May 
2018. Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work together to manage this Key 
Date.

l	 KO5A and KD22 - K05A is at risk due to Liverpool Street concentrator renewal 
impacting the Line of Route Telecoms immunisation works and ONSIP works 
impacting stations and line of route power migration.  Network Rail and Costain 
are discussing the Return Screen Conductor Scope (RSC) in order to unblock this 
activity. 

c)  Town Planning
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.

l	 79% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l	 Six town planning approvals were obtained in Period 1. Eight further approvals are 
scheduled for Period 2.

l	 Two non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period 
07. There were three recoveries, no new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard 
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 1:
l	 No new non-compliances and no new potential non compliances this period.

l	 Recovery (Non-compliance 11) Crossrail Anglia, Officers Meadow restoration - Breach 
of conditions: Variation of conditions application (Section 73) approved by Brentwood 
Borough Council. 

l	 Recovery (Potential non-compliance 9) Crossrail Kent, Abbey Wood Station – Minor 
additions and design changes: Schedule 7 Plans and Specifications approved by LB 
Bexley.

l	 Recovery (Non-compliance 6) Crossrail Kent, Bracondale Road Worksite – 
Restoration: Schedule 7 Restoration Scheme agreed by RB Greenwich.

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,600.8

b REO + Rem. £154m VN -99.3

c Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -69.3

d Network Rail Recovery -56.1

h AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d+e+f+g) 2,376.0 

i Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

j Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-h) -76.0 

k Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 100



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period 1.

e)  Community Investment
l	 During Period 01, Network Rail took part in a science day at Beaconsfield School in 

Southall.  Over the course of the day colleagues engaged with the whole school (Years 3, 
4, 5 and 6; totally approximately 120 children) talking about the Crossrail Programme, 
rail safety and participated in various experiments and activities.

f)  Advanced information
l	 There is no change to the procurement strategy in this period from that previously 

reported.

l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, subject to 
funding resolution and receipt of a Variation Instruction from Crossrail, Network Rail will 
commence implementation of a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations 
(GRIP 6-8) build contract works. The value of these contracts is likely to be over £25m.

g)  Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) – Tender return date of 23 March 2018, was achieved. Network Rail is 
currently evaluating the tender returns.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) – Tender return date of 16 April 2018, was achieved. Network Rail is 
currently evaluating the tender returns.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical 
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington) 
- First phase of advanced works to Week 52 awarded via competitive Variation to 
Carillion. ‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible 
owing to Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced 
Stations Work Package 2 Contractor.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) - GRIP 5 Design – Contract awarded 
to Atkins on 24 April 2018.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 – Development of a 
procurement strategy and associated tender documentation is to be undertaken.

l	 West Outer – Stations works have been impacted as a consequence of the Carillion 
Liquidation. Network Rail is liaising with Crossrail and keeping it advised of the revised 
contracting delivery strategies that are being implemented. 

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 March close-out targets achieved

l	 Kensal Green North compound handed back to Ballymore

l	 Royal Oak OHLE Entry into Service (EiS) achieved

l	 Piling work completed at Westbourne Park for switches.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 DOO – Date agreed for final handover of DOO to Crossrail/Rail for London (subject to 

completion of the outstanding works via Amey)

l	 Enhanced Stations - Tenders returned for package 3 and tender submissions are being 
reviewed by Network Rail

l	 Maidenhead GRIP 4 - Pedestrian flow analysis shows that additional stairs are not 
required to meet 2026 passenger demands. Network Rail, Crossrail and Great Western 
Railways to meet and formally agree this matter

 West Outer
l	 Entry into Service - Slough Auto Transformer sub-station commissioning plan locked down 

for week 7

l	 Construction - Slough station High Voltage complete.

 Signalling
l	 Hayes Bayline works successfully completed

l	 Installed the test equipment at the Thames Valley Signalling Centre for the Westbourne 
Park Fringe 

 ETCS
l	 Stage A: Authority for Passenger entry Into Service (APIS) in delay, target is now 15 June 

2018, subject to approval at Safety Review Panel (SRP) on 10 May 2018. The delay has 
occurred following the late instruction of the operational rules scope and that its impact 
on the AsBo Safety Assessment Report.

l	 Stage A: Competence has been granted for the Maintainer on ETCS assets. Arrangements 
are currently being made for the RBC to be permanently connected to the interlocking.   

l	 Stage B/C: Stage C infrastructure data surveys are continuing and are due to be 
completed in the next period. 

l	 Stage B/C: Following completion of the integrated laboratory testing in Charleroi, the 
laboratory is now being reconfigured to support the Stage B/C programme.

 Anglia
l	 North Kent fringe works – Principal contractor strategy agreed with design 

85% complete.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 101



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 Pudding Mill Lane - Tunnel signals date for installation agreed.

l	 Romford Platform 2 – The platform extension has been handed over to Rail for London. 

l	 Brentwood - DOO labelling completed and site to be handed to Rail for London upon 
completion of the assurance paperwork.

l	 Goodmayes - Crossrail and Rail for London have yet to reach a decision on the footbridge 
that will provide direction for the remaining Goodmayes bridge/lift scope.

l	 MTR has been instructed to complete Local Area Network (LAN) scope in the new ticket 
offices that will complete the current Network Rail / Costain commercially disputed 
scope.

 Kent
l	 Abbey Wood – The station’s car park, western and central interchange footbridges, 

mechanical and electrical fit out, SISS and DOO, Elizabeth line ticket hall and platform 
works are progressing for completion in June.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Shenfield - Construction has commenced (substation build) following receipt of planning 

permission from the local authority (Brentwood Borough Council).

l	 Western Route Delivery Strategy – A West Outer Auto Transformer commissioning 
delivery strategy has been agreed by all stakeholders.

 Line of Route (LoR) Telecoms
l	 15 of 27 Station Management Systems designs have been completed.

l	 Old Oak Common - All telecoms work completed.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

5 Works 6 Stages

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 102



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS West

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Platform 2 motor room pile cap and column support pile cap

 

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Installation of temporary platform lighting

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Platform 2 motor 

room pile cap and column support pile cap

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Platform 2 motor 

room pile cap and column support pile cap

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 103



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS West

 

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair column support foundation concrete pour

 

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair column support foundation concrete pour

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair 

column support foundation concrete pour 

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair 

column support foundation concrete pour 

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 104



9CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 01 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

 

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair column support foundation concrete pour

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Platform 2 pile cap

ACTON MAIN LINE: Suicide fencing  

installation on Platform 4

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Platform 2 pile cap

PHOTOS West

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000368 A01

P
age 105



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail. 
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 02    29th April to 24th May 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and
Progress

P
age 106



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2) Safety 3
a) Headline data 3

b) Achievements/Progress 3

c) Significant events 3

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

e) Environment Incidents 3

3) Programme overview 4
a) Commercial 4

b) Schedule 4

c) Town Planning 4

d) Commitments 5

e) Community Investment 5

f) Advanced Information 5

g) Escalation Summary 5

4) Procurement 5
a) Procurement status 5

5) Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

(OOCPA) 5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling 5

iv. ETCS 5

v. Anglia 5

vi. Kent 6

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

viii. Line of Route (LoR)/Telecoms 6

6) Stages 6

Progress Photos 7

Appendices
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A14

Trend Register A14
ETCS Level 2 Milestones A15
Key Dates A17
NRCR Milestone Matrix A18
East Schedule Configuration Plan A24

C Financial Data A25
Change commentary A25
Spend by year A27
Graph; Spend curve A28
Cost Variance Analysis A29
Opportunities and Recoveries A30

D Variation Notice tracker A31
E Regulated change dashboards A32
F Unplanned Disruption A34
G Top ten Crossrail risks A35
H Safety performance A37
I Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A38
J Environment performance A39
K Engineering performance A40
L Programme Close Out Status A41
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: OLE works at Kensal Green
Appendices Front: Last Crossrail signalling and track layout on Crossrail West

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 107



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary
Network Rail achieved a number of successes across the Programme during Period 2.

On Crossrail West, Network Rail supported Crossrail to accomplish another two significant
milestones. On 21 May 2018, Crossrail’s Stage 2 opening was achieved when MTR Crossrail
commenced operating passenger services from Paddington to Heathrow and Hayes and
Harlington. Additionally, Key Date 33 (Traction Power infrastructure, including SCADA
control, complete from Kensal Green Auto Transformer Feeder Station (ATFS) to Westbourne
Park Auto Transformer Feeder Station) was achieved when the Westbourne Park ATFS
was energised. Elsewhere on Crossrail West, energisation of the high voltage cable (IC1)
was completed, the Crossrail depot at Old Oak Common was opened and over 100 Driver
Only Operation (DOO) cameras and associated systems were successfully installed and
commissioned.

On Crossrail East, the Pudding Mill Lane portal signals were installed and commissioned
and the Abbey Wood station and four public lifts were formally handed over to the Network
Rail Route and MTR.

The Network Rail Line of Route team completed all telecoms works at Old Oak Common and
all fibre connectivity at Westbourne Park.

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to
180,000 hours.

l Network Rail staff hours remained at 32,000 hours this period.

l The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) decreased
to 0.1434. Network Rail had no Lost Time Injuries in the period but two minor injuries did
occur.

l Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the
Programme. However, following a period where the number of Close Calls declined earlier
this year, the number recorded by Network Rail increased again in Period 2 to 947. This
equates to 445 per 100,000 hours worked.

b) Achievements/Progress
l The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate is currently 0.73 injuries per 100,000 hours

worked.

l As the programme continues towards close–out, Network Rail’s focus remains on
maintaining a strong and healthy team. Safety, health and wellbeing cascades continue
to be held across the Programme to educate colleagues. During Period 3, the Programme
will support “Men’s Health”, in line with Network Rail’s national campaign of looking out
for potential future illnesses.

c) Significant events
Accidents
l On 06 May 2018, at Chadwell Heath, an operative working from a mobile electrical

working platform (MEWP) felt a tingling sensation when touching a palm plate on the
OHLE. The operative reported that they felt well, did not need or ask for any First Aid
attention and was able to carry on working. The cause was found to be residual power
in the plate. The learning taken from this event was that an additional earth to the palm
plate will be provided as a secondary precaution when similar operations are undertaken
in future. (No Injury)

l On 15 May 2018, at Slough, a member of a vegetation clearing gang was undertaking
strimming works when a metal object was flicked up from the undergrowth and impaled
their index finger. The injured person was taken to hospital where the object was
removed. (Minor Injury).

l On 20 May 2018, at Gidea Park, an operative slipped and hit their thumb on a railhead
whilst scraping ballast off a sleeper with a shovel. The resulting bleeding from the thumb
was cleaned and dressed and the operative was able to continue their shift. (Minor Injury)

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l Three other safety incidents were reported in Period 2, including cable damage, a theft

and the pulling of an incorrect fuse.

e) Environment Incidents
l No major environment incidents were recorded for Period 2. One minor environment

incidents was recorded (on Crossrail West).

l There was one environmental complaint in Period 2, relating to noise, vibration and
light (from the OOCPA project). This is the second, consecutive period when only a single
complaint has been received.

l The Crossrail Stations West CEEQUAL assessment is awaiting submission for ratification
by the CEEQUAL verifier. A verification meeting for the Crossrail Anglia project is
scheduled for 08 June 2018. Both projects are on track to achieve the “Excellent”
CEEQUAL rating.

l The design phase of the BREEAM assessment for Abbey Wood Station was submitted
on 25 May 2018, with a score of 55.27%. This meets the “Very Good” targeted score.
Network Rail awaits formal confirmation of the final score in the coming weeks.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety

P
age 108



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3) Programme overview
a) Commercial

l The AFC is £2,376.0m.

l Two Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period (Abbey Wood urban
realm -£750,000 and the Back Up Control Facility from Ilford Depot to the Tunnelling and
Underground Construction Academy £696,158).

l Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the
Recoveries.

l Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. However, recently
tabled additional costs are under detailed review and a full contract audit of costs is
underway.

l Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain
are ongoing in relation to cost, scope to go and programme

l Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final
account negotiations although potential additional costs have recently been tabled.
Works are nearing completion.

l Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the
Department for Transport. The third tranche of funds (£31.5 million) is due to be received
by Network Rail by the end of July 2018.

l	

b) Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of

(actual and potential):

l KO5B and KD24: A contracting strategy for West Outer Stations GRIP 5-6 works remains
under review post the Carillion liquidation, completion of KD24 is a high risk. Traction
Power Supply construction of the Traction Switching Station at Paddington can only be
achieved during the Christmas 2018 works. Network Rail is investigating options but
KO5b remains as a high risk.

l KO5B and KD24: All works for Crossrail’s Stage 2 were successfully completed and the
first TFL Rail passenger service ran on the Great Western Mainline between Hayes and
Paddington on 21 May 2018.

l KD33 - Westbourne Park commissioning works associated with KD33: On 15 May
2018, energisation of the high voltage cable IC1 was completed and on 21 May 2018,
Westbourne Park was energised. KD33 now achieved.

l KO5A and KD22 - K05A is at risk due to Liverpool Street concentrator renewal impacting
the Line of Route Telecoms immunisation works and ONSIP works impacting stations and
line of route power migration. Network Rail and Costain are discussing the Return Screen
Conductor Scope (RSC) in order to unblock this activity.

c) Town Planning
l 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.

l 100% of Schedule 7 Brining into Use consents obtained.

l 80% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l Six town planning approvals were obtained in Period 2. Five further approvals are
scheduled for Period 3.

l Two non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period
07. There were no recoveries, no new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

Period 2:
l No new non-compliances and no new potential non compliances this period.

l Final Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained from South Buckinghamshire
District Council and Slough Borough Council for Scheduled works (track work, Work No.
3/9).

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,611.1

b Network Rail Recoveries (£15.1m REO + remaining £46.5m of the 
£154m VN)

-61.6

c Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -79.8

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -93.6

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,376.0 

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e) -76.0 

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

P
age 109



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period 2.

e) Community Investment
l Community involvement activities linked to the main Crossrail contracts have ended.

f) Advanced information
l There is no change to the procurement strategy in this period from that previously

reported.

l No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, subject to
funding resolution and receipt of a Variation Instruction from Crossrail, Network Rail will
commence implementation of a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations
(GRIP 6-8) build contract works. The value of these contracts is likely to be over £25m.

g) Escalation summary
l There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a) Procurement status

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and
West Drayton) – Tender return date of 23 March 2018, was achieved. Network Rail is
currently evaluating the tender returns.

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway
and West Ealing) – Tender return date of 16 April 2018, was achieved. Network Rail is
currently evaluating the tender returns.

l West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington)
- First phase of advanced works to Week 52 awarded via competitive Variation to
Carillion. ‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible
owing to Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced
Stations Work Package 2 Contractor.

l Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 – Development of a
procurement strategy and associated tender documentation is to be undertaken.

l West Outer – Stations works have been impacted as a consequence of the Carillion
Liquidation. Network Rail is liaising with Crossrail and keeping it advised of the revised 
contracting delivery strategies that are being implemented. 

5) Works Achievements and Progress
Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)
l Paddington station platform gauging works are now complete and the new TfL-MTR trains

are using the platforms.

l OHLE contact wires (8066 crossover and switches at Westbourne Park) have been
installed.

l Westbourne Park energised on 21 May 2018.

West Inner and Stations
l All works for Stage 2 successfully completed and the first TFL Rail passenger service ran

on the Great Western Mainline between Hayes and Paddington on 21 May 2018.

West Outer
l Snagging works are ongoing.

l Additional snag items have been identified to be cleared by Week 11.

l Interoperability testing completed 27 April 2018.

 ETCS
Stage A:
l The RBC was permanently connected to the Interlocking on 04 May 2018.

l Network Rail is unable to receive support from the Safety Review Panel (SRP) to progress
its Authority for Passenger entry Into Service (APIS) submission to the ORR due to:

l SRP being unhappy with the current SAR from the AsBo and requested Network Rail
demonstrates Hazard transfer to external stakeholders; and

l SRP wanting more time to review Network Rail’s technical file.

l Network Rail will return to SRP on 07 June 2018, and subject to receiving the necessary
support, aim to have APIS completed by mid-July 2018.

Stage B:
l The programme is showing an unmitigated delay to the Stage C commissioning of

approximately 3 months following the delays in integrated lab testing and infrastructure
data provision.

l Warranted Stage C infrastructure data provided to Alstom.

l Initial discussions held with stakeholders regarding the strategy for applying for a new
exemption to the ORR which would commence in January 2020. This is in preparation for
the ORR meeting scheduled for 12 June 2018.

 Anglia
l A floor slab proposal at Harold Wood station is acceptable to RfL. Design

work for the floor slab has commenced.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

P
age 110



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l Shenfield DOO works remain on hold due to Abellio Greater Anglia’s operational concerns
and their not providing approval for works to progress.

 Kent
l Abbey Wood station was formally handed over to the Network Rail Route and MTR on 04

May 2018.

l Minor works including the installation of mesh to the platform canopies, ticket hall, car
park, western and central interchange footbridges, mechanical and electrical fit out,
station information systems and Driver Only Operation (DOO) works are progressing
towards completion.

Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l Energisation of the high voltage cable (IC1) took place on 15 May 2018.

l Forecast date to be agreed with Crossrail for IC2 commissioning.

l Balfour Beatty has commenced construction of the Gidea Park Sub-Station on 11 May
2018.

Line of Route (LoR) Telecoms
l 21 of 27 Station Management Systems (SMS) designs are now complete.

l The Westbourne Park fibre connectivity is complete and in use by Crossrail.

l The Paddington station high level to low level fibre has been installed.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

5 Works 6 Stages

P
age 111



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

EALING BROADWAY: Platforms 1 and 2 stair column support foundation concrete pour

ACTON MAIN LINE: Platform 2 pile cap

ACTON MAIN LINE: Suicide fencing 

installation on Platform 4 ACTON MAIN LINE: Platform 2 pile cap

PHOTOS West

P
age 112



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WORKS UPDATE: Advanced Station Works WORKS UPDATE: Advanced Station Works

WORKS UPDATE: Portal site WORKS UPDATE: Portal site

PHOTOS West

P
age 113



9CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WEST: Works Update EiS Stage 2 SOUTHALL: Removal of old Platform 2/3 canopy to make way for new footbridge

WEST: Works Update EiS Stage 2 WEST: Works Update EiS Stage 2

PHOTOS West

P
age 114



10CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

SOUTHALL: Romoval of old Platform 2/3 canopy to make way for new footbridge

PHOTOS West

SOUTHALL: Removal of old Platform 2/3 canopy to make way 

for new footbridge

P
age 115



11CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

GIDEA PARK: Suicide gate and mesh

GIDEA PARK: Sump pump GOODMAYES: Cable and lighting in TO

GIDEA PARK: 25m trench

GOODMAYES: Conduit to disabed toilets

GIDEA PARK: OLE works

GOODMAYES: High Voltage cable pull

P
age 116



12CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

SHENFIELD: Troughing and ATF work SHENFIELD: Troughing and ATF work SHENFIELD: Troughing and ATF work

HAROLD WOOD: Camera above bike rack

HAROLD WOOD: AC feeder from TO

HAROLD WOOD: CCTV testingHAROLD WOOD: Speaker brackets installation

P
age 117



13CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 02 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS East

BRENTWOOD: ATF bracket

ROMFORD: Platform drainage work BRENTWOOD: CER room work

SEVEN KINGS: Installation of MEP bases 

and spurs

P
age 118



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 03    25th May to 23rd June 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

P
age 119



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 4
 a) Commercial 4

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 4

 e) Advanced Information 5

 f) Escalation Summary 5

4)  Procurement 5
 a) Procurement status 5

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   6

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 6

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A14
 Trend Register A14
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A15
 Key Dates A17
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A18
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A23

C Financial Data A24
 Change commentary A24
 Spend by year A26
 Graph; Spend curve A27
 Cost Variance Analysis A28
 Opportunities and Recoveries A29

D Variation Notice tracker A30
E Regulated change dashboards A31
F Unplanned Disruption A33
G Top ten Crossrail risks A34
H Safety performance A36
I Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A37
J Environment performance A38
K Engineering performance A39
L Programme Close Out Status A40
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Paddington Throat
Appendices Front: Paddington Station Platforms 1 and 2

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 120



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Network Rail’s focus during Period 3, was on the safe and successful delivery of the 
upcoming Key Output 2 milestone.

On Crossrail West, Network Rail achieved a major success in obtaining a Permanent 
Gauging Certificate for the Class 345 (BXR14) rolling stock between Paddington and 
Reading.  While the certificate includes minor conditions relating to crush deflation, this is a 
major triumph in enabling Elizabeth Line trains to operate.

The end of June 2018, marks a major milestone as Network Rail’s Crossrail West delivery 
team substantially completes its main construction activities and ceases to be a standalone 
delivery unit.  After eight years and 13 million work hours, the programme has touched 
almost every part of the 26 mile stretch of iconic Brunel-built railway between Maidenhead 
and London Paddington in preparation for the Elizabeth Line. Henceforth, works will be 
implemented by other delivery vehicles including a single Crossrail Programme delivery 
team and the newly formed Paddington to Reading (P2R) delivery unit.

Further successes were achieved by the Crossrail Stations West and Crossrail Anglia 
projects when each was awarded an “Excellent” CEEQUAL rating.   

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to 
167,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased to 19,000 hours this period.

l	 As a consequence of decreasing working hours, the Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost 
Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has risen slightly to 0.1467. Network Rail had no 
Lost Time Injuries in the period but two minor injuries did occur.

l	 Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the 
Programme. 520 Close Calls were recorded by Network Rail in this period.  
This equates to 311 per 100,000 hours worked.

b)  Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate is currently 0.72 injuries per 100,000 hours 

worked.

l	 As the programme continues towards close–out, Network Rail’s focus remains on 
maintaining a strong and healthy team. Safety, health and wellbeing cascades continue 
to be held across the Programme to educate colleagues. During this Period, the 
Programme supported “Men’s Health”, in line with Network Rail’s national campaign of 
looking out for potential future illnesses. 

c)  Significant events
 Accidents

l	 On 04 June 2018, at Goodmayes, an operative was undertaking cable installation 
when a cable tie came loose from the clip tool, hitting them behind their safety glasses 
causing a slight pain around the eye. The operative attended hospital where no injury was 
found. They were discharged and advised to keep away from dusty environments. Due to 
irritation and the operative rubbing their eye, they decided to refrain from working for two 
days. (Not accepted as a Lost Time Injury)

l	 On 17 June 2018, at Shenfield, a operative working from a mobile elevated working 
platform (MEWP) felt a tingling sensation whilst installing earth bonds on the OHLE. The 
operative reported that they felt well, did not need or ask for any First Aid attention and 
was able to carry on working. Full and appropriate PPE was being worn at the time. The 
cause was found to be induced current from an adjacent open line. Earthing was in place 
in accordance with procedure. However, following a similar incident in May, additional 
‘construction’ earths will be provided as a secondary precaution when similar operations 
are undertaken. (No Injury) 

 d)  Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 Five other safety incidents were reported in Period 3, including two operational close 

calls, a one tonne bag of stone splitting during transit, the non-replacement of fencing 
that had been removed during works and the boom of a road / rail vehicle (RRV) making 
contact with isolated OHLE.

e)  Environment Incidents
l No major environment incidents were recorded in Period 3. Two minor environment 

incidents were recorded (on Crossrail West).

l There were six environmental complaints in Period 3, relating to noise, vibration and light. 
This is an increase of five complaints from the number received in Period 2. One of those 
complaints was found to not relate to Crossrail Programme works and, consequently, 
can be removed. Another of the complaints is currently being reviewed as it is also not 
thought to relate to Crossrail Programme works. 

l The Crossrail Stations West and Crossrail Anglia projects were officially awarded 
“Excellent” CEEQUAL ratings. Crossrail Anglia achieved the highest CEEQUAL score to date 
within the Crossrail Programme (83.8%). 

1 Executive summary 2 Safety

P
age 121



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

3)  Programme overview
a)  Commercial

l The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l Two Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in the Period (Functional Test Rig (FSA) 
at TVSC £475,664 and Romford lift de-scope -£555,000).

l Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the 
Recoveries.

l Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. However, recently 
tabled additional costs are under detailed review and a full contract audit of costs is 
underway.

l Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the 
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain 
are ongoing in relation to cost, scope to go and programme

l Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final 
account negotiations although potential additional costs have recently been tabled. 
Works are nearing completion.

l Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network 
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the 
Department for Transport. Discussions are underway with the Department for Transport 
on the future phasing of payments.

l  

 
 

b)  Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l KO5A and KD22: The remaining telecoms immunisation works that were impacted by 
the concentrator programme, the auto transformer (ATF) and bonding scope have been 
removed from the Costain contract and will be procured under a separate contract. A 
programme for these works will need to be agreed by Network Rail. These workscopes 
will be moved from KD22 and KO5A to the new KO6A. 

l KO5A and KD22: CCTV at Shenfield and Gidea Park sidings has been impacted by the 
lack of a maintenance agreement for these assets between Network Rail’s Anglia 
Route and MTR. 

l KO5B and KD24: The scope contained in the OOCPA/IEP, WITI and stations contracts 
has been transferred from Crossrail West to the new Paddington to Reading (P2R) 
delivery vehicle. The remaining Traction Power Supply (TPS), Enhanced Stations and 
West Outer Stations scope will be transferred from KO5B and KD24 to the new KO6B. 

l Crossrail and Network Rail have agreed that the date of Key Output 2 will be changed 
to 31 July 2018.

c)  Town Planning
l 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.

l 100% of Schedule 7 Brining into Use consents obtained.

l 80% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l One town planning approval was obtained in Period 3. Five further approvals are 
scheduled for Period 4.

l Two non-compliances and three potential non-compliances remain open since Period 
07. There were no recoveries, no new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard 
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 3:

l No new non-compliances and no new potential non compliances this period.

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period 3.

l Network Rail has engaged an additional resource to address the backlog of commitment 
evidence. There are currently approximately 250 pieces of outstanding 
evidence to be uploaded onto the Commitments Delivery Tracker (CDT).

3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,637.8

b Network Rail Recoveries (£15.1m REO + remaining £46.5m of the 
£154m VN)

-52.2

c Network Rail Stretch Savings (P80) -62.0

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -93.6

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0 

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e) -130.0 

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

P
age 122



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

e)  Advanced information
l Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.

l No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, implementation of 
a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations (GRIP 6-8) build contract works is 
likely to be over £25m.

f)  Escalation summary
l There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement status

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) –  

Revised tender submissions are due mid-
July 2018. Contract award has been deferred by two to three months. An alternative 
delivery strategy to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access is being developed.

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) –  

Revised tender submissions are due mid-July 2018. 
Contract award has been deferred by two to three months. An alternative delivery 
strategy to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access is being developed.

l West Enhanced Stations Advanced Works Package 6 (Critical path and possession critical 
Enhanced Stations works at Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway, and Hayes and Harlington) 
- First phase of advanced works to Week 52 awarded via competitive Variation to 
Carillion. ‘Second phase’ of advanced works at Ealing Broadway are no longer possible 
owing to Carillion’s liquidation. These works remain with the successful Enhanced 
Stations Work Package 2 Contractor.

l Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford & Romford) GRIP 6-8 –  
 

 

l West Outer – Stations works have been impacted as a consequence of the Carillion 
Liquidation. The delivery strategy is now via Amey, following the novation of the OOCPA 
contract to them.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l Westbourne Park - Remaining switch installation is currently planned for Week 15, 
Permanent Earthing Structure (PES) removal for Week 21 and dynamic testing for Week 
22.

 West Inner and Stations
l Procurement of West Outer and Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

 West Outer
l Snagging works are ongoing. 

 ETCS
 Stage A:

l Safety Review Panel (SRP) support for Authority for Passenger entry Into Service (APIS) 
was granted on 07 June 2018. Network Rail has progressed the application with the 
Office of Road and Rail (ORR), with an expectation that this process will be completed by 
mid-July 2018. 

l ”Putting into use” actions have been shared with industry partners. These actions require 
completion prior to operating a timetabled service with a reliance on ETCS (expected mid-
October 2018). 

 Stage B:
l Exemption Status meeting held with the ORR and industry partners on 12 June 2018. 

ORR is supportive of a new “Exemption” request. Network Rail is engaging with Sotera 
(who undertook the original risk analysis work stream) to work on this new scope of 
works. 

l The programme is currently showing an unmitigated delay of approximately three months 
to the Stage C commissioning following delays in the integrated laboratory testing and 
infrastructure data provision. Network Rail is reviewing options for recovery. 

l A GSM-R Hazop workshop will be held on 28 June 2018, with major stakeholders to 
review “de-sectorisation”. The GSM-R Network Change will be finalised after this meeting. 

l The GSM-R GRIP 5-8 contract has been awarded to Siemens. 

 Anglia
l Gidea Park Sidings - The permanent way (P-way) and OHLE have been handed back to 

Network Rail Maintenance.

l Pudding Mill Lane – OHLE and signalling snagging walkout held with the Network Rail 
Maintainer.

l Pudding Mill Lane - Installation of tunnel signals completed and Insulated 
Block Joint (IBJ) move.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

P
age 123



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l Signalling (Week 9) – Successful Immunisation Commissioning of six Vixl’s (equipment to 
control the signal interlocking). 

 Kent
l Car park, platforms, northern ticket hall and service yard nearing completion in readiness 

for planned handover on 30 June 2018.

l Successful meeting held with the local MP, councillors and local residents regarding flood 
mitigation. Work is progressing to resolve some localised issues.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l Forecast date to be agreed with Crossrail for IC2 commissioning.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

5 Works 6 Stages

P
age 124



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

 

ACTON: Trial holes for DOO mirror

 

SOUTHALL: Suicide fencing installation

 

ILFORD: ATF installation

 

GOODMAYES: CMS cable installation

 

ILFORD: CMS containment

 

ILFORD: Platform 5 works

 

ILFORD: Buried route installation

 

ROMFORD: CMS in underpass

P
age 125



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 03 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

 

ROMFORD: Mini boiler and pipework

 

HAROLD WOOD: Prep for MEP posts

 

GIDEA PARK: Site office compound restoration
 

HAROLD WOOD: Comms installation

 

BRENTWOOD: ATF pressure check

 

GIDEA PARK: Brackets and lighting installed on fence

 

ILFORD: Buried route installation

P
age 126



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 04    24th June to 21st July 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and
Progress

P
age 127



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2) Safety 3
a) Headline data 3

b) Achievements/Progress 3

c) Significant events 3

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

e) Environment Incidents 3

3) Programme overview 3
a) Commercial 3

b) Schedule 4

c) Town Planning 4

d) Commitments 4

e) Advanced Information 4

f) Escalation Summary 4

4) Procurement 4
a) Procurement status 4

5) Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

(OOCPA) 5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling 5

iv. ETCS 5

v. Anglia 5

vi. Kent 5

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

6) Stages 5

Progress Photos 6

Appendices
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A15

Trend Register A15
ETCS Level 2 Milestones A16
Key Dates A18
NRCR Milestone Matrix A19
East Schedule Configuration Plan A24

C Financial Data A25
Change commentary A25
Spend by year A27
Graph; Spend curve A28
Cost Variance Analysis A29
Opportunities and Recoveries A30

D Variation Notice tracker A31
E Regulated change dashboards A32
F Unplanned Disruption A34
G Safety performance A35
H Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A36
I Environment performance A37
J Engineering performance A38
K Programme Close Out Status A40
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Paddington Station
Appendices Front: Paddington Station

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 128



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary
Network Rail’s continued focus during Period 4, was on the safe and successful delivery
of the upcoming Programme milestones of Key Output 2 (Infrastructure Capability in
accordance with the ONFR from Abbey Wood to Plumstead Portal, Stratford to Pudding
Mill Lane and Old Oak Common to Westbourne Park), Key Output 5a (Full Infrastructure
Capability in accordance with the ONFR from Shenfield to Pudding Mill Lane Central Core
Area), Key Output 5b (Full Infrastructure Capability in accordance with the ONFR from
Maidenhead to Westbourne Park Central Core Area) and Key Dates 22 and 24.

Whilst the Network Rail Crossrail Programme moves towards close out, procurement
activities for the west outer and enhanced stations continue, at Abbey Wood, dismantling
and clearance of the old site office has been completed and at Shenfield, Brentwood
Borough Council formally agreed that the alterations made to the Shenfield sidings lighting
columns and associated lux levels are in accordance with the original Schedule 7 approval.

Network Rail’s excellent safety performance continued during Period 4, when no accidents,
incidents or injuries occurred.

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to
164,000 hours.

l Network Rail staff hours decreased to 18,000 hours this period.

l The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has fallen
slightly to 0.1368. Network Rail had no Lost Time Injuries and no minor injuries in the
period.

l Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the
Programme. 559 Close Calls were recorded by Network Rail in this period. This equates
to 340 per 100,000 hours worked.

b) Achievements/Progress
l The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate is currently 0.70 injuries per 100,000 hours

worked.

l During Period 4 Network Rail rolled out its Company-wide national Safety Stand Down.
To date, ten events have been held for Crossrail staff.  These sessions, led by the Network
Rail senior leadership team, have involved 231 colleagues who have benefitted from the
discussions and signed a pledge to ‘Commit to Safe Behaviour’.

c) Significant events
Accidents
l There were no accidents or injuries on the Network Rail Crossrail Programme during

Period 4.

d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l One safety incident was reported in Period 4, involving a colleague who felt the hairs on

their arm stand up when passing a wall at Kensal Green.  An Investigation found that
an earth bond from an adjacent scaffold had been removed allowing a small potential
voltage.  The bond was replaced (no injury).

e) Environment Incidents
l No major environment incidents were recorded in Period 4.

l There were three environmental complaints in Period 4, relating to air quality and
management / recycling. This is a decrease of three complaints from the number
received in Period 3.

3) Programme overview
a) Commercial

l The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in Period 4.

l Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l The £154m unfunded variations are included in the SPOT cost and netted off against the
Recoveries.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety 3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,599.9

b £9.3m Crossrail ONW REO + £46.5m Remainder of £154m VN 
(DfT) - £6.35m Crossrail Add/Omit exercise

-49.4

c Network Rail (Stretch) -22.8

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -97.7

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0 

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e) -130.0 

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

P
age 129



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. A full contract
audit of costs has been completed and final account negotiations have begun.

l Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain
continue in relation to cost, scope to go and programme

l Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final
account negotiations although potential additional costs have recently been tabled.
Works are nearing completion.

l Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the
Department for Transport. Discussions are underway with the Department for Transport
on the future phasing of payments.

l During Period 04, Network Rail provided the Programme with £32 million of new funding
for renewal works.

b) Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of

(actual and potential):

l KO5A and KD22: The remaining telecoms immunisation works that were impacted
by the concentrator programme, the auto transformer (ATF) and bonding scope
have been removed from the Costain contract and will be procured under a
separate contract. A programme for these works will need to be agreed by Network
Rail. These workscopes have been moved from KD22 and KO5A to the new KO6A.

l KO5A and KD22: CCTV at Shenfield and Gidea Park sidings has been impacted by
the absence of a maintenance agreement for these assets between Network
Rail’s Anglia Route and MTR / RfL. Costain is working to complete pre-agreed
works and closeout to 31 August 2018.  The remainder of the scope will be
transferred to KO6A, subject to agreement by Crossrail.

l KO5B and KD24: The remaining Traction Power Supply (TPS), Enhanced Stations
and West Outer Stations scope has been transferred to the new KO6B. All
remaining scope for KO5B and KD24 is due to be completed by 10 September
2018.

c) Town Planning
l 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.

l 100% of Schedule 7 Brining into Use consents obtained.

l 83% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l Five town planning approvals were obtained in Period 4. Six further approvals are
scheduled for Period 5.

l One non-compliance and two potential non-compliances remain open since Period

07. There were two recoveries, no new potential non-compliances and no new non-
compliances identified this period. Please see the Consents and Environment dashboard
in the appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

Period 3:
l No new non-compliances and no new potential non compliances this period.

l During Period 4, a significant success was achieved with receipt of Brentwood Borough
Council’s formal agreement that the alterations made to the Shenfield sidings lighting
columns and the associated lighting lux levels are in accordance with the details
contained in the original Schedule 7 application and approval.  The lux levels were verified
by the Council’s own lux level tests.  Consequently, the Council is unlikely to challenge
Network Rail or Crossrail any further on these works.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l Work to monitor and update the Undertakings and Assurances continued during Period

4. Network Rail‘s new resource has commenced addressing the backlog of commitment
evidence.

l It is planned to upload evidence for Crossrail Kent, Crossrail Anglia and Crossrail West in
Period 5.

e) Advanced information
l Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement

strategy from that previously reported.

l No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, implementation of
a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations (GRIP 6-8) build contract works is
likely to be over £25m.

f) Escalation summary
l There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a) Procurement status

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and
West Drayton) –

 Revised tender submissions are due mid-July 2018.
Contract award has been deferred by two to three months. An alternative delivery strategy
to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access has been agreed.

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and
West Ealing) – 

Revised tender submissions are due mid-July 2018.
Contract award has been deferred by two to three months. An alternative delivery strategy
to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access has been agreed.

l West Enhanced Station Christmas 2018 Advanced Works Package:

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement

P
age 130



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Strategy approved for delivery via Bechtel as Principal Contractor and a number of 
tier two suppliers contracted to Network Rail. Tier 2 awards scheduled for August/
September 2018.

l Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 – 

5) Works Achievements and Progress
Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)
l Track drainage works transferred to P2R.

l Switch install planned and Permanent Earthing Structure (PES) removal planned for 
Week 20, subject to isolation and access. 

l Dynamic testing planned for Week 22.

West Inner and Stations
l Procurement of West Outer and Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

West Outer
l Additional snagging items have been identified and will be cleared by Week 22.

 ETCS
Stage A:
l Authority for Passenger entry Into Service (APIS) submission made to the Office of Road

and Rail (ORR).  However, the ORR may require an updated Safety Assessment Report
supporting “putting into use” from the AsBo prior to granting APIS. Network Rail is
reviewing.  APIS is expected by the end of August 2018.

l HAL require a full risk review on the End of Authority issue and commercial assurance
prior to accepting the asset back into service.

l Network Rail and Crossrail are working together to dynamically prove the Operational
Concept, as part of Crossrail’s “39 Tests”.  This is required prior to putting the
infrastructure into use.

l Bombardier Trains and MTR’s acceptance of hazards transferred is still awaited following
a final clarification meeting held on 15 May 2018.  This acceptance is required to close
one of the gaps in Network Rail’s Safety Justification Report (SJR) and progress to
“putting into use”.

Stage B:
l Sotera now commercially engaged with Network Rail and a contract kick off meeting is

scheduled to take in the next by early August 2018.

l The programme is currently showing an unmitigated delay of approximately three months
to the Stage C commissioning following delays in the integrated laboratory testing and
infrastructure data provision. Network Rail is reviewing options for recovery.

l Siemens’ Clause 14 Programme has been received by Network Rail and its review
commenced.

l Network Rail awaits a response from Crossrail regarding a request for information
(RFI0386).  Warranted infrastructure data is required to be supplied to Network Rail by
Crossrail.  A change in design at the Westbourne Park interface may further impact the
Stage B/C delivery.

Anglia
l DOO CCTV system formally handed over to Rail for London (RfL) for Brentwood station.

l Signalling immunisation commissioning of Package 3 successfully completed.

l	 Remaining signalling immunisation works (previously deferred due to loss of Week 9
access) re-planned for 31 August 2018.

Kent
l The Key Output 2 contractual date has been rescheduled to 31 July 2018, as agreed with

Crossrail.

l All commissioning works for DOO, escalator and station information systems (SISS) are
on programme to be completed by 27 July 2018

l Dismantling and clearance of the old site office has been completed.

l GRIP 7 Stage Gate Review scheduled for 27 July 2018.

Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l Shenfield Sub-Station - Balfour Beatty has completed excavations for the drainage.

l Gidea Park Sub-Station - Balfour Beatty has commenced pouring concrete for the
electrical plant foundations.

Line of Route (LoR)
l All LoR Telecoms works associated with the Crossrail central section required to support

KD24 are substantially complete.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

6 Stages4 Procurement 5 Works

P
age 131



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

ACTON: Main line car stop markers ACTON: Main line installing datum plates

ACTON: Main line retaining wall ACTON: Main line retaining wall

ACTON: Main line installing datum plates ACTON: Main line platform tidy

P
age 132



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

EALING BROADWAY: Platform 2 preparation 

and reinstatement

EALING BROADWAY: Platform 2 preparation 

and reinstatement

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Install gate on 

platform 1 SOUTHALL: Platform surface reinstatement

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Install gate on 

platform 1 SOUTHALL: Platform surface reinstatement

HAYES & HARLINGTON: Install gate on platform 1P
age 133



8CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

SOUTHALL: Suicide fence install SOUTHALL: Suicide fence install 

SOUTHALL: Suicide fence install WEST DRAYTON: Site mobilisationWEST DRAYTON: Site mobilisation WEST DRAYTON: Site mobilisation

SOUTHALL: Suicide fence install 

P
age 134



9CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

MARYLAND: Cable assets

FOREST GATE: Gates removed and replaced 

for 9-car train testing. Platform snagging

ILFORD: STF works and platform resurfacing

CHADWELL HEATH: J Coffey demobilisation, preparing country end cable sealing and the 
sealing installedILFORD: STF works and platform resurfacing

GOODMAYES: Snagging to the CER and LAN NODE and under platform grillP
age 135



10CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 04 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

CHADWELL HEATH: J Coffey demobilisation, 
preparing country end cable sealing and the  
sealing installed

CHADWELL HEATH: J Coffey demobilisation, 
preparing country end cable sealing and the  
sealing installed

GIDEA PARK: CMS route, stabling lines 
lighting, installing SWA cables and platform 
snagging

HAROLD WOOD: Clearing drains, fixing 
fence to post, installed threshold to CER and 
platform snagging

HAROLD WOOD: Clearing drains, fixing 
fence to post, installed threshold to CER and 
platform snagging

BRENTWOOD: Painted fence bolts and 

platform snagging

GIDEA PARK: CMS route, stabling lines lighting, installing SWA cables and platform snaggingP
age 136



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 05    22nd July to 18th August 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

P
age 137



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 3
 a) Commercial 3

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 4

 e) Advanced Information 4

 f) Escalation Summary 4

4)  Procurement 4
 a) Procurement status 4

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 5
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  5

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. Signalling  5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   5

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

6)  Stages 5

 Progress Photos 6

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A16
 Trend Register A16
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A17
 Key Dates A19
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A20
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A25

C Financial Data A26
 Change commentary A26
 Spend by year A28
 Graph; Spend curve A29
 Cost Variance Analysis A30
 Opportunities and Recoveries A31

D Variation Notice tracker A32
E Regulated change dashboards A33
F Unplanned Disruption A35
G Safety performance A36
H Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A37
I Commitments (Undertakings and  A38 
 Assurances) Dashboard
J Environment performance A39
K Engineering performance A40
L Programme Close Out Status A41
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: OOCPA OLE works
Appendices Front: OOCPA OLE works

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 138



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Network Rail achieved a significant milestone during Period 5, with the safe and successful 
achievement of Key Output 2 (Infrastructure Capability from Abbey Wood to the Central 
Core Area at Plumstead Portal, from Stratford to the Central Core Area at Pudding Mill Lane 
and from Old Oak Common to Westbourne Park). Work to deliver the remaining milestones 
continues. 

At Crossrail Anglia the ticket offices at Forest Gate and Gidea Park stations were handed to 
MTR.  On Crossrail Kent, site demobilisation has commenced in advance of handing the site 
to the Royal Borough of Greenwich.  At Kensal Green, the IC2 cable works were completed. 

Issuing of assurance documentation to CRL for completed Key Dates and Key Outputs (V&V 
Compliance Reports and Completion Packs) is ongoing.

Network Rail’s excellent safety performance continued during Period 5, when no accidents, 
incidents or injuries occurred.     

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased 
from 164,000 to 97,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased to 12,000 hours this period.

l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has 
increased slightly to 0.1484. Network Rail had no Lost Time Injuries and no minor injuries 
in the period.

l	 Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the 
Programme. 297 Close Calls were recorded by Network Rail in this period. This equates 
to 305 per 100,000 hours worked.

b)  Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate is currently 0.72 injuries per 100,000 hours 

worked.

l	 During Period 5 Network Rail continued with its 2018 theme ‘Steps to Wellbeing’ with 
the August focus being ‘Take your Holiday’.  This push has been included in the cascade 
briefings at all Network Rail offices across the programme.

c)  Significant events
 Accidents

l	 There were no accidents or injuries on the Network Rail Crossrail Programme during 
Period 5.

 d)  Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 One safety event was reported in Period 5, involving an attempted theft of equipment and 

ATF cable at Chadwell Heath.  The intruders were disturbed and left empty handed.  BTP 
were informed and forensic evidence taken from the intruders’ tools which had been left 
behind (no injury).

e)  Environment Incidents
l	 No major environment incidents were recorded in Period 5. 

l	 There were 4 complaints in Period 5 relating to Noise, Vibration & Light. This means there 
was 1 more complaint received compared to the previous period.

l	 The CEEQUAL Assessment for OOCPA is awaiting submission for verification.

3)  Programme overview
a)  Commercial

l	 The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in Period 5.

l	 Variation funding of £110m has been included in the AFC.

l	 The £154m variations funded by grant payments are included in the SPOT cost and 
netted off against the Recoveries. 

1 Executive summary 2 Safety 3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,616.6

b £7.1m CRL ONW REO + £46.5m Remainder of £154m VN 
(DfT) - £6.35m CRL Add/Omit exercise -47.2

c NR Target (Stretch) -45.8

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -93.6

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e)  -130.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

P
age 139



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. A full contract 
audit of costs has been completed and final account negotiations continue.

l	 Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the 
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain 
continue in relation to the account and the scope.

l	 Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final 
account negotiations. Works are nearing completion.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network 
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the 
Department for Transport. Discussions are underway with the Department for Transport 
on the future phasing of payments. 

b)  Schedule
l	 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Dates and Key Outputs, with the exception of 

(actual and potential):

l	 KO5A and KD22: CCTV at Shenfield and Gidea Park sidings has been impacted by 
the absence of a maintenance agreement for these assets between Network Rail’s 
Anglia Route and MTR / RfL. Costain is working to complete pre-agreed works and 
closeout to 31 August 2018.  The remainder of the scope will be transferred to 
KO6A, subject to agreement by CRL.  

l	 KO5B and KD24: All remaining scope for Key Output 5B and Key Date 24 was 
completed on 16 August 2018.

c)  Town Planning
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.

l	 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.

l	 83% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 
Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.

l	 Three town planning approvals were obtained in Period 5. Two further approvals are 
scheduled for Period 6.

l	 There was one recovery and two new non-compliances identified this period. Please 
see the Consents and Environment dashboard in the appendices for further details of 
ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

l	 Non-compliance – Stopping-up of highway at Florence Road (LB Bexley) completed 
without Stopping-up Order (S247 of TCPA) in place.  Planning incident report being 
prepared and due to be issued to CRL w/b 27 August 2018.

l	 Non-compliance – Acoustic fencing installed at Chadwell Heath PSP unit without 
Schedule 7 Plans and Specifications consent.  Planning incident report being 
prepared and due to be issued to CRL w/b 27 August 2018.

l	 Recovery – Church Manorway Stopping-Up Order authorised by RB Greenwich on 01 
August 2018.

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 Evidence for Undertakings and Assurances continues to be uploaded on to the 

Commitments Delivery Tracker (CDT). Consequently, there are 54 outstanding 
Undertakings and Assurances requiring evidence to be uploaded.

e)  Advanced information
l	 Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.

l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, implementation of 
a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations (GRIP 6-8) build contract works is 
likely to be over £25m.

f)  Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) –  

Revised tender submissions have been received and 
evaluated with final recommendation due September 2018. An alternative delivery 
strategy to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access has been agreed.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) –  

Revised tender submissions are due end of August 
2018. Contract award has been deferred by two to three months. An alternative delivery 
strategy to maintain the available Christmas 2018 access has been agreed.

l	 West Enhanced Station Christmas 2018 Advanced Works Package: Strategy approved for 
delivery via Bechtel as Principal Contractor and a number of tier 2 suppliers contracted to 
Network Rail. Bechtel now under contract and draft contracts now issued to 2 suppliers 
with an Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) and advanced procurement award due 
imminently.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 –  
 

 
 

 

l	 Crossrail West Outer Stations – GRIP 4/5 Design and West Drayton instructed to Amey 
Rail. Balance of scope awaiting submission of a price and programme.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement

P
age 140



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 Track drainage works transferred to P2R. 

l	 Switch install planned and Permanent Earthing Structure (PES) removal planned for 
Week 20, subject to isolation and access. 

l	 Dynamic testing planned for Week 22.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 Procurement of West Outer and Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

 West Outer
l	 Additional snagging items have been identified and will be cleared by Week 22.  

 ETCS
 Stage A:

l	 Stage A Authority for Passenger Entry into Service (APIS) re-submission made following 
receipt of a supportive Safety Assessment Report (SAR) from our AsBo. APIS expected 
to be achieved by the end of August 2018.

l	 Network Rail still awaits formal acceptance of Safety Requirements transferred to 
MTR/BT via CRL. This is one of the main issues preventing closeout of the Safety 
Justification Report to support ‘putting into use’.

l	 HIA 4 remit ends on 30 September 2018. Network Rail require CRL to formally confirm 
when they want to extend this contract to following confirmation of delays to an ETCS 
ready Class 345 train.  

l	 Network Rail and CRL are working together to dynamically prove the Operational Concept 
(linked in with the CRL “39 tests”) this will impact on the Safety Justification Report to 
support ‘putting into use’. The programme is currently under review.

l	 Following the dynamic testing runs and a detailed review of the evidence available, 
Network Rail believe that there is not a GSM-R network coverage problem and the 
previous theory of saturation of the train’s EDORs has been disproven. The issue has 
been identified around the ETCS train to track message sequence and this needs 
investigation by Bombardier.

 Stage B/C:
l	 Contract kick-off meeting has now taken place with Sotera and outline delivery 

programme for the Exemption workstream has been produced.  

l	 Following detailed discussions with Alstom, it has become clear that the Stage 
B/C programme this is a result of delays in the integrated laboratory testing and 
infrastructure data provision. The project is currently rebuilding the delivery plan to 
mitigate a potential impact of up to 12 months.

l	 Network Rail continues to work with CRL regarding a request for information (RFI0386 
– dated 26 March 2018).  Warranted infrastructure data is required to be supplied to 
Network Rail by CRL and is a critical input to the Stage B/C data production runs.  A 
change in design at the Westbourne Park interface may further impact the Stage B/C 
delivery.

 Anglia
l	 DOO & CCTV 9 car testing complete. Handover documentation submittal planned for 

Week 22.

l	 Signalling – Week 19 Immunisation commissioning (Stage 5) complete with final 
commissioning planned for Week 22.

l	 Stations - Handover of Forest Gate and Gidea Park ticket offices to MTR planned for Week 
22.

 Kent
l	 Key Output 2 safely and successfully achieved on 31 July 2018.

l	 OHLE wire height adjustment, car park, platforms, northern ticket hall and footbridges 
works complete.

l	 Snagging works due to be completed by the end of August 2018.

l	 Contractor is demobilising from the site compound with handback to the Royal Borough 
of Greenwich planned by mid-September 2018. 

l	 Stage Gate 7 successfully passed on 27 July 2018.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Westbourne Park IC2 completed

 Line of Route (LoR)
l	 FTNx site at Belvedere completed and integrated into wider network.

l	 SMS designs for 18 stations complete, approved and waiting prerequisites completion, 
prior to installation.

l	 Abbey Wood SMS complete awaiting stations team to complete lift and escalators prior 
to adding station SCADA to SMS system.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

6 Stages5 Works

P
age 141



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 05 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

 

WEST DRAYTON: Platform extension works

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Piling

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Track works

ACTON MAIN LINE: Relocation of speakers  

to temporary frame

ACTON MAIN LINE: Relocation of speakers  

to temporary frame

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Piling

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Track works

P
age 142



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 06    19th August to 15th September 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 1 of 49

P
age 143



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant events 3

 d) Safety Incidents/Close Calls 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme overview 3
 a) Commercial 3

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments 4

 e) Advanced Information 4

 f) Escalation Summary 4

4)  Procurement 4
 a) Procurement status 4

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  4

ii. West Inner and Stations 4

iii. Signalling  4

iv. ETCS  4

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   5

vii. Traction power supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

6)  Stages 5

 Progress Photos 6

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A16
 Trend Register A16
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A17
 Key Dates A19
 NRCR Milestone Matrix A20
 East Schedule Configuration Plan A25

C Financial Data A26
 Change commentary A26
 Spend by year A28
 Graph; Spend curve A29
 Cost Variance Analysis A30
 Opportunities and Recoveries A31

D Variation Notice tracker A32
E Regulated change dashboards A33
F Unplanned Disruption A35
G Safety performance A36
H Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A37
I Commitments (Undertakings and  A38 
 Assurances) Dashboard
J Environment performance A39
K Engineering performance A40
L Programme Close Out Status A41
Electronic items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Class 345 Train at Paddington Station
Appendices Front: Class 345 Train at Paddington Station

INDEX Main Report Contents

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 2 of 49

P
age 144



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary 
Following achievement of Key Output 5b (Full Infrastructure Capability in accordance 
with the ONFR from Maidenhead to Westbourne Park Central Core Area) and Key Date 
24 (Infrastructure complete to support Stage 5 Dynamic Testing) in Period 05, Network 
Rail achieved two significant milestones during Period 06, with the safe and successful 
achievement of Key Output 5a (Full Infrastructure Capability in accordance with the ONFR 
from Shenfield to the Central Core Area at Pudding Mill Lane) and Key Date 22 (Route 
clearance and all other infrastructure, including stabling and sidings updates, complete to 
support Stage 4 Dynamic Testing).  Consequently, all of Network Rail’s original Key Dates 
and Key Outputs have now been achieved.  Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work 
together towards the two new Key Outputs 6a and 6b.
Network Rail continues to move to the “close-out” of Crossrail as a “major programme”.  
During the period, the interface works at Westbourne Park were completed and the Crossrail 
West delivery team disbanded, on Crossrail Anglia the final signalling immunisation 
commissioning (Stage 5) was completed and on Crossrail Kent the remaining CCTV and 
public address and footbridge ceiling mesh/column arms cladding works were completed. 
Network Rail’s excellent safety performance continued during Period 6, when no lost time 
injuries occurred.

2) Safety
a) Headline data

l	 As the Programme moves towards completion, contractor staff hours have decreased to 
69,000 hours.

l	 Network Rail staff hours decreased to 9,000 hours this period.
l	 The Programme’s rolling 13 period Lost Time Incident Frequency Rate (LTIFR) has 

increased slightly to 0.1600. Network Rail had no Lost Time Injuries and no minor injuries 
in the period.

l	 Close Calls are a key predictive indicator and continue to be pushed across the 
Programme. 163 Close Calls were recorded by Network Rail in this period. This equates 
to 431 per 100,000 hours worked.

b)  Achievements/Progress
l	 The Programme’s overall All Injury Rate is currently 0.76 injuries per 100,000 hours 

worked.

l	 During Period 6 Network Rail continued with its 2018 theme of “Steps to Wellbeing” with 
the focus being “Take your Holiday”. This push has been included in the cascade briefings 
at all Network Rail offices across the programme.

c)  Significant events
 Accidents

l	 There was one injury on the Network Rail Crossrail Programme during Period 6.  On 14 
September 2018, at Abbey Wood an office based worker stumbled on the steps exiting 

the site office cabin, landed on all fours grazing their knee and hurting their foot.  On the 
following Monday morning, due to their foot having swollen, they did not feel capable of 
driving in to work and, therefore, worked from home.

d)  Safety Incidents/Close Calls
l	 One safety event was reported in Period 6, involving a dumper truck on the Up Relief Line 

at West Drayton which damaged the axle counter count head. 

e)  Environment Incidents
l	 No environment incidents were recorded for Period 6.

l	 There was one complaint in Period 6 relating to Noise, Vibration and Light.  Consequently, 
there were three fewer complaints received compared to the previous period.

l	 The CEEQUAL Assessment for OOCPA has been submitted for verification with a meeting 
scheduled for 28 September 2018.

l	 The Design Phase BREEAM Certificate for Abbey Wood Station has been received 
confirming that the “Very Good” rating was achieved for this phase of the assessment.

3)  Programme overview
a)  Commercial

l	 The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l	 No Variation Notices/Instructions were approved in Period 6.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety 3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,607.1

b £7.1m CRL ONW REO + £46.5m Remainder of £154m VN 
(DfT) - £6.35m CRL Add/Omit exercise -44.9

c NR Target (Stretch) -38.6

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -93.6

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e)  -130.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 3 of 49

P
age 145



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. A full contract 
audit of costs has been completed and final account negotiations continue.

l	 Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the 
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain 
continue in relation to the account and the scope.

l	 Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final 
account negotiations. Works are nearing completion.

l	 Grant Funding Agreement (£84 million): The Agreement has been signed and Network 
Rail has received the first two tranches of £6 million and £31.5 million from the 
Department for Transport. Discussions are underway with the Department for Transport 
on the future phasing of payments. 

b)  Schedule
l KD22 and KO5A, KD24 and KO5B: Achieved.

c)  Town Planning
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
l	 86% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and 

Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
l	 No town planning approvals were obtained in Period 6. Two further approvals are 

scheduled for Period 7.
l	 There were no recoveries and no new non-compliances identified in this period. Please 

see the Consents and Environment dashboard in the appendices for further details of 
ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 Evidence for Undertakings and Assurances continues to be uploaded on to the 

Commitments Delivery Tracker (CDT). 

e)  Advanced information
l	 Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.
l	 No contracts worth over £25m are due to be let next period. However, implementation of 

a procurement strategy for the West Enhanced stations (GRIP 6-8) build contract works is 
likely to be over £25m.

f)  Escalation summary
l	 There are no delivery items to be escalated this period.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) – Revised tender submissions have been received and evaluated with final 

recommendation due September 2018, with Contract award scheduled for October 
2018. Confirmation is required from Crossrail regarding the proposed future staging 
and funding strategy.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway 
and West Ealing) – Revised tender submissions were received on 30 August 2018.  
Tender evaluation commenced with Contract award scheduled for November 2018. 
Confirmation is required from Crossrail regarding the proposed future staging and 
funding strategy.

l	 West Enhanced Station Christmas 2018 Advanced Works Package: All contracts now 
awarded to Bechtel (PC), Lundy, Murphys and Van Elle (Piling). CLOSED

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 –  
 

 
 
 
 

l	 Crossrail West Outer Stations – GRIP 4/5 Design and West Drayton instructed to Amey 
Rail. The price for the remaining platform extension and DOO works has been received 
from Amey and is being reviewed.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

l	 Interface works at Westbourne Park were completed in Week 22.

 West Inner and Stations
l	 Procurement of Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

 West Outer
l	 Procurement of West Outer stations is ongoing. 

 ETCS
 Stage A:

l	 Stage A: Authority for Placing Into Service (APIS) received from the Office of Rail and 
Road (ORR) on 30 August 2018.

l	 Network Rail still awaits formal acceptance of Hazards/Safety Requirements transferred 
to MTR/Bombardier Trains via Crossrail. This is one of the main issues preventing 
closeout of the Safety Justification Report to support ‘putting into use’.

l	 HIA 4 remit extended to 28 February 2019.  

 Stage B/C:
l	 Sotera Risk Assessment workstream progress/plan presented at Crossrail 

Integration Meeting.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 4 of 49

P
age 146



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 Revised plan for delivery of ETCS Stage B/C is under construction and subject to a review 
of Route delivery priorities.

l	 Response to RFI0386 – Warranted Infrastructure Data has been received that is 
based on design rather than “As Built” information at the Westbourne Park Interface 
infrastructure.  Consequently, it may not be to the level of accuracy required by the ETCS 
system.  Network Rail to review.       

 Anglia
l	 DOO & CCTV 9 car testing complete.

 Kent
l	 Works continue to complete the other outstanding works, snags and documentation.

 Traction power supply (Cash funded and ONW)
l	 Westbourne Park IC2 completed.

 Line of Route (LoR)
l	 FTNx site at Belvedere completed and integrated into wider network.CLOSED.

l	 Station Management Systems (SMS) designs for 18 stations: East and West stations 
programme, Communications Equipment Room (CER), station, racks with power, fibre 
optical distribution frame (ODF) and station control point (SCP) required. 

l	 SMS design and implementation: Crossrial has asked Network Rail to submit an outline 
solution to cover extension of the Line of Route MICA SMS into the Route Control 
Centre (RCC). This will replace the existing Siemens system and provide centralised 
control of the CCTV, alarms and help point telephony from the RCC SMS and the 
required functionality when combined with a Worldline LICC that controls the Customer 
Information Screens (CIS) and Public Address (PA). Early stages of discussion have 
commenced following Network Rail’s presentation to Crossrail on 20 September 2018.

l	 Abbey Wood: Prerequisites for station lift, escalators and station SCADA programmes 
required.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

6 Stages5 Works

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 5 of 49

P
age 147



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

WEST DRAYTON: Exposing unknown cable 

between goods loop and relief line

WEST DRAYTON: Exposing unknown cable 

between goods loop and relief line

 

WEST DRAYTON: Platform works

 

WEST DRAYTON: Mast for plafrom 2 C1/C2 and C3

 

SLOUGH: Wayside cabinet on platform 5

 

SLOUGH: Clearing the compound

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 6 of 49

P
age 148



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 06 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

 

WEST DRAYTON: Axle counter repairs

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Demolition works

 

ACTON MAIN LINE: Demolition works

WEST DRAYTON: Excavating trench for 

lowering duct route

WEST DRAYTON: Excavating trench for 

lowering duct route

PPA1A-PPR-REP-NCA-000373-A01 Page 7 of 49

P
age 149



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Director.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 07  16th September to 13th October 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

P
age 150



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2) Safety 3
a) Headline Data 3

b) Achievements/Progress 3

c) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

d) Safety Incidents 3

e) Environment Incidents 3

3) Programme Overview 3
a) Commercial 3

b) Schedule 4

c) Town Planning 4

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances) 4

e) Advanced Information 4

f) Escalation Summary 4

4) Procurement 4
a) Procurement Status 4

5) Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

(OOCPA) 4

ii. West Inner and Stations 4

iii. West Outer 4

iv. ETCS 4

v. Anglia 5

vi. Kent 5

vii. Traction Power Supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

viii. Signalling 5

ix. Line of Route (LoR) 5

6) Stages 5

Progress Photos 6

Appendices
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A18

Key Dates A18
ETCS Level 2 Milestones A19

C Financial Data A21
Trend Register A21
Change Commentary A22
Spend by Year A24
Graph; Spend Curve A25
Cost Variance Analysis A26
Opportunities and Recoveries A27

D Variation Notice Tracker A28
E Regulated Change Dashboards A29
F Health, Safety and Environment A31 
 Performance
G Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A32
H Commitments (Undertakings and A33 

Assurances) Dashboard
I Engineering Performance A34 

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Pudding Mill Lane Works
Appendices Front: Pudding Mill Lane Works

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 151



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary
After 13 years, including six years of construction activities and over 29 million hours
worked, the Network Rail Crossrail Programme was successfully closed as a “major
programme”. The remaining Crossrail works will be managed and assured by the Network
Rail Crossrail Client Management Team.
During Period 7, Version 8.0 of the Network Rail Client Requirements (NRCR) was agreed
between Crossrail and Network Rail.  This includes two new Key Outputs; Key Output
6a (KO6a) and Key Output 6b (KO6b).  These milestones are being introduced for the On
Network Works to provide milestones for the completion of enhanced infrastructure required
for the new Elizabeth line train services.  KO6a aligns with the achievement of Crossrail’s
Stage 4 and KO6b aligns with the achievement of Crossrail’s Stage 5.

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

l Contractor staff hours in Period 7 were 44,000 hours.

b) Achievements/Progress
l To address complaints received in Period 7, the P2R delivery team will be engaging

with its tier 1 contractor (Bechtel) during Period 8 to address how the tier 2 contractors
interface with the community and public.

c) Significant Events
(Accidents)
l There were no accidents or injuries in Period 7

d) Safety Incidents
l One safety event was reported in Period 7.  On 03 October 2018, an operational close

call was raised at Acton station when a train clipped a pedestrian barrier on the platform
edge.  The barrier was not secured following completion of works and had worked loose
due to trains running adjacent to it.  Following the incident, all platforms were reviewed
regarding barrier use, positioning and fixing.

e) Environment Incidents
l No major (Level 1 or Level 2) environment incidents occurred in Period 7.

l One minor environment incident was recorded in Period 7.  On 10 October 2018, at Acton
Yard a leak of approximately 3-4 litres of hydraulic oil (of which approximately 0.5 litres
reached the ground) occurred while concrete was being broken out using a 360 degree
machine.  A spill kit was applied and the area cleaned up.

l There were 9 environmental complaints during Period 7, all relating to noise, vibration
and light.

l There were a further 3 complaints during the Period but these were either not
environmentally related or had no description to enable classification.

l The CEEQUAL Assessment for OOCPA has been verified and ratified with a final score of
80.5% which meets the “Excellent” rating targeted.

3) Programme Overview
a) Commercial

l The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l One Variation Instruction was approved in Period 7 regarding version 8.0 of the Network
Rail Client Requirements (NRCR) for inclusion of Key Output 6a (KO6a) and Key Output 6b
(KO6b).  A paper will be submitted to the Portfolio Board in November 2018, to include
the matters in the Network Rail Enhancements Development Plan (EDP).

l Variation Notice 1045b (East station design amendments) was submitted to Crossrail for
its consideration. A conclusion is expected in Period 8.

1 Executive summary 2 Safety 3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,741.3

b CRL ONW REO -10.2

c NR Target (Stretch) -136.3

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -164.8

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e)  -130.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

l Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue. A full contract
audit of costs has been completed and final account negotiations continue.

l Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the
Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain
continue in relation to the account and the scope.

l Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final
account negotiations. Works are nearing completion.

P
age 152



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

b) Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Outputs 6a and 6b.

c) Town Planning
l 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
l 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
l 86% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and

Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
l One town planning approval was obtained and seven applications were submitted in

Period 7. Four further approvals are scheduled for Period 8.
l There was one recovery and no new non-compliances or potential non-compliances

identified in this period. Please see the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the
appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l There are currently 154 outstanding evidences against the remaining commitments, of

which 59 are overdue. The majority of these commitments are related to D25/D26 noise
impact assessments that will not be completed until at least December 2018.  Network
Rail continues to manage these items.

l During Period 7, a full review of the commitments was undertaken to understand the
dates on which certain evidences will become available, searching for outstanding
evidence against overdue commitments and finalising the evidence to be submitted
against commitments where no evidence existed. Network Rail and Crossrail also
discussed a process to facilitate capturing missing evidence for commitments where
documentation is un-obtainable.

e) Advanced information
l Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement

strategy from that previously reported.
l One contract with a value over £25 million (the West Enhanced Stations Work Package

3 contract) is due to be let next period. However, this is subject to receipt of additional
funding.

f) Escalation summary
l Close-out of additional funding requirements.

4) Procurement
a) Procurement Status

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and
West Drayton) – Revised tender submissions have been received and evaluated with
final recommendation approved, Stand-still letters were issued to tenderers on 08
October 2018, that expire on 19 October 2018. Contract execution must be achieved
by 28 October 2018, to meet the tendered programme. Additional funding is required to

enable this to proceed.

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway
and West Ealing) – Revised tender submissions were received on 30 August 2018.
Tender evaluation commenced with Contract award scheduled for November 2018.
Confirmation is required from Crossrail regarding the proposed future staging and
funding strategy.  Additional funding is required to enable this to proceed.

l Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 –

Contract award will be
subject to discussion and agreement of Value Engineering opportunities between
Crossrail and Network Rail. The option of MTR delivering the Romford ticket-hall also
requires discussion and agreement between Crossrail and Network Rail.

l Crossrail West Outer Stations – GRIP 4/5 Design and West Drayton DOO instructed to
Amey Rail. The price for the remaining platform extension and DOO works has been
received from Amey and is being reviewed.  An alternative procurement of DOO is also
under consideration.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)
l Tamping of backline completed.

West Inner and Stations
l Procurement of Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

l West Stations Early Works progressing well although some delays have occurred due to
buried services.

l Asbestos discovered in Ealing Broadway station staircase.  This is being managed and
impact on programme assessed.  It is anticipated that this will not prevent opening the
staircase following the New Year possession.

West Outer
l Procurement of West Outer stations is ongoing.

l Engagement session held with Amey to focus team on remaining OHLE and stations
works.

 ETCS
Stage A:
l Network Rail provided TVSC support for Bombardier Trains classic testing

and is ready to support integration testing (’39 tests’) commencing mid-

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

P
age 153



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

November 2018. 
l Network Rail still awaits formal acceptance of Hazards/Safety Requirements transferred

to MTR/Bombardier Trains via Crossrail, although progress has been made towards issue.
l Health and Safety file complete and accepted by NRG.

Stage B/C:
l Alstom has issued a revised baseline plan which Network Rail is currently reviewing.

l Network Rail is progressing the Stage C design based on the infrastructure data design
information provided by Crossrail at the Westbourne Park interface. Any change in this
information could further impact on the Stage C programme.

l The Office of Road and Rail (ORR) Exemption meeting is scheduled for 22 October 2018,
at which all stakeholders will note a new exemption will be required.

 Anglia
l Reviews undertaken with Volkers and Atkins and discussion with MTR on value

engineering and scope handover.

l Network Rail is working in conjunction with MTR to carry out remedial works to Forest
Gate station ticket hall, staircase and lift.  Works are progressing well for a planned
opening of the new entrance in early November 2018.

Kent
l Works ongoing to complete the other outstanding snags and documentation.

Traction Power Supply (Cash Funded and ONW)
l 12kA works progressing on Western Route to support commissioning of full Auto

Transformer mode on Western Route in Spring.

l Decision and funding of the Bow Feeder Station independent feeder works are needed
urgently to support the strategy to achieve full Auto Transformer mode on the Anglia
Route by May 2019.

Signalling
l Support to integration testing is ongoing.

Line of Route (LoR)
l The Station Management Systems (SMS) programme is currently under review,

taking account of various dependencies that are subject to change in programme and
contracting strategy.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

6 Stages5 Works

P
age 154



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

ACTON MAIN LINE: Installing Rebar and 

Shuttering to Pilecap (Platform 4)

ACTON MAIN LINE: Installing Rebar and 

Shuttering to Pilecap (Platform 4)

ACTON MAIN LINE: Installing Sheet Piles ACTON MAIN LINE: Relocating 3t Excavator & Installing Fence Panels on Platform 4

ACTON MAIN LINE: Installing Rebar and 

Shuttering to Pilecap (Platform 4) ACTON MAIN LINE: Installing Sheet PilesP
age 155



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 07 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

WEST DRAYTON: Platform Extensions

WEST DRAYTON: DOO Foundations EALING BROADWAY: Platformb 2 and 3 Staircase

WEST DRAYTON: Platform Extensions WEST DRAYTON: DOO Foundations

P
age 156



1CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail. 
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Sponsor.

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

PERIOD 08  14th October to 10th November 2018

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and
Progress

P
age 157



2CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive summary 3

2) Safety 3
a) Headline Data 3

b) Achievements/Progress 3

c) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

d) Safety Incidents 3

e) Environment Incidents 3

3) Programme Overview 3
a) Commercial 3

b) Schedule 3

c) Town Planning 4

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances) 4

e) Advanced Information 4

f) Escalation Summary 4

4) Procurement 4
a) Procurement Status 4

5) Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

(OOCPA) 4

ii. West Inner and Stations 4

iii. West Outer 4

iv. ETCS 4

v. Anglia 5

vi. Kent 5

vii. Traction Power Supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

viii. Signalling 5

ix. Line of Route (LoR) 5

6) Stages 5

Progress Photos 6

Appendices
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A18

Key Dates A18
ETCS Level 2 Milestones A19

C Financial Data A21
Trend Register A21
Change Commentary A22
Spend by Year A24
Graph; Spend Curve A25
Cost Variance Analysis A26
Opportunities and Recoveries A27

D Variation Notice Tracker A28
E Regulated Change Dashboards A29
F Health, Safety and Environment A31 
 Performance
G Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A32
H Commitments (Undertakings and A33 

Assurances) Dashboard
I Engineering Performance A34 

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Abbey Wood Station
Appendices Front: Abbey Wood Station

INDEX Main Report Contents

P
age 158



3CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

1) Executive Summary
During Period 8, Network Rail continued to focus on delivery of works to meet the new Key
Outputs 6a and 6b, including progressing procurement of the West Enhanced Stations and
engaging contractors for the West Outer Stations works.
Also during the Period, an operational incident involving the overhead line electrification
between Ladbroke Grove and Paddington occurred resulting in delays on the Great Western
Mainline.

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

l Contractor staff hours in Period 8 were 42,000 hours.

b) Achievements/Progress
l To address community and public interface complaints received in Period 7, the

Paddington to Reading (P2R) delivery team held a start up engagement meeting with 
Keltbray.  This concluded with a joint site visit with Keltbray and Balfour Beatty at Gidea 
Park.

c) Significant Events
(Accidents)
l There were two accidents or injuries in Period 8:

l On 25 October 2018, at Ealing Broadway and whilst clearing materials from
stairwell, an operative felt a sharp pain in their thigh from the materials placed in
the waste bag.  This was reported as a suspected sharp injury.  However, there was
no evidence of a needle or needle stick injury.  The operative received vaccinations
as a precaution at hospital and returned to work.  The task was reviewed and a
briefing communicated.

l On 01 November 2018, at West Drayton and whilst undertaking shuttering works,
an operative felt some discomfort in their knee after moving a piece of timber
with their left leg.  The event was not appropriately reported and the injury is now
classified as a RIDDOR +7 days.

d) Safety Incidents
l Three safety events were reported in Period 8:

l On 14 October 2018, two mobile elevated working platform (MEWP) batteries were
stolen.

l On 20 October 2018, an operative was involved in a road traffic accident en-route to
Dawley Road.

l On 31 October 2018, an operative had a seizure due to low blood sugar.

e) Environment Incidents
l No major (Level 1 or Level 2) or minor environment incidents occurred in Period 8.

l There was one environmental complaint during Period 8, relating to noise, vibration and
light.

3) Programme Overview
a) Commercial

l The AFC is £2,430.0m.

l A paper will be submitted to the Portfolio Board in December 2018, to include the Key
Output 6a (KO6a) and Key Output 6b (KO6b) update of the Network Rail Enhancements
Development Plan (EDP).

l Network Rail and Crossrail are working to conclude Variation Notice 1045b (East station
design amendments).

1 Executive summary 2 Safety 3 Programme overview

COST

a SPOT 2,775.4

b CRL ONW REO -23.8

c NR Target (Stretch) -156.9

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -164.8

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e)  -130.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

l Vinci Commercial (Crossrail West): Final Account negotiations continue.
l Costain contractual position (Crossrail East): Network Rail continues to strictly apply the

Contract conditions. Discussions between Network Rail senior management and Costain
continue in relation to the account.

l Balfour Beatty Commercial (Crossrail Kent): Progress continues to be made on the final
account negotiations. Works are nearing completion.

b) Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Outputs 6a and 6b.

P
age 159



4CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

c) Town Planning
l 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
l 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
l 86% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans & Specifications and

Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
l Two town planning approvals were obtained and two applications were submitted in

Period 8. Five further approvals are scheduled for Period 9.
l There were no recoveries, no new non-compliances or potential risk / non-compliances

identified in this period. Please see the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the
appendices for further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l There are currently 154 outstanding evidences against the remaining commitments, of

which 77 are overdue. The majority of these commitments are related to D25/D26 noise
impact assessments that will not be completed until at least December 2018. Network
Rail continues to manage these items.

l During Period 8, further reviews of the commitments were undertaken.  Consequently,
some evidences were identified that could be used to support the discharge of certain
commitments including those for British Telecom and Transco. Network Rail and Crossrail
are to meet to further discuss the process to facilitate capturing missing evidence for
commitments where documentation is un-obtainable.

e) Advanced information
l Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement

strategy from that previously reported.
l Two contracts with values over £25 million are due to be let next period (West Enhanced

Stations Main Works Packages 2 and 3 contracts). However, these are subject to receipt
of additional funding.

f) Escalation summary
l Close-out of additional funding requirements.

4) Procurement
a) Procurement Status

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and
West Ealing) – Revised tender submissions were received on 30 August 2018. Tender
evaluation commenced with Contract award scheduled for late November / early
December 2018.  Funding decision is required to enable this to proceed.

l West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and
West Drayton) – Revised tender submissions have been received and evaluated with final
recommendation approved, Stand-still letters were issued to tenderers on 08 October
2018, that expire on 19 October 2018. Contract execution now delayed awaiting
funding confirmation.

l Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 –

 Contract award will be subject to discussion and
agreement of Value Engineering opportunities between Crossrail and Network Rail. The
option of MTR delivering the Romford ticket-hall also requires discussion and agreement
between Crossrail and Network Rail.

l Crossrail West Outer Stations – GRIP 4/5 Design and West Drayton DOO instructed to
Amey Rail. The price for the remaining platform extension and DOO civils works has been
received from Amey and has now been formally instructed. An alternative procurement
of DOO has been agreed direct with Fourways (a Tier 2 supplier), Contract award is
schedule for November 2018.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)
l Marcon Sidings connection completed and entry into service (EIS) to follow in Period 9.
l An operational incident occurred between Ladbroke Grove and Paddington involving the

overhead line electrification.

West Inner and Stations
l Procurement of Enhanced Stations is ongoing.

l West Stations Early Works progressing well.

l The Asbestos issue at Ealing Broadway station has been resolved and demolition is
progressing to plan to support completion of installation at Christmas and opening in
January.

West Outer
l All platform extension works have been instructed to Amey.

l Fourways will be engaged directly for the DOO works.  The contract is expected to be in
place in Period 9.

 ETCS
Stage A:
l The Operational Procedures briefing document was endorsed by the industry group on 07

November 2018, and formally signed-off.
l Buffer Stop and End of Authority (EoA) Risk Assessments have been updated ready for

presentation at HALARP on 20 November 2018.
l Network Rail is awaiting Bombardier fault data codes which indicate ETCS

faults. This information is required to close out the Joint Faulting Process
item in the Safety Justification Report.

3 Programme overview 4 Procurement 5 Works

P
age 160



5CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l Network Rail still awaits formal acceptance of Hazards/Safety Requirements transferred
to MTR/Bombardier Trains via Crossrail, although progress has been made towards issue.

Stage B/C:
l Network Rail is progressing the Stage C design based on the infrastructure data design

information provided by Crossrail at the Westbourne Park interface. Any change in this 
information could further impact on the Stage C programme.  

l The Office of Road and Rail (ORR) Exemption meeting took place on 22 October 2018,
and agreement was reached in principle that a new exemption is required and should
commence from June 2019 to capture other rolling stock and timetable changes since
the current exemption was granted.  The end date of the exemption is subject to review
with Network Rail’s Western Route on overall programme risk and priorities.  A decision
on this is expected by mid-December 2018.

 Anglia
l Price and scope agreed with Volkers for Christmas 2018, works at Romford and Ilford.

l Forest Gate station ticket hall, staircase and lift opened for use.  Further works underway
in conjunction with MTR to open Gidea Park and Goodmayes prior to Christmas.

Kent
l Works ongoing to complete the outstanding snags and documentation.

Traction Power Supply (Cash Funded and ONW)
l 12kA works ongoing on the Western Route to support commissioning of full Auto

Transformer mode on the Western Route in Spring 2019.

l Preparations for the Christmas works, including Royal Oak TSS, are ongoing.

l A decision and funding for the Bow Feeder Station independent feeder works are needed
urgently to support the strategy to achieve full Auto Transformer mode on the Anglia
Route by May 2019.

Signalling
l Support to integration testing is ongoing.

Line of Route (LoR)
l The Station Management Systems (SMS) programme is currently under review,

taking account of various dependencies that are subject to change in programme and 
contracting strategy.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

6 Stages5 Works

P
age 161



6CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

ACTON MAIN LINE: Advanced Works

WEST DRAYTON: Platfrom 5 Extension ACTON MAIN LINE: Rebar Installation ACTON MAIN LINE: Rebar Installation

ACTON MAIN LINE: Advanced WorksACTON MAIN LINE: Advanced Works

ACTON MAIN LINE: Spraying Shuttering Oil

P
age 162



7CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 08 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

PHOTOS

EALING BROADWAY: Demolition of Platform 2 & 3 Staircase EALING BROADWAY: Demolition of Platform 2 & 3 Staircase

ABBEY WOOD: Landscaping Works WEST EALING: Advanced Works WEST EALING: Advanced Works

P
age 163



1

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme Overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and
Progress

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2018 Network Rail. 
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Sponsor.

PERIOD 09  11th November to 8th December 2018

P
age 164



2

INDEX Main Report Contents

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A18
 Key Dates A18
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A19

C Financial Data A20
 Change Commentary A20
 Spend by Year A22
 Graph; Spend Curve A23
 Cost Variance Analysis A24
 Opportunities and Recoveries A25

D Variation Notice Tracker A26
E Regulated Change Dashboard A27
F Health, Safety and Environment  A28 
 Performance
G Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A29
H Commitments (Undertakings and  A30 
 Assurances) Dashboard
I Engineering Performance  A31 

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Maidenhead
Appendices Front: Pudding Mill Lane

vii. Traction Power Supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

viii. Signalling  5

ix. Line of Route (LoR) 5

6)  Stages 5

 Progress Photos 6

1) Executive Summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline Data 3

 b) Achievements/Progress 3

 c) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

 d) Safety Incidents 3

 e) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme Overview 3
 a) Commercial 3

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances) 4

 e) Advanced Information 4

 f) Escalation Summary 4

4)  Procurement 4
 a) Procurement Status 4

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  4

ii. West Inner and Stations 5

iii. West Outer 5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   5

P
age 165



3

3 Programme Overview2 Safety1 Executive Summary

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

	 Vinci (Crossrail West): The Final Account has been agreed and formal paperwork is 
currently being prepared for signature/execution.

COST

a SPOT 2,826.3

b CRL ONW REO -19.0

c NR Target (Stretch) -212.6

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -164.7

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,430.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e)  -130.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

e)  Environment Incidents
	 There were no major and two minor environmental incidents recorded in Period 9. This 

is two more incidents than were reported in the previous period.  Both incidents involved 
spillages of less than two litres following failed hoses on Road Rail Vehicles (RRVs).

	 There were six environmental complaints during Period 9, relating to noise, vibration and 
light.

3)  Programme Overview
a)  Commercial

	 The AFC is £2,430.0m.

	  

 

	 A paper has been submitted to the Portfolio Board including the Key Output 6a (KO6a) 
and Key Output 6b (KO6b) update of the Network Rail Enhancements Development Plan 
(EDP).  However, this paper has been held pending clarification on the funding position.

	 One Variation Notice (VN) was issued to Crossrail in Period 9 – Station systems and 
Romford Route Control Centre connectivity (No. 1056).

1) Executive Summary 
During Period 9, preparatory works for the upcoming Christmas programme continued 
to be undertaken on the West Enhanced stations including demolition works at Acton, 
asbestos removal at West Ealing and breaking out of concrete at Ealing Broadway.  Allied 
to these activities, a successful (T minus) planning meeting was held to review the planned 
Christmas works.  
The access for Crossrail’s dynamic testing on the Western and Anglia Routes was also 
agreed during the Period.

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

	 Contractor staff hours in Period 9 were 37,500 hours.

b)  Achievements/Progress
	 At 03:15 hours on 04 December 2018, at West Drayton a site supervisor observed a 

member of public on the track and in a distressed state.  The supervisor intervened and 
managed to escort the member of the public back to the station, keeping them safe until 
the British Transport Police (BTP) arrived.

c)  Significant Events
 (Accidents)

	 There were two accidents or injuries in Period 9:

	 On 11 November 2018, at Acton Mainline station and whilst carrying out piling 
works, an operative was struck by a wooden hoarding support post that had 
vibrated loose because of the adjacent excavation works.  The post glanced off the 
operative’s hard hat and impacted their left shoulder.  The operative was assessed 
and, although there was some soreness, medical assistance was not necessary.

	 On 25 November 2018, at Acton Mainline station an operative stepped on a nail 
that was protruding from a piece of wood (which had not been de-nailed).  The 
nail pierced the side of their boot causing a scratch to the foot.  First aid was 
administered.  The operative had received a tetanus immunisation within the past 
three years.

d)  Safety Incidents
	 One safety event was reported in Period 9:

	 On 11 November 2018, at Passers Depot, West Ealing a work group were 
approached by an intoxicated member of public wielding a meat cleaver.  The 
workgroup left the area after being verbally threatened.  British Transport Police 
(BTP) attended, searched the area and took statements from those involved.

P
age 166



4

5 Works4 Procurement3 Programme Overview

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

e)  Advanced information
	 Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.
	 Two contracts with values over £25 million are due to be let next period (West Enhanced 

Stations Main Works Packages 2 and 3 contracts). However, these are subject to receipt 
of additional funding and finalisation of supplier negotiations.

f)  Escalation summary
	 Close-out of additional funding requirements.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement Status

	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) – Tender evaluation and recommendation awaiting final details from 
tenderers regarding removal of Christmas works. Recommendation to award is due by 
14 December 2018. However, contract award will be subject to the decision on funding.

	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) – Revised tender submissions have been received and evaluated with final 
recommendation approved.  Contract award is being delayed by protracted negotiations 
with the preferred supplier to remove the Christmas works pre-award. The re-scheduled 
contract award date is 21 December 2018, subject to reaching an agreement on the 
removal of the Christmas works.

	  
 

  
 

 

	 Crossrail West Outer Stations – GRIP 4/5 Design and West Drayton DOO instructed to 
Amey Rail. The price for the remaining platform extension and DOO civils works has been 
received from Amey and has now been formally instructed. An alternative procurement 
of DOO has been agreed direct with Fourways (a Tier 2 supplier). Contract award is 
schedule for December 2018.

	 Maidenhead and Slough stations GRIP 5 design – Procurement activities are awaiting 
close-out of GRIP 4 design.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

	 Installation of bonding support channels.
	 Back hang droppers wire runs 23 and 24.
	 12ka upgrade works ongoing.

	 Costain (Crossrail Anglia): The Final Account is progressing with the commercial 
assessment of the largest 12 outstanding Employer’s Representative Instructions 
(ERI’s) currently being undertaken.  Senior management from Network Rail and 
Costain are meeting on 13 December 2018, to discuss the status of the account and 
to endeavour to progress settlement.  It is anticipated that the Final Account will be 
agreed during April 2019.

	 Balfour Beatty (Crossrail Kent): Negotiations have reached an advanced stage with the 
account to mid-October 2018, being agreed subject to completion of governance on 
both sides. The costs to complete are being closely monitored and the Final Account is 
expected to be agreed during the first quarter of 2019.

b)  Schedule
 All works are on schedule to achieve Key Outputs 6a and 6b.

c)  Town Planning
	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
	 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
	 87% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans and Specifications 

and Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
	 Three town planning approvals were obtained in Period 9. Five further approvals are 

scheduled for Period 10.
	 There was one recovery, no new non-compliances and one new potential risk identified 

in this period. Please see the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the Appendices for 
further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 9
	 An objection/concern has been raised by a highways officer at the London Borough of 

Ealing regarding reduced natural surveillance and personal safety issues caused by the 
recently installed cladding at the West Ealing Substation.  Further details are contained in 
the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the Appendices.

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
	 There are 154 outstanding evidences against the remaining commitments, of which 77 

remain overdue. The majority of these relate to D25/D26 noise impact assessments that 
will not be completed until at least December 2018. Network Rail continues to manage 
these items. 

	 During Period 9, further reviews of the commitments were undertaken by Network Rail 
and Crossrail to agree the quality of the evidence to be submitted.  Consequently, 36 
items are under review and await approval.

	 Following Crossrail’s issue of the “Quality Issue” list, Network Rail is working to amend 
any errors and return evidences to Crossrail. 

	 Network Rail has produced a new Undertakings and Assurances matrix for the West 
Enhanced stations enabling works.  A further Undertakings and Assurances matrix will be 
produced for the remaining works remitted to the Paddington to Reading (P2R) delivery 
vehicle.

P
age 167



5

6 Stages5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

 ETCS
 Stage A:

	 AMP 15 (Taking Over Certificate) for Balises has been signed-off by the Network Rail 
Maintainer and is now with HAL for final signature. 

	 Buffer Stop and End of Authority (EoA) Risk Assessments have been presented and 
accepted by HALARP. 

	 Bombardier fault data codes have been received by Network Rail and are being 
incorporated into the Joint Faulting Process.

 Stage B/C:
	 Network Rail is progressing a strategy that would see ETCS for Stage B (Heathrow Tunnel 

Junction to Acton) delivered by December 2020, and Stage C (Acton to Paddington) by 
December 2022.  

	 Network Rail and its industry partners met with the Office of Road and Rail (ORR) on 
04 December 2018, to provide a progress update on the Exemption workstream and to 
notify them of the industry’s proposal to request the new Exemption runs until the end of 
December 2023. 

	 Crossrail and Network Rail are discussing the lack of configuration control on key 
baseline documents. Clarity is urgently required of the projected baseline detailing what 
Crossrail proposes to enter into service at each configuration stage. 

 Anglia
	 Access for Crossrail dynamic testing on the Anglia Route has been agreed.
	 Over 2500 metres of cable pulls at Stratford.

 Kent
	 Works ongoing to complete the outstanding snags and documentation.

 Traction Power Supply (Cash Funded and ONW)
	 12kA works ongoing on the Western Route to support commissioning of full Auto 

Transformer mode on the Western Route in Spring 2019.
	 Preparations for the Christmas works, including Royal Oak TSS, are ongoing.
	 A decision and funding for the Bow Feeder Station independent feeder works are needed 

urgently to support the strategy to achieve full Auto Transformer mode on the Anglia 
Route by May 2019.

 Signalling
	 Shunt signal and track circuit removed.
	 8079 Points scotch and clipped.

 Line of Route (LoR)
	 The Station Management Systems (SMS) programme is currently under review, 

taking account of various dependencies that are subject to change in programme and 
contracting strategy.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

 West Inner and Stations
	 Procurement of Enhanced Stations is ongoing.
	 Access for Crossrail dynamic testing on the Western Route has been agreed.
	 Successful T-4 meeting held for Christmas 2018 works.
	 Crossrail and Network Rail undertook a joint review of the Slough and Maidenhead 

stations works.
	 West Stations Early Works progressing well.
	 Acton:
	 	 Demolition of the remainder of the staircase column and foundations at the  

 London end.
	 	 Demolition, excavation and concreting of scaffold posts for relocation of the  

 Platform 1 signage.
	 	 Exposure of the foundation of the two linkbridge columns and the concrete ‘beam’  

 connecting both foundations on Platforms 2 and 3.
	 	 Beam construction works and undertaking topographic survey works associated  

 with the piling mat.
	 	 All piling works on Platform 4 have been completed.
	 West Ealing:
	 	 Clearance of spoil from Platform 3.
	 	 Station forecourt hoarding maintenance.
	 	 Continued excavation around the lift pit and main column support.
	 	 Continued removal of asbestos from the staircase to Platform 1.
	 	 Piling preparatory works including removal of hoardings.
	 	 Pouring concrete.
	 Southall:
	 	 Backfilling voids around piles on Platform 0/1.
	 	 Installation of piles and associated vibration and noise monitoring.
	 	 Carrying out repair works to the public address (PA) speakers on Platform 2/3.
	 Ealing Broadway:
	 	 Preparatory works for the Christmas programme including setting out for crane  

 positions and electrical surveys.
	 	 Commencing demolition of the staircase column foundation at the London end.
	 	 Break out of concrete between the two linkbridge foundations.
	 	 Pouring concrete.
	 	 Carrying out modifications to the scaffold crash deck beneath the staircase on  

 Platform 1.

 West Outer
	 Breaking out of obstructions, excavation works and unit installation. 

P
age 168



6

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

EALING BROADWAY: Breaking Out Concrete Obstructions, Platforms 2 & 3

SOUTHALL:   Paint HatchingSOUTHALL:  Platform 1 Bonding Piles

WEST DRAYTON: Platform 2 

Extension - Riser Wall

WEST DRAYTON: Platform 2 

Extension - Riser Wall

EALING BROADWAY: Breaking Out Concrete 

Obstructions Platforms, 2 & 3

EALING BROADWAY: Breaking Out Concrete 

Obstructions Platforms, 2 & 3

P
age 169



7

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 09 - 2018 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

ACTON MAIN LINE: Platform 4 – Installing the Lift Motor Room Pilecap UpstandWEST EALING: Excavating Lift Pit Foundation

WEST EALING: Removing Spoil WEST EALING: Burning Off Column Support Piles
WEST EALING: Excavating Column 

Support Pilecap

P
age 170



1

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2019 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Sponsor.

PERIOD 10  9th December 2018 to 5th January 2019

P
age 171



2

INDEX Main Report Contents

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Anglia - Traction Power Works

1) Executive Summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline Data 3

 b) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

 c) Safety Incidents 3

 d) Environment Incidents 4

3)  Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches 

 (OOCPA)  4

ii. West Inner and Stations 4

iii. Anglia  4

iv. Traction Power Supply 5

v. Signalling  5

vi. Line of Route (LoR) 5

 Progress Photos 6

P
age 172



3

2 Safety1 Executive Summary

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

	 117 metres of platform ducting installed

	 181 metres of platform drainage installed.

	 38 No. Z units installed as part of the platform extension works.

	 8,776 metres of Return Screen Conductor (RSC) cables installed.

	 4000 metres of high voltage cables pulled.

	 2,500 meters of bonding undertaken at Pudding Mill Lane.

	 Four OHLE piles and masts installed.

	 One OHLE portal installed.

	 148 metres of station cable management systems installed.

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

	 Contractor staff hours in Period 10 were 41,000 hours.

b)	 Significant	Events
 (Accidents)

	 There were two accidents or injuries in Period 10:

	 On 16 December 2018, at Acton Mainline Station an operative hurt their back 
while lifting a wheelbarrow filled with materials up the Platform 4 staircase.  This 
lifting operation was a two-person task.  While the operative was comfortable lifting 
the wheelbarrow, they were advised to stop work and seek medical assurance.  
Following a precautionary Doctor’s appointment, the operative returned for the next 
planned shift. (Two day Lost Time Injury).

	 On 26 December 2018, at the Meridan Square Road Rail Access Point (RRAP), an 
operative injured their finger whilst manual handling a concrete troughing lid back 
into its housing.  The operative lost their grip and control of the lid and consequently 
sustained an impact contusion of the tip of their middle finger.

c)  Safety Incidents
	 Seven safety events were reported in Period 10:

	 On 09 December 2018, at West Ealing (Plassers Yard), a machine controller noticed 
that structure numbers did not correlate with the Form C.  The operative stopped 
and contacted the nominated person (NOM) to question their location.  It was 
identified that the wrong Form C had been issued by the NOM.

	 On 21 December 2018, at West Ealing Station, whilst cleaning out the concrete 
pump pipes with a rubber ball, the pressure build-up in the pipes caused the water, 
concrete and rubber ball to exit the end of the pipe spraying water and concrete over 
the two operatives that were standing at the end of the concrete pipe.  
No injuries were sustained and the operatives stayed on site until the 
end of the shift.

1) Executive Summary 
Over the Christmas 2018 period, Network Rail safely and successfully delivered a variety 
of works across the route.  While the scale and complexity of the works was minor in 
comparison to those undertaken in previous years under the major Crossrail Programme, 
they were still vital to support delivery of the Elizabeth line.  

Significant quantities were achieved in support of the Traction Power works, some key 
Crossrail residual items were closed out, key enabling works at Acton, Ealing Broadway, 
West Ealing, Romford and Ilford stations were commenced and progress was made on 
platform extensions at West Drayton and Slough.

Following on from these Christmas works, the new footbridge on platform 2/3 at Ealing 
Broadway station will open for passenger use in early January 2019, providing much awaited 
benefits to the station operation ahead of further station enhancements to be delivered 
during 2019.

The key headlines were:

	 Steelwork for the new lift shaft, stairs and footbridge section over the main lines lifted 
into place and installed at West Ealing station.

	 Staircase demolition, removal and installation of a new temporary canopy at Romford 
station.

	 Staircase demolition and installation of 16 piles at Ilford station.

	 275 metres of contact / catenary wire installed.

	 Four Tesorex installed to the OHLE structures.

	 11 OHLE structural recoveries. 

	 Five OHLE switch upgrades.

	 154 No. bridal wheel jumpers installed.

	 14 No. balance wheel insulators installed.

	 Six bridge bond locations.

	 One insulated overlap removed.

	 Two cross-track feeds renewed.

	 Two Autotransformer backlines installed.

	 31 No. crane lifts associated with a bridge installation.

	 95 cubic metres of concrete pours.

	 280 tonne bridge demolition.

	 15,930 No. platform blocks installed.

	 100 No. pre-cast foundations installed.

	 1,160 tonnes of backfill placed as part of platform extension works.

	 57 copers installed.

P
age 173



4

3 Works2 Safety

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

	 181 metres of drainage installed.

	 32 No. Z units installed.

	 Acton Station:
	 	 10 No. 1000 tonne crane lifts.
	 	 New footbridge installed.
	 West Ealing Station:

	 	 10 No. 350 tonne crane lifts.
	 	 Steelwork for the new lift shaft, stairs and new footbridge over the main lines lifted  

 into place and installed.
	 Ealing Broadway Station:

	 	 11 No. 500 tonne crane lifts.
	 	 95 cubic metres of concrete pours.
	 	 Foundations for the new platform 2/3 waiting room and new control room   

 installed.
	 	 Foundations for the platform 1 stair and lift motor room base installed.
	 	 280 tonnes of demolition spoil recovered.
	 West Drayton Station:

	 	 Platform extensions installed.
	 Slough station:

	 	 Platform extensions installed.

 Anglia
	 At Pudding Mill Lane: piling, multi-part steel works, installation of four high voltage cables 

from the substation through tunnels to risers and handed over to Keltbray.

	 At Stratford station: 203 metres of DOO cable management system works in platforms 5 
to 8 canopies, six DOO / Common Bonding cables (CBC) chambers on platform 9/10 and 
installation of 598 No. DOO leaky feeder brackets.

	 At Maryland station: 228 metres of cable management system and Common Bonding 
cables (CBC) works in the platform canopies.

	 At Manor Park station: DOO cables commissioned on platform 1, power switched over 
and confirmed as operational.

	 At Gidea Park station: Troughing works.

	 At Ilford station: Demolition and removal of the platform 2/3 stairs, removal of brick 
wall, 16 piles installed on platform 2/3 for the lift shaft and tag and trace and intrusive 
surveys undertaken.

	 At Romford station: 770 meters of cable management system lids were installed, the 
canopy on platform3/4 was removed (including 25 metres of the Edwardian 
canopy), a temporary canopy was reinstated with lighting and public 
address speakers and tag and trace and intrusive surveys undertaken.

	 On 25 December 2018, at West Ealing Station, a Traffic Marshall brought a member 
of the public’s vehicle to a standstill and indicated to the driver to follow the 
diversionary route (as lifting operations were being carried out). The member of the 
public’s vehicle reversed and struck a stationary Network Rail vehicle before driving 
off.

	 On 25 December 2018, at Junction 4 of the M4 motorway, an operative was in the 
process of picking up a colleague (on the way to work) when, on the slip road, their 
vehicle was struck by a member of the public’s vehicle resulting in damage to both 
vehicles.  There were no injuries to report and the operative was able to attend work 
and perform normal duties.

	 On 26 December 2018, at West Ealing Station, a cable which was being used for 
earth continuity testing was damaged by a Road / Rail Vehicle (RRV) due to it being 
laid across the track whilst in use rather than being fed beneath the rail.

	 On 29 December 2018, on the Goods Loop at West Drayton, a Road / Rail Vehicle 
(RRV) came into contact with the isolated OHLE contact wire causing the wire to 
oscillate.  A Construction Manager visited site and carried out a high and low level 
inspection. No damage was found on the contact wire apart from some minor 
scratches.

	 On 03 January 2019, 8102 Points failed at Old Oak Common West and Reception 
Lines 1 and 2. This was caused by a blown 650 volt fuse. The fuse was replaced but 
when tested, failed again.  It was found that the secondary side of the transformer 
output was 170 volts instead of 110 volts.

d)  Environment Incidents
	 There were no environmental incidents but four environmental complaints during Period 

10 (all relating to noise, vibration and light). None of these occurred over the Christmas 
blockade.

3) Works Achievements and Progress
 Old Oak Common & Paddington Approaches (OOCPA)

	 Outfall 1 drainage completed.

	 8066 Points tamped, mechanical set up completed and entered into service.
	 Paddington station platform ducting: 90 core locations completed and 48 ducts fully 

installed.

 West Inner and Stations
	 100 No. precast foundations installed.

	 15,930 No. blocks / oversails laid.

	 1,160 tonnes of backfill installed.

	 57 No. copers installed.

	 117 metres of ducting completed.

P
age 174



5

3 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

	 At Shenfield: 600 metres of High Voltage cable connected to the new OHLE switch, three 
seal ends, one High Voltage joint and 73 small part steel (SPS) locations.

 Traction Power Supply
	 154 No. bridle wheel jumpers.

	 14 No. balance weight insulators.

	 12 kA bridge bonding at six locations.

	 Five switch upgrades.

	 One insulated overlap removed.

	 Renewal and removal of cross track feeds.

	 Two Autotransformer backlinks installed.

	 12kA OHLE component changes.

	 HEX switch upgrades.

	 12kA equipotential earth bonding between Bow and Maryland and Ilford to Chadwell 
Heath.

	 At Bow / Stratford: 4000 metres of HV feeder cables pulled, 1,500 metres of Return 
Screen Conductor (RSC) wire, 5,662 meters of Autotransformer wiring and 4,500 metres 
of return bonding.

	 3,500 metres of return current busbar (RCBB) cable installed.

	 8,776 metres of Return Screen Conductor (RSC) cable installed.

	 98 cross track bonds.

	 Assisting Crossrail’s C610 contractor’s cable pull opportunity at Pudding Mill Lane.

 Signalling
	 One signal head change.

	 13 No. 650 volt signal power migrations (against a planned 100).

	 57 No. equipmental bonds installed.

 Line of Route (LoR)
	 Three 100 pair cables were partitioned.

	 Three 50 pair cables were diverted.

	 Bonding works undertaken.

P
age 175



6

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

ILFORD: Enhanced Station Works

STRATFORD:  DOO - Excavation of Cable Route 

on Platforms 9 & 10STRATFORD:  DOO - Making Platforms GoodROMFORD: Enhanced Station Works ROMFORD: Enhanced Station Works

ILFORD: Enhanced Station WorksILFORD: Enhanced Station Works

P
age 176



ANGLIA: Telecomms WorksANGLIA: Telecomms Works

7

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

ANGLIA: Traction Power Works

ANGLIA: Signalling Power WorksANGLIA: Traction Power Works ANGLIA: Traction Power Works

P
age 177



8

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WEST: Traction Power 12kA WorksOOCPA: 8066 Points Mechanical Setup

PADDINGTON: Bonding Duct Installation OOCPA: 8066 Points Tamping

P
age 178



9

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

ACTON MAIN LINE: Works Complete

ACTON MAIN LINE: Lift Shaft InstallationACTON MAIN LINE: Lift Shaft InstallationACTON MAIN LINE: Footbridge Works

ACTON MAIN LINE: Hoarding InstallationACTON MAIN LINE: Lift Shaft Installation

ACTON MAIN LINE: Footbridge Works

P
age 179



10

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

EALING BROADWAY: Footbridge Works

EALING BROADWAY: Footbridge Works EALING BROADWAY: Footbridge Works

EALING BROADWAY: Electrical Work

EALING BROADWAY: Temporary Roof InstallationEALING BROADWAY: Platform 1 Concrete Pour

EALING BROADWAY: Temporary Deck

P
age 180



11

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WEST EALING: Footbridge WorksWEST EALING: Footbridge Works

WEST EALING: Footbridge Works WEST EALING: Footbridge WorksP
age 181



12

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 10 - 2018/19 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WEST DRAYTON: Christmas Works

WEST DRAYTON: Pouring Concrete to StitchesWEST DRAYTON: Platform 2 Copers WEST DRAYTON: Platform 3 Blockwork

WEST DRAYTON: UTX Backfill 
and Ballast Reinstating

P
age 182



1

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme Overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and
Progress

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2019 Network Rail. 
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Sponsor.

PERIOD 11  6th January to 2nd February 2019

P
age 183



2

INDEX Main Report Contents

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Appendices
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A18

Key Dates A18
ETCS Level 2 Milestones A19

C Financial Data A20
Change Commentary A20
Spend by Year A22
Graph; Spend Curve A23
Cost Variance Analysis A24
Opportunities and Recoveries A25

D Variation Notice Tracker A26
E Regulated Change Dashboard A27
F Health, Safety and Environment A28 
 Performance
G Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A29
H Commitments (Undertakings and  A30 

Assurances) Dashboard
I Engineering Performance A31 

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Acton
Appendices Front: Pudding Mill Lane

6) Stages 6

Progress Photos 7

1) Executive Summary 3

2) Safety 3
a) Headline Data 3

b) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

c) Safety Incidents 3

d) Environment Incidents 3

3) Programme Overview 3
a) Commercial 3

b) Schedule 4

c) Town Planning 4

d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances) 4

e) Advanced Information 4

f) Escalation Summary 4

4) Procurement 4
a) Procurement Status 4

5) Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. West Inner and Stations 4

ii. West Outer 5

iv. ETCS 5

v. Anglia 5

vi. Kent 5

vii. Traction Power Supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

P
age 184



3

2 Safety1 Executive Summary 3 Programme Overview

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

unbonded metallic structure; a plastic-coated structure should have been installed.  
No shock sustained as test equipment was used.

l	 Incident - Altercation with member of public: On 30th January 2019 at Hayes and 
Harlington, mini bus driver on route to Hayes and Harlington Station was cut up by 
another vehicle. The vehicles driver stopped their car their car, got out and opened 
the driver’s door, removed the keys and then drove away with the keys.

l	 Incident - Electrical: On 02 February 2019 at Old Oak Common, testers pulled 
incorrect fuses on two occasions which affected signalling systems on the 
operational railway.

d)  Environment Incidents
l	 There were two environmental complaints in Period 11, both relating to noise, vibration 

and light.
l	 There were no major and two minor environmental incidents recorded in Period 11. One 

relating to a small hydraulic spill at Southall (less than 0.5 litres), the other a spill of 
waste whilst attempting to move a toilet portacabin (less than 4 litres).

3)  Programme Overview
a)  Commercial

l	 The AFC is £2,517.0m.
l	

 
 

l	  
 

1) Executive Summary 
 

 

During Period 11, works continued across the Elizabeth line including, on the Anglia Route, 
opening the ticket halls at Gidea Park and Forest Gate stations.  On the Western Route, 
a contract for the West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and 
Harlington and West Drayton) was awarded in December 2018, and negotiations continue 
towards award of the West Enhanced Stations Package 2 contract..

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

l	 Contractor staff hours in Period 11 were 97,000 hours.

b)  Significant Events
 (Accidents)

l	 There were two accidents or injuries in Period 11:
l	 On 24 November 2018 at Southall Station an Operative working around a CHS 

pile between platforms 2/3, stood on the plywood pile cap, which gave way under 
their weight, causing the operative’s right leg to slip partially into the pile and the 
operative to fall backwards, jarring their right knee (no lost time injury).

l	 On 30 January 2019 at Slough Station whilst moving Plywood boards on platform 
3 an Operative complained of pain to his back.  The Operative completed their shift 
and made their own way home; medical assistance was not required/sought (no 
lost time injury).

c)  Safety Incidents
l	 There were 14 safety events reported in Period 11, further deatils can be found in 

Appendix F. Highlights include:
l	 6 thefts thefts or attempted thefts.
l	 2 property damage incidents at Haven Green.
l	 Operational Close Call - Line Blockage Irregularity: On 11th January 2019 at 

West Drayton, a team using a track trolley on the West Drayton Loop under a line 
blockage, passed an axle counter, effecting signal T463 causing a change of aspect 
from green to red.

l	 Incident - Plant Damage: On 13th January 2019 at Southall Station, piling rig 
working on platform 1 was shot at from a nearby residential building. The rig 
sustained a shattered back window, the plant operator was still in the machine.

l	 Non KPI Event - LSR Breach (Plans and Permits): On 27 January 2019 at Ealing 
Broadway, a Permit to Dig document was altered by the contractor without seeking 
authorisation from Network Rail.

l	 Incident: On 30 January 2019 at West Ealing.  Residual voltage identified within an 

COST

a SPOT 2,827.7

b CRL ONW REO -10.3

c NR Target (Stretch) -135.7

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -164.7

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,517.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e) -217.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

P
age 185



4

4 Procurement3 Programme Overview 5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Stations Main Works Packages 2 contract); subject to receipt of additional funding and 
finalisation of supplier negotiations.

f)  Escalation summary
l	 Close-out of additional funding requirements.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement Status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) – Final tender negotiations and recommendation concluded, final close-out 
of assumptions and confirmation of price against projected award date being undertaken 
pending receipt of funding.

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and 
West Drayton) – Contract Awarded in December 2018.

l	 Crossrail East Enhanced Stations (Ilford and Romford) GRIP 6-8 –  
 
 

The Form B design is due to be received 
in February 2019, and “Approved for Construction” drawings in March 2019. The 
main Contract award will be subject to conclusion of agreement of Value Engineering 
opportunities between Crossrail and Network Rail. The option of MTR delivering the 
Romford ticket-hall also requires discussion and agreement between Crossrail and 
Network Rail.

l	 Crossrail West Outer Stations – The GRIP 4/5 design and Slough, Maidenhead and West 
Drayton stations’ platform extensions contract was awarded to Amey Rail.  A new 
contract was awarded to Fourways in January 2019, for the DOO works.

l	 Maidenhead and Slough stations GRIP 5 design – Procurement activities are 
awaiting close-out of GRIP 4 design.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 West Inner and Stations

		 Acton:
l	 Foundation installation continuing on Platform 4.

l	 Installation of the Down Main walkway, basement foundations and installation of 
stairs on Platform 4 continuing.

l	 Footbridge steel will be completed by main works contractor for WP2.

  West Ealing:
l	 Snagging and demobilising from site by May 2019 to facilitate handover to the main 

contractor for WP2.

l	 Vinci (Crossrail West): The Final Account has been agreed and formal paperwork 
prepared. Network Rail awaits return of the signed final account statement from Vinci.

l	 Costain (Crossrail Anglia): The Final Account is progressing with the continued 
commercial assessment of the largest 12 outstanding Employer’s Representative 
Instructions (ERI’s).  Senior management from Network Rail and Costain are due to meet 
on 12 February 2019, to discuss the status of the account and to endeavour to progress 
settlement.  It is anticipated that the Final Account will be agreed during April 2019.

l	 Balfour Beatty (Crossrail Kent): Negotiations have reached an advanced stage with the 
account to mid-October 2018, being agreed subject to completion of governance on 
both sides. The costs to complete are being closely monitored and the Final Account is 
expected to be agreed during the first quarter of 2019.

b)  Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Outputs 6a and 6b.

c)  Town Planning
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
l	 87% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans and Specifications 

and Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
l	 One town planning approval was obtained in Period 10. Three further approvals are 

scheduled for Period 12.
l	 There was one recovery, no new non-compliances and one new potential risk identified 

in this period. Please see the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the Appendices for 
further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 11
l	 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) screening opinion and full town planning 

permission is required for the change of use of the IF Bar for the Ilford Station works.  
There is a high potential that the EIA opinion and planning permission will not be 
obtained in time for the planned change of use.

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 There are 174 evidences that remain open, 86 of which are noise related that will not be 

concluded until the end of May 2019. 
l	 During Period 11, 79 utilities commitments were approved by Crossrail, 12 were 

completed by Network Rail and are pending validation by Crossrail and 28 further 
commitments are with Crossrail to review.

l	 Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work together to review and validate open 
commitments, numbers and associated information. 

e)  Advanced information
l	 Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.
l	 One contract with a value over £25 million is due to be let next period (West Enhanced 

P
age 186



5

5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

  Gidea Park:
l	 Platform extension completed including platform end fences.

l	 Ticket office opened to public and temporary ticket office removed.

  Forest Gate: 
l	 Lifts commissioned and handed over to RfL.

  Goodmayes:
l	 Works recommenced at Goodmayes Ticket Office following the water damage.

  Harold Wood:
l	 DNO switchover and LV Panel installation in progress.

  Ilford:
l	 Piling on platform 5  for lift pit complete.

l	 Excavation and break down of piles on platform 2/3 ongoing.

l	 Refurbishment of site offices begun.

  Romford:
l	 Strip out of retail units beginning.

l	 Refurbishment of site office begun.

l	 Asbestos survey undertaken.

 Kent
l	 Works ongoing to complete the outstanding snags and documentation.

 Traction Power Supply (Cash Funded and ONW)
  Western:

l	 Paddington station platform OLE & EP bonding and associated ducting civil works 
continue with forecast completion in April 2019.

l	 Hayes FS decommissioning ongoing.

l	 49/629 No. bridle wheel jumpers to be completed by week 7.

l	 49/111 Current carrying jumpers to be completed for week 7.

l	 17/35 Bridge Flashover strips to be completed for week 7.

l	 12 kA bridge bonding at 13 locations to be completed by week 7.

l	 3 Bridge face cantilevers completed.

l	 10 switch upgrades completed.

l	 HEX tunnel bonding 91% complete. To be completed week 4.

l	 Renewal and removal of cross track feeds. – Completed over 
Christmas.

  Southall:
l	 Southall foundation works ongoing. Work to be completed by week 50 ready for 

handover Hotchief.
l	 Work Package 3 contract awarded. Hocthief have mobilised to Dawley Road and are 

on course for a site mobilisation in March

  Ealing Broadway:
l	 Platform 2/3 stairs opened to passenger use.
l	 Stairs/bridge works forecast to complete by May 2019 to facilitate handover to the 

main contractor for WP2.

 West Outer
  West Drayton:

l	 Platform extensions civils works ongoing. 

  Slough:
l	 Platform extensions civils works ongoing. 
l	 Preparations for Week 47 Megatech installation on programme. 

  DOO:
l	 DOO base installation 75% complete.
l	 DOO ducting 50% complete.
l	 Maidenhead station change resolved with GWR.
l	 Fourways mobilised and detailed programmes being prepared.

 ETCS
  Stage A:

l	 SJR status presented to Network Rail system review panel. Final version to be 
presented when system review panel next sits in April 2019. 

  Stage B/C:
l	 Network Rail is progressing a strategy that would see ETCS for Stage B (Heathrow 

Tunnel Junction to Acton) delivered by December 2020, and Stage C (Acton to 
Paddington) by December 2022.  

l	 Network Rail and its industry partners met with the Office of Road and Rail (ORR) 
on 21 January 2019, to present the outcome of the Sotera Risk assessment and 
discuss the next steps. Agreement that programme will be reviewed now that the 
Exemption for the Class 387 no longer needs to start in June 2019. 

 Anglia
  Stratford:

l	 239 metres of DOO cable management system works in platforms 5 to 8 canopies, 
8 DOO / Common Bonding cables (CBC) chambers and 80 meters of DOO/CBC 
ducting installed on platform 9/10. 

P
age 187



6

6 Stages5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

l	 HEX switch upgrades. – Completed Over Christmas.

l	 139 ATF snags to be completed April 2019.

l	 Temperature settings – design ongoing.

l	 Eastern Flyover Binding completed.

  Anglia:
l	 Ilford SATs being prepared for entry into service Week 49.

l	 ADP Bench Testing completed.

l	 Gidea Park SATs electrical installation complete, preparing for electrical pre-
commissioning.

l	 Safety case approved for boosterless east, waiting closeout of final evidence. 
Boosterless target start Week 48.

l	 RSC and Cross-track bonds ready to commission Bow to Manor Park Neutrals Week 
46.

l	 12kA equipotential earth bonding continues between Bow and Maryland and Ilford 
to Chadwell Heath.

l	 Liverpool Concentrator migration started with Stratford panel underway.

l	 New Box Plan developed and dependent on Route access to align with Central Line 
closure Week 02.

l	 Negotiating implementation of Employer’s Option with Keltbray.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

P
age 188



7

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

WEST EALING: Platfrom 2&3 Grouting of Lift Shaft Baseplate Support Column

SOUTHALL: Installing Piles on Platform 0 & 1EALING BROADWAY:  Lift Shaft Enabling WorksACTON MAIN LINE: Striking Walkway Cess

EALING BROADWAY: Temporary 

Lights Installation

WEST DRAYTON: Platform 5 

Extension ExcavationSOUTHALL: Platform 2 & 3 Lift Shaft Work

P
age 189



8

PHOTOS

MAIDENHEAD: Installation of Duct Route for 

Platform 1 DOO Camera BaseMAIDENHEAD: Platform 1 DOO Camera Base

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 11 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

SLOUGH: Digging Foundations

SLOUGH: Excavating Platform 3 & 4 

Extension AreaWEST DRAYTON: Platform 4 & 5 Block Work
WEST DRAYTON: Platform 2 Staircase 

Foundation Excavation

P
age 190



1

Crossrail On Network Works  
Programme Delivery Board Report

CONTENTS

n Executive Summary

n Safety

n Programme Overview

n Procurement

n Works Achievements and  
 Progress

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Copyright © 2019 Network Rail.  
This document is the property of Network Rail. It shall not be reproduced in whole or in part, nor disclosed to a third Party, without the written permission of the Crossrail Programme Sponsor.

PERIOD 12  3rd February to 2nd March 2019

P
age 191



2

INDEX Main Report Contents

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Appendices  
A Stage on a Page A2
B Key Dates A18
 Key Dates A18
 ETCS Level 2 Milestones A19

C Financial Data A20
 Change Commentary A20
 Spend by Year A22
 Graph; Spend Curve A23
 Cost Variance Analysis A24
 Opportunities and Recoveries A25

D Variation Notice Tracker A26
E Regulated Change Dashboard A27
F Health, Safety and Environment  A28 
 Performance
G Consents Schedule 7 dashboard A29
H Commitments (Undertakings and  A30 
 Assurances) Dashboard
I Engineering Performance  A31 

Electronic Items
Period Primavera .xer files are transmitted to Crossrail in electronic format
Cover Images
Main Front: Slough
Appendices Front: Slough

6)  Stages 6

 Progress Photos 7

1) Executive Summary 3

2)  Safety 3
 a) Headline Data 3

 b) Significant Events (Accidents) 3

 c) Safety Incidents 3

 d) Environment Incidents 3

3)  Programme Overview 3
 a) Commercial 3

 b) Schedule 4

 c) Town Planning 4

 d) Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances) 4

 e) Advanced Information 4

 f) Escalation Summary 4

4)  Procurement 4
 a) Procurement Status 4

5)  Works Achievements and Progress 4
i. West Inner and Stations 4

ii. West Outer 5

iv. ETCS  5

v. Anglia  5

vi. Kent   5

vii. Traction Power Supply (Cash funded & ONW) 5

viii. Signalling  6

P
age 192



3

2 Safety1 Executive Summary 3 Programme Overview

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

Police.
l	 Life saving rule breach:  on 17th February 2019 the driver of a five-tonne excavator 

was observed not wearing a seatbelt whilst operating the vehicle. The driver was 
stood down and re-briefed on life saving rules. A level 1 investigation is being carried 
out.

l	 Property Damage: on 18th February 2019 a low loader made contact with a vehicle 
whilst reversing causing minor damage.

l	 0perational Close Call: on 24th February 2019 a road rail vehicle slipped and 
derailed, believed to be due to an axle lock defect on the machine. 

l	 Life saving rule breach:  on 26th February 2019 an operative was observed 
accessing a two-storey high cabin roof without fall protection. This event is pending 
further investigation.

l	 Theft: on 26th February 2019 an operative’s leased company van was stolen from 
their residence. The van contained construction materials and tools. This incident is 
currently under investigation by the Police. 

l	 Life saving rule breach: on 27th February 2019 an operative was observed carrying 
out works not included in the safe system of works whilst working at height.  The 
operative did not have site specific paperwork and was wearing incorrect PPE. This 
event is pending further investigation.

l	 0perational Close Call: on 1st March 2019 the 00:25 Paddington to Oxford train 
reported that a group of operatives working on the up relief line platform accidently 
shone a laser (believed to be a survey level) through the drivers cab as it passed by, 
dazzling the driver.

d)  Environment Incidents
l	 There was one environmental complaint in Period 12, relating to noise, vibration and light 

regarding works at Southall Station.
l	 There were no major but five minor environmental incidents recorded in Period 12. Each 

of the incidents involved a spill of three litres or less of hydraulic fluid due to split hoses 
on machinery. Each of the hoses was repaired by qualified fitters and spills were cleaned 
using spill kits.

3)  Programme Overview
a)  Commercial

l	 The AFC is £2,517.0m.
l	

 

l	 The Portfolio Board approved the new dates for Key Output 6a (1st May 2020) and Key 
Output 6b (1st Dec 2020) and the introduction of a new key date (KD34 1st Dec 2019) in 
the Network Rail Enhancements Development Plan (EDP).

l	 Variation Instructions have been issued to remove scope for the staff 
accommodation at Maidenhead, Gidea Park and Shenfield as well as the 

1) Executive Summary 

 
 

During Period 12, works continued across the Elizabeth line, including the successful 
opening of lifts at Forest Gate Station on the Anglia Route, whilst on the Western Route 
platform extension works continue at West Drayton, Slough and Maidenhead Stations. 

2) Safety
a) Headline Data

l	 Contractor staff hours in Period 12 were 109,000 hours.

b)  Significant Events
 (Accidents)

l	 There were two accidents and a minor injury in Period 12 :
l	 Accident (No Injury):  on 3rd February 2019 an operative’s vehicle collided with the 

rear of another vehicle on the A406 carriageway due to sudden emergency braking. 
Police attended the scene and drivers details were exchanged.

l	 Accident (Minor Injury) on 25th February 2019 an operative reported pain in his 
back whilst digging a foundation at Maidenhead Station. A supervisor stood the 
operative down and offered to take them to a hospital which they declined. The 
supervisor also offered to drive the operative home which they also declined. Six 
days lost time injury (Potential RIDDOR). 

c)  Safety Incidents
l	 Safety events reported in Period 12:

l	 0perational Close Call: on 3rd February 2019 the 06:45 Paddington to Reading train 
came to a stand after striking a work site marker board (WSMB) on the down main 
line at Burnham. It was later identified that the engineering supervisor assistant had 
failed to retrieve the WSMB from the Down Main. Full investigation is to be carried 
out.

l	 0perational Close Call: on 11th February 2019 the construction site barriers 
collapsed adjacent to platform one at Southall. Inspection of all temporary works 
has since taken place.

l	 Theft: on 12th February 2019 operatives attending the Acton Yard site noticed 
that a padlock was missing from the outside door of the storage unit. On further 
inspection, it was found that a number of OHLE fittings were missing.

l	 Theft: on 13TH February 2019 the padlock affixed to the storage container at the 
Acton Yard site had been broken off and a small generator and petrol saw had been 
stolen. The site team unsuccessfully attempted to block a vehicle, believed to be 
involved, from leaving the yard. This incident is currently under investigation by the 

P
age 193



4

4 Procurement3 Programme Overview 5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

in this period. Please see the Planning and Schedule 7 dashboard in the Appendices for 
further details of ongoing, potential and actual non-compliances.

 Period 12
l	 Submission of external material samples for West Enhanced stations (Ealing Broadway, 

Southall, West Ealing and Acton Mainline only) for approval still outstanding.
l	 Planning and heritage consents are still required for the main Slough Station works 

(southern ticket hall and platform 3/4 waiting room).

d)  Commitments (Undertakings & Assurances)
l	 145 evidences remain open in period 12, 86 of which are noise related that will not be 

concluded until the end of May 2019.
l	 314 commitments were closed out in period 12 against the contract between Network 

Rail and Crossrail with 59 outstanding.
l	 Network Rail and Crossrail continue to work together to review and validate open 

commitments, numbers and associated information. 

e)  Advanced information
l	 Other than any details contained in this report, there is no change to the procurement 

strategy from that previously reported.
l	 One contract with a value over £25 million is due to be let in period 1 2019/20 (West 

Enhanced Stations Main Works Packages 2 contract); subject to receipt of additional 
funding and finalisation of supplier negotiations.

f)  Escalation summary
l	 Close-out of additional funding requirements.

4) Procurement
a)  Procurement Status

l	 West Enhanced Stations Main Works Package 2 (Acton Mainline, Ealing Broadway and 
West Ealing) – Final tender negotiations and recommendation concluded, final close-out 
of assumptions and confirmation of price against projected award date being undertaken 
pending receipt of funding.

l	 Contract awarded to Optilan for Anglia Stations station information systems survey and 
Forest Gate temporary footbridge cable diversion design.

5) Works Achievements and Progress
 West Inner and Stations

		 Acton:
l	 Foundation installation continuing on Platform 4.

l	 Bechtel instructed to continue the installation of the Down Main 
walkway, basement foundations and installation of stairs on Platform 
4.

l	 Vinci (Crossrail West): The Final Account has been agreed and fully signed off.
l	 Costain (Crossrail Anglia): The Final Account is progressing with the continued 

commercial assessment of the largest 12 outstanding Employer’s Representative 
Instructions (ERI’s ). A settlement proposal is currently being discussed.

l	 Balfour Beatty (Crossrail Kent): Negotiations have reached an advanced stage with the 
account to mid-October 2018, being agreed subject to completion of governance on 
both sides. The costs to complete are being closely monitored and the Final Account is 
expected to be agreed during the first quarter of 2019.

b)  Schedule
l All works are on schedule to achieve Key Outputs 6a and 6b.
l Key Date 34 – The platform extension and DOO works on the West Outer stations 

remains at risk to support sufficient time for trial operations for the December 2019 
timetable change.  Network Rail is working closely with MTR to develop an integrated 
plan that enables the remaining construction tasks to be undertaken in conjunction with 
the system testing, driver training and new service introduction. Additional access is also 
being requested to de-risk the schedule.

c)  Town Planning
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Construction Arrangement consents obtained.
l	 100% of Schedule 7 Bringing into Use consents obtained.
l	 87% of overall, currently identified town planning (Schedule 7 Plans and Specifications 

and Town and Country Planning Act) consents obtained.
l	 No planning approvals were obtained in Period 12. Three further approvals are scheduled 

for Period 13.
l	 There were no recoveries, no new non-compliances and two new potential risks identified 

COST

a SPOT 2,827.7

b CRL ONW REO -9.0

c NR Target (Stretch) -137.0

d Realised Network Rail Recoveries -164.7

e AFC (excl. VNs) (a+b+c+d) 2,517.0

f Variation Notices / AFC Scope Impacts Part 1 0.0

g Headroom to DfT Intervention Price (£2.3bn) (£2.3bn-e) -217.0

h Additional Variation Notices / AF Scope Impacts Part 2 0.0

removal of the station signage requirement (which will be carried out by Rail for London).

P
age 194



5

5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

confirmed.
l	 ETCS team awaiting a train testing programme so that it can secure the resources 

required to support delivery of Heathrow Implementation Agreement 4.

  Stage B/C:
l	 Network Rail is progressing a strategy that would see ETCS for Stage B (Heathrow 

Tunnel Junction to Acton) delivered by December 2020, and Stage C (Acton to 
Paddington) by December 2022.  

l	 Network Rail and its industry partners held a workshop on the 21st February 2019 
to understand the qualitive benefits and disadvantages of each available delivery 
option. Current delivery strategy of delivering Stage B, then Axle Counters, then 
Stage C, was noted as preferable. 

 Anglia
l	 Lifts at Forest Gate station have been opened to the public.

l	 Common bonding cables bonding 50% completed.

l	 P5 CMS installation for DOO at Stratford completed.

l	 Stratford P9/10 civils installation for DOO/Common bonding cables.

l	 Contract awarded to Optilan to complete the station information system surveys on 
site and diversion of cabling from Forest Gate temporary footbridge.

l	 Document control resource to start processing the backlog of assurance documents 
from Costain.

l	 Lighting column duct installation solution agreed with Rail For London to enable 
Common bonding cables civils works to progress.

l	 Mechanical and Electrical works are ongoing at Harold Wood to energise the low 
voltage panel which will enable the lifts to be energised and recommissioned on 
permanent power.

l	 Additional civils gang introduced to assist with the completion of auto transformer/
common bonding works works left outstanding following the demobilisation of 
Costain.

 Kent
l	 Works ongoing to complete the outstanding snags and documentation.

 Traction Power Supply (Cash Funded and ONW)
  Western:

l	 Old Oak Decommissioning– OHLE element – disconnect substation from the OHLE 
(NBS dependent) to enable decommissioning - Potential for week 8/10.

l	 50 auto transformer (ATF) snags on the main line to be completed prior to week 14, 
71 ATF snags on the relief lines are to be completed prior to week 17.

l	 Temperature settings – design instructed to Amey for week 45. 

l	 Eastern Flyover Bonding completed.

l	 Footbridge steel will be completed by the main works contractor for Work Package 2

  West Ealing:
l	 Bechtel undertaking snagging works and demobilising from site by May 2019 to 

facilitate handover to the main contractor for work package 2.

  Southall:
l	 Southall foundation works ongoing. 
l	 Bechtel to complete work by week 50 ready for handover to Hochtief.

  Ealing Broadway:
l	 Bechtel instructed to complete the Platform 1 stairs, lift shaft and complete full 

entry into service of the SME bridge.
l	 Stairs/bridge works forecast to complete by May 2019, to facilitate handover to the 

main contractor for Work Package 2. 

 West Outer
  West Drayton:

l	 Platform extensions civils works are ongoing. 

  Slough:
l	 Platform extensions civils works are ongoing. 
l	 Successful Megatech installation in Week 47. 

  Maidenhead:
l	 Platform extensions civil works – Network Rail has engaged with WED (Network Rail 

in-house delivery organisation) to deliver these works.

  DOO:
l	 DOO base installation 77% complete.
l	 DOO secondary ducting 50% complete.
l	 Maidenhead station change objections resolved with Great Western Railway.
l	 Fourway mobilised and detailed programmes being prepared.
l	 Programme will achieve December 2019, however detailed integration through 

September to December required to facilitate MTR aspirations for operational 
testing.

l	 Additional access agreed in principle with Great Western Railway methodology and 
design of Maidenhead platform extensions being reviewed to bring forwards the 
civils elements and dependencies on DOO.

l	 Twyford GRIP 4 in progress, GRIP5-8 price and programme being expedited in 
parallel with view a to commencing civils ‘at risk’ in order to support train testing.

 ETCS
  Stage A:

l	 ETCS keys for 65 trains have been ordered from Alstom. Delivery date is to be 

P
age 195



6

6 Stages5 Works

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

requirements for the NKL TD testing; contracting arrangements have been set up via 
the Crossrail Western I-M contract with Alstom.

l	 A contract for the installation and commissioning of the outstanding emergency 
alarm equipment has been agreed with Siemens.

l	 The programme for ITPS and TD.Net connections at Romford has been escalated in 
Network Rail Telecoms following a delay to the design programme. Low level design 
is now expected by early March 2019 for full installation and service provision by 
early May.

6) Stages
“Stage on a Page” updates are provided at Appendix A to this report.

l	 Gantry mesh to be complete in week 48.

l	 Rationalised Auto Transformer System (RATS) clean break position under review 
and Safety Case activities have been stopped on the West pending this handover.

  Anglia:
l	 Substations: IC1/IC2 issue resolved and date for Pudding Mill Lane shutdown 

agreed for 18 March 2019.

l	 Ilford SATS commissioning postponed to Week 52 due to integration issues with 
Colas Rail.

l	 Additional access requested weeks 3 to 8 has not been agreed, this will impact 
the delivery programme for the auto transformer to Gidea Park. However auto 
transformer to Shenfield by January 2020 is unaffected.

 Signalling
  Western:

l	 Further updates to the programme for signalling and TD fringe tests has been 
received from Siemens. Formal issue from Crossrail is awaited. Signalling testing 
re-commenced from week 48 but revised CDM arrangements at Romford have still 
to be finalised. The works have now been formally instructed to Alstom.

l	 Support for TD testing was included in the Siemens fringe test request. Further 
detail was agreed between Siemens and Resonate and a revised plan has been 
agreed.

l	 Crossrail have advised that the signalling design on the COS side has been 
developed since Stage M and has requested technical support to the testing and 
Entry into Service process. No new designs have yet been issued for assessment.

l	 ASPRO support has yet to be fully agreed and short notice works are being disrupted 
by lack of availability. The requirement for ASPRO support has been escalated 
(given it is not required for any other IP-led project work) however no alterations to 
the requirements have been identified.

  Anglia:
l	 Support for Great Eastern Mainline TD testing was included in the Siemens fringe 

test request. Further detail was agreed between Siemens and Resonate and a 
revised plan has been agreed.

l	 Resonate has arranged a single point of contact for all testing needs. Currently 
the TD equipment has not been physically connected; the works to make the final 
connection having been refused by ASPRO at the last minute. The installation works 
are being replanned to support static testing.

l	 Factory TD testing (between Braunschweig and Derby) completed successfully in 
Period 12.

l	 Support for North Kent Line TD testing has still to be included in the Siemens fringe 
test request. The existing Network Rail team will manage the ongoing testing 

P
age 196



7

PHOTOS

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

SOUTHALL: Lift Shaft WorksEALING BROADWAY:  Piling WorksACTON MAIN LINE: Lift Shaft Works ACTON MAIN LINE: Lift Shaft Works

WEST DRAYTON: Platform 5 Pointing

WEST DRAYTON: DOO CCTV Base 

Concrete Pour WEST DRAYTON: Platform 5 Block WorkSOUTHALL: Lift Shaft Works

P
age 197



8

PHOTOS

MAIDENHEAD: DOO Foundation Works

SLOUGH: Installation of the Precast Concrete 

Platform Slabs SLOUGH: Applying Sealant To PlatformSLOUGH: New Platform Fence

CROSSRAIL PROGRAMME DELIVERY BOARD PERIOD 12 - 2019 COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE

SLOUGH: Track MonitoringWEST DRAYTON: Platform 5 Works IVER: DOO Works

P
age 198



Transport for London 

City Planning 

5 Endeavour Square 

London 

E20 1JN 

12 March 2019 

Dear Caroline 

Actions from the London Assembly Transport Committee Session on 
Freight 

Thank you for inviting me to appear in front of the London Assembly Transport 
Committee on 05 February to discuss our Freight Action Plan. I’m grateful for 
the opportunity to help the Committee to understand TfL’s approach to freight 
and its importance in delivering the Mayor’s Healthy Streets Approach and our 
target of 80 per cent of journeys to be made by walking, cycling or public 
transport by 2041 

During the session, I agreed to follow up on a number of points. Please find 
below our response to those actions.  

Action 1 - Send the committee images of the extra visibility you have from 
a five-star vehicle compared to a zero-star vehicle 

Our Assembly Relations Team has now shared this with the Transport 
Committee Scrutiny Manager.  

Action 2 – Provide the committee with data on the difference in the 
involvement of extra-long lorries in collisions with pedestrians and 
cyclists, or whether all the data for HGVs is amalgamated 

We use the Department for Transport’s (DfT) STATS20 database for analysing 
collision data. Within the database, goods vehicles are categorised by weight 
(3.5-7.5 tonne, and over 7.5 tonne) rather than by length. The DfT are currently 

Caroline Pidgeon 
Chair of the London Assembly Transport Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 

Appendix 2

Page 199



 

Page 2 of 4 

 

undertaking a review of STATS20 instructions for reporting collisions and this is 
a potential enhancement to suggest to the DfT. 
 
However, I believe the concern you expressed related to the DfT’s ten-year trial 
of longer semi trailers. These are HGVs with trailers up to 2.05m longer than the 
standard normally permitted on our roads.  
 
We are continuing to monitor the DfT trial and offer support to the DfT as they 
examine the long-term trial outputs, and are working to include longer semi-
trailers in our existing Safer Lorries programme. The evidence from the freight 
industry is that they are using these vehicles for motorway activity, delivering 
bulk goods to out-of-town warehouses. The use of these trailers in London 
appears to be extremely limited and we do not expect to see any uplift in their 
use in the near future. 
 

Action 3 - How much money will be raised out of the ULEZ from the freight 
industry for central and inner London? 
 
London’s toxic air is a public health crisis and we are committed to tackling it. 
The introduction of the Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) in 2019 and its 
expansion to inner London in 2021 is not about making money, but about 
improving the health and wellbeing of thousands of Londoners. That is why we 
are doing all we can to make sure road users are aware that the ULEZ is 
coming on 8 April 2019 and they act to upgrade their vehicles. Any money 
received from the ULEZ will be reinvested into improving the transport network 
– including its roads, cycleways, buses and tube – and making London’s air 
cleaner. 

The overall operating costs and income for the ULEZ are set out in the table 
below. It is not possible to extrapolate the data to provide an accurate figure 
that separates out freight vehicles.  

ULEZ Implementation in 2019 and 
proposed expansion in 2021 

   

 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

Operating Income (174) (120) (222) (129) (80) 

Operating Costs 47  40  125  93  81  

Net Operating Total (127) (80) (97) (37) 1  

 
 

 

Page 200



 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Action 4 - An update on any progress made with the DfT and Network Rail 
on upgrading lines outside of London in order to allow freight to be 
moved around rather than through London 
 

We meet regularly with Network Rail to discuss a broad range of issues 
impacting our network, including rail freight. Upgrade of the cross-country 
Felixstowe to Nuneaton (F2N) route remains a priority for Network Rail in 
Control Period 6 (April 2019 – March 2024) and development work on the 
project continues, particularly around Ely where the primary challenge is in 
delivering an affordable scheme to remove a large number of level crossings.  
 
However, the current plans mean that additional paths enabled by the F2N 
project will mostly be used to cater for rail freight growth, rather than diverting 
existing services. We will continue to make the case for existing freight services 
to be diverted where the network has capability to accommodate this. 
 

Action 5 - An update on removing spoil by rail from HS2 
 
We are working with HS2 to deliver Healthy Streets and Vision Zero objectives 
throughout the construction phase. This includes transporting materials by rail in 
London. This commitment will help to minimise HS2 vehicles on London’s 
roads. The latest proposal from HS2 is for 34 per cent of material in/out of 
Camden to be by rail. This proposal is welcome but we feel an effort should be 
made to do more and it should not be at the expense of capacity for passenger 
services, such as the Elizabeth line or London Overground services.  

 
Action 6 - Timeline/date for when TfL will be conducting a staff survey to 
understand where staff get personal deliveries sent to 
 
To help inform our plans to work with businesses to tackle congestion, we 
surveyed our staff between November and December 2018 to understand the 
changes they have made to the way they receive personal deliveries. This 
followed the decision we made in March 2017 to dissuade personal deliveries to 
Head Office premises.  
 
The results of the survey are being considered and I would be happy to share a 
summary with you as this work progresses. We intend to do a follow up 
employee survey in autumn 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 201



 

Page 4 of 4 

 

Action 7 - Clarify why the commitment for all of London to be within a 30-
minute drive of a construction consolidation centre was removed as a 
specific proposal in the final Transport Strategy (it does still appear in the 
strategy but not as a specific proposal) 
 
The freight chapter of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy was re-drafted to give it 
significantly more substance and weight between the consultation draft and final 
draft.  
 
Further information was included in the body of the chapter regarding 
Construction Consolidation Centres. We set out the Mayor’s commitment to 
completing the network of Construction Consolidation Centres, to enable all of 
London to be within 30 minutes of a Construction Consolidation Centre.  
 
Proposal 16c re-iterates completion of this network as an action in the strategy, 
and the text of the strategy itself describes the Mayor’s support for the 
completion of a network that would enable all of London to be within 30 minutes 
of a Construction Consolidation Centre.  
 
We have also included this commitment within the Freight and Servicing Action 
Plan. 
 
Action 8 - Update from the Director of Innovation on TfL’s ability to 
respond to new technology (e.g. dockless bikes, drone and droids) within 
the current regulatory framework 
 
I understand that the Assembly Relations Team has been in contact to arrange 
for Michael Hurwitz, Director of Innovation to meet with you and discuss our 
approach in more detail.  
 
 

Please feel free to contact the Assembly Relations Team should you require 
any further information or clarification.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alex Williams, Director of City Planning 
 
Copy to: Transport Committee Scrutiny Manager 
 

Page 202



Appendix 3

Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair, London Assembly Transport Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 

4 April 2019 

Dear Caroline, 

We remain committed to being able to provide an opening window - the Earliest Opening 
Programme (our route to get the railway up and running as quickly and safely as possible) - 
in April. That programme includes delivery of all the remaining Stages of the project and 
delivery of the Elizabeth line. 

It is likely to be a wide range that will progressively narrow as we refine down the information 
in the schedule, calibrate against productivity achieved, milestones achieved and progress of 
dynamic testing.  

This process is taking longer than I had hoped but we are making progress. We hope to 
provide more detail to the Assembly, our London stakeholders and beyond, later in April. In 
line with the Mayor’s letter to the Assembly Chairman, I would be pleased to attend a full 
meeting of the Assembly soon after that. 

Please find below the rest of this month’s update on the Crossrail project for the Transport 
Committee of the Assembly.  

Safety 
On health and safety, performance remains within targets. However, in March we had 2 
reportable incidents (one individual who missed his footing and the other an individual 
manual handling a polystyrene block), one lost time case (a tripping incident) and six high 
potential near misses (three of which related to the high winds in March). 

There are no identifiable unifying reasons for these occurrences, but every incident is one 
too many and should be avoidable – all are investigated. Overall there is continued focus on 
the change of risk profile of the project as we continue to work both in a construction 
environment and an energised operational environment during dynamic testing. 

Programme
Our weekly cost spend has reduced, however, the Earliest Opening Programme will need to 
be examined for cost and commercial impact.  

As you would expect the staff associated costs previously budgeted has increased 
significantly as the project is re-resourced and strengthened. 

Appendix 4

Page 209



 

   
 

 
Assurance of the programme has commenced with a “red team review” undertaken to look 
at the programme development so far including an assessment of the organisational 
capacity, programme interventions, schedule logic and dependencies and our technical and  
engineering strategies. We will then need to undertake a “black team review” which will 
assure the complete programme including cost, time and commercial risk. 
 
Central Section Progress  
We have achieved 16 of 22 Tier One Substantial Decommissioning (TOSD) milestones – 
and achievement at Whitechapel (London Overground and Underground areas) at the end of 
March under review. Our costs are directly linked to the time period that contractors are 
involved in the project. You will recall that is why we have been pursuing a policy of driving 
towards TOSD to reduce the numbers of workers on sites as rapidly as possible.  
 
The completion of installation, including close-out of critical snags and provision of 
associated information at stations, shafts and portals remains an issue. This reflects a 
combination of the complexity of interfacing activities required to complete works, as well as 
constraints in the technical capabilities both within the supply chain and Crossrail. A major 
deployment of additional technical resource is currently underway to remedy this. 
 
Main Dynamic Testing 
29 out of 222 test cases have been passed. However, this is a lengthy process and not 
always straightforward. While testing progress appears positive there are some signalling 
tests that cannot be performed due to a combination of insufficient software maturity, train 
maturity and incomplete interfacing systems. 
 
Due to a safety critical failure we did not start close-headway testing - that is to say testing 
the trains close together - on 18 March as planned. A team is currently investigating that 
failure. However, testing is continuing using multiple trains in the tunnels, but they are being 
kept with a station’s testing distance between them. Subject to the findings of the review and 
subsequence safety assurance, we are aiming to commence close-headway testing after 
Easter. 
 
Operations progress 
The plans to deliver Stage 5a – a TfL Rail service between Paddington (main line station) 
and Reading are progressing for commencement in December 2019. We are working with 
Network Rail to finalise their schedule to deliver the required works (platform extensions and 
platform/train cameras) in time. The delivery of the full-length units for MTR-C to drive for 
this service is progressing. 
 
Network Rail 
The contract award for the three remaining station enhancement works on the west (Ealing 
Broadway, West Ealing and Acton Mainline) is due in mid-April. Mobilisation on the other 
three west stations (West Drayton, Hayes & Harlington, and Southall) has commenced. And 
progress towards final award of the contracts for Ilford and Romford stations - due this 
Summer - is progressing with enabling works being carried out. 
 
 
Kind regards 

 
 
Mark Wild  
CEO 

Page 210



 

 
 
 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair, London Assembly Transport Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 
 
 
 
12 March 2019 
 
 
 
Dear Caroline,  
 
Work on the high-level plan to complete the Elizabeth line and bring the railway into 
passenger service is ongoing. We anticipate that this work will be completed in late 
March/early April. 
 
Once approved, the plan to complete and open the Elizabeth line will be submitted to the 
Sponsors of the Crossrail project, Transport for London and the Department for Transport, 
for final approval. 
 
As I have previously reported, there is a huge amount of work to do before the Elizabeth line 
can open. Stations remain in varying stages of completion and we need to fully test the 
railway to ensure it is safe and reliable. Due to the extent of work still to be completed, 
Elizabeth line services in the central section will not commence during 2019. 
 
Once complete, this plan will enable Elizabeth line services to commence through central 
London as early as possible, followed by a phased introduction of services across the entire 
route after that. 
 
Please find below the rest of this month’s update on the Crossrail project for the Transport 
Committee of the Assembly.  
 
Safety  
There has been an increase in the number of safety incidents across the Programme, with 
the highest number of High Potential Near Misses and RIDDOR accidents reported in the 
last 13 periods. There is no single reason for this increase. However, following the start of 
main dynamic testing in January, we are now working in both a construction and operational, 
energised environment and this has changed the risk profile. This changed safety 
environment is being carefully considered at all levels and a continued and dedicated focus 
on prevention of incidents is vital. Tony Meggs has taken lead Board responsibility for health 
and safety. 
 
A serious near-miss in Period 12 involving a collision between an engineering train and 
mobile elevating work platform is being thoroughly investigated. Actions are being 
implemented to guard against a recurrence. 
 

Page 211



 

 
Programme 
Three more Tier 1 Substantial Demobilisation dates (TOSD) have been achieved in the past 
month. These were at Limmo Peninsula shaft (15 February 2019), Fisher Street shaft (22 
February 2019) and Tottenham Court Road (25 February 2019). Achieving the TOSD dates 
is critical in reducing CRL’s periodic spend in the months ahead.  
 
The installation of the fire main is now complete and ready for integration testing in all tunnel 
areas. In addition, the wireless communication system (GSM-R) is now ready for testing with 
the trains. 
 
As the complexity around interfaces between contracts increases, better visibility of the 
impact of delays that occur on the programme is critical. An important intervention is the 
implementation of the visual management system of working. We now have 14 visual 
management centres across the project. This makes performance transparent at each 
worksite and also facilitates the escalation of issues quickly and the collaborative efforts 
required to remove constraints.  
 
A Systems Integration team has now been established. The team’s immediate remit is to 
help develop a migration plan as part of the work to define the opening window. Other key 
deliverables include leading on the systems integration of the train and signalling systems, 
understanding and communicating technical risks and providing support to ensure the 
programme’s assurance plans are fully aligned. 
 
Central Section Progress  
Productivity remains below where we need it to be. 
 
The focus across all stations is completing the fit-out followed by testing and commissioning 
so each station can be integrated with the rest of the railway. At Tottenham Court Road and 
Farringdon, two of the more advanced stations for example, the teams have started testing 
and commissioning and are completing the final fit-out. At Paddington and Bond Street, on 
the other hand, there is still mechanical and electrical installation fit-out work underway. 
 
The other major challenge at stations is completing the extensive communications systems 
installation that we need to deliver an operational station. Each Elizabeth line station has 
over 50 km of comms cabling, 200 CCTV cameras, 66 information displays, 200 radio 
antennas, 750 loudspeakers and 50 help points. All this technology needs to be fully 
installed, tested and integrated. 
 
Train Testing 
Dynamic testing continued in the month with higher pass rates than baseline, although the 
number of tests performed is fewer than planned.  
 
At a check point meeting on 13 February 2019, we reviewed the progress and identified 
constraints on why the full number of tests cannot be performed. The key constraints are the 
level and availability of Siemens resources and the quality and timing of Bombardier 
software. These constraints continue to be raised at high level with the contractors by CRL 
and Sponsors. 
 
Operations progress 
Round two of Operations training has commenced, to start the process of multiskilling the 
operators and to upskill the existing teams who completed training twelve months ago. A 
Memorandum of Understanding has been agreed with the project team to allow the trained 
operators to support dynamic testing. 
 

Page 212



 

 
 
To develop the competence and confidence of the operators, Simulated Desktop Exercises 
(SDEs) are being carried out to give a realistic experience of the Control Room environment. 
Trial Operations planning continues with exercise packs being produced in readiness for an 
announcement of new programme dates. 
 
Network Rail 
Network Rail has now appointed a contractor to install platform cameras required for 
implementation of a TfL Rail service between Paddington (high-level) and Reading at the 
end of this year. Focus is on improving the delivery schedule of these works as well as the 
platform extensions required for a 9-car train service.  
 
Mobilisation by Hochtief for the stations enhancement works at (West Drayton, Hayes & 
Harlington, Southall) has commenced and preparatory documentation is in production prior 
to a start on-site; the exact start date has not yet been confirmed. The work to enhance West 
Ealing, Ealing Broadway and Acton is being re-priced with bidders to exclude scope 
undertaken as part of enabling works. Network Rail has extended the planned award to early 
April to select the preferred bidder and conclude the procurement process. 
 
KPMG Reports 
We have been working with Sponsors on a prioritised action plan, taking steps to implement 
further the recommendations from the two KMPG reports on governance and finance & 
commercial. We have worked to strengthen our internal project controls and risk functions as 
well as introducing visualisation management to strengthen oversight of delivery and 
progress. We have reinstated our Audit and Assurance Committee and will be forming an 
Investment Committee of the Board. We are also rebuilding our internal assurance process. 
 
 
Kind regards 
 

 
 
Mark Wild  
CEO 
 

Page 213



 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

Chair, London Assembly Transport Committee 

City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London  

SE1 2AA 

 

 

8 February 2019 

 

Dear Caroline, 
  
Last month the project hit a critical milestone with the start of Main Dynamic Testing (MDT) 
on 14 January as planned. Dynamic testing is essential as it enables the team to find any 
errors or defects in the software in both the trains and the signalling systems. Dynamic 
testing remains one of two critical paths for the project alongside the completion of stations 
(including testing and integration of their systems) and this was an important step forward for 
the project. 
  
Leaders from across the project and MTR (the operator) continue to undertake work to 
define the priority tasks needed to deliver the earliest opening programme (EOP). They 
reported back to the Crossrail Ltd (CRL) Board at the end of January 2019 and will now 
progress with the development of a more detailed delivery plan. 
  
Please find below the rest of this month’s update on the Crossrail project for the Transport 
Committee of the Assembly. 
  
  
Safety 
The periodic Safety Health Environment Leadership Team meeting was held at Bond Street 
station with a strong focus on the new safety risks across the project. This is more important 
than ever as the project transitions further towards systems integration and the live railway 
running for four days each week for MDT.  

In January, there was one reportable safety incident at Whitechapel station which involved 
an operative tripping on floor protection. In addition there were three incidents causing lost 
time injuries and there were seven high potential near miss incidents across the project. All 
incidents are investigated, lessons learned shared across the project and safety alerts 
issued where appropriate. 

  
Programme and Funding 
As you will be aware, the Joint Sponsors, Transport for London (TfL) and the Department for 
Transport (DfT), commissioned independent reviews into our governance and finance and 
commercial arrangements. The reviews identify some key points about the delay to the 
opening of the central section of the Elizabeth line. These include that performance  
 

Page 214



 

 
 
 
 
monitoring and reporting at CRL did not provide adequate advance notice of the need to 
revise the opening date and the resulting cost impact. They also find that demobilisation at 
the project led to a reduced level of coverage in critical areas of risk oversight and reporting 
around commercial and financial risks. TfL has published the KPMG Governance 
and Financial & Commercial reviews of the project. They can be found on the TfL website: 
(https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates).  
  
 
We are looking at the reports in detail now they have been published and are developing a 
response plan. Several of the recommendations are already being implemented including a 
refreshed leadership team and taking steps to ensure Sponsors have confidence in the 
quality of programme and performance data provided by CRL.  
 
 
Central Section Progress 
The delivery schedule includes Tier 1 suppliers Substantial Demobilisation dates (TOSD), 
staged completion and handover dates for the stations, shafts and portals. Achieving the 
TOSD dates is critical in reducing CRL’s periodic spend. We are making good progress with 
a total of eleven (of twenty-two) TOSDs for stations, shafts and portals now achieved. 
Whitechapel Crossrail areas were achieved on 18 January 2019 as planned and Plumstead 
Portal achieved on 31 January. 
  
Further work has been undertaken to gain clarity on completion dates on stations, shafts and 
portals which are critical to the standing up of the infrastructure managers and, readiness for 
trial operations and passenger services.  
  
The current rate of static testing in stations remains behind plan and is a significant focus of 
the new programme and technical leadership on the project. At this time less than 50% of 
stations systems installation is completed and we are focused on improving productivity at 
each site. 
  
Train Testing & Systems Integration 
As mentioned, MDT commenced on 14 January as planned. The pattern going forward is 
four continuous days testing with the tunnels fully energised, followed by three days of 
maintenance and tunnel fit out work.  
  
The first week of testing involved a single train in one tunnel section in automatic operation 
completing basic functional signalling testing (route accessibility and radio coverage testing). 
Tests undertaken were successful. We have now moved to testing two trains, one in each 
tunnel section. 

This incremental approach to building up system-testing and verification will continue for 
several months with increasing intensity and complexity. It is very early days and too early to 
fully define when the testing will complete but it is an encouraging start. The focus and 
logistical planning will need to be maintained, software availability managed, and the 
requisite approvals gained (for example to enable multi train testing to commence). 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 215

https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/publications-and-reports/crossrail-project-updates


 

 
 
Testing of the new rolling stock was undertaken in the Heathrow tunnels using European 
Train Control System (ETCS) during two weekends in January 2019. This was helpful in 
making progress towards Stage 2 Phase 2 where the 4tph service between Heathrow and 
Paddington will be provided by the Class 345 rolling stock.  
  
Network Rail works 
Network Rail (NR) has now awarded Package 3 (Southall, Hayes and Harlington and West 
Drayton) station enhancement works to Hochtief. The NR funding proposal was agreed by 
the Secretary of State on 29 January 2019 allowing the procurement of Package 2 (Acton, 
Ealing Broadway and West Ealing) to continue. These enhancements include step-free 
access works to ensure that all surface stations on the Elizabeth line will be step-free to 
platform level. 
  
  
 
Kind regards, 
  

 
  
Mark Wild 
CEO 
 
 

Page 216



Contact: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager, email: david.pealing@london.gov.uk  telephone: 020 7983 5525 

Chair of the Transport Committee
City Hall 

The Queen's Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

Switchboard: 020 7983 4000 
Web:  www.london.gov.uk 

22 March 2019 

Dear Mike  

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board Agenda and Minutes 

At our meeting in December 2018, the Transport Committee summonsed the agendas and minutes of 
the Elizabeth Line Readiness Board (ELRB), which you had referred to during our discussion that day.  

The agendas and actions lists for ELRB were sent to us for all meetings taking place between 
27 September 2017 and 16 November 2018. However, the ‘agenda’ provided for each meeting 
included merely a list of items for discussion at each meeting and no more.  I think this is a particularly 
narrow interpretation of our request. Therefore, I am writing to ask that you now provide the full 
documents/slide packs/notes or similar circulated, electronic or otherwise, for discussion at ELRB 
meetings for meetings taking place between 1 January 2018 and 30 September 2018.   

As you will of course know, the Assembly has the power to summons such documents, but I hope that 
we can instead be provided with this information before such measures are resorted to, in the spirit of 
openness and transparency that you have told us TfL is committed to.  We would of course treat 
information of a commercial nature with appropriate sensitivity. 

Please send these documents to the Committee’s clerk, David Pealing, on the details below, by 
29 March 2019. We realise this is a quick turnaround but anticipate that these documents can be 
packaged promptly given that they were the subject of our initial summons.  

Yours sincerely 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE  
Chair of the Transport Committee 

Mike Brown MVO 
Commissioner, Transport for London 
Floor 11, Palestra 
197 Blackfriars Road 
London SE1 8NJ 

Appendix 5(a)

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 218



David Pealing

From: Brown Mike (Commissioner) 
Sent: 29 March 2019 16:05
To: David Pealing
Cc:
Subject: TfL - Legally Privileged and Confidential: Elizabeth Line Readiness board Agenda and Minutes
Attachments: ELRB Jan-Sept 2018 Combined.pdf

Dear David  

I write in reply to Caroline Pidgeon’s letter to me of 22 March 2019 in which she asked me to send you the 
documents referred to in her letter.  

The letter requested that we provide ‘the full documents/slide packs/notes or similar circulated, electronic or 
otherwise, for discussion at ELRB meetings for meetings taking place between 1 January 2018 and 30 September 
2018’. We understood the original request for agendas and minutes as not including papers, but we are of course 
happy to provide them. As such please find enclosed copies of the information requested.  

The material provided includes some information which is not appropriate for publication, in particular where the 
material is commercially sensitive to a number of parties, disclosure of which may have implications for TfL’s 
contractual rights or may have an adverse impact on working relationships and the delivery of the Crossrail project. 

If the Committee feels any of the material that is not suitable for publication needs to be debated, then it would be 
appropriate to do so in a Part II session in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. 

We will shortly be publishing the material enclosed with this letter on the TfL website, with appropriate redactions, 
and I will arrange for you to be sent a link to that material as soon as it is available online. As described above, there 
is some information provided which is not appropriate for publication or public debate and the material we will 
publish will reflect the extent to which we consider publication is appropriate. 

Regards 

Mike 

Mike Brown 
Commissioner 
Palestra,197 Blackfriars Road, London SE1 8NJ 

Appendix 5(b)

Page 219



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
15 JANUARY 2018 

P
age 220



2 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Simon Wright 

Andrew Wolstenholme David Hughes Vernon Everitt Simon Kilonback 

Shashi Verma Graeme Craig Lucy Findlay Kevin Lynch 

Andy Brown Martin Stuckey 
(secretariat) 
 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness 25 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

7. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

P
age 221



3 

Actions from 15 December 2017 

No. Meeting 
date 

Issue Owner Target date Status 

17.012 17/11/17 Agreed that launch of Elizabeth line should include public 
wifi on trains in the tunnel section.  Briefing paper on way 
forward to be provided to Exco 

Shashi Verma 15/1/18 Paper  
prepared for 
Exco meeting 
in January 

17.015 15/12/17 Financial summary to be included in future reports Simon Adams/ 
Martin Stuckey 

15/1/18 Complete 

17.020 15/12/17 Summary of operational safety performance SPI to be 
included in future reports 

Martin Stuckey 15/1/18 Complete 

17.021 15/12/17 Identify any potential negative customer impacts if Plan B 
for Stage 2 has to be implemented (for an interim period) 

Howard Smith 15/1/18 Complete – 
verbal update 

17.022 15/12/17 Communications in relation to Stage 2 to be managed via 
EL Comms Board 

Vernon Everitt Note Complete 

17.023 15/12/17 Mitigation plans (including contractor end dates) for 
securing key documentation from contractors to be 
reviewed 

Simon Wright 15/1/18 Ongoing – 
slide 6 

P
age 222



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 9, the HSPI increased to 2.58 (P8 = 2.56) with all 11 key contracts achieving an HSPI score of 2.20 or above 
(100%). The RIDDOR rate fell to 0.07 (P8= 0.08) and the lost time case AFR remained static at 0.17 (P8=0.17). 
 

There were five significant incidents: 

1 x RIDDOR Major Injury 
08 December 2017 –  

  

1 x Lost Time Injury  
16 November 2017 –  

 

3 x High Potential Near Misses  
18 November 2017 –  

    
05 December 2017 –  

  
06 December 2017 –   

Operations  

- TfL Rail: Four slip trips and falls reported; three resulting in minor injuries 
and one in no injury. Investigations attributed all the incidents to passenger 
behaviours such as running for trains or losing balance while walking 

- Final draft RoGS mainline application (for RfL as authorised IM for the 
central section) submitted to ORR and stakeholders on 21 Dec 17 

- P9 SPI improved to 79.0 (P8 = 75.7) but is still below target of 80.0 
- Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents  

P
age 223



5 

Stage 2 
20 May 2018 – Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure 
& Trains 
 

 

 

 

 
12Jan18 

 

 
 

 
 

Howard Smith 

Timely Completion & Handover of 
OOC including NR Stage M 
signalling 

Sect A BIU 
22Jan18 

Interfaces being managed and 
contingency plans for delayed 
commissioning of signalling 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 
 

Timely completion, acceptance and 
Handover of DOO, Hayes & 
Harlington turn back and other KO4 
deliverables from NR. Delay to 4 
platform extensions. 

DOO SATs 
complete 
20Jan18 
 

Hayes & 
Harlington 
complete  
May18 

Ensure lessons from Stage 1 are 
implemented.  
All DOO SAT commissioning 
completed and benchmark images 
captured during Xmas blockade. 
 

Simon Wright 

Delayed availability of simulator 
(ETCS) impacts driver training. 
Last software upgrade currently 
scheduled after planned start of 
training. 

Dvr Training 
Commences 
01Mar18 

2 Simulators now at OOC. Driver 
training programme under review to 
mitigate delays in software drops. 

Howard Smith 

Customer 
 

Risk to timely installation of TVM 
and Gate lines at Heathrow and 
elsewhere. 

20May18 Gate line at Heathrow planned by 
01May18.  Paddington forecast 
Sep18 - HEx Oyster fare risk 

Shashi Verma 

P
age 224



6 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure 
& Trains 
 

Programme 89.5% complete against 
plan 91.5%   
Key contract for Energisation and 
Dynamic testing C610 77% complete 
against plan 87% 

D Testing 
Z1&2: 
29Jan18 
Z3&4: 
23Apr18 

Systemwide’s “Plan Delta” (revised 
linear works programme) is in place 
and embedded within updated 
schedules to deliver DT in Zones 
1, 2, 3 & 4 and completion of all 
works for Trial Running / Handover. 
Preparation of revised MOHS – 
programme for completion – end 
Jan18 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key 
operations/ maintenance information 

Handover 
5Jul18 

- Design assurance slowed in the 
period so will receive further focus 
at close out meetings  
- delivery of asset information 
including O&M requirements 
remains cause for concern. 
Escalation with Tier 1 contractors 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure 
works (tunnel ventilation, stations 
MEP, cable management systems) 

Handover 
5Jul18 

Implementation of mitigation 
plans. Daily engagement with 
Project teams and Contractors 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 

Train tested 
& delivered 
to central 
section 
29Jan19 

 

 
 

Howard Smith 

P
age 225



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, 
LU & RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance 
services 

Info req. 
1Mar18 

CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information  

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance staff 
not being fully trained 

TUCA 
available 
01Feb18 
 

Monitoring forecast TUCA 
availability (End Jan 18); Train the 
trainer replaced by end user training 
and provision of contractor support 
post handover  

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
interfaces impacting trial running 

Blockades 
Z1&2 
3-24Mar18  
Z3&4 
6-20May18 

Recovery plans under development 
for installation of C620 equipment 
on NR lines to Stratford 

Simon Wright 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake 
trial operations activity 

Trial Ops  
06Aug18 

Complete infrastructure and testing 
as early as possible to allow 
unimpeded trial operations. Prepare 
station Handover plans 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted 
by ongoing construction at stations, 
spares availability and completion of 
staff training  

Trial Ops  
06Aug18 

LU Readiness Board overseeing this 
activity  

Howard Smith 

P
age 226



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and 
programme for wifi and 4G for 
passengers from stage opening and 
Maintenance teams from handover 

Handover 
5Jul18 
 
9Dec18 

Confirm programme and way 
forward.  
Scope and confirm funding. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

9Dec18 
 

Launch plan to be prepared and 
managed by EL Comms Board. 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 227



9 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 
mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  
Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure 
& Trains 
 

ONW Funding uncertainty and 
delays to stations 

KD22 (S4) 31Aug18 
KD24 (S5) 10Sep18 

Funding secured - NR to confirm 
£20m contribution.  
West Inner stations: advance works 
on piling & canopies commenced 

David Hughes Yes 

Ilford Depot exit line speed 
works and wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 
4&5 timetable 

19May19 
Programme TBC 

Alternate plan for stabling  being 
finalised with Anglia - DfT and NR 
support being sought. Wire height 
preferred option in development 
(note that Ilford will be used for 
stabling during Stage 3 testing) 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme/ 
David Hughes 

Yes 

Stage 4 power upgrade works 
(KD22) 

KD22 (S4) 
31Aug18 
 

Scope /options review for installing 
temporary infrastructure to support 
Stage 4 services 

Simon Wright Yes  

Stage 5 ETCS availability – 
Stockley to Paddington 

15Dec19 Mitigations being developed for 
ETCS programme slippage and lack 
of integration testing 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme 

Yes 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30) 
ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

KD30 (S5) 
31Aug18 

Final output from modelling to 
confirm requirement awaited. 
Conversion to AT power forecast 
May 18 (subject to modelling). 

Simon Wright 
 

Confirmation of timetable (train 
paths). Sale Of Access Rights 
panel have only approved rights 
specified in the TAO 

20Dec17 The additional paths required to 
fulfil the timetable have been 
confirmed by SOAR panel. Close. 

Howard Smith Yes 

P
age 228



10 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 
mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  
Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer 
 

Uncertainty over NR construction 
programme for station upgrades 

KD22 (S4) 31Aug18 
KD24 (S5) 10Sep18 

Secure a robust programme from 
NR which meets 15 Dec 19 date 
for all On Network Works. 

Simon Wright Yes 

P
age 229



11 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Chairman’s reappointment confirmed. 
Transition of governance to be discussed 

Andrew Wolstenholme & 
Mike Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Close Out Director confirmed. Close out 
organisation included in approved 
business plan - key roles to be filled via 
internal appointments to retain 
knowledge 

Andrew Wolstenholme 

P
age 230



12 

£11.6bn

£11.8bn

£12.0bn

£12.2bn

£12.4bn

£12.6bn

SACR
14

SACR
15

SACR
16

SACR
17

SACR
18

P7
17/18

P8
17/18

P9
17/18

AFCDC & IP Headroom 

P95
P80
P50
IP2

IP2 £12,512m 

P50 £12,464m 

P9 Financial Summary 

• In Period 9 the AFCDC increased by 
£161m to £12,464m (P50).  

• Headroom to IP2 is now just £48m.  
• The quarterly cost QRA accounted for 

£149m with additional risk provisions 
being crystalised for known cost 
pressures communicated in prior 
periods. The extra £12m reflects the 
cost increase for the 2018/2019 
Business Plan.  

• Whilst extremely unwelcome, these 
pressures come with just seven months 
of critical project activity remaining. As 
such, the Executive remains confident 
that Crossrail will continue to meet its 
commitments in 2018.    

 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) has reduced to £2,508m to reflect the £22m funded via the Additional Funding Agreement 

between CRL and NR.  
• CRL received confirmation from the DfT that the required £84m is now approved, meaning the £154m required funding package has 

been secured subject to NR formally confirming their £20m contribution. 
• NR cumulative (gross) spend (which excludes adjustments for Traction Power / Accelerated Renewals) is £2,528.3m and represents 90% 

complete. 

P
age 231



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
9 FEBRUARY 2018 

P
age 232



2 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Simon Wright 

Andrew Wolstenholme David Hughes Vernon Everitt Simon Kilonback 

Shashi Verma Graeme Craig Lucy Findlay Kevin Lynch 

Andy Brown Martin Stuckey 
(secretariat) 
 No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. MOHS 2018 Baseline update 10 minutes 

4. Stage 2 Readiness 5 minutes 

5.  Stage 3 Readiness 20 minutes 

6.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

7. Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

8. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

P
age 233

Presenter
Presentation Notes




3 

Actions from meeting of 15 January 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target date Status 

17.024 15/1/18 Contingency plan for Carillion works for NR (on western 
section) to be understood 

Andrew 
Wolstenhome 

9/2/18 Verbal update 

17.025 15/1/18 Continue to update MB on Bombardier progress Howard Smith 9/2/18 Ongoing – slides       
5 & 6 

17.026 15/1/18 Plan illustrating the updated programme (MOHS) to be 
prepared and presented to next meeting 

Simon Wright 9/2/18 Short presentation 
attached 

17.027 15/1/18 Funding decision timescales for any key items (e.g. Ilford) 
which are particularly relevant to DfT to be advised  

Simon Adams 9/2/18 Discussed at Sponsor 
Board. Close 

P
age 234



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 10, the HSPI fell to 2.48 (P9 = 2.58) with 10 of 11 key contracts achieving an HSPI score of 2.20 or 
above (91%). The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.07 (P9 = 0.07) and the lost time case AFR fell to 0.16 (P9 = 0.17). 
 

There were no significant incidents. 

Operations  

- In Period 10, the SPI improved slightly to 69.7 (P9 = 68.2) but is still 
well below the target of 80.0.  The 13 period moving average score 
continued to drop and has for the first time entered the red ‘poor 
performance’ zone. 

- TfL Rail: During the period seventeen passenger accidents were 
reported, comprising twelve minor injury accidents and five no-injury 
accidents. There were thirteen slip trips and falls reported, eleven of 
which resulted in minor injuries. In eleven cases the investigations 
established that the incidents were caused by passenger behaviours 
such as running for trains or losing balance whilst walking. Two 
accidents were attributed to sub-standard conditions. There were four 
platform train interface accidents reported during the period. One 
resulted in a minor injury and three resulted in no injury.   

- Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

N.B. SPI calculation has not been adjusted to account for MTRC taking over 11 
more stations in Period 10. 

P
age 235

Presenter_1
Presentation Notes




5 

MOHS 2018 Baseline Update 

See separate attachment 

P
age 236



6 

Stage 2 
20 May 2018 – Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure 
& Trains 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

TBC 

Contingency plan of 2 tph C345 RLU 
running Paddington to Hayes & 
Harlington and 2 tph C360 Paddington 
to Heathrow. Selective Door Opening 
requirement tbc 

Howard Smith 

Timely Completion & Handover 
of OOC including signalling 
commissioned 

Sect A BIU 
9Feb18 
Sect B1&2 BIU 
22Feb & 25May18 

Interfaces being managed and 
contingency plans for delayed 
commissioning of signalling 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 
 

Timely completion, acceptance 
and Handover of DOO, Hayes & 
Harlington turn back and other 
KO4 deliverables from NR 

DOO SATs 
complete 
 

Hayes & 
Harlington 
complete  
May18 

All DOO SAT commissioning 
complete. Operational proving 
forecast Feb-Mar18.  
H&H bay extension not required for 
RLU operation  

Simon Wright 

Delayed availability of simulator 
(ETCS) impacts driver training. 
Last software upgrade currently 
scheduled after planned start of 
training 

Dvr Training 
commences  
TBC 

2 Simulators now at OOC. Driver 
training programme under review, 
including driver training for 
contingency plan 

Howard Smith 

Customer 
 

Risk to timely installation of TVM 
and Gate lines at Heathrow and 
elsewhere 

20May18 Gate line at Heathrow planned by 
01May18.  Paddington forecast Sep18 
- HEx Oyster fare risk 

Shashi Verma 

P
age 237



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 90.1% complete against 
plan 92.0%   
Key contract for Energisation and 
Dynamic testing C610 77% complete 
against plan 89% 

D Testing 
Z1&2: 
25Feb18 
Z3&4: 
11Jun18 

Revised C610 linear works 
programme agreed but cable 
installation 4-6weeks behind; 
mitigation actions in place to 
support fibre, signalling and DT 
programme.  MOHS finalisation. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure 
works (tunnel ventilation, stations 
MEP, cable management systems) 

Commence 
Trial Running 
5Aug18  

Prioritise systemwide activities and 
continue to seek programme 
mitigations.  
MOHS 2018 finalisaton. 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key 
operations/ maintenance information 

Handover 
systemwide 
5 Aug18 

Maintain improved design 
assurance close out rate 
Drive Tier 1 contractors to provide 
relevant information in good time. 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 

Train tested 
& delivered 
to central 
section 
25Feb18 

Prioritisation of software 
development & testing for Stage 3 
in latest BT programme. Revised 
plans build contingency to start of 
testing in central section. 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane 
(Eastbound) neutral section transition 

Commence 
Trial Running 
5Aug18 

Confirm / maintain blockades in 
March & May. Confirm the 
programme for installation of 
wayside equipment, on board 
software and testing at PML. 

Simon Wright 
& Howard Smith 

P
age 238



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, 
LU & RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance 
services 

Info req. 
1Mar18 

CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information  

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance staff 
not being fully trained 

TUCA 
works 
complete 
28Feb18 
 

Train the trainer replaced by end 
user training and provision of 
contractor support post handover  

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake 
trial operations activity 

Trial Ops  
09Sept18 

Complete infrastructure and testing 
as early as possible to allow 
unimpeded trial operations. Prepare 
station Handover plans 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted 
by ongoing construction at stations, 
spares availability and completion of 
staff training  

Trial Ops  
09Sept18 

LU Readiness Board overseeing this 
activity  

Howard Smith 

P
age 239



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and 
programme for wifi and 4G for 
passengers from stage opening and 
Maintenance teams from handover 

9Dec18 Interim on-train wifi solution 
proposed. Positive initial engagement 
with MNOs with procurement 
planned for Mar18 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

9Dec18 
 

Launch plan to be prepared and 
managed by EL Comms Board 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 240



10 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 
mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  
Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure 
& Trains 
 

Ilford Depot exit London end 
works and wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 
4&5 timetable (& stabling to 
support Stage 3)  

19May19 
Programme TBC 
 
Stabling required 
Dec-18 

Exit speed works not required pending 
agreement with AGA.  
Wire height works review, prioritisation 
and proposal to be completed end 
Feb18 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme
/ 
David Hughes 

Yes 

Stage 4 power upgrade works 
(KD22) 

KD22 (S4) 
31Aug18 
 

Scope /options review for installing 
temporary infrastructure to support 
Stage 4 services 

Simon Wright Yes  

Stage 5 ETCS availability – 
Stockley to Paddington 

15Dec19 Mitigations being developed for ETCS 
programme slippage and lack of 
integration testing 

Andrew 
Wolstenholme 

Yes 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30) 
ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

KD30 (S5) 
31Aug18 

Conversion to AT power forecast 
May18  

Simon Wright 
 

P
age 241



11 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 
mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  
Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Timely completion of staff 
accommodation at Maidenhead 
sidings 

KD24 (S5) 
10Sep18 
 

NR programme and forecast 
completion date to be confirmed 

Simon Wright 
 

Customer 
 

Uncertainty over NR construction 
programme for station upgrades 

KD22 (S4) 31Aug18 
KD24 (S5) 10Sep18 

NR schedule for six west 
enhanced stations shows a 
phased completion from Sep19 to 
Dec19. Main ITT’s issued with 
award recommendation expected 
end-April18 

Simon Wright 

P
age 242



12 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Chairman’s reappointment confirmed. 
Transition of governance being discussed 

Andrew Wolstenholme & 
Mike Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Close out organisation included in 
approved business plan - key roles to be 
filled via internal appointments to retain 
knowledge 

Andrew Wolstenholme 

P
age 243



13 

P10 Financial Summary 

• The P50 AFCDC remained at £12,464m in the 
Period, £43m below the P80 AFCDC and £48m 
below IP2. 

• Cost increases were funded by a £71.1m 
drawdown from risk.  

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £18.3m above the 
2017/18 Business Plan. This is predominantly 
due to lower than planned productivity, delays 
and prolongation.  

• Current actions to remain within funding : 

 Review of cost efficiencies internally within CRL, 
and available savings within the supply chain. 

 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by 
CRL. 

 Continuing the focus of cost reviews to 
challenge the Tier 1 contractor teams directly. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) has reduced to £2,480m to reflect the £28m cash funding NR secured via DfT Grant Funded 

Agreement.  
• NR cumulative (gross) spend (which excludes adjustments for Traction Power / Accelerated Renewals) is £2,567.2m and represents 92% 

complete (inc VN’s). 

11.4

11.6

11.8

12.0

12.2

12.4

12.6

12.8

£b
n P95

P80

P50

IP2

IP2 £12,512m 
P50 £12,464m 

AFCDC & IP Headroom 
 

P
age 244



Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
 
MOHS 2018 Baseline Update  

Simon Wright 

P
age 245



Header here max 30 characters 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Stepney Green 

Eleanor St 

Mile End 

Canary Wharf 

Limmo 

VDP 

Custom House 

Connaught 

NWP 

Woolwich 

Plu. Portal 

  

Complete Works & Test 

Stations & Shafts – Zones 1&2    (31 Jan)  

Complete Works & Test 

Testing 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Testing 

Testing 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Cladding 

Notes: 
1) Phase 3 Integration Testing – Schedule Risk. 

 
2) Need to identify solutions  for integration testing & 

where C610 systems installation are running later 
than SS&Ps e.g. tunnel lighting, tunnel drainage & 
radio. 
 

3) C660 SMS & CMS dates are critical & require 
further review. 
 

4) Handover Activities – not included. These are being 
reviewed by CRL.  

2018 

Complete Works & Test 

Urban Realm 

Transformer Change-out 

Risk 

P
age 246

Presenter_2
Presentation Notes
TCR P80 10 days later than 15 August.2016



Header here max 30 characters 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Paddington 

Bond Street 

Tottenham 
Court Road 

Fisher Street 

Farringdon 

Liverpool 
Street 

Whitechapel 

  

Complete Works & Test 

Stations & Shaft – Zones 3&4    (31 Jan)  

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Complete Works & Test 

Central Concourse (West)/ Moorgate 

Notes: 
1) Phase 3 Integration Testing – Schedule Risk.  Up to 4 weeks on activities above. 
2) Handover Activities – not shown; under review by CRL.  
3) Risk - C660 Challenge to resource multiple concurrent sites. 

2018 

CRL Arch + U. Realm 

(Phased Integration with 
Interim Station Post August) 

P
age 247

Presenter_3
Presentation Notes
TCR P80 10 days later than 15 August.2016



Header here max 30 characters 

Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

C644 PML Traction Power 
  - C644 Remedial Works & Test 

  - Power Switched (BSP-ATFS) 

  -  OHLE Energisation & Short 
     Circuit Testing 

  - Dynamic Testing Starts 

Dynamic Testing  
- Zone 1&2 + GEML 
   

Zones 3&4 Traction Power 
  - OHLE & Earthing & IRNs 
 

  - WBP ATFS Energised 
  - OHLE Energisation & Test 

Zones 3&4 C660 Comms 
  - SCADA Network 

Zones 3&4 C620 Signalling 
 - Tunnel Assets & Cabling 

Dynamic Testing - Zone 1 -4 

  

    
   

31 Jan 2018 

Dynamic Testing 1&2  

   
  

25 Feb Commence Dynamic Testing 
Zones 1& 2 

Testing 

10 May – 10 Jun 2018 

                 Cabling & Testing   

Installation 

Dark Fibre Available for C620 9 March 2018 

MOHS 2018 Update – 31 Jan 2018  

Dyn. Test 1-4 

Commence Trial Running 5 Aug 2018  

      

GEML Available Possessions  
To be used for Construction 

GEML Transition Testing – To be Confirmed 
with NR 2 x 27hrs W/E in June  

Dynamic Testing assumes C620/Others Double 
Shifting in Zones 3-4 & 1-4.   
Risk is that there is insufficient provision for re-
testing. 
Risk – limited time during DT for software 
revisions.     

30 Mar 2018 

Dynamic Testing 11 Jun – 5 Aug 

Target Completion 15 April 

GWML Transition Testing – To be Confirmed with NR 2 x 27hrs W/E in June/July  

Only TVS & Station 
Airflow & Yellow 
Plant Testing beyond 
5 Aug. 

P
age 248



Header here max 30 characters 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

C610 - For DT 

C610 Ventilation 

C610 Non-DT 

C610 Temp 
Removals 

C620 Signalling 

C631 PSDs 

C650  
HV Power 

C660 Comms 
With Systemwide 
(incl. Power) 

C660 Stations 

  MOHS 2018 Systemwide – Late Activities 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

Complete Tests 

Tests 

                Testing 

Complete Works Test 

Temp Services Removal 

Complete Sig. Dyn. Testing 

Complete Tests 

Complete Works 

Testing 

• OHLE & Earthiing 
• HV Traction Power 

• Lighting 
• LV Cabling 

• Lighting 
• Fire Mains 
• Radio 

2018 

Risk - GSM-R Radio System Completion 

• Integration Testing @ LIS & BOS  

Walkways Plan Under Review 

Risk: Stations Fire Main Readiness 

Trial Running From 5th August 

TVS & Station Airflow 
Yellow Plant Testing beyond 5 Aug. 

Risk – Tunnel Vent. Completion 

P
age 249

Presenter_4
Presentation Notes
TCR P80 10 days later than 15 August.2016



Header here max 30 characters Railway Systems - Principles of Overlap 

Trial  
Operations 

                    De-commissioning of 
Temporary Services 

Trial Running 

5th Aug 9th  Sept 8th Dec 
 
DT 

      T&C 

Railway Systems Only 

P
age 250



Header here max 30 characters   Stage 3 MOHS 2018 - Bombardier  

Stage 3 P50 P80 

CBTC – AM/PM Tests Complete (Report) 18 Feb 18* 

CBTC AWS/TPWS Transition Tests (Report) 6 Feb 18 18 Feb 18* 

CBTC Stopping Accuracy, PSD Sync. Report 13 Feb 18 20 Feb 18 

CBTC Auto Reverse & Isolated ETCS Testing 
(Report) 28 Mar 18 5 Apr 18 

All CBTC Functionality Complete 26 Feb 18 2 Mar 18 

Authorised 9 Car with CBTC for Trial Running 11 Jun 18 22 Jun 18 

Authorised 9 Car with CBTC for Passenger Service 23 Aug 18 10 Oct 18 

P
age 251



Header here max 30 characters 

 

Dynamic Test 
Plan 

P
age 252



Header here max 30 characters Proposed “stages” 

1 IM verification 
& witnessing 

a) Works under build/phase 2.1/2.2 T&C – e.g. to support IA (PPE) 
b) Maintainer/Engineering and Operations “representatives” 

witnessing testing and commissioning during phase 2.3, 3 or 4 
(with PPE) 

2a Start of Trial 
Operations 

OPTION if (3) H/O not possible for whole Element prior to main 
Trial Ops period – IM could take over assets for day-to-day op 
control for trial operations (not maintenance) 

2b Bringing into 
Use (BIU) 

OPTION if (3) H/O not possible for whole Element prior to Stage 3 – 
IM could bring assets into use for revenue service  

3 Handover Nine requirements complete – IM has full responsibility and 
accountability for ops and maintenance (all legals done) 

4 
Start of 
Passenger 
Service 

APIS req’d from the ORR for the RfL stations 
IM prove that they are content to start passenger service 

5 Final 
Completion 

All snags and defects resolved, generally at H/O + 12 months (CRL 
fully off the hook) 
 

P
age 253

Presenter_5
Presentation Notes
BIU taken from LU S1538 for where interface works link up with live op railway – e.g. fire systems and controls. LU use regular for CRL interface works.Start of trial ops: need everything but some reliability and minor bits around stations may still be outstanding. Must be sufficiently complete for operators to safely mitigate any outstanding work-arounds/issues  -e.g. consider human factors of too many manual process instructions. May be able to exclude odd box, lift or escalator if shown safe. RAB[C] plus ORR must agree safe. All as-builts, asset data and legal/maintenance transfer could be outstanding if agreed. 



Header here max 30 characters 
Handover staging for SPS Elements 
(note: work in progress) 

Trial Operations1 1a – Build 1b. V/Witness T&C 

3. H/O 
IA 

Passenger Service 

2a. TO 

O/S work 

XXX 3. H/O later but 
before Stage 3 

IM maintenance 

Interim Maint 

4. Pass Service 

Trial Ops1 1a – Build 1b. V/Witness T&C 

3. H/O IA 

Passenger Service 

2a. TO 2b. BIU 

O/S work 

BOS 4. H/O potentially 
beyond Stage 3 

Interim Maint 

4. Pass Service 

Trial Operations1 1a 
 Build 

1b. V/Witness T&C 

3. H/O IA 

Passenger Service CUH 2. Baseline H/O 

IM maintenance 

4. Pass Service 

Familiarisation 

2a. TO 

Trial Operations1 1a 
Build 

1b. V/Witness 
T&C 

“95%” H/O 

IA 

Passenger Service 
MES 

/ VDP 1. Early / “Trial” H/O 

IM maintenance 

4. Pass Service 

       Familiarisation 

3. H/O 

Interim Maint 

2a. TO 

 
       

      
   

Feb

 
  

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec JanJulFeb Mar Apr May Jun

P
age 254



Header here max 30 characters Summary of Key Issues  

The delivery of MOHS requires close collaboration 
between CRL and RfL/LU 
The strategy for handover to be revised and joint 
detailed plans prepared by mid February  
The priority for handover will be the routeway and 
associated systems along with transitions 
Handover plans will ensure that safety is not 
compromised and asset reliability is optimised 
Documentation to support handover is to be prioritised  

P
age 255



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 

9 MARCH 2018 

P
age 256



2 

Agenda 

Invitees 

Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Simon Wright 

Andrew Wolstenholme David Hughes Vernon Everitt Simon Kilonback 

Shashi Verma Graeme Craig Lucy Findlay Kevin Lynch 

Andy Brown Martin Stuckey 

(secretariat) 

 
No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness 25 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

7. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

P
age 257



3 

Actions from meeting of 9 February 2018  

 

No. Meeting 

date 

Issue Owner Target 

date 

Status 

17.028 9/2/18 Undertake passenger modelling to understand potential impact of 

through running at Bond Street station    

Howard Smith 9/3/18 Complete. Verbal 

update 

17.029 9/2/18 Use MOHS overview slides as basis for the format of Stage 3 

discussions at ELRB meetings                                  

Martin Stuckey 9/3/18 Complete 

17.030 9/2/18 Establish what “Exit IDs” signage and “legible London” guides are 

being used at Tottenham Court Station 

Howard Smith 9/3/18 Complete. Verbal 

update 

17.031 9/2/18 Consider benefits of a special “Level 1” session with NR 

focussed on Crossrail issues 

Simon Adams 9/3/18 Open  

P
age 258



4 

Safety 
Construction 

In Period 11, the HSPI increased to 2.60 (P10 = 2.48) with 11 of 11 key contracts achieving an HSPI score of 2.20 and all 

scored 8% or more above this. The RIDDOR rate increased to 0.08 (P10 = 0.07) and the lost time case AFR increased to 

0.17 (P10 = 0.16). 

Operations  

In Period 11, the SPI was 77.0 (P10 = 77.2) and the 13 period moving 

average score is at 76.7 both 'below target performance' in the amber zone. 

TfL Rail: There were 8 passenger accidents and one MTR workforce 

accident resulting in a minor injury, a significant decrease on the previous 

two periods. In all but 2 cases the investigations established that the 

passenger incidents were caused by behaviours such as running for trains or 

losing balance whilst walking - the balance being attributed to sub-standard 

conditions. There was one significant close call where a train saloon door 

came off its runner. 

Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

RIDDOR Major Injuries 

01 February 2018 –  

 

14 January 2018 –  

Lost Time Injuries (LTI)  
18 January 2018 –  

  

16 January 2018 –  

High Potential Near Misses   

23 January 2018 –  

 

09 January 2018 –  

  

SPI scope updated 

to account for 

adoption of Great 

Western stations 

P
age 259



5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
 

Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 

Phase 2 - 28 October  2018  

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Customer Risk to timely installation of TVM 

and Gate lines at Heathrow and 

elsewhere 

20May18 Gate line at Heathrow planned by 

07May18.  Paddington forecast Sep18 

Shashi Verma 

Phase 1 – 2 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph CTA to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph Paddington to Hayes & Harlington Cl345RLU 

Infrastructure 

& Trains 

 

Timely completion & handover of 

OOC including signalling 

commissioned 

Sect A BIU  

Complete  

Sect B1&2 BIU 

11Apr & 

23May18 

Interfaces being managed and 

contingency plans for delayed 

commissioning of signalling 

Howard Smith 

2 FLUs & 5 RLUs for driver 

training, route familiarisation and 

passenger service 

2 FLUs: 5Mar18 

5 RLUs: 5Apr18 

Use of odd number platforms at 

Paddington if  RLU SDO unavailable 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

 

Timely completion, acceptance 

and handover of DOO, Hayes & 

Harlington turn back and other 

KO4 deliverables from NR 

DOO Handover 

31Mar18 

DOO testing commencesMar18.  

H&H bay extension not required for 

RLU operation.  

Simon Wright 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure 

& Trains 

 

 

 

On-train testing 

start (R6.2 & MR1.1) 

4May18 

Heathrow testing restarted 23Feb18 
(TCMS R4.2.20.2). 

Further release 7.3 likely required for 

passenger service 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

Timely completion of driver 

training and Ops proving 

Driver training 

commences  

TBC 

Detailed MTRC schedule for Phase 2 

to be developed based on BT P80 

dates 

Howard Smith 

P
age 260



MOHS 2018 Key Dates 

Stage 1  

Shenfield to Liverpool  St (1 Train) 

21-May-17 

 

Stage 2 Phase 1 

Paddington to Heathrow 

20-May-18 

 

Stage 1a 

Shenfield to Liverpool  St (12 Trains in service) 

20-Mar-18 

 

Stage 3 

Paddington to Abbey Wood 

09-Dec-18 

Stage 5 

Full Crossrail Service 

15-Dec-19 

Stage 4 

Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield 

19-May-19 

Staged Opening 

Training material submitted in 

readiness for training delivery 

Training completed for LU in 

support of Handover 

Training completed for MTR 

in support of Handover 

Engineering Safety Management 

HV Non Traction Power 

On-All Locations 

01-Jul-18 

CRL Target Final Delivery Date 

09-Sep-18 

Dynamic Testing Z1&2 

25-Feb-18 

Z3&4 Traction Power On 

10-May-18 

SSP T&C & Handover 

Z1 & 2 Traction Power 

01-Feb-18 

HV Non Traction Power 

On-All Locations Z1&2 

13-May-18 

Stage 3 - PAD to Abbey Wood  

09-Dec-18 

DT Z3&4 

11-Jun-18 

RfL Railway Systems 

(staged completion) 

05-Aug-18 

DT All Zones  

02-Jul-18 

ROP 

30-May-18 

N/A 

29-Jun-18 

PAD 

28-Jul-18 

TBA 

08-Sep-18 

BOS 

31-Oct-18 

TBA 

28-Nov-18 

TCR 

05-Jul-18 

TBA 

10-Aug-18 

FIS 

05-Jul-18 

N/A 

02-Aug-18 

FAR 

22-Jul-18 

22-Jul-18 

17-Aug-18 

LIS 

5-Oct-18 

TBA 

24-Oct-18 

WHI 

10-Sep-18 

As Agreed 

08-Oct-18 

CWG 

Jun-18 

N/A 

5-Jul-18 

LIM 

22-May-18 

N/A 

29-Jun-18 

VDP 

07-May-18 

N/A 

4-Jun-18 

CUH 

30-Jun-18 

N/A 

28-Jul-18 

CON 

05-Jul-18 

N/A 

02-Aug-18 

NWP 

14-Jun-18 

N/A 

12-Jul-18 

WOO 

30-Sep-18 

TBA 

31-Oct-18 

PLU 

05-Jul-18 

N/A 

02-Aug-18 

Phase 3 Complete 

Staged Completion 

Handover to IM 

STG 

05-Jul-18 

N/A 

31-Jul-18 

MES 

29-May-18 

TBA 

29-Jun-18 

ELS 

05-Jun-18 

TBA 

03-Jul-18 

PML 

12-May-18 

TBA 

25-Jun-18 

Trains 

C620 Dark Fibre 

19-Mar-18 

Fibre Backbone 

27-Mar-18 

Linewide SCADA 

30-May-18 

GSM-R Infra Ready for DT 

in Z1 to 4 

08-Jun-18 (Late: 31-Jul-18)  

GEML 

30-Jun-18 

GWML 

14-Jul-18 

Phase 3 Complete 

Staged Completion 

Handover to IM 

PLU Provision of 

Maintenance Sidings 

21-Nov-18 

Griffith House Energised 

28-Mar-18 

ONW KD33 Power from KG 

ATFS 

28-Feb-18 

WBP ATS Energised 

07-Apr-18 

Traction Power 

Signalling – Ready for  

                Transition Testing 

Non Traction Power Comms 

05-May-18 

 

 

30-May-18 

 

 

30-May-18 

Commencement 

of Trial Running 

05-Aug-18 

Train Software Ready for Dynamic Testing (CBTC AM/PM, TPWS) 

Stage 2 - Trains  (FLUs) Available for Driver Training 

Stage 3 All (4No.) Trains Available for  Dynamic Testing 

22 No. Full Length Units Available for Trial Running 

CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 

 

28-Feb-18 

28-Feb-18 

23-Mar-18 

13-Aug-18 

10-Oct-18 
 

Contractors submit draft 

ESJs to CRL 
 

31-Mar-18 

 

Training 

Tunnel Vent SAT 

24-Aug-18 

P
age 261



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Infrastructure, 

Trains & testing 

 

Programme 90.6% complete against 

plan 92.2%   

Key contract for Energisation and 

Dynamic testing C610 79% complete 

against plan 90% 

D Testing 

Z1&2: 

25Feb18 

Z3&4: 

11Jun18 

MOHS 2018 finalised – rebaselines 

activities required to successfully 

handover the railway starting in 

July, ahead of opening safely and 

on time in December. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure 

works (tunnel ventilation, stations 

MEP, cable management systems) 

Commence 

Trial Running 

5Aug18  

Prioritise systemwide activities and 

continue to seek programme 

mitigations.  

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 

information, asset data, key 

operations/ maintenance information 

Handover 

systemwide 

5Aug18 

Maintain improved design 

assurance close out rate 

Drive Tier 1 contractors to provide 

relevant information in good time. 

Simon Wright 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 

transitions impacting trial running, 

including Pudding Mill Lane 

(Eastbound) neutral section transition 

Commence 

Transition 

Testing 
GEML: 30Jun18 

GWML: 14Jul18 

Confirm and maintain blockades. 

Confirm the programme for 

installation of wayside equipment, 

on board software and testing at 

PML. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 262



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

MTR, NR, 

LU & RFLI 

Readiness 

 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 

procure spares and maintenance 

services. Asset Information (Drops1-3) 

forecast complete mid/end May18. 

Info req. 

1Mar18 

CRL continues to work with 

contractors on resourcing and 

prioritisation of key information . 

Howard Smith & 

Simon Wright 

 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance staff 

not being fully trained.  

Less than 50% of maintenance training 

materials due have been received to 

date (All IMs). 

All training 

material 

complete 

5May18 

 

TUCA available. CRL supporting 

contractors with information 

sharing.  

Train the trainer replaced by end 

user training and provision of 

contractor support post handover.  

Simon Wright & 

Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake 

trial operations activity. 

Trial Ops  

09Sept18 

Complete infrastructure and testing 

as early as possible to allow 

unimpeded trial operations. Prepare 

station Handover plans. 

Simon Wright & 

Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted 

by ongoing construction at stations, 

spares availability and completion of 

staff training . 

Trial Ops  

09Sept18 

Station by station Handover 

execution plans being agreed 

between CRL and LU. 

Howard Smith 

P
age 263



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline, 

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Customer 

 

Preferred delivery option and 

programme for wifi and 4G for 

passengers from stage opening and 

Maintenance teams from handover 

9Dec18 Interim on-train wifi solution 

proposed. Positive initial engagement 

with MNOs with procurement 

planned for Mar18 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 

information activities 

9Dec18 

 

Launch plan to be prepared and 

managed by EL Comms Board 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 264



10 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 

mainline  

15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  

Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Infrastructure 

& Trains 

 

Ilford Depot exit London end 

works and wire heights to be 

completed to support Stage 

4&5 timetable (& stabling to 

support Stage 3)  

19May19 

Programme TBC 

 

Stabling required 

Dec-18 

Exit speed works not required following 

agreement with AGA.  

Wire height works review, prioritisation 

and proposal complete (CCSC 6Mar18) 

Andrew 

Wolstenholme

/ 

David Hughes 

Yes 

Timely completion of Stage 4 

power upgrade works (KD22). 

Current forecast Mar-19. 

KD22 (S4) 

31Aug18 

 

Close management of NR Simon Wright   

Stage 5 ETCS availability – 

Stockley to Paddington 

15Dec19 Mitigations being developed for ETCS 

programme slippage and lack of 

integration testing 

Andrew 

Wolstenholme 

Yes 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 

(KD30) 

ATS sites at Slough & West 

Ealing still to be brought online 

KD30 (S5) 

31Aug18 

Conversion to AT power forecast 

May18  

Simon Wright 

 

P
age 265



11 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington 

mainline  

15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to  

Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 RAG Risk / Issue Key Date Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

Timely completion of staff 

accommodation at Maidenhead 

sidings 

KD24 (S5) 

10Sep18 

 

Maidenhead staff accommodation 

delivery by MTR to be confirmed 

Simon Wright 

 

Customer 

 

Uncertainty over NR construction 

programme for station upgrades 

KD22 (S4) 31Aug18 

KD24 (S5) 10Sep18 

NR schedule for six west 

enhanced stations shows a 

phased completion from Sep19 to 

Dec19. Main ITT’s issued with 

award expected May18 

Simon Wright 

P
age 266



12 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Chairman’s reappointment confirmed. 

Transition of governance being discussed 

Andrew Wolstenholme & 

Mike Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Close out organisation included in 

approved business plan - key roles to be 

filled via internal appointments to retain 

knowledge 

Andrew Wolstenholme 

P
age 267



13 

P11 Financial Summary 

• The P50 AFCDC decreased by £0.1m to 

£12,464m in the Period, £43m below the P80 

AFCDC and £48m below IP2.  

• Cost increases were funded by a drawdown from 

risk, giving a net reduction in AFCDC.  

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £60.7m above the 

2017/18 Business Plan. This is predominantly 

due to lower than planned productivity, delays 

and prolongation and payment of NR Delivery 

incentives. 

• Current actions to remain within funding : 

 Review of cost efficiencies internally within CRL, 

and available savings within the supply chain. 

 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by 

CRL. 

 Continuing the focus of cost reviews to 

challenge the Tier 1 contractor teams directly. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 

• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) has reduced to £2,396m to reflect £22m funded via the Funding Agreement between CRL and 

NR, the £28m and £84m cash funding NR secured via DfT Grant Funded Agreement.  

• NR cumulative (gross) spend (which excludes adjustments for Traction Power / Accelerated Renewals) is £2,616.4m and represents 93% 

complete (inc VN’s). 

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

£
b

n
 P95

P80

P50

IP2

P50 £12,464m 

IP2 £12,512m 

P
age 268



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
10 APRIL 2018 

P
age 269



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness 20 minutes 

5.  Elizabeth Line Launch Plan 5 minutes 

6.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

7. Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

8. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Simon Wright 

Shashi Verma David Hughes Vernon Everitt Simon Kilonback 

Andy Brown Graeme Craig Lucy Findlay Kevin Lynch 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) P
age 270



3 

Actions from meeting of 9 March 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target 
date 

Status 

17.032 9/3/18 Papers for meeting to include clearer information on 
progress and forecasts against MOHS dates and  any 
resultant impacts on opening of each stage 

Martin Stuckey 10/4/18 Complete 

17.033 9/3/18 Concerns with the issue identified this week with 
Bombardier train software and their quality assurance 
processes to be raised with them 

Mike Brown & 
Howard Smith 

10/4/18 Ongoing 

17.034 9/3/18 Consider the relative costs and benefits of the 2 options 
for interim provision of back-haul wifi and agree way 
forward 

Howard Smith & 
Shashi Verma 

10/4/18 Complete. Will award on a 
baseline requirement but 
seek to leave open the 
option for consideration of 
minor improvements from 
the winner 

17.035 9/3/18 Specific concerns with NR activities which overall present a 
strategic risk to Elizabeth line operations to be raised with 
NR Chairman 

Howard Smith 10/4/18 Open 

17.036 9/3/18 Meet prior to TfL Board deep-dive to discuss overall 
financial status  

Simon Kilonback & 
Andrew 
Wolstenholme 

10/4/18 Complete 

P
age 271



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 12, the HSPI decreased to 2.57 (P11 = 2.60) with 11 of 11 key contracts achieving an HSPI score of 2.20 and  
8 of 11 scored at least 2.50 or more.  
The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.08 (P11 = 0.08) and the lost time case AFR decreased to 0.16 (P11 = 0.17). 

Operations  
In Period 12, the SPI was 75.2 (P11 = 77.0) in the ‘poor performance’ red zone 
and the 13 period moving average score is at 76.3 'below target performance' 
in the amber zone. 
TfL Rail: Passenger accidents increased to above average levels in the period. 
There were two lost-time workforce injuries reported, the most significant 
was a driver sustaining a cut hand at Shenfield Sidings. There were seven 
workforce assaults reported, five verbal and two physical assaults. There was 
a TPWS intervention approaching L601 at Shenfield after the driver was late to 
cancel an AWS alarm. There was also a close call at Old Oak Common depot 
where a Class 345 was incorrectly routed towards a construction possession.  
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
19 February 2018 –  

  
12 February 2018 –  

High Potential Near Misses   
20 February 2018 –  

13 February 2018 –   
7 February 2018 –  

 
5 February 2018 –   

SPI scope updated 
to account for 

adoption of Great 
Western stations 

P
age 272



5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 
Phase 2 - 28 October  2018  
 

  Key Milestones MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P12) 

Variance [BL - 
Forecast] RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 2 Phase 1 - Paddington to Heathrow           

2.1 5No.RLUs Available for Driver Training (Non ETCS) 23-Apr-18 23-Apr-18 0 Green ↔ 

2.2 Opening of Stage 2 – 
Heathrow to Paddington High Level @T/T Change 20 May 18 20-May-18 20-May-18 0 Green ↔ 

Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow           

2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 24-Aug-18 0 Green ↔ 

2.4  24-Aug-18 12-Oct-18 -49 Red ↓ 

2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 28-Sep-18 19-Nov-18 -52   ↓ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality. 28-Oct-18 TBC (Dependent on MTRC  driver training duration) 

P
age 273



6 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 
Phase 2 - 28 October  2018  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer Risk to timely installation of TVM and 
Gate lines at Heathrow and elsewhere 

Heathrow forecast 07May18  (T5 
completion 5Mar18).   
Paddington forecast Sep18 

Shashi Verma 

Phase 1 – 2 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph CTA to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph Paddington to Hayes & Harlington Cl345RLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Timely completion & handover of 
OOC including signalling 
commissioned 

Interfaces being managed and contingency 
plans for delayed commissioning of 
signalling 

Howard Smith 

Timely completion, acceptance and 
handover of DOO, Paddington gauge 
clearance and other NR deliverables 

Paddington track, OLE & platform 
adjustments  forecast complete early May. 
DOO testing commenced Mar18 

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 
 

2 FLUs & 5 RLUs for driver training, 
route familiarisation and passenger 
service 

Use of odd number platforms at 
Paddington if  RLU SDO unavailable, & 
updated ASDO database, release 10April, 
approved 30April 

Howard Smith 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains  

 
 

 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

 
 

 Howard Smith 

P
age 274



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Key Milestones MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P12) 

Variance [BL 
- Forecast] RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           
  Dynamic Testing            

3.1 WBP ATFS Energised 31-Mar-18 24-Apr-18 -24   ↓ 
3.2 CBTC Software Available for Zones 1 & 2 Protective Manual (PM) & Automatic Modes (AM) 09-Apr-18 09-Apr-18 0 Green ↔ 
3.2 PSD Ready for Dynamic Testing in Zone 1 09-Apr-18 28-Apr-18 -19   ↓ 
3.3 CBTC Software Available for Zones 1 & 2 Auto Reverse & Isolated ETCS Testing 23-Apr-18 23-Apr-18 0 Green ↔ 
3.4 Provide all Trains to Systemwide for Dynamic Testing (3rd & 4th FLUs) 14-May-18 09-May-18 5   ↓ 
3.5 Linewide SCADA available in Zones 3 & 4 30-May-18 30-May-18 0   ↔ 
3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.7 GSM-R infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 1 to 4 08-Jun-18 13-Jun-18 -5   ↓ 
3.8 Permanently energise OHLE Zones 3 & 4 10-Jun-18 09-Jun-18 1    
3.9 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 3 & 4) 11-Jun-18 11-Jun-18 0 Green ↔ 

3.10 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
  Trial Running           

3.11 All 11 kV S,S&P locations energized 15-Apr-18 15-Apr-18 0   ↔ 
3.12 ORR Issue Safety Authorisation to RfLI 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.15 ORR Issue Amended safety Cert. & Authorisation to MTRC 04-Jul-18 04-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 31-Jul-18 -26   ↓ 
3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 14-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.18 Delivery Yellow Plant (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 27-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.19 Sufficient RFLI Ops & Maint. Staff Trained and Competent as IM 03-Aug-18 03-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.20 Training Delivered to allow the Introduction of the RFLI Rule Book 03-Aug-18 03-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.21 Handover - Railway Systems 05-Aug-18 05-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.22 CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 05-Aug-18 26-Jun-18 40   ↓ 
3.23 Handover to Operator / Commencement of Trial Running 05-Aug-18 05-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 13-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

P
age 275



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Key Milestones MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P12) 

Variance [BL 
- Forecast] RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           

  Trial Operations           

3.25 All Stations 'Brought Into use'     09-Sep-18 TBC   (Stations 'Staged Completion' dates TBC) 

3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 31-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.27 Commence Trial Operations 09-Sep-18 09-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

  Passenger Service           

3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 17-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.29 CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 15-Aug-18 56    

3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 12-Oct-18 3    

3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 14-Nov-18 -5   ↓ 

3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18 0   ↔ 

  Substantial Completion of Stage 3           

3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (final IM access)  21-Nov-18 31-Oct-18 21   ↔ 

3.34 Final Handover of all Stations, Shafts and Portals 28-Nov-18 28-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 276



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 91.4% complete against plan 
93.0%   
Key contract for Energisation and Dynamic 
testing C610 79% complete against plan 
90% 

MOHS 2018 provides baseline of  
activities required to successfully 
handover the railway starting in July, 
ahead of opening safely and on time in 
December 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritise systemwide activities 
including  traction & non traction 
power and communication software 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide).  

Senior Management focus on this 
activity, now being monitored weekly 
and in some cases, daily 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and drive Tier 1 
contractors to provide information in 
good time 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 
 

 

 
  

 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Confirm blockades June & July 18. 
Confirm the programme for 
installation of wayside equipment, on 
board software and testing at PML 

Simon Wright 

P
age 277



10 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services. 
Asset Information (Drops1-3) forecast 
complete mid/end May18. 

CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information 

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance staff 
not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials and delivery 
of training  courses remains behind plan.  

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover  

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trial 
operations activity. 

Complete infrastructure and testing as 
early as possible to allow unimpeded 
trial operations. Clear definition of 
minimum requirements. Modelling  
systems reliability. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 
. 

Station by station Handover execution 
plans being agreed between CRL and 
LU due end of March 

Howard Smith 

P
age 278



11 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and programme 
for wifi and 4G for passengers from stage 
opening and Maintenance teams from 
handover 

Interim on-train wifi solution proposed. 
Positive initial engagement with MNOs. 
Commence procurement. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan to be prepared and managed 
by EL Comms Board.  
 
 
Update to 10 April meeting 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 279



12 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  Key Milestones MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P12) 

Variance [BL - 
Forecast] RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 services (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 14-May-19 3 Green ↓ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 Green ↔ 

Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.   13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58 Green  

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0 Green ↔ 

P
age 280



13 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& stabling to support 
Stage 3)  

Wire height works funding agreed. Agreement 
with AGA and programme required (target 
completion Oct18). 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22).  

Close management of NR. Current forecast 
Mar19. 

Simon Wright   

Stage 5 ETCS availability – Stockley 
to Paddington 

Mitigations being developed for ETCS 
programme slippage and lack of integration 
testing 

Simon Wright Yes 

Timely completion of 9 car DOO 
CCTV (Stratford & Shenfield) 

Liaison with AGA regarding manual dispatch 
/line of sight concerns 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Plumstead  
facilities including Stage 4 stabling  

Handover of site by systemwide  contractor 
required - programme under review. 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power forecast Sep18  Simon Wright 
 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Uncertainty over NR construction 
programme for station upgrades 

NR schedule for six west enhanced stations 
shows a phased completion from Sep19 to 
Dec19. Main ITT’s issued with awards 
expected May18 

Simon Wright 

P
age 281



14 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Chairman’s reappointment confirmed. 
Transition of governance being discussed 

Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Close out organisation included in approved 
business plan - key roles to be filled via 
internal appointments to retain knowledge 

Simon Wright 

P
age 282



15 

P12 Financial Summary 

• The P50 AFCDC increased by £3.1m to 
£12,467m in the Period, £42.7m below the P80 
AFCDC and £44.9m below IP2.  

• Cost increases were funded in part by a £75.2m 
drawdown from risk. 

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £67.4m above the 
2017/18 Business Plan. This is predominantly 
due to lower than planned productivity, delays 
and prolongation and other net overspends. 
Current actions to remain within funding : 

 Review of cost efficiencies internally within CRL, 
and available savings within the supply chain. 

 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by 
CRL. 

 Continuing the focus of cost reviews to 
challenge the Tier 1 contractor teams directly. 

 Review & challenge of URTs and preparation of 
the Q4 QRA. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remains at £2,396m which reflects £22m funded via the Funding Agreement between CRL and 

NR, the £28m and £84m cash funding NR secured via DfT Grant Funded Agreement. NR to confirm mechanism for their £20m funding 
contribution.  

• NR cumulative (gross) spend (which excludes adjustments for Traction Power / Accelerated Renewals) is £2,628.7m and represents 
93.3% complete (inc VN’s). 

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

£b
n P95

P80

P50

IP2

P50 £12,467m 

IP2 £12,512m 

P
age 283



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
4 MAY 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 284



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness, including T Minus Tracker 25 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

7. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 

Shashi Verma David Hughes Vernon Everitt Simon Kilonback 

Andy Brown Graeme Craig Lucy Findlay Kevin Lynch 

Chris Sexton (for Simon Wright) 

P
age 285

Presenter_6
Presentation Notes




3 

Actions from meeting of 10 April 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target date Status 

17.035 9/3/18 Specific concerns with NR activities which overall 
present a strategic risk to Elizabeth line operations to be 
raised with NR Chairman 

Howard Smith 4/5/18 Open 

17.037 10/4/18 Alternate meetings to be held at Canary wharf Andy Brown & 
Martin Stuckey 

4/5/18 Jul, Sep & Nov 
meetings at CW 

17.038 10/4/18 Customer proposition for on-train wifi (non-PCN 
solution) to be confirmed and issued to the 
Commissioner 

Shashi Verma 4/5/18 Complete  

17.039 10/4/18 Seek to get NR to reinstate the 19/20 May possession on 
GW route 

Simon Wright 4/5/18 Ongoing – working 
with NR to achieve 
the possession on 
20/21May 

17.040 10/4/18 Papers to include specific dates in relation to each 
station completion/Handover 

Martin Stuckey 4/5/18 Complete 

P
age 286



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 13, the HSPI increased to 2.59, second highest ever (P12 = 2.57) and remains significantly above the 
2.20 target. 11 of 11 key contracts achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 and 55% scored at least 2.60 or more.  
The RIDDOR rate increased to at 0.09 (P12 = 0.08) and the lost time case AFR increased to 0.17 (P11 = 0.16). 
 

Operations  

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
21 March -  

 
 

High Potential Near Misses   
18 March -  

 

Lost Time Case  
22 March -  

19 March -   
6 March -   

Tfl Rail: There were eight passenger minor injuries on the eastern section and 
four on the western section. There was one MTR workforce minor injury at 
Romford. There were twelve workforce assaults - five verbal and seven physical. 
The number of assaults is a key concern to MTR and a workstream to refresh 
training in conflict management has been established. There were eight 
operational incidents, the most significant was a customer’s rucksack strap 
became trapped in the doors of a class 345 train at Brentwood. There was one 
station related operational incident where a passenger was over carried on empty 
coaching stock to Gidea Park sidings but was safely returned to the station. 
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

P
age 287

Presenter_7
Presentation Notes




5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 
Phase 2 - 28 October  2018  
 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / 
Forecast (P13) 

Variance  
[BL - 

Forecast] 
RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 2 Phase 1 - Paddington to Heathrow           

2.1 5 No.RLUs Available for Passenger Service (Non ETCS) 23-Apr-18 23-Apr-18 0 Green ↔ 

2.2 Opening of Stage 2 - Heathrow to Paddington High Level @T/T Change 20 May 18 20-May-18 20-May-18 0 Green ↔ 

Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow 

2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 24-Aug-18 0 Green ↔ 

2.4  24-Aug-18 12-Oct-18 -49 red ↔ 

2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 28-Sep-18 19-Nov-18 -52 red ↔ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality. 28-Oct-18 TBC (Dependent on Unit Availability for Driver Training) 

P
age 288



6 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 
Phase 2 - 28 October  2018  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer Risk to timely installation of TVM and 
Gate lines at Heathrow and elsewhere 

T4 & T5 works complete, CTA works & 
testing ongoing.  Heathrow forecast 
07May18.  Paddington forecast Sep18 

Shashi Verma 

Phase 1 – 2 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph CTA to Heathrow T4 Cl360; 2 tph Paddington to Hayes & Harlington Cl345RLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Timely completion & handover of 
OOC including signalling 
commissioned 

Interfaces being managed and contingency 
plans for delayed commissioning of 
signalling 

Howard Smith 

Timely completion, acceptance and 
handover of DOO, Paddington gauge 
clearance and other NR deliverables 

Positive results from DOO testing – no 
failures. Paddington track, OLE & platform 
adjustments forecast complete early May 

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 
 

2 FLUs & 5 RLUs for driver training, 
route familiarisation and passenger 
service 

Timetable and ARS solutions at Paddington 
if  RLU SDO unavailable.  
MTR targeting 40 drivers trained for 19 May 
(min 20 required for start of service) 

Howard Smith 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

Timely completion of ETCS testing 
and BT on board signalling approval 

Close monitoring of software development 
for passenger service and prioritised joint 
lab testing @ Charleroi 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Timely completion of driver training 
and Ops proving 

Development of MTR schedule for Phase 2 
ongoing 

Howard Smith 

P
age 289



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P13) 

Variance  
[BL - 

Forecast] 
RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           
  Dynamic Testing            

3.1 WBP ATFS Energised 31-Mar-18 27-Apr-18 -27 Red ↓ 
3.2 PSD Ready for Dynamic Testing in Zone 1 09-Apr-18 09-May-18 -30 red ↓ 
3.3 CBTC Software Available for Zones 1 & 2 Auto Reverse & Isolated ETCS Testing 23-Apr-18 27-Apr-18 -4 red ↓ 
3.4 Provide all Trains to Systemwide for Dynamic Testing (3rd & 4th FLUs) 14-May-18 15-May-18 -1 red ↓ 
3.5 Linewide SCADA available in Zones 3 & 4 30-May-18 30-May-18 0   ↔ 
3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.7 GSM-R infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 1 to 4 08-Jun-18 08-Jun-18 0 Green ↑ 
3.8 Permanently energise OHLE Zones 3 & 4 10-Jun-18 10-Jun-18 0   ↓ 
3.9 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 3 & 4) 11-Jun-18 11-Jun-18 0 Green ↔ 

3.10 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
  Trial Running           

3.11 All 11 kV S,S&P locations energized 15-Apr-18 21-Apr-18 -6 red ↓ 
3.12 ORR Issue Safety Authorisation to RfLI 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-18 0   ↔ 
3.15 ORR Issue Amended Safety Cert. & Authorisation to MTRC 04-Jul-18 04-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 03-Aug-18 -29 red ↓ 
3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 14-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.18 Delivery Yellow Plant (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 27-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.19 Sufficient RFLI Ops & Maint. Staff Trained and Competent as IM 03-Aug-18 03-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.20 Training Delivered to allow the Introduction of the RFLI Rule Book 03-Aug-18 03-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.21 Handover - Railway Systems 05-Aug-18 05-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.22 CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 05-Aug-18 26-Jun-18 40   ↔ 
3.23 Handover to Operator / Commencement of Trial Running 05-Aug-18 05-Aug-18 0   ↔ 
3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 17-Aug-18 -4 red ↓ 

P
age 290



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P13) 

Variance  
[BL - 

Forecast] 
RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           

  Trial Operations           

3.25 All Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/LU/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.    Refer to detailed Station Table (next slide) 

3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 31-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.27 Commence Trial Operations 09-Sep-18 09-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

  Passenger Service           

3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 17-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.29 CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 02-Aug-18 69   ↑ 

3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 15-Oct-18 0   ↓ 

3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 05-Dec-18 -26 red ↓ 

3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18 0   ↔ 

  Substantial Completion of Stage 3           

3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (Initial IM access)  21-Nov-18 01-Nov-18 20 Green ↓ 

3.34 Final Handover of all Stations, Shafts and Portals 28-Nov-18 28-Nov-18 0 Green ↔ 

3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0 Green ↔ 

P
age 291



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / 
Forecast (P13) 

Variance [BL 
- Forecast] RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood 

  LU Stations 'Staged Completion' - for LU Familiarisation and Trial Ops.    

3.251 Whitechapel Station 16-Aug-18 16-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.252 Bond Street Station 31-Oct-18 31-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

3.253 Liverpool Street Station 02-Sep-18 02-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.254 Tottenham Court Road Station 02-Aug-18 02-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.255 Farringdon Station 17-Aug-18 17-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

  RFLI Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.    

3.256 Paddington Station 29-Jul-18 29-Jul-18 0   ↔ 

3.257 Custom House Station 28-Jul-18* 28-Jul-18 0 green ↔ 

3.258 Woolwich Station 09-Sep-18 09-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.259 Canary Wharf Station 05-Jul-18 05-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
    

Date with * =  Final Handover date not Staged Completion 
  

P
age 292



10 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 92.1% complete against plan 
93.9%    
Key contract for Energisation and Dynamic 
testing C610 81% complete against plan 
91% 

MOHS 2018 remains achievable.  
Commencing T-minus review process 
tracking progress towards criteria for 
start of trial running, trial operations and 
passenger service  
(Draft Tracker attached)  

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritise systemwide activities including  
traction & non traction power and 
communication software 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide).  

Revised approach for dynamic testing 
confirmed. Senior management focus on 
this activity, now being monitored 
weekly and in some cases, daily 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and drive Tier 1 
contractors to provide information in 
good time 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 

 

 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Maintain blockades June & July 18. 
Confirm the programme for installation 
of wayside equipment, on board 
software and testing at PML 

Simon Wright 

P
age 293



11 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services. 
Asset Information (Drops1-3) forecast 
complete mid/end May18. 

Revised, prioritised programme for 
asset information transfer established. 
CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information 

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance staff 
not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials and delivery 
of training  courses remains behind plan.  

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover including care & 
custody for non-routeway assets may 
be necessary 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trial 
operations activity. 

Complete infrastructure and testing as 
early as possible to allow unimpeded 
trial operations. Clear definition of 
minimum requirements. Modelling  
systems reliability 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 
. 

Station Handover execution plans 
received 

Howard Smith 

P
age 294



12 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and programme 
for wifi and 4G for passengers from stage 
opening and Maintenance teams from 
handover 

Interim on-train wifi solution proposed. 
Appointment of MNO forecast end of 
May18 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan to be prepared and managed 
by EL Comms Board 
 
 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 295



13 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P13) 

Variance  
[BL - 

Forecast] 
RAG Change from 

Last Period 

Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 14-May-19 3 Green ↔ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 Green ↔ 

Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.  (Including  RLU to FLU Reconfiguration) 13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58   ↔ 

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 296



14 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Wire height works funding agreed. Agreement 
with AGA and programme required (target 
completion Oct18). 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22).  

Close management of NR. Current forecast 
Mar19. 

Simon Wright   

Timely completion of Plumstead  
facilities including Stage 4 stabling  

Handover of site by systemwide contractor 
required. Programme under review 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power forecast Sep18  Simon Wright 
 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Uncertainty over NR construction 
programme for station upgrades 

NR schedule for six enhanced western 
stations shows completion from Sep19 to 
Dec19. Main ITT’s issued with awards 
expected June & July18. 
Enhanced Ilford & Romford Dec19. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 297



15 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Transition of governance being discussed Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 
completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 
out organisation to be filled via internal 
appointments to retain knowledge 

Simon Wright 

P
age 298



16 

P13 Financial Summary 

• The P50 AFCDC increased by £255.6m to £12,723m in the 
Period, and is now £210.7m above IP2, and £215.6m above the 
reported Financial Budget.  The AFCDC increase is 
predominantly due to a net increase to the Programme risk 
provision following the Q4 QRA (£243.0m). 

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £107.5m above the 2017/18 
Business Plan. This is predominantly due to delays to the 
reimbursement of oversite development costs, ongoing lower 
than planned productivity, delays and prolongation. 

• The full year overspend is £438m against the 2017/2018 
Business Plan.  

Current actions: 

 Review of cost efficiencies internally within CRL, and available 
savings within the supply chain. 

 Preparation and submission of the SACR19 report. 

 Preparation of the 2017/18 Financial Statements for statutory 
audit. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remain has reduced to £2,376 which reflects £22m funded via the Funding Agreement 

between CRL and NR, the £28m and £84m cash funding NR secured via DfT Grant Funded Agreement and now NR’s £20m funding 
contribution.  

• NR cumulative (gross) spend (which excludes adjustments for Traction Power / Accelerated Renewals) is £2,640.0m and represents 
93.7% complete (inc VN’s). 

 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

 13.0

£b
an

 P95

P80

P50

IP2

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 299



As at 30/04/18 Release 2.2 DRAFT - WIP

Elizabeth line Countdown Board Tracker

Index Countdown readiness tests and supporting evidence Accountable 30/07/18 03/09/18 03/12/18

Programme Operator IM1 criterion Status Mitig. IM2 criterion Status Mitig. IM3 criterion Status Mitig.

CT0100 Are Rolling Stock, Depot & Yellow Plant available, commissioned and integrated? N/A P Clarke
1 0 1 0 1 0

CT0101 Class 345 approved for operation for TR/TO/Passenger Service incl. fully functional DOO CCTV N/A P Clarke Class 345 approved for TR operation 0 0 Class 345 approved for TO operation 0 0 Class 345 approved for Passenger operation 0 0

CT0102 Are there sufficient numbers of rolling stock available? N/A P Clarke 22 FLUs available for Trial Running 1 0 22 FLUs required for Trial Operations 1 0 22 FLUs required for Revenue Service 1 0

CT0103 Train Passenger Information Systems fully functioning, commissioned and integrated with RCC N/A P Clarke 0 0 0 Train PIS commissioned & integrated 0 0 0 0 0

CT0104 On-train signalling delivers full functionality per system design N/A P Clarke On-train signalling fully functioning 0 0 On-train signalling fully functioning 0 0 0 0

CT0105 Old Oak Common Depot commissioned (suitable for TR/TO) and integrated N/A P Clarke OOC Depot commissioned for TR 1 0 OOC Depot commissioned for TO 1 0 OOC Depot consents & certification ready for Rev. Svc. 0 0

CT0106 Yellow plant fully functional per yellow plant design (incl. CBTC signalling). N/A J Jarrett Yellow Plant functioning per design 1 0 Yellow Plant tested during Trial Ops 1 0 Yellow Plant tests completed - ready for RS 1 0

CT0200 Are Trace Assets safe, functional, commissioned and integrated? Bill Tucker D Canham
3 0 2 0 1 0

CT0201 Signalling for passenger trains commissioned & integrated with functionality per system design J Lacey D Canham C345 signalling working & fully functional 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0202 Signalling for Yellow Plant commissioned & integrated J Lacey D Canham Yellow Plant sig. commiss. & integrated 3 0 Yellow Plant sig. ready for Trial Ops 2 0 Yellow Plant sig. ready for Rev. Svc. 1 0 
CT0203 Signalling possession management commissioned & integrated for RFLI maintenance under ROGS J Lacey J Jarrett Signalling Possess. Mgmt commiss. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0204 RCC/BUCF commissioned & integrated including RCM and Asset Information Systems J Lacey D Canham RCC/BUCF commiss. & integrated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0205 GSM-R train radio commissioned & integrated - incl. handsets J Lacey D Canham GSM-R commissioned & integrated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0206 Emergency Services radio commissioned and reliable for back-up during TO (route-way and stations) J Lacey D Canham Construction Radio functioning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0207 Track fully functional, commissioned & integrated including track lubrication C Enoch D Canham Track systems fully functioning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0208 Traction Power & OHLE (Including E&B) fully functional, commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham OHLE commissioned 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0209 Platform CIS commissioned, integrated & linked to On Network CIS B Wheeldon D Canham CIS commissioned & integrated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0210 Tunnel Lighting commissioned and full functionality integrated & available with RCC C Gainsford D Canham Tunnel lighting commissioned. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0211 Tunnel LV power sockets commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham Tunnel LV power T&C & integrated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0212 Points heating functioning incl. temporary controls in place for Trial Running C Gainsford D Canham Points Heating temp controls functioning 0 0 Permanent Points Heating functioning 0 0 0 0 0

CT0213 Junction lighting commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham Junction Lighting functioning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0214 Tunnel walkway commissioned and brought into use C Gainsford D Canham 0 0 0 Tunnel Walkway commissioned for T.O. 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0215 Tunnel Fire Main commissioned and bought into use incl. Safety Case for 15TPH C Gainsford D Canham Temporary Tunnel Fire Main functioning 0 0 Permanent Tunnel Fire Main functioning 0 0 0 0 0

CT0216 Tunnel pumps and drainage functioning, commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham Pumps & drainage functioning 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0217 Temporary services recovery where this impacts delivery of Stage 3 C Gainsford D Canham 0 0 0 0 0 0 Evidence of temporary services recovery 0 0

CT0218 Platform Screen doors commissioned and integrated incl. detection at RCC C Gainsford D Canham PSDs commissioned and integrated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0219 Platform Areas clear for access to controls: PSDs, CIS, DOO, plat. lighting + as emergency escape routes T Easthorpe D Canham Platform Areas clear for access to controls 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0220 Shafts and Portals functioning, commissioned and detected at RCC T Easthorpe D Canham 0 0 0 Shafts & Portals commissioned & detected 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0221 Cross-passages commissioned, brought into use and detected at RCC. C Gainsford D Canham 0 0 0 Cross-passages commiss. & detected 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0222 Tunnel signage installed per design incl. required driver signage for TR and remaining signage for TO. C Gainsford D Canham Driver signage installed per design (TR) 0 0 Remaining signage installed (TO) 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0223 Tunnel ventilation commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham 0 0 0 Tunnel ventilation commissioned 0 0 0 0 0

CT0224 HV non-traction power commissioned and integrated for railway systems support C Gainsford D Canham HV non-traction power commissioned 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0225 Network Comms/SCADA commissioned and integrated J Lacey D Canham Net Comms & SCADA commissioned 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0226 DOO Trackside CCTV systems functioning, commissioned and integrated J Lacey D Canham DOO Trackside CCTV  functioning 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0227 Plumstead Maintenance Facility commissioned and integrated C Gainsford D Canham Plumstead facility commissioned 2 0 Plumstead facility fully integrated 2 0 Plumstead facility ready for Rev. Service 0 0 
CT0228 Asset information received, accepted and populated into systems M Taylor D Canham CEAMS populated with critical Trace asset data for TR 3 2 CEAMS populated with Asset data to allow TO 0 0 CEAMS populated with all remaining asset data 0 0

CT0229 Signalling & control of GE transition (U&D) to CRL EB/WB commissioned & integrated J Lacey D Canham

CT0230 Signalling & control of GW transition (L5/L6) to CRL EB/WB commissioned & integrated J Lacey D Canham

CT0231 All Dynamic Testing succesfully completed K Sibley N/A

CT0300 Are Critical Assets' Reliability/Availability/Maintainability (RAM) targets met? Bill Tucker R Parish
0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0301 C345 rolling stock has proven fault-free running for reliability targets J Bates P Clarke 500 fault free miles per unit running in CBTC area 0 0 9,000 miles per unit running in CBTC area 0 0 20,000 Miles per unit in CBTC area 0 0

CT0302 Platform Screen Doors - complete platform success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish 1 platform failure / 3 months 0 0 1 platform failure p.a. 0 0 0 0

CT0303 Platform Screen Doors - individual door set success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish 250k cycles / 2.9 door set failures per week 0 0 1M cycles - 0.91 door set failures per week 0 0 0 0

CT0304 Signalling - Infrastructure success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish Signalling reliability for TR achieved 0 0 Signalling reliability for TO achieved 0 0 Signalling reliability for RS achieved 0 0

CT0305 Train-based  - ATO success criteria achieved J Bates P Clarke ATO available >8hrs (only small failures) 0 0 0 0 0 ATO avail.>50kHrs for fleet 0 0

CT0306 Track systems (incl. points heating) success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish In tunnel - avail. 150yrs/mile / 4yrs overall 0 0 0 0 0 In tunnel - avail. >150yrs/mile / 4yrs overall 0 0

CT0307 S&C systems success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  > 3 yrs MTBSAF and > 5 yrs (key points) 0 0 0 0 0  > 6.5 yrs MTBSAF and > 10 yrs (key points) 0 0

CT0308 OHLE systems success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish Reliability 150yrs per mile 0 0 0 0 0 Reliability 150yrs per mile 0 0

CT0309 Tunnel Systems - Ventilation success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish Overall 1 fail / 1yr or 1 shaft / 3 mo. 0 0 Overall 1 fail / 5yr or 1 shaft fail / 1yr 0 0 Overall 1 fail / 5yr or 1 shaft fail / 1yr 0 0

CT0310 Tunnel Systems - pumps and drainage success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish AVop 99.995% on-demand/crit.sump continuous 0 0 0 0 0 AVop 99.995% on-demand/crit.sump continuous 0 0

CT0311 Tunnel Systems - Tunnel Lighting success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish Min. 99.995% intrinsic avail. (perm.lit sections) 0 0 0 0 0 Min. 99.995% intrinsic avail. (perm.lit sections) 0 0

CT0312 Tunnel Fire Main success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish MTBSAF > 100,000Hrs 0 0 0 0 0 MTBSAF > 100,000Hrs 0 0

CT0313 Power - Traction Power success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish AVop 99.997%   0 0 0 0 0 AVop 99.997%    0 0

CT0314 Power - HV Non-Traction Power success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  AVop 99.9999% MTBSAF >200000 ROP- PLP  0 0 0 0 0  AVop 99.9999% MTBSAF >200000 ROP- PLP  0 0

CT0315 Communications - CMS From the RCC success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  99.998% Reliability  0 0 0 0 0  99.998% Reliability  0 0

CT0316 Communications - end-to-end availability from RCC to any field equipment success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  99.95% Reliability  0 0 0 0 0 99.95% Reliability 0 0

CT0317 Stations - Lifts success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  90% availability  0 0  95% avail. & “2 of 3” escalators for THs to open 0 0 99.6% availability 0 0

CT0318 Stations - Escalators success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish  90% availability  0 0   95% avail. Stn lifts operational as a minimum 0 0 99.6% availability 0 0

CT0319 Stations - CIS systems success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish 30hrs platform / 10hrs full/partial Stn closure p.a 0 0 0 0 0 15hrs platform / 5hrs full/partial Stn closure p.a 0 0

CT0320 DOO Trackside-to-train reliability criteria achieved N/A D Canham *** DOO failure rate required *** 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0321 East transitions success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish 0 0 0 East Transitions achieve expected reliability for T.O. 0 0 East Transitions achieve expected reliability for R.S.. 0 0

CT0322 West transitions success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish 0 0 0 West Transitions achieve expected reliability for T.O. 0 0 West Transitions achieve expected reliability for R.S.. 0 0

CT0323 GSM-R Station radio all COS Stns incl.LU - success criteria achieved J Bates R Parish GSM-R Station radio works in all COS Stns to support TR 0 0 GSM-R Station radio works in all COS Stns to support TO 0 0 GSM-R Station radio works in all COS Stns to support RS 0 0

CT0324 PPM performance measures achieved for each phase N/A R Schofield PPM results met during TR 0 0 0 0 0 PPM results met during Trial Ops 0 0

CT0325 Headway performance measures achieved for each phase N/A R Schofield 10 missed Headways per day 0 0 0 0 0 2 missed Headways per day 0 0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

P
age 300



As at 30/04/18 Release 2.2 DRAFT - WIP

Elizabeth line Countdown Board Tracker

Index Countdown readiness tests and supporting evidence Accountable 30/07/18 03/09/18 03/12/18

Programme Operator IM1 criterion Status Mitig. IM2 criterion Status Mitig. IM3 criterion Status Mitig.

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

CT0400 Are COS stations safe, functional, commissioned, integrated & handed over? Bill Tucker D Canham
0 0 3 0 3 0

CT0401 Paddington T Easthorpe D Canham 0 0 0 Paddington station ready for Trial Operations. 2 0 Paddington Station ready for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0402 Bond Street T Easthorpe M Ashcroft 0 0 0 BOS brought into operational use through Staged Completion for Tria 3 0 BOS brought into use for EL Revenue Service. 3 0

CT0403 Tottenham Court Road T Easthorpe M Ashcroft 0 0 0 TCR brought into operational use through Staged Completion for T.O 2 0 TCR brought into operational use for EL Revenue Service. 2 0

CT0404 Farringdon T Easthorpe M Ashcroft 0 0 0 FAR bought into operational use through Staged Completion for T.O. 2 0 FAR brought into operational use for EL Revenue Service. 2 0

CT0405 Liverpool Street T Easthorpe M Ashcroft 0 0 0 LIS bought into operational use through Staged Completion for T.O. 2 0 LIS brought into operational use for EL Revenue Service. 2 0

CT0406 Whitechapel T Easthorpe M Ashcroft 0 0 0 WHI brought into operational use through Staged Completion for T.O 2 0 WHI brought into operational use for EL Rev. Svc. 2 0

CT0407 Canary Wharf T Easthorpe D Canham 0 0 0 Canary Wharf station ready for Trial Operations. 2 0 Canary Wharf Station ready for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0408 Custom House T Easthorpe D Canham Custom House Sation handover to IM 0 0 Custom House station ready for Trial Operations. 2 0 Custom House Station ready for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0409 Woolwich T Easthorpe D Canham 0 0 0 Woolwich station ready for Trial Operations. 2 0 Woolwich Station ready for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0410 Abbey Wood M White R Schofield 0 0 0 Abbey Wood station ready for Trial Operations. 2 0 Abbey Wood Station ready for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0500 Are Shafts & Portals safe, functional, commissioned, integrated & handed over? Bill Tucker D Canham
0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0501 North Woolwich Portal T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0502 Pudding Mill Lane Portal T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0503 Victoria Dock Portal T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0504 Royal Oak Portal T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0505 Plumstead Portal T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0506 Stepney Green Shaft T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0507 Mile End Shaft T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0508 Eleanor Street Shaft T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0509 Limmo Penninsula Shaft T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0510 Fisher Street Shaft T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0511 Plumstead Sidings T Easthorpe K Wiemeyer Assurance and handover documentation received 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0600 Are processes, procedures, plans and back-ups identified and in place? N/A D Fox
3 3 3 2 3 2

CT0601 Authority to Place Into Service (for COS assets) obtained from ORR Bill Tucker D Canham Safety Justifications for COS assets complete 0 0 Technical file for COS assets issued by NoBo 0 0 APIS for COS assets received from ORR 0 0

CT0602 Contingency plans in place to address asset reliability issues/defects and are resourced and scheduled N/A J Jarrett Asset reliability/defect contingency plans in place 3 0 Contingency plans for ongoing reliability/defects. 3 0 Contingency plans for residual reliability/defects. 3 0

CT0603 All supporting Asset info/AMSPs/critical materials/suppliers/systems in place and validated N/A J Jarrett Supporting asset/info/systems in place to take over COS 3 3 Remaining asset info. delivered/validated 3 0 Remaining asset info/systems delivered/validated

CT0604 Contingency plans in place for all operating issues N/A D Fox St.3 Ops contingency plans ready for COS operation 1 0 Ready to trial & validate St.3 Ops contingency plans 1 0 St.3 Ops contingency plans validated/updated after TO 1 0

CT0605 Emergency Response Units mobilised and ready N/A D Fox ERU mobilised ready to support Trial Running. 2 0 ERU incorporated into TO exercises as appropriate. 2 0 0 0 0

CT0607 Final briefings (lessons from TO) delivered (RFLI / LU / MTR-C)? N/A D Fox 0 0 0 0 0 0 Post-TO update briefings delivered to all staff 2 0

CT0608 Station Operator Agreements in place (RFLI-MTRC) N/A A McIntosh 0 0 0 Station Operator Agreements in place (RFLI-MTRC) 0 0 Post-TO changes to Station Operator Agreements in place. 0 0 
CT0609 All necessary updates incorporated into COS rule book and approved by CAP/RAB/C N/A B Barry TO version of Rule Book published for start of TR. 0 0 0 0 0 CAP/RABC approves updates to COS Rule Book post-TO. 0 0

CT0610 All required security arrangements in place, such as security sweeps, BTP informed etc. N/A D Fox COS Routeway Security in place ready for TR 0 0 COS Stns security arrangements in place for start of TO 0 0 COS security updates following TO in place ready for RS. 0 0

CT0611 All business support IT/IM systems in place and integrated N/A M Stuckey Business support systems in place for TR 3 2 0 0 0 0 0

CT0612 Trial Running and Trial Operations have been planned and successfully completed N/A P Ellis Trial Running Plan agreed and in place 2 1 TR Successful and TO Plan agreed and in place 3 2 TO successfully completed 3 2

CT0613 LU has undertaken and successfully completed station Trial Operations [BOS, TCR, FAR, LIV, WHI] N/A K Kapur 0 0 0 Plan in place for min. T.O. for LU Stns per Joint T.O. plan 2 0 Minimum T.O. successfully completed for LU Stns 2 0

CT0614 MTR has undertaken and successfully completed station Trial Operations [PAD, CWG, CUH, WOO, ABW] N/A R Schofield 0 0 0  Plan to complete minimum required TO for MTR-C stations. 2 0 Min. TO completed for MTR Stns & reviewed by TORG. 1 0

CT0615  Process in place for '100 days' operations following entry into RS N/A P Ellis 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 days' operations plan in place. 0 0

CT0616 Safety Information File received and processed, with mitigations M Brown A Davis SIF processed, with mitigations 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0617 RFLI Hazard Record Management system populated, in place and with hazards controlled N/A A Davis Hazard Record Management system in place 0 0 Hazard Record Management system updated post-TR 0 0 Hazard Record Management system updated post-TO 0 0

CT0618 Workplace Risk Assessments in place and understood N/A A Davis Workplace Risk Assessments in place  0 0 Workplace Risk Assessments in place  0 0 Workplace Risk Assessments in place  0 0

CT0700 Are all customer-facing measures in place? N/A A McIntosh
1 0 2 1 1 1

CT0701 Timetable and train paths is agreed and in place N/A R Schofield Trial Running Timetable agreed and in place 1 0 Trial Operations Timetable agreed and in place 1 0 St.3 Timetable agreed and in place 1 0

CT0702 Customer journey planning elements (tube maps, TfL web-site etc.) updated ready for RS N/A L Thorne 0 0 0 0 0 0 Customer journey planning material in place 1 0

CT0703 Launch Plan agreed with all relevant parties and is ready to go N/A L Thorne 0 0 0 0 0 0 Launch Plan - all components in place & on plan 1 0

CT0704 MTR staff uniforms procured and issued N/A R Schofield 0 0 0 0 0 0 MTRC staff uniforms issued ready for Rev. Svc. 1 0

CT0705 Maintenance staff and Customer Wi-Fi delivered ready for Rev. Service. N/A M Stuckey 0 0 0 station connectivity to supoprt some trial operations exercises 2 1 Full customer WiFi delivered, tested and available (Stns & train 1 1

CT0800 Are authorisations, permissions and endorsements in place? N/A D Fox
2 1 3 1 3 1

CT0801 Final AsBo Safety Assessment Report received and issued to RAB/C AsBo A Davis 0 0 0 0 0 0 Final Safety Assessment Report issued to RAB/C 0 0

CT0802 Main Line Safety Authorisation received from ORR ORR A Davis Main Line Safety Authorisation notification 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0803 Emergency Response Plans in place, agreed and updated with all emergency services N/A D Fox All Emergency Reponse Plan in place read for TR 2 0 ERPs in place updated for Trial Ops 1 0 ERPs in place updated for Revenue Service 1 0

CT0804 SMS for RFLI updated for phase and endorsed by CAP N/A A Davis SMS in place & endorsed for Trial Running 2 0 SMS in place & endorsed for Trial Operations 0 0 SMS in place & endorsed for Revenue Service 0 0

CT0805 SMS for MTR-C updated for phase and endorsed by SVP N/A R Schofield MTR-C SMS in place & endorsed for TR 1 0 MTR-C SMS in place & endorsed for TO 1 0 MTR-C SMS in place & endorsed for Rev.Svc. 1 0

CT0806 Safety Data for LU updated for phase and DRACCT informed N/A K Kapur 0 0 0 RCAs implemented prior to T.O. at each station & as needed for the 3 0 All RCAs implemented prior to Revenue start 3 0

CT0807 RFLI's Final Safety Justification endorsed by RAB/C M Brown A Davis CRL's FSJ for TO endorsed by RAB/C 0 0 RFLI's updated FSJ endorsed by RAB/C 0 0 RFLI's updated FSJ endorsed by RAB/C 0 0

CT0808 RFLI has received LoNos / Consents to Operate N/A D Fox Letters of No Objection received from rail stakeholders 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0809 Authority to Place Into Service received for Yellow Plant N/A J Jarrett APIS received for Yellow Plant 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0810 Authority to Place Into Service received for C345 Rolling Stock fitted with CBTC N/A P Clarke APIS for C345 stock fitted with CBTC 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0811 Operational restrictions reduced to a number acceptable to enter phase, or have mitigations in place N/A P Ellis Operational restrictions acceptable for TR (incl. TM1, TM2, 2 1 Operational restrictions acceptable for TO (incl. TM1, TM2, Drivers,D 2 1 Operational restrictions acceptable for RSO (incl. TM1, TM2, D 2 1

CT0812 MTRC obtains necessary Safety Certifications & Authorisations from ORR N/A R Schofield Required permissions received from ORR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0900 Are staff resources and teams in place and in possession of all required resources? N/A D Fox
3 3 2 0 2 0

CT0901 Sufficient RCC staff in place, competent and confident to enter phase N/A P Ellis Sufficient RCC staff for TR (40) 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 
CT0902 Sufficient staff track safety trained and confident to enter phase N/A J Jarrett Safety Competence Requirements for TR 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

P
age 301



As at 30/04/18 Release 2.2 DRAFT - WIP

Elizabeth line Countdown Board Tracker

Index Countdown readiness tests and supporting evidence Accountable 30/07/18 03/09/18 03/12/18

Programme Operator IM1 criterion Status Mitig. IM2 criterion Status Mitig. IM3 criterion Status Mitig.

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

CT0903 Sufficient MTR-C drivers mobilised, rostered, competent and confident to enter phase N/A R Schofield 156 Drivers trained for TR. 1 0 0 0 0 166 Drivers trained for Revenue Service. 1 0

CT0904 IM Maintenance staff mobilised and rostered ready for phase N/A J Jarrett Staff recruited, trained and rostered for TR 3 3 0 0 0 Automatically statused from CT0902 -----------> 0 0

CT0905 LU station and maintenance staff mobilised, rostered, competent and confident for phase N/A K Kapur 0 0 0 Sufficient Stn staff mobilised, rostered & competent to undertake T.O 2 0 Sufficient Stn staff mobilised, rostered & competent to operate 2 0

CT0906 RFLI Engineering staff mobilised and rostered for phase N/A D Canham Sufficient RFLI Engineering staff for TR. 0 0 0 0 0 Sufficient RFLI engineering staff for RS. 0 0

CT0907 Customer contact centre mobilised ready for Revenue Service N/A L Thorne 0 0 0 0 0 0 Customer Contact Centre mobilised for RS. 1 0

CT0908 TfL Ambassadors/SRTs/CAT teams recruited and briefed for launch week + any special requirements N/A L Thorne 0 0 0 0 0 0 TfL Ambassadors mobilised for RS. 1 0

CT0909 Customer ‘launch plans‘, incl. marketing, agreed between all parties and in place for Revenue Service N/A V Morley 0 0 0 0 0 0 Customer launch plan in place for RS. 1 0

CT0910 Full complement of RFLI, LU and MTR staff mobilised, rostered and ready for passenger service? N/A H Smith 0 0 0 0 0 0 All staff ready for revenue service. 1 0

CT0911 Sufficient MTR-C Control Staff recruited and trained N/A R Schofield MTR-C Control Staff recruited & trained (TR) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CT0912 LU maintenance regime in place for phase N/A K Kapur 0 0 0 Maintenance regime to support T.O. agreed & in place 2 0 Maintenance regime to support Rev.Svc. agreed & in place 2 0

CT0913 MTR maintenance contract in place for phase N/A R Schofield Interim arrangements in place to support TR 1 0 Interim arrangements in place to support TO 0 0 Interim arrangements in place to support RS 0 0

CT0914 NR Signalling staff in place, competent, confident to enter phase M White D Fox 0 0 0 0 0 0 NR signalling staff in place, competent, confident 0 0

CT0915 MTRC station staff mobilised, rostered, competent and confident for phase N/A R Schofield MTRC staff at Custom House Stn mobilised 0 0 MTRC staff at PAD, CWG & WOO Stns mobilised 0 0 Remaining MTRC Station staff mobilised 0 0

CT0916 Bombardier: train and depot Mtce and Ops support staff/ procedures/IT in place N/A P Clarke BT has required staff mobilised for TR 0 0 BT has required staff mobilised for TO 0 0 BT has required staff mobilised for Rev. Svc. 0 0

P
age 302



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
4TH JUNE 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 303



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness, including T Minus Tracker 25 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues 5 minutes 

7. Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith Simon Kilonback 

Simon Wright David Hughes Vernon Everitt Lucy Findlay 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 

P
age 304



3 

Actions from meeting of 10 April 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target date Status 

17.035 9/3/18 Specific concerns with NR activities which overall 
present a strategic risk to Elizabeth line operations to be 
raised with NR Chairman 

Howard Smith 4/6/18 Chairman visit 
booked 

17.037 10/4/18 Alternate meetings to be held at Canary wharf Andy Brown & 
Martin Stuckey 

4/5/18 Jul, Sep & Nov 
meetings at CW 

17.038 10/4/18 Customer proposition for on-train wifi (non-PCN 
solution) to be confirmed and issued to the 
Commissioner 

Shashi Verma 4/5/18 Complete  

17.039 10/4/18 Seek to get NR to reinstate the 19/20 May possession on 
GW route 

Simon Wright 4/5/18 Closed 

17.040 10/4/18 Papers to include specific dates in relation to each 
station completion/Handover 

Martin Stuckey 4/5/18 Complete 

P
age 305



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 1, the HSPI increased to 2.63, the highest ever (P13 = 2.59) and remains significantly above the 2.20 
target. 11 of 11 key contracts achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 and C405 Paddington achieved 2.94 the highest ever 
score . The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.09 (P13 = 0.09) and the lost time case AFR remained at 0.17 (P13 = 0.17). 
 

Operations   

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
23 April  

 
 

 

High Potential Near Misses   
19 April -  

 
 
 

Lost Time Case  
03 April -  

 
 

Tfl Rail: MTR SVP approved commencement of Stage 2 operations.  
Period 1 SPI = 85.3, the highest ever follows initiatives by MTR Safety & Customer 
Services team. This period there were fourteen passenger accidents (two major, 
seven minor and five no-injury). There was one MTR workforce lost time minor injury 
due to a failure to follow training and process – a personal improvement plan has 
been put in place. Following delivery of personal safety training and targeted MTR and 
BTP patrols of high risk areas the number of workforce assaults has dropped from 
twelve in P13 to six. There were three operational incidents: the route is being 
checked after a TPWS intervention at Maryland due to an overspeed; and the process 
for train driver and station staff checking and confirming that a train has been cleared 
is under review following two incidents where passengers were over carried. 
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

P
age 306



5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 - Achieved 
Phase 2 – End Feb 2019 (tbc) 
 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

[Draft P02] 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

Stage 2 Phase 1 - Paddington to Heathrow           
2.1 5 No.RLUs Available for Passenger Service (Non ETCS) 23-Apr-18 26-Apr-18 -3   ↓ 
2.2 Opening of Stage 2 - Heathrow to Paddington High Level @T/T Change 20 May 18 20-May-18 20-May-18 0   ↔ 

Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow 
2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 24-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

2.4  24-Aug-18 12-Oct-18 -49   ↔ 
2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 28-Sep-18 19-Nov-18 -52   ↔ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality. 28-Oct-18 TBC (Dependent on Unit Availability for 
Driver Training) 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains  

 
 

 
 

 

 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

 
 

 Howard Smith 

P
age 307



6 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
[Draft P02] 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           

  Dynamic Testing            

3.1 WBP ATFS Energised 31-Mar-18 17-May-18 -47   ↔ 

3.2 PSD Ready for Dynamic Testing in Zone 1 09-Apr-18 28-May-18 -49   ↔ 

3.4 Provide all Trains to Systemwide for Dynamic Testing (3rd & 4th FLUs) 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 

3.5 Linewide SCADA available in Zones 3 & 4 30-May-18 31-May-18 -1   ↔ 

3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 07-Jun-18 19-Jul-18 -42 Red ↓ 

3.7 GSM-R infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 1 to 4 30-Jul-18 29-Jun-18 31   ↔ 

3.8 Permanently energise OHLE Zones 3 & 4 10-Jun-18 10-Jun-18 0   ↔ 

3.9 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 3 & 4) 11-Jun-18 11-Jun-18 0   ↔ 

3.10 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 19-Jul-18 -19 Red ↓ 
  Trial Running           

3.11 All 11 kV S,S&P locations energized 15-Apr-18 06-Jun-18 -52   ↓ 
3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 11-Aug-18 -42   ↓ 

3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 18-Aug-18 -49 Red ↓ 
3.15 ORR Issue Amended Safety Cert. & Authorisation to MTR-C 04-Jul-18 04-Jul-18 0   ↔ 
3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 09-Sep-18 -57   ↓ 
3.18 Delivery Yellow Plant (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 04-Aug-18 -8   ↔ 

3.22 CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 26-Jun-18 02-Jul-18 -6   ↓ 
3.23 Commencement of Trial Running under CCRRB (Construction Rule Book) 05-Aug-18 11-Sep-18 -37   ↓ 
3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 10-Aug-18 3   ↓ 

P
age 308



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
[Draft P02] 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

    Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           
  Trial Operations           

3.12 ORR Issue Safety Authorisation to RfLI 07-Jun-18 23-May-18 0   ↔ 
3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 03-Aug-18 -29   ↔ 
3.19 Sufficient RFLI Ops & Maint. Staff Trained and Competent as IM 03-Aug-18 10-Sep-18 -38   ↓ 
3.25 All Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/LU/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.    Refer to detailed Station Table (below) 
3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 31-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.21 Handover of Routeway to RFLI 05-Aug-18 01-Oct-18 -57   ↓ 
3.27 Commence Combined Elizabeth Line Trials (Trial Operations) 09-Sep-18 01-Oct-18 -22   ↓ 

  Passenger Service           
3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 17-Sep-18 0   ↔ 
3.29 CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 02-Aug-18 69   ↔ 
3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 15-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 30-Nov-18 -21   ↔ 
3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18 0   ↔ 

  Substantial Completion of Stage 3           
3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (Initial IM access)  21-Nov-18 21-Nov-18 0   ↔ 
3.34 Final Handover of all Stations, Shafts and Portals 28-Nov-18 28-Nov-18 0   ↔ 
3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 309



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

[Draft P02] 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

  LU Stations 'Staged Completion' - for LU Familiarisation and Trial Ops.              

3.251 Whitechapel Station 16-Aug-18* 16-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.252 Bond Street Station 31-Oct-18* 31-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

3.253 Liverpool Street Station 02-Sep-18* 02-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.254 Tottenham Court Road Station 10-Aug-18 10-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.255 Farringdon Station 17-Aug-18 17-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

  RFLI Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.            

3.256 Paddington Station 29-Jul-18* 29-Jul-18* 0   ↔ 

3.257 Custom House Station 28-Jul-18** 28-Jul-18** 0 green ↔ 

3.258 Woolwich Station 09-Sep-18* 09-Sep-18* 0   ↔ 

3.259 Canary Wharf Station 05-Jul-18* 29-Aug-18 -55   ↓ 
    

Date with * =  'TBA' in MOHS (Dates shown from 1st Draft Handover Execution Plans) 
Date with ** =  Final Handover date only 

P
age 310



9 
Stage 3 - Proposal – defer handover to RfL by 2 months (to Oct 1st) 

P
age 311



10 
Stage 3 – Stations / Handover Dates 

P
age 312



11 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 92.6% complete against plan 
93.9%    

MOHS 2018 being updated with trial 
running now due to commence mid-
Sep18 followed by Handover and 
commencement of trial operations 
01Oct18. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritise systemwide activities including  
traction & non traction power and 
communication software 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide).  

Testing being done in windows. Senior 
management focus on this activity, now 
being monitored weekly and in some 
aspects, daily 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and drive Tier 1 
contractors to provide information in 
good time 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Confirm and maintain blockades 
Aug/Sep18. Confirm the programme for 
installation of wayside equipment, on 
board software and testing at PML 

Simon Wright 

P
age 313



12 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services 
and plan maintenance activity. Asset 
Information (Drops1-3) forecast complete 
end May18. 

Revised, prioritised programme for 
asset information transfer established. 
CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information 

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance & 
operations staff not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials, simulators  
and delivery of training courses remains 
behind plan.  

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover including care & 
custody for non-routeway assets may 
be necessary 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trial 
operations activity. 

Complete infrastructure and testing as 
early as possible to allow unimpeded 
trial operations. Clear definition of 
minimum requirements. Modelling  
systems reliability 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 
. 

Station Handover Execution Plans 
received 

Howard Smith 

Staged Handover requirements are not 
agreed 

Complete Handover Execution Plans 
by end of May. Ensure Trace assets are 
prioritised. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 
 

P
age 314



13 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and programme 
for wifi and 4G for passengers from stage 
opening and Maintenance teams from 
handover 

Interim on-train wifi solution proposed. 
Appointment of MNO forecast delayed 
to Jul18 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan to be prepared and managed 
by EL Comms Board 
 
 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 315



14 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

[Draft P02] 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

 Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 08-May-19 9 Green ↑ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 Green ↔ 

 Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.  (Including  RLU to FLU Reconfiguration) 13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58   ↔ 

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 316



15 

Stage 4 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Wire height works funding agreed. 
Confirmation of physical works, agreement 
with AGA and programme required  
(target completion Oct18). 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22).  

Close management of NR to bring current 
forecast of May19 back in line with CRL 
requirement of Mar19. 

Simon Wright   

DOO CCTV installed and 
operational at Stratford and 
Shenfield 

Proposed operational concept at Shenfield 
requires additional cameras. Publication and 
review of NR survey report required to enable 
progress at Stratford. 

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer 

P
age 317



16 

Stage 5 
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

 

Completion and approvals for 
ETCS (Stages B&C) and transition to 
CBTC 

Commencement of Charleroi lab testing.  
Confirmation of virtual balise cover solution.  
NR progress with ORR extension to 
exemption. Confirmation of transition testing 
requirements and programme with NR. 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power for Sep18 at risk due 
to additional access requirement. Modelling 
being reviewed, if works are required, these 
are expected to be programmed Dec18. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Liverpool St 
M/L platform (16/17) extensions 

Selection of full platform extension option. 
Tender pricing expected June, followed by 
selection of delivery contractor Aug18. 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Uncertainty over NR construction 
programme for station upgrades 

NR schedule for six enhanced western 
stations shows completion from Sep19 to 
Dec19. Contract awards expected 14 Jun & 
20Jul18. Enhanced Ilford & Romford Dec19. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 318



17 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL 2xTfL Board members now appointed onto 
CRL Board commencing 1 July. 1xDfT 
nominee to be appointed onto CRL Board 
commencing 1 July. 

Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 
completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 
out organisation to be filled via internal 
appointments to retain knowledge 

Simon Wright 

P
age 319



18 

P1 Financial Summary 

• The AFCDC remained at £12,723m in the Period, £211m in 
excess of TfL contingency. 

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £46.3m above the 2018/19 
Business Plan. The Business Plan for Direct Costs was set in 
Period 6 2017/18, and since then there has been a significant 
increase to the AFCDC (£0.4bn) and delays to MOHS dates for 
the key contracts. Therefore variances to Business Plan are to be 
expected. 

• The overspend is predominantly due to lower than expected 
productivity, additional scope, prolongation, access delays and 
cost increases for construction and logistics as a result of delays 
to energisation and dynamic testing. 

 
 Current actions: 
 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by CRL and 

consideration of cost scenarios.  
 Finalisation of the 2017/18 Financial Statements. 
 Bookend scenarios now finalised and discussed with Sponsors. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remains at £2,376 (net of funding contributions).  
• The ONW are 95% complete. 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

£b
n 

P50 IP2

A
FC

DC

Fi
n.

Bu
d

£12.5bn 

COWD 
£12.0bn 

CTG 
£0.2bn 

Risk 
£0.5bn 

P
age 320



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
29TH JUNE 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 321



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 5 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness 25 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues & Financial Summary 5 minutes 

7. Communications Update 10 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith 

Simon Wright David Hughes/Simon Adams Lucy Findlay 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 
 

Vernon Everitt / Chris MacLeod 
 

Simon Kilonback 
 P

age 322



3 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
Actions from meeting of 4 June 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target date Status 

17.041 4/6/18 Next meeting to update / review communications 
activities / plan 

Vernon Everitt 29/6/18 Update to be 
provided to 29 June 
meeting 

17.042 4/6/18 Check contingency arrangements for provision of drivers 
for operation of 3 separate rail services (Stage 3) 

Howard Smith 29/6/18 Verbal update to be 
provided 

P
age 323



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 2, the HSPI increased to 2.64, the highest ever (P1 = 2.63) and remains significantly above the 2.20 target. 
11 of 11 key contracts achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 or above. The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.09 (P1 = 0.09) and 
the lost time case AFR fell to 0.16 (P13 = 0.17). 
 

Operations   

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
22 May –  

 
 

 

High Potential Near Misses   
22 May –  

 

02 May –  
 

 

    
    

Tfl Rail: Period 2 SPI = 79.5 (P1 = 84.7 adjusted), and is at the threshold of the 
'above target performance' zone due to maintaining a low levels of passenger 
injuries, assaults on MTR staff and operational incidents. There were twelve 
passenger accidents, eleven minor injury and one major injury accident when 
a passenger sustained a fractured elbow after falling from the lowest step on 
stairs at Stratford station. The passenger was under the influence of alcohol 
and prescription drugs and lost their balance. There were no MTR workforce 
minor injuries. Only three workforce assaults were reported, two verbal and 
one physical , which appears to be the result of MTR's additional personal 
safety training , the use of body cameras and a heightened presence on GW 
from BTP. There were three operational incidents: one wrong side door 
incident at Heathrow, one dispatch irregularity at Gidea Park and one 
passenger over carry into Gidea Park sidings. 
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

P
age 324



5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 - Achieved 
Phase 2 – 24 Feb 2019 (target) 
 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains  

 
 

 
 

 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Timely completion of driver training 
and Ops proving 

Development of MTR schedule for Phase 2 
ongoing. 

Howard Smith 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P03) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow 

2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 24-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

2.4  12-Oct-18 12-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 19-Nov-18* 19-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality 28-Oct-18 24-Feb-19 (Dependent on Unit Availability for 
Driver Training) 

* MOHS 2018 Baseline Dates revised. Change Paper signed to adopt baseline Contract Dates in accordance with BT Deed of Amendment.   

P
age 325



6 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P03) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

Stage 3 - Paddington to Abbey Wood           

  Dynamic Testing            

3.2 PSD Ready for Dynamic Testing in Zone 1 09-Apr-18 07-Jun-18 -59   ↓ 

3.4 Provide all Trains to Systemwide for Dynamic Testing (3rd & 4th FLUs) 07-Jun-18 07-Jun-18 0   ↔ 

3.5 Linewide SCADA available in Zones 3 & 4 30-May-18 30-May-18 0   ↔ 

3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 07-Jun-18 19-Jul-18 -42 Red ↔ 

3.7 GSM-R infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 1 to 4 30-Jul-18 09-Sep-18 -41 Red ↓ 

3.8 Permanently energise OHLE Zones 3 & 4 10-Jun-18 11-Jun-18 -1   ↓ 

3.9 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 3 & 4) 11-Jun-18 11-Jun-18 0   ↔ 

3.10 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 17-Aug-18 -48 Red ↓ 

  Pre-trial Running           

3.11 All 11 kV S,S&P locations energized 15-Apr-18 21-Jun-18 -67   ↓ 

3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 12-Aug-18 -43   ↔ 

3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 29-Jul-18 -29 Red ↔ 

3.15 ORR Issue Amended Safety Cert. & Authorisation to MTR-C 04-Jul-18 04-Jul-18 0   ↔ 

3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 10-Sep-18 -58   ↔ 

3.18 Delivery Yellow Plant (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 15-Sep-18 -50   ↓ 

3.22 Train CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 26-Jun-18 02-Jul-18 -6   ↔ 

3.23 Commencement of ‘Pre-trial running’ under CCRRB (Construction Rule Book) 05-Aug-18 12-Sep-18 -38   ↔ 

3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 13-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

P
age 326



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P03) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Combined Elizabeth line Trials           

3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 14-Sep-18 -71   ↔ 

3.19 Sufficient RFLI Ops & Maint. Staff Trained and Competent as IM 03-Aug-18 10-Sep-18 -38   ↔ 

3.25 All Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/LU/MTR Familiarisation and Trial 
Ops.    Refer to detailed Station Table (below) 

3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 31-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

3.21 Handover of Routeway under ROGS to RFLI as IM 05-Aug-18 01-Oct-18 -57   ↔ 

3.27 Commence Combined Elizabeth Line Trials 09-Sep-18 01-Oct-18 -22   ↔ 

  Passenger Service           

3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 17-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.29 Train CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 03-Aug-18 68   ↔ 

3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 09-Oct-18 6   ↔ 

3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 30-Sep-18 40   ↔ 

3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18 0   ↔ 

  Substantial Completion of Stage 3           

3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (Initial IM access)  21-Nov-18 21-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

3.34 Final Handover of all Stations, Shafts and Portals 28-Nov-18 28-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 327



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P03) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period Handover to IM 

  LU Stations 'Staged Completion' - for LU Familiarisation and Trial Ops 

3.251 Whitechapel Station 16-Aug-18* 16-Aug-18 0   ↔ 08-Oct-18 

3.252 Bond Street Station 31-Oct-18* 31-Oct-18 0   ↔ 28-Nov-18 

3.253 Liverpool Street Station 02-Sep-18* 02-Sep-18 0   ↔ 24-Oct-18 

3.254 Tottenham Court Road Station 10-Aug-18 14-Sep-18 -35 green ↓ 12-Oct-18 

3.255 Farringdon Station 17-Aug-18 17-Aug-18 0   ↔ 28-Oct-18 

  RFLI Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops 

3.256 Paddington Station 29-Jul-18* 08-Sep-18 -41 green ↓ 15-Oct-18 

3.257 Custom House Station N/A N/A 0 green ↔ 
  27-Jul-18 'Ready for H/O',   
  Care & Custody until 01-Oct-18 

3.258 Woolwich Station 09-Sep-18* 09-Sep-18* 0   ↔ 31-Oct-18 

3.259 Canary Wharf Station 05-Jul-18* 31-Aug-18 -57   ↓ 01-Oct-18 
 
Date with * =  'TBA' in MOHS (Dates shown from 1st Draft Handover Execution Plans) 

N.B. Handover Execution Plans are to be agreed with IMs by the end of this month (June 18). 

P
age 328



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 93.4% complete against plan 
94.7%    

MOHS 2018 updated with Pre-Trial 
Running mid-Sep18 followed by 
Handover and commencement of 
Combined EL Trials 01Oct18. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritise systemwide activities including  
traction & non traction power and 
communication software. Energised and 
commenced Dynamic Testing in Z3&4. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide)  

Increased number of testing windows. 
T&C programme recovery plans. Senior 
management focus with weekly and in 
some aspects daily monitoring in place. 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and build on 
improvements in provision of asset data. 

Simon Wright 

 
 

 

TCMS R7.2.1.3 testing at Melton and 
load to COS test train. Functionality 
defects mitigated for COS testing but 
R7.2.2 planned for revenue service. 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Confirm and maintain blockades 
Aug/Sep18. Confirm the programme for 
installation of wayside equipment, on 
board software and testing at PML. 

Simon Wright Yes 

P
age 329



10 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services 
and plan maintenance activity due to 
delayed provision of asset data and O&M 
manuals 

Improvement in provision of asset data  
while CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information.  

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance & 
operations staff not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials, simulators  
and delivery of training courses remains 
behind plan 

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover including care & 
custody for non-routeway assets. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trials 
activity 

Secure ROGS exemption to run 
increased number of units under CCRB 
during pre-trial running. Handover of 
trace assets on 1Oct18 is essential. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 

Agree Station Handover Execution 
Plans. 

Howard Smith 

Staged Handover requirements are not 
agreed 

Handover Execution Plans including for 
Railway Systems to be agreed by end 
of June. Improved quality of plans 
received to date have increased 
confidence this will be achieved. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 
 

P
age 330



11 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and programme 
for wifi and 4G for passengers from stage 
opening and Maintenance teams from 
handover 

Single non compliant tender return from 
MNOs. Commercial & technical options 
under review. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan to be prepared and managed 
by EL Comms Board. 
 
 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 331



12 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P03) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

 Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 08-May-19 9 Green ↔ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 Green ↔ 

 Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.  (Including  RLU to FLU Reconfiguration) 13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58   ↔ 

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 332



13 

Stage 4 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22) 

Close management of NR to bring current 
forecast of May19 back in line with CRL 
requirement of Mar19. 

Simon Wright   

DOO CCTV installed and 
operational at Stratford and 
Shenfield 

Confirm solution & programme to remedy 
canopy and signage clashes at Stratford.  
NR retender of works to implement agreed 
solution at Shenfield. 

Simon Wright 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Wire height works funding agreed. 
Confirmation of physical works, agreement 
with AGA and programme required  
(target completion Oct18). 

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer 

P
age 333



14 

Stage 5 
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

 

Completion and approvals for 
ETCS (Stages B&C) and transition to 
CBTC 

Commencement of Charleroi lab testing.  
Confirmation of virtual balise cover solution.  
NR progress new exemption with ORR. 
Confirmation of transition testing 
requirements and programme with NR. 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power for Sep18 at risk due 
to additional access requirement. Modelling 
being reviewed, if works are required, these 
are expected to be programmed Dec18. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Liverpool St 
M/L platform (16/17) extensions 

Selection of full platform extension option. 
Tender pricing expected June, followed by 
selection of delivery contractor Aug18. 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Non compliant tender returns and 
& track access concerns to deliver 
western inner station upgrades 

Enabling works continuing. NR procurement 
of essential long lead items. Request to DfT 
to intervene in access dispute with GWR. 

Simon Wright Yes 

P
age 334



15 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL 2xTfL Board members now appointed onto 
CRL Board commencing 1 July. 1xDfT 
nominee now appointed onto CRL Board 
commencing 1 July. 

Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 
completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 
out organisation to be filled via internal 
appointments to retain knowledge. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 335



16 

P2 Financial Summary 

• The AFCDC increased by £0.2m in the Period to £12,723m, and 
£277m of risk was used to fund Delivery, Indirect and Property  
cost increases.  

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £52.2m above the 2018/19 
Business Plan. The Business Plan for Direct Costs was set in 
Period 6 2017/18, and since then there has been a significant 
increase to the AFCDC (£0.4bn) and delays to MOHS dates for 
the key contracts. Therefore variances to Business Plan are to be 
expected. 

• The overspend is predominantly due to complexity of interfaces, 
lower than expected productivity, additional scope, prolongation, 
access delays and cost increases for construction and logistics as 
a result of delays to energisation and dynamic testing. 

 
 Current actions: 
 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by CRL and 

consideration of cost scenarios.  
 Preparation for detailed cost and risk review meetings for the 

major projects. 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remains at £2,376m (net of funding contributions).  
• The ONW are 95% complete. 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

£b
n 

P50 IP2

AFCDC & IP Headroom 

A
FC

DC

Fi
n.

Bu
d

£12.8bn 

Risk 
£0.2bn 

CTG 
£0.4bn 

COWD 
£12.1bn 

P
age 336



1

ELIZABETH LINE: 
Customer Marketing & Information update
25 June 2018

P
age 337



2

• Nearly 60% of Londoners already aware of line and a quarter 
of these quite or very familiar with where it will go

• Detailed MarComms plans in place for all phases

• Includes ‘day of launch’ planning

• Activity ramps up according to service/revenue potential

• Key dependency is operational dates

• Flexibility in plans to update/amend as we go

• Customer information all planned and being implemented 
(Some scoping budget and timing issues but being managed)

• Comprehensive metrics in place to monitor progress and 
outcomes

Summary/Status - topline

P
age 338



3

Launch of the 
first 345 train 

branded as TfL 
Rail

TfL Rail service 
opens between 
Paddington and 

Heathrow

Abbey Wood 
branch opens,
Launch of the 
Elizabeth line 

brand

Shenfield to 
Paddington, fewer 
interchanges and 

more frequent 
service

Reading line 
opens. Line 

becomes fully 
operational

Stage 1
May 2017

Stage 2
May 2018

Stage 4
May 2019

Stage 5
Dec 2019

A reminder of the project phases and timings

Stage 3
Dec 2018

P
age 339



4

Marketing objectives for the Elizabeth line

Communications

Reputation (service 
quality)

Usage £

Experience

Capacity

There are 2 overall 
objectives for the Elizabeth 
line which are not mutually 
exclusive but are 
interconnected and 
interdependent:

1. Transform reputation
2. Generate revenue 

Given that the driving of one 
objective depends on the 
other, the focus needs to 
shift throughout the stages.

There are 2 overall 
objectives for the Elizabeth 
line which are not mutually 
exclusive but are 
interconnected and 
interdependent:

1. Transform reputation
2. Generate revenue 

Given that the driving of one 
objective depends on the 
other, the focus needs to 
shift throughout the stages.

P
age 340



5

Stage DetailsStage Details Target Audience
• Non-TfL rail commuters and leisure users travelling to/from:

• South East London ↔ Central London ↔ West London 
• Tube commuters travelling on:

• Jubilee Line – Central to Canary Wharf
• Central line – Liverpool Street to Paddington

Target Audience
• Non-TfL rail commuters and leisure users travelling to/from:

• South East London ↔ Central London ↔ West London 
• Tube commuters travelling on:

• Jubilee Line – Central to Canary Wharf
• Central line – Liverpool Street to Paddington

…………………..

Stage 3 Overview – Dec 2018

Funding & Timings
• Fully funded with total integrated spend - £842,500 (Stage 2 - £180,000)
• Media booking deadline 31 August  - with total media value at risk £552,500
• An additional £500,000 would be required in order to:
1. Bring forward planned activity
2. Introduce additional high impact sites at this stage (which are not required 

based on current objectives)

Funding & Timings
• Fully funded with total integrated spend - £842,500 (Stage 2 - £180,000)
• Media booking deadline 31 August  - with total media value at risk £552,500
• An additional £500,000 would be required in order to:
1. Bring forward planned activity
2. Introduce additional high impact sites at this stage (which are not required 

based on current objectives)

Success Measures
• Maintaining existing market share
• Reputation
• Education

Success Measures
• Maintaining existing market share
• Reputation
• Education

Media coverage 
• Heavy-weight coverage 
• Coverage 79.8% / frequency 6.5*
• Media activity planned to start early Nov 2018 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

Media coverage 
• Heavy-weight coverage 
• Coverage 79.8% / frequency 6.5*
• Media activity planned to start early Nov 2018 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

P
age 341



6 Media Channels - Stage 3 
Channel Examples

RADIO

OOH

PRESS

DIGITAL

PARTNERSHIP

DOOR DROP

FACE TO FACE

CIRCUITS & 
CONTRA

CRM

On system digital 
OOH using 
traditional formats 
and radio are lead 
channels

P
age 342



7

Stage DetailsStage Details

Success Measures
• Campaign recognition 
• Reputation 
• Education 
• Congestion relief  for EL stations  and  on other nearby TfL lines 

Success Measures
• Campaign recognition 
• Reputation 
• Education 
• Congestion relief  for EL stations  and  on other nearby TfL lines 

Target Audience
• Non-TfL rail commuters and leisure users travelling to/from East 

London ⇄ Central London 
• Tube commuters travelling on Central line: Liverpool Street  ⇄

Paddington and Jubilee line – Paddington ⇄ Canary Wharf
• Commuters, solo/couple tourists and leisure users travelling to/from 

Heathrow

Target Audience
• Non-TfL rail commuters and leisure users travelling to/from East 

London ⇄ Central London 
• Tube commuters travelling on Central line: Liverpool Street  ⇄

Paddington and Jubilee line – Paddington ⇄ Canary Wharf
• Commuters, solo/couple tourists and leisure users travelling to/from 

Heathrow

Stage 4 Overview – May 2019

Funding & Timings
• Expected to be fully funded within the 19/20 CCT baseline 
• Total integrated spend - £310,000
• Potential risks if savings are required across CCT

Funding & Timings
• Expected to be fully funded within the 19/20 CCT baseline 
• Total integrated spend - £310,000
• Potential risks if savings are required across CCT

Media coverage 
• Medium-weight coverage
• Coverage 68.3% / frequency 7.9*
• Media activity planned for early May 2019 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

Media coverage 
• Medium-weight coverage
• Coverage 68.3% / frequency 7.9*
• Media activity planned for early May 2019 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

P
age 343



8 Media Channels - Stage 4 

Channel Examples

OOH

PRESS

FACE TO FACE

CIRCUITS & 
CONTRA

DIGITAL

Meridian Steps Westfield, 
Stratford

Liberty Shopping Centre, 
Romford

Creative for illustrative purposes only as Stage 4&5 look and feel has not yet been finalizedCreative for illustrative purposes only as Stage 4&5 look and feel has not yet been finalized

CRM 

High impact, off 
system OOH 
introduced

P
age 344



9

Stage DetailsStage Details

Success Measures
• Fully running service
• Usage statistics and passenger numbers
• Sustained usage of line by target audiences (both primary and 

secondary)
• Lessened congestion on other lines

Success Measures
• Fully running service
• Usage statistics and passenger numbers
• Sustained usage of line by target audiences (both primary and 

secondary)
• Lessened congestion on other lines

Target Audience
• Commuters and leisure users travelling Reading ↔ Central London
• Regular / Leisure Drivers or Off-Peak users of other modes travelling 

to/from West London ↔ Central London
• Commuters, solo/couple tourists travelling to/from Heathrow, 

International Arrivals/Departures to/from Heathrow
• Tube commuters travelling on Central line + Jubilee lines
• Commuters from Shenfield and Abbey Wood

Target Audience
• Commuters and leisure users travelling Reading ↔ Central London
• Regular / Leisure Drivers or Off-Peak users of other modes travelling 

to/from West London ↔ Central London
• Commuters, solo/couple tourists travelling to/from Heathrow, 

International Arrivals/Departures to/from Heathrow
• Tube commuters travelling on Central line + Jubilee lines
• Commuters from Shenfield and Abbey Wood

Stage 5 Overview – Dec 2019

Funding & Timings
• Expected to be fully funded within the CCT baseline
• Total integrated spend - £790,500
• Potential risks if savings are required across CCT 

Funding & Timings
• Expected to be fully funded within the CCT baseline
• Total integrated spend - £790,500
• Potential risks if savings are required across CCT 

Media coverage 
• Heavy-weight coverage
• Coverage 91%/ frequency 10*
• Media activity planned for early Dec 2019 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

Media coverage 
• Heavy-weight coverage
• Coverage 91%/ frequency 10*
• Media activity planned for early Dec 2019 

* Coverage = total line areas for London and Reading corridor

P
age 345



10 Media Channels - Stage 5 
Channel Examples

RADIO

OOH

PRESS

DIGITAL

PARTNERSHIP

DOOR DROP

FACE TO FACE

CIRCUITS & 
CONTRA

Heathrow Terminal 5

Reading Rail Station

Creative for illustrative purposes only as Stage 4&5 look and feel has not yet been finalizedCreative for illustrative purposes only as Stage 4&5 look and feel has not yet been finalized

CRM

P
age 346



11

The largest network wide update we have ever undertaken - will include:

· 617 LU Trains with new Automated Announcements

· 149 DLR Trains with new Automated Train Announcements

· 1,700 Route Maps in LU stations, plus thousands of directional wall mounted and overhead signs

· 70,000 Car Line Diagrams across LU, DLR & London Overground

· Between 150 and 800 spider maps would need to be updated (central or all, with cost implications)

Constraints include:

· Old LU Rolling stock that is laborious and time consuming to update

· Number of hours to access stations within engineering hours to update wayfinding

· The complex nature of the project with different teams and organisation responsible for updating 
the information

· Delivering this in the most cost effective way

(Crossrail wayfinding scope and standards were frozen in 2010. Changes to standards and best practice 
since this time are therefore outside of Crossrail scope, for example the current TfL accessibility 
Wayfinding)

Customer Information:

P
age 347



12

Customer information – general principles:

*Vitreous enamel has a life span of 40 years; Aluminium of 20 years, vinyl's up to 7 years

P
age 348



13
13

2. Programme of what customers will see and hear 

See separate handout

P
age 349



14

Appendix

P
age 350



15

0

100,000,000

200,000,000

300,000,000

400,000,000

500,000,000

600,000,000

700,000,000

Revenue projections (total business 
revenue)

Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 4 Stage 5

SUPER INFORM SUPER INFORM SUPER INFORM

InfluenceInfluence

SUPER INFORM

100%

Drive Revenue

Source: Elizabeth Line Demand and Revenue Forecasts (TfL January 2018)

Transform Reputation

2018/19 Marketing Contribution +1%:= £497.5k
2018/19 Marketing Contribution +5% = £2,487.5k

P
age 351



16

OUTCOMES

OUTTAKES

OUTPUTS

Elizabeth line (SUPER INFORM)

INPUTS
Context: e.g. 

Comms delivery (weight) Total

-

Feeling well informed about the line (based on those aware)
Intention to use the line (based on those aware)

-
-

Metrics, sources & other information April 2017 Targets

62%
_
_
_

TfL is an organisation on the way up (reputation tracker)

Sustained usage of EL line (journeys)
Rev gen from usage of EL line (Revenue)

Congestion relief (from drivers)

20%
Uplift 

on 
Wave 

5

30%
Uplift 

on 
Mar 
19

20%
Uplift 

on 
Mar 
20

Mar 19 Mar 20

30% 
uplift 
30%
uplift

20% 
uplift
20%
uplift

NB. No targets set 
for this by the 

business

Awareness of the line

Metrics & Measurement – Stages 2-5

NB: The recommendation is not to set a target figure without a benchmark being put in place, but to set an uplift figure based on a benchmark from Wave 5 scores (which will be 
conducted in June.). This applies to Awareness of line, understanding of line and Intention to Use line.
• March 19 – 20% uplift on Wave 5  scores
• March 20 – 30% uplift against March 19 scores
• March 21 – 20% uplift against March 20 scores

Mar 2`

20% 
uplift
20%
uplift 

P
age 352



17 DAY OF LAUNCH: ELIZABETH LINE STAGE 3

Activated through Media:
• Today’s the day you’ve been waiting for 
• The Elizabeth line is open for business
• Travel from Abbey Wood to Bond Street 

in just 25 minutes on the Elizabeth Line
• The average journey time from 

Paddington to Abbey Wood is just 28 
mins on the Elizabeth line

• Travel from Paddington to Canary Warf 
in only 17 minutes, a journey which 
currently takes 34 minutes 

Activated through other channels:
• 26 miles of new tunnels and today is the 

day
• Ten new stations and we’re now open 

for business
• 35 miles of new track and today we’re 

open for business

Activated through Media:
• Today’s the day you’ve been waiting for 
• The Elizabeth line is open for business
• Travel from Abbey Wood to Bond Street 

in just 25 minutes on the Elizabeth Line
• The average journey time from 

Paddington to Abbey Wood is just 28 
mins on the Elizabeth line

• Travel from Paddington to Canary Warf 
in only 17 minutes, a journey which 
currently takes 34 minutes 

Activated through other channels:
• 26 miles of new tunnels and today is the 

day
• Ten new stations and we’re now open 

for business
• 35 miles of new track and today we’re 

open for business

Partnership (in planning)
• Wrap on the day of launch with a pan-

London Press title
Or 
• Launch day special radio take over 

Partnership main activity will continue in 
January in the back to work / school 

theme with students

Partnership (in planning)
• Wrap on the day of launch with a pan-

London Press title
Or 
• Launch day special radio take over 

Partnership main activity will continue in 
January in the back to work / school 

theme with students

What? Where? Coverage / Frequency

Radio 30” ad during 
peak / drivetime

Pan-London across Capital, Kiss, Magic. 
Radio X, LBC, First Radio London

28,760 impacts
187 ratings, 379 spots, 2.5-3.5  

OTH  per station/week

OOH LU LCDs Abbey Wood and stations along the 
Elizabeth Line 6,370,000 impacts, 9.1%@8.2

On-
System Double Royals London Underground, Circuit 1 and 2 

(split)
(450 DRs in ticket halls, platforms + 

concourse) 986 GRP per week

Press 25x4s plus Page 
in TimeOut

Pan-London coverage, including Metro, 
Evening Standard, Time Out, City AM

Circulation 2,199,908, Reach 
3,3mil

OTS 3.37*, 15 insertions

Digital 
Display

Mobile banner, 
MPU, interstitial 

Pan-London + route specific using WEVE 
targeting

Reach 1,292,794 (200,000 -
300,000 per week), avg frequency 

of 2.6

Paid 
Search

Extended text 
ads 

Pan-London, geo-targeted around Abbey 
Wood + stations along the open Elizabeth 
Line route, UK-wide for long-tail searches

69,519 clicks

Paid 
Social Static ads

Pan-London, geo-targeted around Abbey 
Wood + stations along the open Elizabeth 
Line route

1,443,317 reach, 
frequency of 2

Door 
Drops

Door drop 
leaflet

Within 1 mile of Abbey Wood station (will 
have already dropped end Nov)

17,439 households  (will have 
already dropped end Nov)

F2F F2F

LHR T1, T2, T3 & T4 - Paddington - Ealing Broadway 
- Liverpool St - Canary Wharf - Stratford –
Tottenham Court Road – Bond St – Abbey Wood -
Waterloo – Farringdon - Oxford Circus - Holborn -
Moorgate -One New Exchange. Royal Exchange, 
Canary Wharf Shopping Centre, Angel Shopping, East 
Shopping Upton Park, Exchange Mall, Liberty Centre, 
Surrey Quays Shopping Centre, Old Spitalfields 
Market, Brick Lane Market, Greenwich Shopping 
Centre, Beckton Retail Park, Cannon Retail Park

Locations to the left 

Note: channels with tailored message for the day of launch, then reverting to a post-launch message 
highlighted in yellow

P
age 353



ELIZABETH LINE INFORMATION - WHAT CUSTOMERS WILL SEE AND HEAR

On the existing TfL network
Week commencing: Launch day (Sunday 9 Dec):

                                       

Comms element 04
-J

u
n

11
-J

u
n

18
-J

u
n

25
-J

u
n

02
-J

u
l

09
-J

u
l

16
-J

u
l

23
-J

u
l

30
-J

u
l

06
-A

u
g

13
-A

u
g

20
-A

u
g

27
-A

u
g

03
-S

ep

10
-S

ep

17
-S

ep

24
-S

ep

01
-O

ct

08
-O

ct

15
-O

ct

22
-O

ct

29
-O

ct

05
-N

o
v

12
-N

o
v

19
-N

o
v

26
-N

o
v

03
-D

ec

09
-D

ec

10
-D

ec

17
-D

ec

24
-D

ec

31
-D

ec

07
-J

an

14
-J

an

21
-J

an

28
-J

an

04
-F

eb

11
-F

eb

18
-F

eb

25
-F

eb

04
-M

ar

11
-M

ar

18
-M

ar

25
-M

ar

AT STATION CUSTOMER INFO
eSUBs showing EL
Automated station PAs - LU (expand for LU lines)
Automated station PAs - DLR
Automated station PAs - LO
Automated station PAs - TfL Rail
Automated on-train PAs - LU (expand for LU lines)

Bakerloo
Central
Circle, H&C, District, Met
Jubilee
Northern

Automated on-train PAs - DLR
Automated on-train PAs - LO
In station high level wayfinding (above 2m) - LU (expand for LU lines)

Bakerloo
Central
Circle
District
Hammersmith & City
Jubilee
Metropolitan
Northern
Piccadilly

In station high level wayfinding (above 2m) - DLR
In station low level wayfinding (below 2m) - LU (expand for LU lines)

Bakerloo
Central
Circle
District
Hammersmith & City
Jubilee
Metropolitan
Northern
Piccadilly

In station low level wayfinding (below 2m) - DLR
Station line diagrams - DLR
DLR Route Map TVM
DLR Route finder 
Station line diagrams - LO
Station line diagrams - LU (expand for LU lines)

Bakerloo
Central
Circle
District
Hammersmith & City
Jubilee
Metropolitan
Northern
Piccadilly

Blue accessibility signage (BST/LST)
Outside Canary Wharf station interchange
Hoardings (LU work complete)
Hoardings (segregation barriers e.g. Heras fencing)
Heathrow airport customer information assets
ON TRAIN CUSTOMER INFO
Car line diagrams - LU (expand for LU lines)

Bakerloo
Central
Circle
District
Hammersmith & City
Jubilee
Metropolitan
Northern
Piccadilly

Car line diagrams - DLR
Car line diagrams - LO
Car Tube maps - LU (expand for LU lines)
Car Tube maps - DLR (funded by KAD)
Car Tube maps - LO
MARKETING CAMPAIGN
Customer marketing campaign (expand for channels)

On system posters
Press
Paid for out of home advertising
Search
CRM
Social media
Face-to-face leafleting
Commemerative EL Oyster cards

SURFACE CUSTOMER INFO
Bus stop spider maps
Bus continuing your journey maps
Legible London - updates to existing liths at station entrances
Legible London - installation of new liths at station entrances
Legible London - BAU updates and new asssets prior to 9 Dec
Stratford totem & thing over the door
Cycle Hire maps
PRINTED & DIGITAL CUSTOMER INFO
Interim Tube map showing 'under construction'
December Tube map showing EL
Journey Planner shows EL journeys
EL journeys included in 3rd party Journey Planners (e.g. NR)
Fares & ticketing information online
Website updates (timetables, etc)
ELIZABETH LINE NETWORK
Roundels outside stations
Crossrail wayfinding
Oustide Woolwich Station interchange
Outside Woolwich station interchange
Hoardings (Crossrail build complete)
Blue accessibility signage
Class 345
Staff uniforms

KEY:
Comms visible
Rollout of comms complete

Page 354



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
27TH JULY 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 355



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Safety 10 minutes 

2. Programme review - update (separate slide deck will be issued 
at the meeting) 

30 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 5 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness 5 minutes 

5.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

6.  
 

Sponsor & Integration Issues & Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith 

Simon Wright David Hughes/Simon Adams Lucy Findlay 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 
 

Vernon Everitt 
 

Simon Kilonback 
 P

age 356



3 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 3, although the HSPI fell to 2.59 (P2 = 2.64) it is within the top 5 scores on the programme and remains 
significantly above the 2.20 target. 11 of 11 key contracts achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 or above. The RIDDOR 
rate remained at 0.09 (P2 = 0.09) and the lost time case AFR remained at 0.16 (P2 = 0.16). 
 

Operations   

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
7 June –  

 

High Potential Near Misses   
30 May  

  
04 June –  

 
16 June –  

 
  

Lost Time Case  
04 June –  

 
  

Tfl Rail: Period 3 SPI = 74.7 (P2 = 79.5) fell into the 'below target performance' red 
zone due to an increased number of passenger accidents, MTR workforce 
accidents & assaults and operational incidents. Sixteen passenger accidents were 
reported comprising fifteen minor injury and one no injury accident. Two minor 
injuries occurred on the Western route, thirteen on the Eastern. There were two 
MTR workforce minor injuries. There were twelve staff assaults, nine verbal and 
three physical. None of the physical assaults caused injury. MTR are working 
closely with the BTP to ensure all assaults are seen through to conviction. There 
were five operational incidents during the period, the most significant of which 
involved a Signal Passed At Danger (SPAD) at Ilford, the driver was distracted in 
the cab and had a lapse of concentration.  
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

74.7

76.8

68

72

76

80

84

88

92

2017-04 2017-05 2017-06 2017-07 2017-08 2017-09 2017-10 2017-11 2017-12 2017-13 2018-01 2018-02 2018-03

Elizabeth Line Safety Performance Index

Actual SPI Safety performance target = 80 13p moving average safety performance

SPI scope updated 
to account for 

adoption of Great 
Western stations

P
age 357



4 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 - Achieved 
Phase 2 – 24 Feb 2019 (target) 
 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains  

 
 

  
 

 

 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Timely completion of driver training 
and Ops proving 

Development of MTR schedule for Phase 2 
ongoing. 

Howard Smith 

  

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance [BL - 
Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

 Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow 

2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 07-Sep-18 -14   ↓ 

2.4 ETCS Approval to Operate for Driver Training 12-Oct-18 12-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 19-Nov-18 26-Nov-18 -7   ↓ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality. 28-Oct-18 24-Feb-19 -119   ↔ 

P
age 358



5 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 
Baseline 

 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance [BL 
- Forecast] 

Critical 
Path Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Dynamic Testing            

3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 07-Jun-18 23-Jul-18 -46   ↓ 

3.7 GSM-R infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 1 to 4 30-Jul-18 09-Sep-18 -41 Red ↔ 

3.1 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 27-Jul-18 -27   ↑ 

  Pre-trial Running           

3.11 All 11 kV S,S&P locations energized 15-Apr-18 04-Jul-18 -80   

3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 12-Aug-18 -43   ↔ 

3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 08-Aug-18 -39 Red ↓ 

3.15 ORR Issue Amended Safety Cert. & Authorisation to MTR-C 04-Jul-18 26-Jul-18 -22   ↔ 

3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 09-Sep-18 -57   ↔ 

3.18 Delivery Yellow Plant to PLU (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 17-Sep-18 -52   ↓ 

3.22 Train CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 26-Jun-18 23-Jul-18 -27   ↓ 

3.23 Commencement of ‘Pre-trial Running’ under CCRRB (Construction Rule Book) 12-Sep-18 12-Sep-18 0   ↔ 

3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 13-Aug-18 0   ↔ 

P
age 359



6 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Combined Elizabeth line Trials           

3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 14-Sep-18 -71   ↔ 

3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 20-Sep-18 -20   ↓ 

3.21 Handover of Routeway under ROGS to RFLI as IM 05-Aug-18 01-Oct-18 -57   ↔ 

3.27 Commence Combined Elizabeth Line Trials 01-Oct-18 01-Oct-18 0   ↔ 

  Passenger Service           

3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 09-Nov-18 -53   ↓ 

3.29 Train CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 02-Aug-18 69   ↔ 

3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 15-Oct-18 0   ↓ 

3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 27-Oct-18 13   ↓ 

3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18 0   ↓ 

  Substantial Completion of Stage 3           

3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (Initial IM access)  21-Nov-18 21-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

3.34 Final Handover of all Stations, Shafts and Portals 28-Nov-18 28-Nov-18 0   ↔ 

3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 360



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P04) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period Handover to IM 

   LU Stations 'Staged Completion' - for LU Familiarisation and Trial Ops.     

3.251 Whitechapel Station 16-Aug-18* 16-Aug-18 0   ↔ 16-Nov-18 

3.252 Bond Street Station 31-Oct-18* 31-Oct-18 0   ↔ 28-Nov-18 

3.253 Liverpool Street Station 02-Sep-18* 28-Sep-18 -26   ↓ 24-Oct-18 

3.254 Tottenham Court Road Station 10-Aug-18 01-Oct-18 -52 green ↓ 26-Oct-18 

3.255 Farringdon Station 17-Aug-18 28-Aug-18 -11   ↓ 29-Oct-18 

   RFLI Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.   

3.256 Paddington Station 29-Jul-18* 01-Oct-18 -64 green ↓ 26-Nov-18 

3.257 Custom House Station N/A N/A 0 green ↔ 
24-Aug-18 Station 'Ready for H/O',   

Care & Custody until 01-Oct-18 

3.258 Woolwich Station 09-Sep-18* 01-Oct-18 -22   ↓ 14-Nov-18 

3.259 Canary Wharf Station 05-Jul-18* 28-Sep-18 -85   ↓ 
08-Dec-18  

(Project 2&3 Additional Works Scope) 

Date with * =  'TBA' in MOHS (Dates shown from P03 Update) 

P
age 361



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 93.8% complete against plan 
95.6%    

Ongoing programme reviews to deliver 
Stage 3 opening in Dec-18.  

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritisation of critical systems 
installation including fire integration, 
GSM-R/Connect Radio and Public 
Address /Voice Alarm systems. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide)  

Revised weekend dynamic testing 
windows. T&C programme recovery 
plans. Senior management focus with 
weekly and in some aspects daily 
monitoring in place. 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and build on 
improvements in provision of asset data. 

Simon Wright 

 
 

  

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Maintain blockades Aug/Sep18. Confirm 
the programme for installation of 
wayside equipment, on board software 
and testing at PML. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 362



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services 
and plan maintenance activity due to 
delayed provision of asset data and O&M 
manuals 

Improvement in provision of asset data  
while CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information. 
Complete process review of O&M 
production & acceptance. 

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance & 
operations staff not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials, simulators  
and delivery of training courses remains 
behind plan 

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover including care & 
custody for non-routeway assets. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trials 
activity 

Secure ROGS exemption to run 
increased number of units under CCRB 
during pre-trial running. Handover of 
trace assets on 1Oct18 is essential. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 

Delivery of Station Handover Execution 
Plans. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 363



10 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Preferred delivery option and programme 
for wifi and 4G for passengers from stage 
opening and Maintenance teams from 
handover 

Single non compliant tender return from 
MNOs. Commercial & technical options 
under review. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan prepared and managed by EL 
Comms Board. 
 
 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 364



11 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P04) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 08-May-19 9 Green ↔ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 Green ↔ 

Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.  (Including  RLU to FLU Reconfiguration) 13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58   ↔ 

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 365



12 

Stage 4 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22) 

Conclude NR remodelling and subsequent 
partial upgrade option determination with 
ORR (PML to Ilford or Gidea Park) 

Simon Wright   

DOO CCTV installed and 
operational at Stratford and 
Shenfield 

Solutions confirmed. Complete award of 
works at Shenfield. Programme with agreed 
access at Stratford required.  

Simon Wright 

Station Information and Security 
System (SISS)  

Confirm programme for implementing interim 
solution including local MTR control at 6 
stations and design and programme for final 
solution with connection to RCC. 

Simon Wright 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Confirm if required with AGA. 
Funding agreed but programme (for Oct18) to 
be confirmed if works required.  

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer 

P
age 366



13 

Stage 5 
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

 

Completion and approvals for 
ETCS (Stages B&C) and transition to 
CBTC 

Confirmation & monitoring of NR/Alstom 
ETCS programme.  
NR progress new exemption with ORR.  
Development of interim line speed transition 
to TPWS solution. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of western 
outer platform extensions & DOO 
CCTV 

Secure revised access requirements with 
GWR. 

Simon Wright Yes 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power for Sep18 at risk due 
to additional access requirement. Modelling 
being reviewed, if works are required, these 
are expected to be programmed Dec18. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Liverpool St 
M/L platform (16/17) extensions 

Full platform extension option confirmed. 
Early contractor involvement of MTR. 
Complete GRIP4 design (Sep18) for full 
funding approval.  

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Deferred contract award and track 
access concerns to deliver western 
inner station upgrades 

Enabling works continuing. NR procurement 
of essential long lead items. Secure additional 
funding and beneficial access requests to be 
identified in tender returns expected Jul/Aug. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 367



14 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Appointment of 2xTfL Board members 
and1x DfT nominee onto CRL Board from 
July. 

Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 
completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 
out organisation to be filled via internal 
appointments to retain knowledge. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 368



15 

P3 Financial Summary 

• The AFCDC increased by £86.8m in the Period to £12,810m. There was a 
net increase in risk of £71m, predominantly for forecast cost increases at 
the major contracts following the P3 QRA and a review of costs to go by 
senior CRL management. 

• In the Period, Crossrail spent £51.2m above the 2018/19 Business Plan. The 
Business Plan for Direct Costs was set in Period 6 2017/18, and since then 
there has been a significant increase to the AFCDC (£0.5bn) and delays to 
MOHS dates for the key contracts and as such, variances to the Business 
Plan are to be expected. 

• The overspend is predominantly:  due to lower than 
expected productivity, additional scope; access delays; and cost increases 
for construction and logistics as a result of delays to energisation and 
dynamic testing   due to prolongation, and 
ongoing architectural and MEP fit-out works   
due to prolongation, delayed MEP and external works ; and other 
net overspends (£26.6m) offset by unspent Programme risk due to cost 
being reported in the Sectors (£16.2m).  

  
Current actions: 
 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by CRL and consideration of 

cost scenarios.  
 Following SACR 19, implementation of further revisions to delegated 

authorities. 
 Currently confirming additional format of financial and cost reporting 

requirements with JST. 
 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remains at £2,376m (net of funding contributions).  
• The ONW are 96% complete. 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

AF
CD

C

Fi
n.

Bu
d

£12.8bn 

 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

 13.0

£b
n 

P50 IP2

Risk 
£0.2bn 

CTG 
£0.3bn 

COWD 
£12.3bn 

£12.8bn 

P
age 369



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
3RD SEPTEMBER 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

P
age 370



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. Actions from last meeting 5 minutes 

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Schedule Review – Checkpoint 2 (separate slide deck will be 
issued at the meeting) 

30 minutes 

4. Stage 2 Readiness 5 minutes 

5. Stage 3 Readiness  5 minutes 

6.  Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 5 minutes 

7.  Sponsor & Integration Issues & Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 
Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith 

Simon Wright David Hughes/Simon Adams Lucy Findlay 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 
 

Vernon Everitt 
 

Simon Kilonback 
 

P
age 371

Presenter_8
Presentation Notes




3 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 
Actions from meeting of 27 July 2018  
 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target 
date 

Status 

17.043 27/7/18 Ensure best practice is being applied/shared between LU 
and TfL Rail in relation staff assaults 

Howard Smith 3/9/18 
 

Complete. Verbal 
update 

17.044 27/7/18 Ensure BT are fully aware of their obligations for the Stage 
2 phase ii programme 

Howard Smith 3/9/18 Ongoing. Verbal update 

17.045 27/7/18 Raise a number of critical issues/requirements at a meeting 
with NR new CEO /Chairman.  

Simon Wright & 
Andy Brown 

3/9/18 Meeting 13 Aug 18 

17.046 27/7/18 Critically review responses /priorities for all degraded 
mode testing at the transitions. 

Simon Wright 3/9/18 Ongoing. Verbal update 

17.047 27/7/18 Escalate as necessary following very recent Schneider 
product recall. 

Simon Wright 3/8/18 Complete 

17.048 27/7/18 Provide short briefing note on NR power upgrade to MB Simon Wright 3/8/18 Complete 

17.049 27/7/18 Review opportunity for reducing reliance on contractors by 
utilising RfLI staff in COS testing activities  

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

3/9/18 Continues to be 
considered in light of 
programme review. 

17/050 27/7/18 Identify how further assurance of the programme can be 
provided 

Simon Wright 3/9/18 Schedule assurance 
review agreed with 
Sponsors and underway 

P
age 372



4 

Safety 
Construction 
In Period 4 the HSPI fell to 2.60 (P3 = 2.61revised). All 11 key contracts achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 or above and 9 
of 11 scored 2.45 or above. The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.09 (P3 = 0.09) and the lost time case AFR remained at 
0.16 (P3 = 0.16). 
 

Operations   

RIDDOR 7+ Days 
11 July –  

 
 

High Potential Near Misses   
10 July -  

 

Lost Time Case  
26 June –  

 
 

10 July –  
 

 

Tfl Rail: Period 4 SPI = 72.3 (P3 = 74.7) fell due to an increase in assaults on MTR 
staff. MTR’s iSafety reporting app launched and 24 staff assaults reported (eleven 
verbal and thirteen physical). None of the physical assaults caused injury. MTR are 
working closely with the BTP and a dedicated working group has been setup with 
various stakeholders to target reducing staff assaults. There were twelve passenger 
accidents - all minor injuries. One on the Western section and eleven on the Eastern. 
There were two MTR workforce minor injuries in the period. There were nine 
operational incidents during the period, the most significant being two Train 
Protection Warning System (TPWS) interventions. SPI index weightings being 
reviewed. 
Crossrail Operations team: No injuries or incidents.  

P
age 373

Presenter_9
Presentation Notes




5 

Schedule Review – Checkpoint 2 
 

Separate slide deck to be provided at meeting 

P
age 374



6 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 - Achieved 
Phase 2 – 24 Feb 2019 (target) 
 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

Timely completion of ETCS testing 
and BT on board signalling approval 

BT’s programme to be published and 
reviewed, and BT held to deliver to the 
agreed dates. 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

 
 

 Howard Smith 

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04+) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

 Stage 2 Phase 2 - Paddington to Heathrow  

2.3 ETCS Ready for Formal Heathrow Testing 24-Aug-18 02-Nov-18 -70   ↓ 

2.4  12-Oct-18 TBC   Red ↓ 

2.5 ORR Authorisation for On-board Signalling 19-Nov-18 22-Feb-19 -95 Red ↓ 

2.6 Commence Stage 2 Phase 2 with ETCS functionality. 28-Oct-18 TBC   Red ↓ 

P
age 375



7 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance [BL - 
Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Dynamic Testing            

3.6 Signalling infrastructure ready for DT in Zones 3 & 4 (incl.WBP) 07-Jun-18 03-Aug-18 -57   

3.1 Start Dynamic Testing (Zones 1,2,3 & 4) 30-Jun-18 27-Jul-18 -27   

  Pre-trial Running           

3.13 Commence Transition Testing @ GEML 30-Jun-18 12-Aug-18 -43   

3.14 All 22 kV S,S&P locations energized 30-Jun-18 19-Sep-18 -81 ↓ 
3.17 Commence Transition Testing @ GWML 14-Jul-18 08-Sep-18 -56 Red ↔ 

3.18 Deliver Yellow Plant (RPM, ET01, ET02) 27-Jul-18 24-Nov-18 -120   ↓ 
3.22 Train CBTC Authorised for FLU for Trial Running 26-Jun-18 10-Aug-18 -45   

3.24 22no. Cl.345 FLUs Available for Trial Running 13-Aug-18 30-Sep-18 -48 ↓ 

P
age 376



8 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period 

  Combined Elizabeth line Trials           

3.16 Training completed for RFL in support of Handover of Routeway 05-Jul-18 TBC     ↓ 
3.26 Final COS safety case updated and submitted to RABC 31-Aug-18 TBC   ↔ 
3.21 Handover of Routeway under ROGS to RFLI as IM 05-Aug-18 TBC   Red ↓ 
3.27 Commence Combined Elizabeth Line Trials 01-Oct-18 TBC   Red ↓ 

  Passenger Service           

3.28 Submit Technical File to ORR 17-Sep-18 TBC   ↔ 
3.29 Train CBTC Authorised for Passenger Service 10-Oct-18 TBC     ↓ 
3.30 PML ATS Re-energised including NR feed 15-Oct-18 TBC   ↓ 
3.31 Temporary services recovery complete 09-Nov-18 27-Oct-18 13   ↔ 
3.32 Opening of Stage 3 - Central Section Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood 09-Dec-18 09-Dec-18   ↔ 

  Central section - other           

3.33 Plumstead Maintenance Facility Completion (Initial IM access)  21-Nov-18 21-Nov-18 0   ↔ 
3.35 Plumstead Stabling Sidings Completion 29-Mar-19 29-Mar-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 377



9 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

  Elizabeth Line Readiness 
Key Milestones 

MOHS 2018 Baseline 
 Date 

Actual / Forecast 
(P04) 

Variance  
[BL - Forecast] 

Critical Path 
Risk 

Change from 
Last Period Handover to IM 

 LU Stations 'Staged Completion' - for LU Familiarisation and Trial Ops.     

3.251 Whitechapel Station 16-Aug-18* TBC   ↓ TBC 

3.252 Bond Street Station 31-Oct-18* TBC   ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.253 Liverpool Street Station 02-Sep-18* TBC   ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.254 Tottenham Court Road Station 10-Aug-18 TBC green ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.255 Farringdon Station 17-Aug-18 TBC   ↓ 
TBC 

 

 RFLI Stations 'Staged Completion' - for RFLI/MTR Familiarisation and Trial Ops.     

3.256 Paddington Station 29-Jul-18* TBC green ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.257 Custom House Station N/A TBC green ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.258 Woolwich Station 09-Sep-18* TBC   ↓ 
TBC 

 

3.259 Canary Wharf Station 05-Jul-18* TBC   ↓ 
TBC 

 

P
age 378



10 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure, 
Trains & testing 
 

Programme 94.4% complete against plan 
96.3%    

Ongoing schedule reviews to deliver 
Stage 3.  

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of infrastructure & 
communication systems 

Prioritisation of critical systems 
installation including fire integration, 
GSM-R/Connect Radio and Public 
Address /Voice Alarm systems. 

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of testing & 
commissioning activities (stations & 
systemwide)  

Complete and agree schedule review. 
Senior management focus with weekly 
and in some aspects daily monitoring in 
place. 

Simon Wright 

Timely provision of design assurance 
information, asset data, key operations/ 
maintenance information 

Maintain focus on design assurance 
close out rate and build on 
improvements in provision of asset data. 

Simon Wright 

Risk of delays to the Bombardier schedule 
for installation of the Class 345 on-board 
TCMS / CBTC. Required number of FLUs 
available for pre-trial running, combined 
trials and revenue service 

TCMS R7.2.2.3 (revenue service release) 
and CBTC 3.1.X testing and completion. 
Focus on supporting testing upcoming 
test windows. 

Howard Smith 

Risk of delays to commissioning of NR 
transitions impacting trial running, 
including Pudding Mill Lane (Eastbound) 
neutral section transition 

Maintain blockades Aug/Sep18 and 
secure additional windows.  

Simon Wright 

P
age 379



11 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 
& RFLI 
Readiness 
 

Risk that there is insufficient time to 
procure spares and maintenance services 
and plan maintenance activity due to 
delayed provision of asset data and O&M 
manuals 

Improvement in provision of asset data  
while CRL continues to work with 
contractors on resourcing and 
prioritisation of key information.  
Mitigate via Schedule Review 

Howard Smith & 
Simon Wright 
 

RFLI readiness – risk maintenance & 
operations staff not being fully trained.  
Provision of training materials, simulators  
and delivery of training courses remains 
behind plan 

TUCA available. CRL supporting 
contractors with information sharing.  
Train the trainer replaced by end user 
training and provision of contractor 
support post handover including care & 
custody for non-routeway assets. 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trials 
activity 

Provide minimum of 2 months full Trial 
Operations period after completion of 
Trial Running (requires  Handover of 
trace assets). 

Simon Wright & 
Howard Smith 

Risk of LU Readiness being impacted by 
ongoing construction at stations, delayed 
commissioning of critical systems, spares 
availability and completion of staff training 

Mitigate via Schedule Review. Update 
and agree Handover Execution plans. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 380



12 

Stage 3  
9 December 2018 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  
Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Customer 
 

Failed procurement for on-train wifi for 
Stage 3. PCN procurement delayed. 

On-train wifi being progressed for surface 
sections in late 2018 in conjunction with 
Overground. Working with PCN team to 
assess likely impact / options. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 
information activities 

Launch plan prepared and managed by EL 
Comms Board. 
 
 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 381

Presenter_10
Presentation Notes
4G/WiFi – Red?



13 

Stages 4 & 5 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

 

  
Elizabeth Line Readiness 

Key Milestones 
MOHS 2018 Baseline 

 Date 
Actual / Forecast 

(P04) 
Variance  

[BL - Forecast] 
Critical Path 

Risk 
Change from 
Last Period 

 Stage 4 - Paddington to Abbey Wood & Shenfield           

4.1 Required no. units available for Stage 4 (55 FLU & 5 RLU) 17-May-19 10-May-19 7 Green ↔ 

4.2 Opening of Stage 4 - Paddington L/L to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 19-May-19 19-May-19 0 ↓ 

 Stage 5 - Full Crossrail Service           

5.1 70 Trains Delivered  for Stage 5.  (Including  RLU to FLU Reconfiguration) 13-Dec-19 16-Oct-19 58   ↔ 

5.2 Opening of Stage 5 - Reading & Heathrow to Abbey Wood and Shenfield 15-Dec-19 15-Dec-19 0   ↔ 

P
age 382



14 

Stage 4 
19 May 2019 – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 
 

Timely completion of Stage 4 
power upgrade works (KD22) 

NR remodelling complete showing upgrade 
requirement to Gidea Park. Project schedule 
to confirm feasibility, or otherwise, of 
delivery for Stage 4 opening expected 
imminently. 

Simon Wright   

DOO CCTV installed and 
operational at Stratford and 
Shenfield 

Solutions confirmed. Complete award of 
works at Shenfield. Programme with agreed 
access at Stratford required.  

Simon Wright 

Station Information and Security 
System (SISS)  

Confirmation of design and programme for 
final solution with connections to RCC 
required. 

Simon Wright 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 
completed to support Stage 4&5 
timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Confirm not required. Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer 

P
age 383



15 

Stage 5 
15 December 2019 – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 
Assistance 

Infrastructure & 
Trains 

 

 
 

 

  
 

Simon Wright Y 

Timely completion of western 
outer platform extensions & DOO 
CCTV 

Contractor instructed, forecast start on site 
Oct18. 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 
(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 
Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power now forecast Feb19,  
remains at risk due to contractual issues, 
design delays, access requirements.  

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Liverpool St 
M/L platform (16/17) extensions 

Full platform extension option confirmed. 
Early contractor involvement of MTR. 
Complete GRIP4 design for full funding 
approval.  

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 
Readiness 

Customer Deferred contract award and track 
access concerns to deliver western 
inner station upgrades 

Meetings held 13/8 & 20/8 and no significant 
value management opportunities remaining. 
NR procurement to be concluded.  

Simon Wright 

P
age 384



16 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Appointment of 2xTfL Board members 
and1x DfT nominee onto CRL Board from 
July. 

Simon Wright & Mike 
Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 
completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 
out organisation to be filled via internal 
appointments to retain knowledge. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 385



17 

P4 Financial Summary 

The The AFCDC remained unchanged in the Period, at £12,810m. To fund 
Delivery level cost increases, £154m of risk was utilised. 
In the Period, Crossrail spent £0.1m below the 2018/19 Business Plan. This 
was due to an underspend in Indirect Costs following the earlier than forecast 
receipt of OSD income (£73.2m), offset by an overspend on Direct Costs 
(£73.1m).  
The overspend on Direct costs is predominantly:  
due to lower than expected productivity, access delays, cost increases for 
construction and logistics, and incentive payments which were approved after 
the Business Plan was set ;  due to prolongation, 
and ongoing architectural and MEP fit-out works ( ;  
due to prolongation, delayed MEP and external works ;  

due to the impact of delayed design, cost increases, scope delayed 
from prior periods and associated prolongation ; and other net 
overspends (£27.7m) offset by unspent Programme risk due to cost being 
reported in the Sectors (£7.0m).  
  
Current actions: 
 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by CRL and consideration of 

cost scenarios.  
 Currently confirming additional format of financial and cost reporting 

requirements with JST. 
 Detailed cost to go and cost reduction meetings for key sectors. 

 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 
• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) increased to £2,430m (net of funding contributions).  
• The ONW are 91%* complete. 

CONFIDENTIAL  
Not for onward circulation 

AFCDC Fin.Bud
 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

 13.0

£b
n 

P50 IP2

Risk 
£0.1bn 

CTG 
£0.4bn 

COWD 
£12.3bn 

£12.8bn 

*Percent complete this period has reduced due to increased FFOC which now includes +£54m funding covered by the Portfolio Board plus a CRL assessment for cost pressures and tender price risk associated 
with the Enhanced Stations.  

P
age 386



Elizabeth Line Readiness Board  

3rd September 

Checkpoint 2 – Stage 3, 4 and 5 
Schedule Implications 

1 (Rev B) 

P
age 387



Schedule priorities for Stage 3 

1. Finish routeway construction 

2. Satisfy entry criteria for 5/2 Dynamic Testing including 
planned software updates (train and signalling) 

3. Start 5/2 Dynamic Testing, optimising test cycles (Siemens and 
BT) and bug-fix train/signalling software 

4. Finish and handover stations in the most efficient way 

5. Re-establish separate Trial Running and Trial Operations – 
building fleet and system reliability 

2 

P
age 388



Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan 

OHLE 
Switches 

Ventilation 

Lighting and 
LV 

Tunnel 
Drainage 

Walkways 

Fire Main 

Temp 
Removals 

C620 
Signalling 

C631 PSDs 

HV Power - 
PML 

C660 GSM-R 

  Finish the routeway to enable 5/2 Dynamic Testing 

Zone 3 & 4 Install  

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

GSM-R Zones 1 & 2 

Complete Works 

Complete Works 

 Tests 

Complete Works Test 

Temp Services Removal 

Test 

Testing 

2018 

Complete Works 

Test 

NR FA  Tests 

GSM-R Zones 3 & 4 NR FA  Tests 

Complete Works Test 

                Testing 

C660 Integration 

GE Install Test 

GW Install T I T 

Zone 3 & 4 RFID etc 

Not critical path 

C660 partially 
complete in 11/3 
calendar 
 
Balance in 5/2 
calendar 

C660 Integration  

Test 

Incl. WBP 

C660 Integration Testing 

C660 Integration Testing 

Tests 
Risk of slip to 5th Nov 

Complete Works 

BOS 

Balance by RfL in 
Assurance Period 

BOS Test 

3 

NR Functional Acceptance 

NR Functional 
Acceptance 

P
age 389



Entry criteria for 5/2 dynamic testing 

The following agreed activities need to have been completed to enter the 5/2 
dynamic testing regime: 
 

Software – Planned releases of BT and Siemens software on-board products 

installed 

Rolling Stock – train must pass all 29 x CBTC tests at Melton; 4 x units in the COS 

then need to be successfully tested to latest configuration with stabling available. 

(note: current train being used for testing has passed 12/29 tests) 

Railway Systems:  

All installation requiring use of rail mounted vehicles complete 

C620 – all critical equipment installed & tested  

C610 – ventilation control system operational 

C631 – all platform screen doors operational with signalling interfaces 

C660 – critical interfaces to PSDs, C620 and external NR systems operational 

Stations – permanent LV supplies in place for PSDs, comms & signalling  rooms 

Assurance – approval to support multi-train operation 

 

4 

P
age 390



Entry criteria 

CRL will commission a detailed independent review 
of the readiness of the systems to start the 5/2 
Dynamic testing period 

Focus especially on Siemens and Bombardier 
software readiness: 

Essential functionality 

“Delta functions” (i.e. the differences between previous 
versions of CBTC used elsewhere e.g Copenhagen) 

Reliability / performance 

5 

P
age 391



Main Dynamic Testing Regime 

Railway energised 5 days per week 24 hours a day for dynamic 
testing, and isolated 2 days per week for maintenance and 
completion of outstanding works 

 

During the 5 days:  
16 hours per day allocated to dynamic testing, with signalling tests 
prioritised initially  

8 hour night-shift allocated to remaining static testing 

 

Key Contractors and stakeholders have confirmed support to this 
regime and discussions are ongoing 

6 

P
age 392



Dynamic Testing Critical Path 

 

2018 2019 
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

GE Transitions 

GW Transitions 

Further GE/GW transition 
T&C windows required but 
not yet secured 

Finish Routeway Install 
Static Test 

Risk 

Siemens TG 3.1.0 

BT TCMS R7.2.2.4 

9 Siemens TG 3.0.10 

BT TCMS 7.2.1.3 
6 7 8 10 11 

12 

Route- 
way  
Risk 

Dynamic Test 5/2 

16 wks 

Pass1 Pass2 Pass3 Pass4 

9 wks 3 wks 

Trial 
Runni

ng 

Elizabeth Line 
Trial Operations 

Train fleet mileage 

Trial 
Runni

ng 

Elizabeth Line 
Trial Operations 

Assur- 
ance 

 

Train fleet mileage 

4 wks 

Assur- 
ance 

 
Dynamic Test 5/2 

12 wks 

Pass1 Pass2 Pass3 Pass4 

Dynamic Test 5/2 

5th Nov       16 wks (80 days) 

Pass1 Pass2 Pass3 Pass4 

Trial 
Runni

ng 

Elizabeth Line 
Trial Operations 

Assur- 
ance 

 

Train fleet mileage 

SCENARIO 1 

SCENARIO 2 

SCENARIO 3 

R
is

k 

7 

Risk 

Sh
ad

o
w

 

Sh
ad

o
w

 

R
is

k 

Reliab
-ility 
Risk Sh

ad
o

w
 

R
is

k 

Risk 

Finish Routeway Install (Pre Dynamic Test Work/Tests) 

Routeway Static Test 
 Risk 

Dynamic Test 5/2 

16 wks 

Pass1 Pass2 Pass3 Pass4 

Trial 
Runni

ng 

Elizabeth Line 
Trial Operations 

Assur- 
ance 

 

Train fleet mileage 

Pass 5 
Risk 

Reliabil-
ity Risk 

Independent Schedule Peer Review 

Was previously planned for TW9 

P
age 393



COS Stations Completion and Handover 

Objective is to substantially demobilise Tier 1 contractors as 
soon as works are complete 

Some integration tests (C660/SSP) are to be conducted after 
the Tier 1 contractor is substantially demobilised 

Transfer to IMs to be implemented once end state 
functionality and assurance is complete 

Care & custody and Staged Completion opportunities to be 
optimised with Infrastructure Managers (IM) pre-Handover 

Final Handovers can take place after opening 

 

8 

P
age 394



Handover Schedule - Overview 

 

2018 2019 
Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar April May June  July August 

Shafts and 
Portals 

H/O 

STEP 
FISH 

Care & custody 

LIMMO CONN 

NWP 

ELEA 

ROP 

VDP 

MES 

PLUM 

PML 

Liverpool St 

CUH – C660 Phase 3 

           CWG – C660 Phase 3 

Assurance H/O Custom House 

BOS                         C660 Phase 3 

PAD – C660 Phase 3 

FAR – C660 Phase 3 

TCR – C660 Phase 3 

WHI – C660 Phase 3 

               WOO – C660 Phase 3 

LIV – C660 Phase 3 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD 

TOSD Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Assurance 

Woolwich 

Canary Wharf 

Tottenham 
Court Road 

Paddington 

Stations 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk 

Risk SC Bond Street 

SC 

SC 

SC 

SC 

SC 

SC 

SC H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

H/O 

Whitechapel 

Farringdon 

Scenario 2 
Opening Date 

Rail Systems 
Trial Operations 

     Trial Running  
    under ROGS 

9 

Dynamic Testing Assurance 
   DT continues 

Mid April 
Enact IM 
Responsibility 

H/O 

NB: Station ‘Staged Completion’ dates dependent on C660 SCADA and 
Radio resource analysis TBC 

Handover 

Staged 
completion 

KEY 

Tier 1 Substantially 
Demobilised 

H/O 

SC 

TOSD 

Ready for 
Handover 

P
age 395



2018 2019 
Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec 

Revised Stage 3 Opening Plan – recommendation (and key messages) 

4. Assumes no major issues, for 
instance to a SIL 4 (safety critical) 
component, are uncovered during 
Passes 

2. Release of final on-board software 
products by 22nd October 

Siemens TG 3.1.0 

BT TCMS R7.2.2.4 

Risk 

10 

Assurance 
   DT continues 

Pass4 

Dynamic Testing 

Pass1 Pass2 Pass3 

3. Start 5/2 Dynamic Testing on 
5th Nov (acknowledging risk on 
“entry criteria”) 

Risk R
is

k 

Transfer of 
Routeway to RfL 

Set internal CRL target 
programme to start Trial Running 
(under ROGS) April 2019 

Reliability Growth Activity 

5. CP2A - Go/No-Go for T-14 weeks for Trial Running 

1. Hold Systemwide contractors to 22nd Oct 
completion (acknowledging risk around this) 
and complete test windows 

GW Transitions Xmas access 
not yet secured 

Finish Routeway Construction 

GE Transitions 

12 8 9 10 11 Dynamic Testing Windows 

Risk 

Risk 7. Staged Completion once C660 
testing and assurance case complete  

SC SC 

6. Substantially demobilise stations contractors – drive to PPE-free 
completion in main areas & “ready for integration testing” 

TOSD TOSD 

8. Final Stations Handovers once all 
paperwork completed (not critical path 
for opening) 

Risk H/O H/O 

Passenger Service 

TOSD Bond St. 

Allowance for Trial Running, Trial Operations and Reliability Growth 

P
age 396



If the COS doesn’t open for passenger service till July 2019 the existing Staged opening 
plan (Stage 3 Dec 2018, Stage 4 May 2019, Stage 5 Dec 2019) needs revising 

Any revised plan needs to be operable, offer adequate capacity at each stage, and fit 
with train and traincrew availability 

A revised staged opening plan needs to protect Stage 5 (extension of through running 
to/from Great Western) because (i) this is where much of the additional revenue to TfL 
arises (ii) it involves changes to other operators services, which the COS (Stage 3) and 
GE generally don’t 

Three options have been assessed by a joint CRL/RfL/MTR team: 

1. ‘Base’ - Current stages but compressed July/Sept/Dec 

2. ‘Variant’ - Open in July with 12tph through running to/from GE, add Abbey Wood in 
Sept to provide 24tph in the COS and Stage 5 as planned in Dec. This option 
protects the blockade in August 2019 for platform lengthening at Liverpool St  

3. ‘Contingency’ - Open Stage 3 in July and then through run to/from GW in Dec 
before adding Stage 4 in Q1 2020. However without through running to the GE the 
core is restricted to 12-15tph as that is the maximum number of trains that can be 
turned at Abbey Wood            

Stage 4 & 5 Opening 

11 

P
age 397



Initial conclusions are that ‘Base’ and ‘Variant’ are feasible.  
Each has pros and cons but both are at risk if there is further slippage - neither 
is robust against further slippage in COS (Stage 3) opening beyond July 2019 
‘Contingency’ offers greater protection against further slippage but doesn’t offer 
sufficient capacity in the core, so has to be discounted  
All options, including ‘Base’ require NR to flex normal planning rules which 
requires urgent discussion and support from Sponsors.  
It is important to get across that changes to the COS and GE are largely self 
contained and have minimal effect on other operators  
Limited hours/extent ‘Preview' service can be associated with any solution and 
will based on the success of TR/TO but is not possible in December  

Any preview service requires authorisation for passenger service. This requires 
submission of a Technical File. This is not possible because neither station 
comms nor SCADA will have been tested and commissioned, and the signalling 
system will be several iterations away from a reliable state. The train software 
would also need to be frozen imminently to gain public service authorisation. 

Next step on Stage 4 and 5 is to commence discussions with NR about ‘off 
pattern’ changes to timetables, and develop ‘Base’ and ‘Variant’ options  
 

   

Initial Conclusions and Next Steps 

12 

P
age 398



End 

13 

P
age 399



1 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 

21ST SEPTEMBER 2018 

CONFIDENTIAL  

Not for onward circulation 

P
age 400



2 

No Item Suggested time 

1. No actions from last meeting   

2. Safety 5 minutes 

3. Stage 2 Readiness 10 minutes 

4. Stage 3 Readiness  30 minutes 

5. Stages 4 & 5 Readiness 10 minutes 

6.  Sponsor & Integration Issues & Financial Summary 5 minutes 

Agenda 

Invitees 

Mike Brown (chair) Mark Wild Howard Smith 

Simon Wright/ Chris Sexton David Hughes/Simon Adams Lucy Findlay 

Martin Stuckey (secretariat) 

 

Vernon Everitt 

 

Simon Kilonback 

 

P
age 401



3 

Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 

Actions from meeting of 3rd September 2018  

 

No. Meeting date Issue Owner Target 

date 

Status 

No actions from 3rd September 2018 

P
age 402



4 

Safety 
Construction 

In Period 5 the HSPI fell to 2.55 (P4 = 2.60). This is the third lowest HSPI score in a year but is above 2.20 target.  10 of 11 key 

contracts (91%) achieved an HSPI score of 2.20 or above and 7 of 11 (64%) scored 2.50 or above. The RIDDOR rate remained at 0.09 

(P4 = 0.09) and the lost time case AFR remained at 0.16 (P4 = 0.16). The rollout of the ‘Finish Safe’ campaign will start next period. 

Operations   

RIDDOR 7+ Days 

18 August –  

 

 

 

  

High Potential Near Misses   

14 August –  

 

  

Lost Time Case  

xx Month – Cxxx Contract Title –  

Tfl Rail: Period 5 SPI = 85.6 (P4 = 72.3). The recovery in safety performance is is the 

result of significant decreases in passenger accidents (12 to 5), workforce assaults 

(24 to 8) and operational incidents (9 to 6). This may be partly due to the 'settling 

down' of the new incident reporting app introduced by MTR last period.  

One of the physical assaults caused injury when a brick was thrown at the back of a 

member of MTR staff whilst on duty at Maryland station. The member of staff 

returned to work after six days off. BTP have good CCTV images but have not yet 

identified the assailant, the investigation is ongoing. 

The SPI index weightings are being reviewed. 

Crossrail Operations team: One minor injury - a maintenance apprentice supporting 

the Crossrail project works sustained a cut injury to their hand. 

P
age 403



5 

Stage 2  
Paddington to Heathrow, Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 
Phase 1 - 20 May 2018 - Achieved 

Phase 2 – 24 Feb 2019 (target date under review) 

 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Phase 2 – 4 tph Paddington to Heathrow T4 Cl345 FLU 

Infrastructure & 

Trains 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Howard Smith 

P
age 404



6 

Stage 3  
Autumn 2019 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

P
age 405



7 

Stage 3  
Autumn 2019 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Infrastructure, 

Trains & testing 

 

Completion of Routeway (Rail Systems) 

to enable start of 5/2 Dynamic Testing 

22Oct18 

Completion of full MOHS update and 

dynamic test plans in Period 6 to confirm 

programme and establishment of T-minus 

reviews to confirm readiness and delivery of 

entry criteria for 5/2 Dynamic testing. 

Simon Wright 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Howard Smith 

Completion of Dynamic Testing 15Apr19 Include Siemens & BT software releases & 

testing plans for each of the passes in MOHS 

Simon Wright 

 

NR Transitions commissioning  for 

commencement of trial running under  

ROGS 15Apr19 

Some testing undertaken TW9 &11. 

Additional windows  28-30Dec & 5-Jan. 

Further testing opportunities are required and 

being explored 23-28Dec and early Jan19. 

Simon Wright 

Handover of Routeway for 

commencement of trial running under  

ROGS 15Apr19 

Continue to accelerate production of safety 

justification, asset data and documentation 

required by RFLI. 

Simon Wright 

Stations progress of physical works & 

production of Installation Release Notes 

(IRN) (as well as other key documents) to 

support handover 

Close monitoring and drive  for improved 

rates of phase 2 certification. Complete I/O 

schedules, update T&C plans noting 

additional resources and reprioritisation of 

systems and stations required to achieve 

phase 3 tests. 

Simon Wright 

 

P
age 406



8 

Stage 3  
Autumn 2019 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

MTR, NR, LU 

& RFLI 

Readiness 

 

RFLI readiness required to commence T 

Running 15Apr19. Opportunity to support 

CRL scope when ready. 

Update and agree Staged Completion 

and Handover Execution Plans. 

CRL training team extended to 

complete technical training delivery 

and manage provision of Code 1 

materials.  

Programme to complete competency 

being updated – risk of loss of staff & 

competency due to delayed Handover 

arising from Schedule Review. 

Howard Smith & 

Simon Wright 

 

Risk of insufficient time to undertake trials 

activity 

Mitigated by re-establishment of 

periods of trial running and trial 

operations ahead of passenger service. 

Simon Wright & 

Howard Smith 

LU readiness Update and agree Staged Completion 

and Handover Execution Plans. 

Simon Wright & 

Howard Smith 

P
age 407



9 

Stage 3  
Autumn 2019 - Abbey Wood to Paddington, Heathrow to Paddington mainline,  

Shenfield to Liverpool Street mainline 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Customer 

 

Failed procurement for on-train wifi for 

Stage 3. PCN procurement delayed 

On-train wifi being progressed for surface 

sections in late 2018 in conjunction with 

Overground. Working with PCN team to 

assess likely impact / options. 

Shashi Verma 

Marketing launch and customer 

information activities 

Manage impacts arising from delayed 

opening. Launch plan to be updated and 

managed by EL Comms Board. 

 

 

Vernon Everitt 

P
age 408



10 

Stage 4 
TBC – Paddington to Abbey Wood / Shenfield, Heathrow to Paddington mainline  

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Infrastructure & 

Trains 

 

Timely completion of Stage 4 

power upgrade works (KD22) 

NR remodelling complete showing upgrade 

requirement to Gidea Park. Access TBA. 

Project schedule and QSRA to confirm 

feasibility, or otherwise, of delivery for Stage 

4 opening required. 

Simon Wright   

DOO CCTV installed and 

operational at Stratford and 

Shenfield 

Solutions confirmed.  

Shenfield works instructed but delayed 

awaiting completion date for temp system 

from GA. Stratford priority P5&8 design 

complete, works planned 23Dec-1Jan still to 

be instructed. P9,10,10a on hold, scope TBC. 

Simon Wright 

Station Information and Security 

System (SISS)  

Confirmation of design and integrated NR & 

C660 programme for final solution with 

connections to RCC required. 

Simon Wright 

Ilford Depot wire heights to be 

completed to support Stage 4&5 

timetable (& Stage 3 stabling)  

Confirm not required. Surveys and analysis to 

be complete by mid-December. 

Simon Wright 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

Customer 

P
age 409



11 

Stage 5 
TBC – Full operation from Reading/Heathrow to Shenfield/ Abbey Wood 

RAG Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead  Sponsor 

Assistance 

Infrastructure & 

Trains 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Simon Wright Y 

Timely completion of western 

outer platform extensions & DOO 

CCTV 

Contractor instructed, forecast start on site 

Oct18. NR review of programme ongoing 

following forecast completion Jan20. 

 

Simon Wright 

Stage 5 power upgrade works 

(KD30). ATS sites at Slough & West 

Ealing still to be brought online 

Conversion to AT power now forecast Feb19,  

remains at risk due to contractual issues, 

design delays, access requirements.  

Simon Wright 

Timely completion of Liverpool St 

M/L platform (16/17) extensions 

Potential impact of Stage 3 & 4 delay on 

Aug19 blockade. Major operational planning 

required if services terminated at Stratford. 

Howard Smith 

MTR, NR & RfL 

Readiness 

Customer Deferred contract award and track 

access concerns to deliver western 

inner station upgrades 

Meetings held 13/8 & 20/8 and no significant 

value management opportunities remaining. 

NR procurement to be concluded and 

additional funds being sought by NR. 

Simon Wright Y 

P
age 410



12 

Integration and Sponsor Issues 

No RAG Key Risk / Issue Mitigation / Response Lead 

1. Timing of transition of governance from CRL to TfL Appointment of 2xTfL Board members 

and1x DfT nominee onto CRL Board from 

July. 

Simon Wright & Mike 

Brown/Sponsors 

2. Loss of critical CRL staff at key stage of project Extended multiple roles to support 

completion of Stage 3. Key roles in close 

out organisation to be filled via internal 

appointments to retain knowledge. 

Simon Wright 

P
age 411



13 

P5 Financial Summary 

The AFCDC remained unchanged in Period 5, at £12,810m. However given the 

large increase in URTs in the Period, increases to the AFCDC are expected in 

Period 6. To fund Delivery level cost increases, £2.8m of risk was utilised. 

URTs increased by £127.8m in the Period to £173.5m following a series of 

defined cost reviews for key contracts, and are now £81.0m higher than the 

available risk. There were increases in URTs at 

 

 and other net increases (£11.7m).  

In the Period, Crossrail spent £66.1m above the 2018/19 Business Plan, 

predominantly at:  due to lower than expected 

productivity, and cost increases for construction and logistics ); 

 due to prolongation, and ongoing architectural and MEP 

fit-out works ( );  due to prolongation, delayed MEP 

and external works ; delays to MEP and fit out, and prolongation at 

 ; and other net overspends (£21.7m) offset by 

unspent Programme risk due to cost being reported in the Sectors (£12.4m).  
 

Current actions: 

 Review of remaining scope to be delivered by CRL, impact on 

Programme and consideration of revised cost scenarios.  

 Preparation for the Period 6 QRA. 

 Review of the allocation of remaining Financial Budget across contracts. 

 

Crossrail 

On Network Works 

• The Forecast Final Outturn Cost (FFOC) remains at £2,430m (net of funding contributions).  

• The ONW are 91% complete. 

• Cost pressures exists on a number of contracts and additional funds being sought for enhanced western stations. 

CONFIDENTIAL  

Not for onward circulation 

A
F
C

D
C

F
in

.B
u

d

 11.2

 11.4

 11.6

 11.8

 12.0

 12.2

 12.4

 12.6

 12.8

 13.0

£
b

n
 

P50 IP2

Risk 

£0.1bn 

CTG 

£0.3bn 

COWD 

£12.4bn 
£12.8bn 

P
age 412



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Commissioner of Transport for London 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 25 April 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion with the Commissioner of Transport. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the 

Commissioner of Transport and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee seeks to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport every year in 

order to explore Transport for London’s (TfL’s) current and emerging priorities and discuss TfL’s 

response to recent Committee work.   

 

3.2 Recent Committee work includes investigations into rail in London, freight, taxi and private hire 

industries, the Mayor’s healthy streets approach and Crossrail.  

 

 

4.  Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 Mike Brown MVO, Commissioner of Transport at TfL, has been invited to attend the meeting. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

Page 413

Agenda Item 5



        

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Grace Pollard, Assistant Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 414

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                 
  

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Responses to Broken Rails Report 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 25 April 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper provides details of Transport for London’s (TfL) and Network Rail’s responses to 

the Transport Committee’s recent report Broken Rails: A rail service fit for passengers. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the responses to its report, Broken Rails: A rail service fit 

for passengers, as attached at Appendices 1 and 2. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee carried out an investigation into London’s rail network in 2018. The report 

Broken Rails: A rail service fit for passengers was published in November 2018 and can be 

found on the Assembly’s webpage1. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 TfL and Network Rail responded to the Committee’s report in March 2018. This can be found 

at Appendices 1 and 2.  

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/broken_rails_-_a_rail_service_fit_for_passengers_final_report.pdf 

Page 415

Agenda Item 6

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/broken_rails_-_a_rail_service_fit_for_passengers_final_report.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/broken_rails_-_a_rail_service_fit_for_passengers_final_report.pdf


        

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Response from TfL 

Appendix 2 – Response from Network Rail 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 
 

Contact Officer: David Pealing, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5525 

E-mail: david.pealing@london.gov.uk    

 

Page 416

mailto:david.pealing@london.gov.uk


Mike Brown MVO 

Commissioner of Transport 

Transport for London 
Palestra  
1 97 Blackfriars Road 
London SE1  8NJ 

Phone 020 3054 8900 
mikebrown@tfl.gov.uk 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE  
Chair, Transport Committee 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

28 February 2019 

Dear Caroline 

London Assembly Transport Committee report: Broken Rails – a rail service fit for 

passengers  

Thank you for your letter of 26 November 2018 and the work that you have led with the 

London Assembly Transport Committee to produce the ‘Broken Rails’ Report. As you will 

know, a Government-backed independent national rail review, led by Keith Williams, is 

currently underway so these recommendations come at a particularly good time to 

contribute to the debate.     

As part of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, we are committed to bringing major 

improvements to the rail network. Too often Londoners are not having the quality of 

experience that they are entitled to expect: issues on our rail network such as 

unreliability and overcrowding are creating stress for customers and make the public 

transport network less attractive. At the same time, the Mayor has set a target that by 

2041, 80% of journeys will be made using sustainable transport options, including rail. 

We therefore fully agree that a single holistic rail strategy for London would be beneficial 

for passengers and would help to deliver the improvements that are desperately needed. 

Delivery of an improved rail network, functioning as a suburban metro with higher 

capacity, frequency, and reliability, has the potential to unlock growth across London.  

We have already demonstrated what this could look like: since the introduction of the 

London Overground in 2007 we have delivered vital improvements for passengers and 

increased ridership by over 600 per cent, decreased delays by 30 per cent and increased 

in customer satisfaction by 10 per cent. The benefits of the London Overground 

operating model for passengers are clear and we would welcome the chance to bring 

these benefits to more passengers in the London and south east region.  

Please see our response to the individual recommendations in the report below. 

Appendix 1

Page 417



 

 

Recommendation 1 - Effective small-scale interventions  

Network Rail needs to deliver a plan to enable more frequent and longer trains to run on 

existing infrastructure across London, using a series of strategic, targeted upgrades. The 

Mayor and TfL need to press the Department for Transport and Network Rail to deliver 

these priority projects urgently.  

 

We agree that targeted, small scale interventions can make a big difference to passengers 

and we have made these sorts of incremental changes on the London Overground where 

possible. For example, we have included changing service frequency on the North and 

West London Lines to match the growth in demand in the West London Line; increased 

the length of trains from 3 cars to 4 cars and then to 5 cars to match growing demand; 

and introduced additional early and late services. This model should be rolled out across 

other parts of the network; however, there is currently no incentive for franchise 

operators to do so unless it is commercially viable. 

 

Our model of working with operators using a concession contract provides incentives to 

improve services, often by making incremental changes to respond to fluctuations in 

housing and employment and local demand factors. This contrasts with the traditional 

franchise model, under which it is expensive and time consuming for the franchising 

authority to change service levels due to the uncertainty around the impact on revenue 

and the renegotiation that has to take place.  This model may be suitable for longer 

distance services but does not work for urban railways where operators are not 

incentivised to respond to changing housing and employment needs.    

 

We continue to make these points to the Department for Transport (DfT), most recently 

through our initial evidence to the Williams Rail Review.    

 

Recommendation 2 - Healthy Stations  

The Mayor and TfL should produce a Healthy Stations Charter based on the principles of 

their Healthy Streets Approach. The aim should be to deliver a drastic improvement in 

how stations can be accessed by cyclists and pedestrians, including by passengers with 

disabilities. Every station should be assessed against the Charter in partnership with 

passengers using that station.  

 

We are embedding the Healthy Streets Approach in everything we do and we agree with 

the Committee that improving access to stations for cyclists, pedestrians and people 

with disabilities should be a priority. We already include access to stations in our Healthy 

Streets Check for Designers to ensure opportunities to improve station access are 

identified in the earliest stages of designing changes to streets. We also have actions 

related to this in our Walking Action Plan and Cycling Action Plan.  

 

Our Cycling Action Plan acknowledges that supply of cycle parking at major stations does 

not meet demand and this is a priority for us. We will work at our own stations and with 

Network Rail to provide more cycle parking at stations, including exploring opportunities 

to deliver more secure cycle parking hubs. This builds on the success of the hubs already 

in place at Walthamstow Central, Edmonton Green and Finsbury Park stations.  

 

Our Walking Action Plan commits to delivering exemplar ‘Active Travel Hub’ TfL 

stations, including: 

Page 418



 

 

 

 Early delivery of ‘trial stations’ by 2019, boosting the walking experience 

through enhanced active travel information and promotion, staff training, and 

better public realm 

 Wider roll-out of programme across TfL stations from 2019, depending on 

the results from trial stations. 

 

We would welcome the opportunity to work with Network Rail to further embed the 

holistic Healthy Streets Approach in the design and management of stations and their 

interface with the surrounding streets and connecting transport services. 

 

Recommendation 3 - A new approach to passenger engagement  

TfL, Network Rail and Train Operating Companies need to recognise that passengers care 

about their local stations and the services they can access there. For every station in 

London, regardless of its management, there should be dedicated passenger engagement 

with a specific station user group for people using that station. 

 

We agree that passengers should be at the heart of everything we do. For too long the 

railway network has been structured around the movement of trains, rather than of 

customers. We know that passengers care about their local stations and services and as 

mentioned above we are committed to making small improvements that make a tangible 

difference to customer journeys. Devolution of further services to TfL would result in us 

applying our approaches to station staffing, ticketing, information and data, and facilities 

standards which we know from experience will lead to higher passenger satisfaction.    

 

It is worthwhile to note that we already undertake a large amount of public engagement 

and scrutiny. Examples of this include engaging with local communities; scrutiny by 

London TravelWatch; passenger surveys, including a customer satisfaction survey; and a 

dedicated complaint process through our customer service centre. This, coupled with 

the high level of democratic accountability for our services, ensures that passenger 

engagement is at the centre of our service.  

 

We believe that careful consideration will need to be given to the proposal for user 

groups for every station, especially regarding the benefits that this will bring to 

passengers above and beyond those provided by existing engagement. 

   

Recommendation 4 - A single rail strategy for London  

London has no rail strategy. TfL and Network Rail should produce a rail strategy for 

London that all parties will commit to implementing, which will improve rail services for 

passengers in London.  

 

We agree that a single holistic rail strategy for London would be beneficial for 

passengers. While we already have a detailed strategy for growing public transport use 

more broadly in future – the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) puts forward a vision for 

transport in London, including plans to reduce crowding and improve rail services – it is 

important that everyone commits to an integrated multi modal strategy in which rail 

plays a key part. We work with Network Rail continuously to develop London’s rail 

strategy to support this overall policy direction. 

 

Page 419



 

 

We would be happy to report back to the committee on these discussions later in the 

year.    

 

Recommendation 5 - Improving accessibility  

The money available for accessibility upgrades, so that everyone can get to the trains 

they need, is far too small. The Department for Transport needs to reconsider the 

amount of Access for All funding available and ensure all priority upgrades are delivered 

in the next five years. The Mayor and TfL should strongly press the Department for 

Transport to increase funding.  

 

The vision set out in the MTS is a transport system for all Londoners. Accessibility 

remains a key priority for us and for the Mayor, and important infrastructure and service 

changes that we have made reflect this: for example, around half of the London 

Overground’s 112 stations are step free from street to platform. This is coupled with a 

‘turn-up-and-go’ service that improves accessibility for customers with reduced mobility.  

 

Despite this, we agree that more funding needs to be made available for improved 

accessibility upgrades across the whole of the transport network and will continue to 

make this case to the DfT.  

 

Recommendation 6 - Increase funding for London’s rail network  

TfL should consider all options to increase funding for London’s rail network. This 

includes funding Network Rail schemes where necessary, and contributing to projects 

outside of London’s boundaries, such as freight routes, where this will enable the 

provision of more frequent and bigger trains for passengers in the capital. 

 

In line with the MTS, we are pressing the DfT and Network Rail to upgrade rail freight 

routes outside London so that non-London freight can be taken around the capital. As 

you state this would free up rail paths through London for additional passenger services. 

We want to see full use of existing rail paths between Felixstowe and Nuneaton and 

electrification of the corridor to allow more freight services to avoid London. A new line 

linking the ports around Tilbury with the Great Eastern Main Line would allow freight 

traffic from the Essex Thameside route to access the Felixstowe to Nuneaton corridor 

without the need to pass through London.  

 

We would be happy to meet with you to discuss how we can deliver improvements for 

customers across London’s rail network. I would also be happy to share our response to 

the William’s Rail Review, which provides further insight into how TfL is proposing to 

improve customer experience on our rail network.  

 

Thank you again for giving us the chance to respond to your recommendations.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

Mike Brown MVO  

Page 420



Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Chair of the Transport Committee 
London Assembly  
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London   SE1 2AA 

Rupert Walker 
Strategy and Planning Director 
Network Rail  
James Forbes House 
27 Great Suffolk Street 
London   SE1 0NS  

28 February 2019 

Dear Caroline, 

Broken Rails report 

Further to Andrew Haines’ letter to you in December I would like to provide Network Rail’s 
response to your report “Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers”. 

We welcome the report’s focus on delivering real change for passengers and recognise that 
we can do more to deliver a better and more joined up railway. 

Central to this will be the recently announced changes to Network Rail to make sure it is 
unequivocally on the side of passengers and set up to drive better performance by putting 
railway users’ needs at the heart of all our thinking. 

During the next control period, starting in April, we will be significantly investing in operations, 
maintenance and renewals to improve train service reliability and performance. 

This follows a series of major infrastructure upgrades across London, for example 
Thameslink and Waterloo, to allow longer trains and more frequent services. We are also 
developing the cases for further upgrades to benefit passengers in London, including on the 
Brighton Main Line, at Woking and at south London stations suffering from overcrowding. 

Greater collaboration between Network Rail and Transport for London is also essential to 
improving the service passengers in London experience. 

To build this partnership and improve the way Network Rail works in London we have 
commenced the following initiatives: 

• Developing a joint London rail strategy with Transport for London, as recommended
in your report

• Establishing a London strategy team within Network Rail to coordinate cross-London
rail strategy with the local route teams

• Discussing with stakeholders the merits of setting up a London strategic forum for rail.

Appendix 2

Page 421



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This approach will help us to jointly identify and build the case to address important issues 
for London rail, such as accessibility and overcrowding at stations. 
 
If you would like to meet in person to discuss our response in more detail, please don’t 
hesitate to get in touch. I would be happy to update the Transport Committee on progress 
later in the year.  
 
Yours sincerely,  
 
 

 
 
 
Rupert Walker 
Strategy and Planning Director (South) 
 
 
cc  Jonathan Fox, TfL  
 
Attached: Appendix - Network Rail’s response to the Greater London Assembly Transport 
Committee’s report “Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers”. 
 
 

Page 422



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix – Network Rail’s response to the GLA Transport Committee’s report 
“Broken Rails: a rail service fit for passengers” 
 
Response to Recommendations 1-6 
 

Recommendation 1 - Effective small-scale 
interventions  
Network Rail needs to deliver a plan to 
enable more frequent and longer trains to run 
on existing infrastructure across London, 
using a series of strategic, targeted 
upgrades. The Mayor and TfL need to press 
the Department for Transport and Network 
Rail to deliver these priority projects urgently.  

• Network Rail’s focus for the next five years is 
improving train service performance by 
making changes to put passengers first and a 
significant investment in operations, 
maintenance and renewals during Control 
Period 6 (CP6).  

• It follows major upgrades across London 
during the current control period to enable 
more frequent services and longer trains 

• For example, improvements at London Bridge 
and Waterloo have enabled significant 
increases in the number of passengers 
getting seats. Passengers are now benefiting 
from bigger and better stations with new 
platforms for more trains and better 
connections. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment has increased capacity and 
connectivity through central London and 
beyond. Full deployment of the class 700 fleet 
and expected new metro area rolling stock 
through the upcoming Southeastern franchise 
award will complete a step change in 
capacity. 

• Network Rail is developing further proposals 
to unblock bottlenecks at East Croydon, 
Woking and at several congested junctions on 
the West and South London Lines. Currently 
at business case stage, these projects will 
allow both longer trains and more frequent 
services. We welcome support for our funding 
applications as these cases are developed 
over the coming years.  

• Through partnerships with the private sector 
we aim to transform the passenger 
experience and address severe overcrowding 
at London Victoria, Clapham Junction and 
Liverpool Street. 

• We recognise that although we have a 
number of planned upgrades and projects 
which will bring benefits to passengers and 
freight users across London we recognise that 
these could be better expressed in a single 
London plan and are establishing a team to 
do this. We will continue to work with the DfT, 
TfL and train operators to review the optimum 
allocation of capacity as the market for 
services into and around London continues to 
evolve. 
 

Page 423



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

Recommendation 2 - Healthy Stations  
The Mayor and TfL should produce a Healthy 
Stations Charter based on the principles of 
their Healthy Streets Approach. The aim 
should be to deliver a drastic improvement in 
how stations can be accessed by cyclists and 
pedestrians, including by passengers with 
disabilities. Every station should be assessed 
against the Charter in partnership with 
passengers using that station. 

• We fully agree that we should develop a clear 
vision for the enhanced experience we want to 
offer our passengers at our stations.  

• We are working on this with train operators 
(TOCs) to better understand passenger 
priorities, the first step in building a ‘Healthy 
Stations Charter’. One of our transformation 
workstreams is passenger journey mapping, 
which will highlight the areas along the 
passenger journey where we are getting it 
right and wrong for all passenger types. This 
will be used to drive decision making within the 
South East route to ensure there is full 
understanding of the impact our decisions 
have on passengers. 

• We will be looking at ways to improve access 
for passengers with both visible and non-
visible disabilities at our stations. Our ambition 
is stations which can incorporate autonomous 
and integrated travel for everyone, with the 
option for assisted help to be available if 
needed.  

• We are fully committed to working with TfL on 
this to ensure passengers should experience 
the same level of seamless service and 
accessibility wherever they travel.  

• We are increasing the availability of cycle 
parking at Charing Cross station, with two tier 
racks being installed, to integrate a better 
cycle to rail experience. We have also bid for 
funding from the DfT to improve the facilities at 
Victoria and Cannon Street stations and we 
are reviewing the wayfinding to existing cycle 
rack provisions for our passengers 

• Our Railway for Everyone study, which will 
report in the Spring, will identify opportunities 
to remove barriers and make rail travel a more 
attractive option for all. 
 

Recommendation 3 - A new approach to 
passenger engagement  
TfL, Network Rail and Train Operating 
Companies need to recognise that 
passengers care about their local stations 
and the services they can access there. For 
every station in London, regardless of its 
management, there should be dedicated 
passenger engagement with a specific 
station user group for people using that 
station. 

• Network Rail has recently announced changes 
to become a more customer focused, service 
driven organization. This includes devolving 
operating capability to a more local level, so 
we can deliver a better service for passengers. 

• Work to become more engaged with 
passengers is already happening, for example 
the introduction of a station transformation 
team on the South East route, with a remit to 
increase passenger satisfaction at the 
managed stations, a first for Network Rail. 

• We are currently measuring passenger 
satisfaction through the National Rail 
Passenger Survey; however, we understand 
its limitations and are looking at improved 
methods for measuring passenger satisfaction 
and collecting their feedback, such as using 

Page 424



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

“Happy or Not” buttons and sentiment analysis 
from social media. 

• We work very closely with London Travel 
Watch and Transport Focus to ensure a 
coordinated industry approach for service 
enhancements at our stations. 

• We run frequent meet the manager sessions 
within our stations. These are vital forums for 
our management to understand the 
passengers’ views and make decisions which 
are focused on delivering benefits for them.  

• In collaboration with train operating companies 
we have introduced a workstream to address 
the way our passengers receive information 
during disruption. This will ensure passengers 
receive a consistent message across various 
forms of communication and allow them to 
arrange alternative travel where required.  
 

Recommendation 4 - A single rail strategy 
for London  
London has no rail strategy. TfL and Network 
Rail should produce a rail strategy for 
London that all parties will commit to 
implementing, which will improve rail services 
for passengers in London.  

• Although London has a transport strategy with 
many recommendations relevant to the 
railway network, we agree this is a gap for 
London rail holistically, and further work is 
required to identify the next level of detail 

• TfL and Network Rail have already developed 
a remit for a joint strategy and will work 
together on a shared vision and objectives for 
rail in London and the wider London 
commuter area, which will outline in more 
detail existing priorities for enhancement and 
a timetable of priorities for strategic 
development.  

• Together with TfL we will begin detailed work 
on the strategy soon, including stakeholder 
engagement. 
 

Recommendation 5 - Improving 
accessibility  
The money available for accessibility 
upgrades, so that everyone can get to the 
trains they need, is far too small. The 
Department for Transport needs to 
reconsider the amount of Access for All 
funding available and ensure all priority 
upgrades are delivered in the next five years. 
The Mayor and TfL should strongly press the 
Department for Transport to increase 
funding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Network Rail is mid-way through a study 
(Railway for Everyone) which will identify 
prioritised opportunities to remove 
impediments and offer rail travel as a more 
attractive option for more people – the study 
will report in the Spring.   

• Whilst this is a network-wide study it will 
identify opportunities in London to compliment 
TfL’s priorities. 
 

Page 425



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

Recommendation 6 - Increase funding for 
London’s rail network  
TfL should consider all options to increase 
funding for London’s rail network. This 
includes funding Network Rail schemes 
where necessary, and contributing to projects 
outside of London’s boundaries, such as 
freight routes, where this will enable the 
provision of more frequent and bigger trains 
for passengers in the capital.  

• We are keen to identify opportunities to 
maximise benefits within London including 
schemes outside the capital.  

• We plan to produce a framework for 
investment in London interchange stations. 

• Network Rail will continue to make the case 
for investment with partners such as TfL, the 
GLA and business groups within and outside 
London. 

• As part of our Open for Business programme 
we are making it easier for other 
organisations to invest in the railway and work 
with Network Rail. 
 

 
 
Notes / Comments on the detailed report 

1.4 – The growth in demand and the strain 
on infrastructure impacts rail passengers. 
London’s rail services are too often crowded 
and unreliable. Rail passengers reliant on the 
national rail network also face expensive 
fares. On top of this, Londoners who rely on 
national rail services often still contend with a 
few trains per hour compared to the “turn-up-
and-go” service offered across much of the 
Underground and London Overground 
networks.  
 

• The focus for CP6 will be improving reliability 
and performance through a significant 
investment in operations, maintenance and 
renewals, as well as developing the cases for 
investment in several large improvement 
schemes to benefit London commuters, 
including on the Brighton Main Line, at Woking 
and at Clapham Junction.  

• The recent work to increase capacity on the 
central London Thameslink route is an example 
of the way that services can act like an 
alternative Tube line, in this case delivering 
trains every 2-3 minutes through central 
London between Blackfriars and St Pancras 
International. Improvement work on the 
Brighton Main Line is also a key part of a £300 
million government-funded programme to tackle 
delay hotspots and boost the reliability of the 
railway in the south east, including the 
expanded Thameslink network. 

 

1.7 – Network Rail sets out plans for the 
future of the rail network in five-year windows 
called Control Periods. Network Rail is 
currently in the process of finalising plans for 
Control Period 6 (CP6) which will run from 
2019 to 2024. Each of Network Rail’s 
devolved routes publishes its own plans for 
CP6. For London, this means plans for the 
rail network are covered by the six route 
businesses that converge on the capital. A lot 
of the focus in CP6 will be on maintenance 
and renewals in order to help improve the 
reliability and efficiency of the railway. 
 
 
 
 

• Network Rail currently develops strategy and 
produces industry studies covering London on 
a corridor (or route) basis. This generally 
focuses on rail services into a London rail 
terminal. To develop a more consistent 
approach in the future, strategies will also be 
developed on a London-wide basis giving focus 
to issues such as passenger interchange 
between National Rail and TfL services and 
orbital rail capacity.  

Page 426



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

1.8 – From 2019, rail enhancements (new 
projects rather than maintenance and 
renewals projects) will no longer be agreed 
as part of the five-year control period 
planning process. This means there will no 
longer be a list of committed enhancements 
projects which will be undertaken during the 
five-year control period.  
 

• The Rail Network Enhancements Pipeline 
(RNEP) sets out a new approach for rail 
proposals that require government funding. 
This approach will create a rolling programme 
of investment, focused on outcomes that 
provide benefits for passengers, freight users 
and the economy. It also has the advantage of 
moving government investment in 
enhancements away from a rigid five year cycle 
and ensuring projects are properly scoped 
when committing to a budget. 

• Network Rail will continue to make the case for 
investment with partners such as TfL, the GLA 
and business groups within and outside 
London. 

 

1.10 – Network Rail’s plans, though moving 
in the right direction, are limited. TfL notes 
that while these projects “move us firmly in 
the right direction, […] continued major 
investment will be needed beyond that to 
keep pace with London’s growth.” Equally, 
London TravelWatch notes that many of the 
proposed Network Rail enhancements are as 
yet “largely unfunded”. 
  
 

• We are keen to develop strong cases to 
support our investment plans, and that these 
meet the needs of passengers and freight 
users, and funders’ requirements.  During the 
next five years we will be concentrating on 
improvements on the Brighton Main Line, at 
Woking, Clapham Junction and several 
congested south London stations and welcome 
the stakeholder support we’ve already received 
for these schemes.   The RNEP process means 
that funding decisions for our future plans get 
taken progressively as the schemes develop 
and we and the supply chain are ready to 
commit to cost and schedule.  With high 
demand for Government funding there is a 
need to work with third party investors to help 
deliver the enhancements London needs. 
 

1.19 – A metro-style rail service across 
London’s suburban network has long been 
talked about but has yet to be delivered. We 
look at the impact that bigger trains and more 
reliable and frequent rail services would have 
on suburban London. We argue that many of 
the steps to achieve this ambition have been 
identified. But now, Network Rail needs to 
implement a plan of strategic and targeted 
upgrades in order to deliver on these 
ambitions. For their part, the Mayor and TfL 
need to press the DfT and Network Rail to 
deliver these upgrades.  
 

• A significant investment will be made in CP6 to 
help the railway to operate more efficiently to 
improve reliability and performance. 

• The recent work to increase capacity on the 
central London Thameslink route is an example 
of the way that services can act like an 
alternative Tube line, in this case delivering 
trains every 2-3 minutes through central 
London between Blackfriars and St Pancras 
International. Improvement works on the 
Brighton Main Line are also a key part of a 
£300 million government-funded programme to 
tackle delay hotspots and boost the reliability of 
the railway in the south east, including the 
expanded Thameslink network. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment to improve power supply and 
lengthen platforms across the Southern Region 
has increased capacity and connectivity 
through central London and beyond. Full 
deployment of the class 700 fleet and expected 
new metro area rolling stock through the 

Page 427



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

upcoming Southeastern franchise award will 
complete a step change in capacity.  

• To meet continued forecast increased demand 
in London and the surrounding region during 
the next 10-15 years, Network Rail is 
developing further proposals to unblock 
bottlenecks at East Croydon, Woking and at 
several congested junctions on the West and 
South London Lines. Currently at business 
case stage, these projects will allow both longer 
trains and more frequent services 

2.12 – Londoners have waited too long for 
these improvements – the rail industry needs 
to find a way forward to ensure these 
upgrades are delivered. Network Rail must 
prioritise delivery of strategic, targeted 
upgrades that together will help ensure more 
frequent and longer trains across the 
network. In short, moving towards metro-
style services wherever possible. For their 
part, the Mayor and TfL need to press the 
Department for Transport and Network Rail 
to implement these small-scale, immediate 
projects. This targeted and coordinated 
approach should bring real benefits to 
passengers across the suburban rail 
network.  
 
 

• A significant investment will be made in CP6 to 
help the railway to operate more efficiently to 
improve reliability and performance, following 
major investment during CP5 to allow longer 
and more frequent trains. The recent work to 
increase capacity on the central London 
Thameslink route is an example of the way that 
services can act like an alternative Tube line, in 
this case delivering trains every 2-3 minutes 
through central London between Blackfriars 
and St Pancras International. Improvement 
works on the Brighton Main Line are also a key 
part of a £300 million government-funded 
programme to tackle delay hotspots and boost 
the reliability of the railway in the south east, 
including the expanded Thameslink network. 

• The Thameslink Programme and other CP5 
investment to improve power supply and 
lengthen platforms across the Southern Region 
has increased capacity and connectivity 
through central London and beyond. Full 
deployment of the class 700 fleet and expected 
new metro area rolling stock through the 
upcoming Southeastern franchise award will 
complete a step change in capacity.  

• To meet continued forecast increased demand 
in London and the surrounding region during 
the next 10-15 years, Network Rail is 
developing further proposals to unblock 
bottlenecks at East Croydon, Woking and at 
several congested junctions on the West and 
South London Lines. Currently at business 
case stage, these projects will allow both longer 
trains and more frequent services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 428



 

Network Rail Infrastructure Limited Registered Office: Network Rail, One Eversholt Street, London, NW1 2DN Registered in England and Wales No. 2904587 www.networkrail.co.uk 

 

2.14 - London’s railway stations are not 
always welcoming gateways to the rail 
network. The area surrounding London’s 
stations can feel unpleasant and poorly 
integrated into the local area. In our meeting 
with rail passenger  
groups, we discussed how the environment 
around stations is often not well cared for 
and that this can make people using the 
stations, particularly at quieter times of day, 
feel unsafe. 
 
 
 

• The introduction of our Station Transformation 
Programme has increased the focus in this 
area. We recognise that in the past the 
integration between our stations, the local 
environment and community could have been 
better, and we have already started work to 
improve this. 

• We are working closely with the business 
improvement districts associated with our 
stations and are engaged with the work they 
are completing to regenerate the local areas, 
including how the stations interact with the local 
community.  

• We have introduced an outreach programme 
partnered with local charities which will bring 
about a dedicated resource that will be working 
with the homeless community at our stations. 

• In addition, we are embarking on the installation 
of TAP London card readers that provide a safe 
and secure way for our passengers to donate to 
homeless charities in a sustainable manner and 
discourage the giving of food and money to 
those begging in the local area. 

• We will be using the exhibition spaces that we 
have in our stations to showcase the local 
community through exhibitions such as choirs, 
bands, art exhibitions and local theatre 
productions. 

• We are working closely with the British 
Transport Police and have run security events 
at the stations to engage with passengers on 
important campaigns such as ‘See it, Say it, 
Sorted’ and cycle theft.  

• Network Rail teams use their volunteer days to 
support and help local communities and 
charities, building relationships and forging long 
term connections locally. 

 

 

 

Page 429



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 430



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 25 April 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 

2018/19 Assembly year, as set out in the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair and party Group Lead Members, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the 

Committee’s first investigation of the 2019/20 Assembly year, bus and tram safety. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting. 

This is the last such report for this Assembly year. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee has explored in this Assembly year: 

 Crossrail; 

 River services; 

 National Rail; 

 Taxi and private hire services; 

 Freight; 

 Healthy streets; and 

 The Night Tube. 

 

Page 431

Agenda Item 7



        

Crossrail 

4.2 On 31 August 2018, Crossrail Ltd announced that it was delaying the opening of the central section 

of the Elizabeth line, which had been scheduled for December 2018. The Committee has monitored 

the delivery of the Elizabeth line in recent years via meetings and site visits. The Committee spoke to 

the Deputy Mayor for Transport, and senior representatives of TfL and Crossrail at its meeting in 

September 2018. The Committee summonsed the Mayor of London, Sadiq Khan, and the 

Commissioner of TfL, Mike Brown, MVO, to a meeting on 21 December 2018. The Committee used 

its meeting on 9 January for a further discussion of progress with the project. In addition, the 

Committee has written a number of times to the Mayor about its findings.  

 

4.3 The Committee had its last meeting on Crossrail on 14 March 2019, and findings from the 

investigation on the delay of the Elizabeth Line, governance and transparency will be published at 

the end of April. 

 

 National Rail 

4.4 The Committee conducted an investigation into London’s National Rail network. Discussions at 

Committee meetings, a site visit and informal roundtable meeting have been undertaken.  A report, 

Broken Rails – A strategic review of London’s rail network, was published on 27 November 2018. 

 

4.5 The Committee held an urgent discussion on 25 June 2018, on the disruptions affecting rail 

passengers using services run by Govia Thameslink Railway since a new timetable was introduced in 

May 2018. A letter was sent to the Secretary of State for Transport following the meeting.  

 

4.6 Responses to the Committee’s report were received from TfL and National Rail. 

 

Night Tube 

4.7 TfL launched the Night Tube service around two years ago, progressively extending the service to 

additional lines. The Committee used its meeting in September 2018 to consider any challenges the 

service may face such as passenger usage, finances, anti-social behaviour and noise complaints. 

 

Taxi and Private hire 

4.8 The Committee investigated taxi and private hire services, following up its 2014 report and 

subsequent scrutiny. The October and November 2018 Committee meetings were used to discuss 

this topic. A site visit to view an enforcement operation and further informal meetings have been 

undertaken. On 3 December 2018, the Committee convened a “Dragon’s Den” meeting with 

representatives of the taxi and private hire trades. 

 

4.9 The committee completed its investigation and published a report Raising the Bar: Taxi and Private 

Hire Services in London on 27 March 2019. 

 

Healthy Streets 

4.10 The Mayor has made the delivery of Healthy Streets a key priority of his Transport Strategy. Two 

new action plans on walking and road safety have been published in support of this. The Committee 

discussed this topic at its 5 December 2018 meeting and has conducted site visits to Hackney and 

Ealing.  

Page 432



        

4.11 The Committee concluded its work on the Mayor’s healthy streets approach and published a letter to 

the Mayor on 12 March 2019. 

 

Cycling infrastructure 

4.12 In 2017/18 the Transport Committee published a report on London’s cycling infrastructure. The 

report called for the Mayor to produce more detailed delivery plans for his planned cycling 

investment. The Mayor and TfL have now responded to the report.  

 

Bus consultations 

4.13 London Service Permits are licences granted to bus or coach services operating in London but not on 

the TfL network. As recommended in the Committee’s 2017/18 Future Transport report, TfL is 

modifying London Service Permits and is consulting on the changes.  

 

4.14 As recommended in the Committee’s 2017/18 London’s bus network report, TfL has proposed 

changes to bus routes in central London; these changes will also affect suburban services.  

 

Freight 

4.15 The Committee investigated freight in London, considering ways in which the Mayor and TfL may 

reduce the impact of freight traffic and move toward more sustainable ways of transporting goods in 

London. A letter to the Mayor and TfL was released on 28 February 2019. 

 

4.16 A response to the Committee’s letter was received from the Mayor on 8 April 2019.  

 

Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.17 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Heathrow Airport 

4.18 A number of London Assembly committees have a remit to consider the implications of the proposal 

to expand Heathrow Airport, which is opposed by the Assembly. The Transport Committee scrutiny 

focuses on surface transport access to Heathrow. In 2018/19 the Committee considered freight 

movements to and from Heathrow Airport as part of its work on freight. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

 

 

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

Letter on healthy streets A response from the Mayor is expected at the 

beginning of May. 

Report on taxi and private hire A response from the Mayor is expected at the 

beginning of June. 

Page 433



        

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Daniella Dávila Aquije, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 434

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	03a - Appendix 1 - Minutes  - Transcript of Item 6 - Elizabeth Line

	4 Summary List of Actions
	04a - Appendix 1 - Network Rail response
	185 - Crossrail committee meeting - Network Rail letter to Chair Caroline Pidgeon 29.03.19
	185a - National Rail Reports to Crossrail Programme Delivery Board - Jan 18 to Mar 19
	Period 11 PDB report 2018
	Period 12 PDB report 2018
	Period 13 PDB report 2018
	Period 1 PDB report 2018
	Period 2 PDB report 2018
	Period 3 PDB report 2018
	Period 4 PDB report 2018
	Period 5 PDB report 2018
	Period 6 PDB report 2018
	Period 7 PDB report 2018
	Period 8 PDB report 2018
	Period 9 PDB Report 2018
	Period 10 PDB Report December 2018
	Period 11 PDB report Feb 2019
	Period 12 PDB Report Mar 2019


	04b - Appendix 2 - TfL Letter to LATC actions from Freight Session 5Feb
	04c - Appendix 3 - Transport Committee letter on the Mayor's Healthy Streets Approach (Final)
	04d - Appendix 4 - Crossrail Update Letters
	04d - Appendix 4 - Crossrail Update Letter
	04d - Appendix 4 - Crossrail Update Letter
	190312 Caroline Pidgeon monthly update
	190312 Caroline Pidgeon monthly update.pdf
	Crossrail Headed Template Continuation


	190208 Caroline Pidgeon monthly update 
	190208 Caroline Pidgeon monthly update
	190208 Caroline Pidgeon monthly update con


	04e(i) - Appendix 5(a) - Letter from Chair to MB
	04e(ii) - Appendix 5(b) Letter from MB to Chair
	Mike Brown re ELRB
	elrb-jan-sept-2018-combined
	1ElizabethLineReadinessBoard15Jan2018_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12

	2ElizabethLineReadinessBoard9February2018_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13

	3ELRB 9 Feb - 2018  MOHS Update
	Elizabeth Line Readiness Board��MOHS 2018 Baseline Update 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Railway Systems - Principles of Overlap
	 
	Dynamic Test Plan
	Proposed “stages”
	Handover staging for SPS Elements�(note: work in progress)
	Summary of Key Issues 

	4Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 9 March 2018 redlined_Redacted
	5ElizabethLineReadinessBoard10Apri2018FINAL_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	6ElizabethLineReadinessBoard4May2018FINAL_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16

	7EL-ST3-COUNTDOWN_DRAFT30-04-18
	8ElizabethLineReadinessBoard4June2018final_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18

	9ElizabethLineReadinessBoard29June2018final_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16

	10EL Readiness Board MarComms update 25.6.18 CM
	11Elizabeth line - what customers will see and hear - For RB 29 June
	12ElizabethLineReadinessBoard27July2018final_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15

	13ElizabethLineReadinessBoard3September2018final_Redacted
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17

	14 2018_08_30 Checkpoint 2_Stage 3_ELRB_Final
	15Elizabeth Line Readiness Board 21 September 2018 final_Redacted



	5 Commissioner of Transport for London
	6 Responses to Broken Rails Report
	06a - Appendix 1 - 28 Feb 2019 - TfL Response to Broken Rails_Final
	06b - Appendix 2 - Network Rail reponse
	Broken Rails report - Network Rail letter to Chair Caroline Pidgeon
	Broken Rails report - Network Rail response


	7 Transport Committee Work Programme



